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Glossary of Defined Terms

The following terms may be used throughout this Report, including the consolidated financial statements and related notes.

Term Definition

ALL Allowance for loan losses

AFS Available for sale

AOCI Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

ASC Accounting Standards Codification

ASU Accounting Standards Update

Bank Orrstown Bank, the commercial banking subsidiary of Orrstown Financial Services, Inc.
BHC Act Bank Holding Company Act of 1965

CDI Core deposit intangible

CET1 Common Equity Tier 1

CMO Collateralized mortgage obligation

Company Orrstown Financial Services, Inc. and subsidiaries (interchangeable with "Orrstown” below)
CFPB Consumer Financial Protection Bureau

CRA Community Reinvestment Act

Dodd-Frank Act Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act

EPS Earnings per common share

ERM Enterprise risk management

Exchange Act Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

FASB Financial Accounting Standards Board

FDIA Federal Deposit Insurance Act

FDIC Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation

FHC Financial holding company

FHLB Federal Home Loan Bank

FRB Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System

GAAP Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

GLB Act Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act

GSE United States government-sponsored enterprise

Hamilton Hamilton Bancorp, Inc., and its wholly-owned banking subsidiary, Hamilton Bank (acquired May 1, 2019)
IRC Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended

LHFS Loans held for sale

MBS Mortgage-backed securities

Mercersburg Mercersburg Financial Corporation and its wholly-owned banking subsidiary, First Community Bank of Mercersburg (acquired October 1, 2018)
MPF Program Mortgage Partnership Finance Program

MSR Mortgage servicing right

NIM Net interest margin

OCI Other comprehensive income

OFA Orrstown Financial Advisors, a division of the Bank that provides investment and brokerage services
OREO Other real estate owned (foreclosed real estate)

Orrstown Orrstown Financial Services, Inc. and subsidiaries

OTTI Other-than-temporary impairment

Parent Company Orrstown Financial Services, Inc., the parent company of Orrstown Bank

2011 Plan 2011 Orrstown Financial Services, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan

PCI loans Purchased credit impaired loans

Repurchase Agreements

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase

SBA PPP U.S. Small Business Administration Paycheck Protection Program

SEC Securities and Exchange Commission

Securities Act Securities Act of 1933, as amended

TDR Troubled debt restructuring

U.S. United States of America

Wheatland Wheatland Advisors, Inc., the former Registered Investment Advisor subsidiary of Orrstown Financial Services, Inc.

Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms “Orrstown,” “we,” “us,” “our,” and “Company” refer to Orrstown Financial Services, Inc. and its subsidiaries.
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PART I

Caution About Forward-Looking Statements:

Certain statements appearing herein, which are not historical in nature, are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. In addition, we may make other written and oral communications,
from time to time, that contain such statements. Forward-looking statements reflect the current views of the Company's management with respect to, among other
things, future events and the Company's financial performance. These statements are often, but not always, made through the use of words or phrases such as
“may,” “should,” “could,” “predict,” “potential,” “believe,” “will likely result,” “expect,” “continue,” “will,” “anticipate,” “seek,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan,”
“project,” “forecast,” “goal,” “target,” “would” and “outlook,” or the negative variations of those words or other comparable words of a future or forward-looking
nature. These forward-looking statements are not historical facts, and are based on current expectations, estimates and projections about the Company's industry,
management’s beliefs and certain assumptions made by management, many of which, by their nature, are inherently uncertain and beyond the Company's control.
Accordingly, the Company cautions you that any such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, assumptions
and uncertainties that are difficult to predict. Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are reasonable as
of the date made, actual results may prove to be materially different from the results expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements and there can be no
assurances that the Company will be able to continue to successfully execute on its strategic growth plan into Dauphin, Lancaster, York and Berks counties,
Pennsylvania, and the greater Baltimore market in Maryland, with newer markets continuing to be receptive to our community banking model; to take advantage of
market disruption; to experience sustained growth in loans and deposits or maintain the momentum experienced to date from these actions; and to realize cost
savings from our branch consolidation efforts. In addition to risks and uncertainties related to the COVID-19 pandemic and resulting governmental and societal
responses, factors which could cause the actual results of the Company's operations to differ materially from expectations include, but are not limited to:
ineffectiveness of the Company's strategic growth plan due to changes in current or future market conditions; the effects of competition and how it may impact our
community banking model, including industry consolidation and development of competing financial products and services; the integration of the Company's
strategic acquisitions; the inability to fully achieve expected savings, efficiencies or synergies from mergers and acquisitions, or taking longer than estimated for
such savings, efficiencies and synergies to be realized; changes in laws and regulations; interest rate movements; changes in credit quality; inability to raise capital,
if necessary, under favorable conditions; volatility in the securities markets; deteriorating economic conditions; expenses associated with pending litigation and
legal proceedings; the failure of the SBA to honor its guarantee of loans issued under the SBA PPP; the timing of the repayment of SBA PPP loans and the impact
it has on fee recognition; our ability to convert new relationships gained through the SBA PPP efforts to full banking relationships; and other risks and
uncertainties. The foregoing list of factors is not exhaustive.
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For a description of factors that we believe could cause actual results to differ materially from such forward-looking statements, you should review our Risk
Factors discussion in Item 1A, our Critical Accounting Policies section included in Item 7, and Note 23, Contingencies, in the Notes To Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We encourage readers of this report to understand forward-looking statements to be strategic
objectives rather than absolute targets of future performance. If one or more events related to these or other risks or uncertainties materialize, or if the Company's
underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, actual results may differ materially from what the Company anticipates. Accordingly, you should not place undue
reliance on any such forward-looking statements. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made, and the Company does not
undertake any obligation to publicly update or review any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise.
New risks and uncertainties arise from time to time, and it is not possible for the Company to predict those events or how they may affect it. In addition, the
Company cannot assess the impact of each factor on its business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ
materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements, expressed or implied, included in this Annual report on Form
10-K are expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary statement. This cautionary statement should also be considered in connection with any subsequent
written or oral forward-looking statements that the Company or persons acting on the Company's behalf may issue.
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ITEM 1 — BUSINESS

Orrstown Financial Services, Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation, is the holding company for its wholly-owned subsidiary Orrstown Bank. The Company’s
principal executive offices are located at 77 East King Street, Shippensburg, Pennsylvania, with additional executive and administrative offices at 4750 Lindle
Road, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania. The Parent Company was organized on November 17, 1987, for the purpose of acquiring the Bank and such other banks and
bank-related activities as are permitted by law and desirable. The Company provides banking and bank-related services through branches located in south central
Pennsylvania, principally in Berks, Cumberland, Dauphin, Franklin, Lancaster, Perry and York Counties, Pennsylvania, and in Anne Arundel, Baltimore, Howard
and Washington Counties, Maryland, as well as Baltimore City, Maryland. Effective July 31, 2020, Wheatland Advisors, Inc., a registered investment advisor non-
bank subsidiary, headquartered in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania was discontinued.

The Company files periodic reports with the SEC in the form of quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, annual reports on Form 10-K, annual proxy statements and
current reports on Form 8-K for any significant events that may arise during the year. Copies of these reports, and any amendments to such reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), may be obtained free of charge through the
SEC’s Internet site at www.sec.gov or by accessing the Company’s website at www.orrstown.com as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are
electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. Information on our website shall not be considered a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Recent Merger and Acquisition Activity

On October 1, 2018, Orrstown expanded its presence in Franklin County, Pennsylvania, with the completion of its acquisition of Mercersburg Financial
Corporation and the merger of its banking subsidiary, First Community Bank of Mercersburg, with and into Orrstown Bank.

On May 1, 2019, Orrstown expanded its presence into the greater Baltimore, Maryland, market with the completion of its acquisition of Hamilton Bancorp,
Inc., and the merger of its banking subsidiary, Hamilton Bank, with and into Orrstown Bank.

Business

The Bank was organized in 1919 as a state-chartered bank. On March 8, 1988, in a bank holding company reorganization transaction, the Parent Company
acquired 100% ownership of the Bank.

The Parent Company’s primary activity consists of owning and supervising its subsidiary, the Bank. Day-to-day management is conducted by its officers,
who are also Bank officers. The Parent Company has historically derived most of its income through dividends from the Bank. At December 31, 2020, the
Company had total assets of $2.8 billion, total deposits of $2.4 billion and total shareholders’ equity of $246.2 million.

The Parent Company has no employees. Its 12 officers are employees of the Bank. On December 31, 2020, the Bank had 400 full-time and 18 part-time
employees.

The Bank is engaged in the commercial banking and trust business as authorized by the Pennsylvania Banking Code of 1965. This involves accepting
demand, time and savings deposits, granting loans and providing wealth management services. The Bank holds commercial, residential, consumer and agribusiness
loans, primarily in its market areas in south central Pennsylvania, the greater Baltimore region, Washington County, Maryland, and contiguous counties. The
concentrations of credit by type of loan are included in Note 4, Loans and Allowance for Loan Losses, to the Consolidated Financial Statements under Part II, Item
8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data." The Bank maintains a diversified loan portfolio and evaluates each client’s creditworthiness on a case-by-case
basis. The amount of collateral obtained, if deemed necessary by the Bank upon the extension of credit, is based on management’s credit evaluation of the client
pursuant to collateral standards established in the Bank’s credit policies and procedures.

COVID-19 Pandemic

In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, known as COVID-19, was first reported and was subsequently declared a pandemic by the World Health
Organization in March 2020. To date, this outbreak has surfaced in nearly all regions around the world, and as the pandemic spread, particularly in the United
States, businesses as well as federal, state and local governments implemented significant actions to attempt to mitigate this public health crisis. While the
emergence of multiple vaccines and government stimulus have improved the economic outlook, the Company's operations have been and will continue to be
disrupted to varying degrees.
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Orrstown implemented the following steps to mitigate the potential spread of COVID-19 and help its clients during this challenging time:

*  Launched an internal Pandemic Response Team at the outset of the COVID-19 pandemic;

*  Waived Orrstown fees on all foreign ATM transactions from March 18, 2020 through June 1, 2020 to encourage and support the use of this key delivery
channel;

*  Waived late fees on all loan payments for 60 days through May 31, 2020 to assist those whose employment status and income may have been negatively
impacted by the virus;

+  Designated a select group of loan specialists to work with clients needing special assistance or guidance;
+ Implemented strategic efforts to effectively operate most of the core operations of the Company in a remote work environment;
+ Instituted extensive preventative measures for workplace health and safety;

*  Conducted virtual, interactive webinars with lending clients and community groups in order to educate and support them on the SBA PPP process,
including loan forgiveness;

*  Conducted media interviews and launched a multi-channel advertising campaign in all markets aimed at educating the community about SBA PPP
funding;

»  Partnered with the American Bankers Association to execute their Banks Never Ask That campaign, aimed at educating clients and consumers on how to
protect their privacy and money, especially during the pandemic as reports warn of heightened scam and fraud attempts;

*  Maintaining enhanced staffing levels at our Client Service Center to manage and support our increased call volume;

*  Continuing to educate clients and consumers on the various assistance programs available to them through the SBA, as well as other federal and state
government resources; and

*  Continuing to perform branch transactions via drive-thru lanes or scheduled appointments at branch locations.

Lending

Federal bank regulatory agencies have adopted uniform regulations prescribing standards for extensions of credit that are secured by liens or interests in real
estate or made for the purpose of financing permanent improvements to real estate. Under these regulations, all insured depository institutions, such as the Bank,
must adopt and maintain written policies establishing appropriate limits and standards for extensions of credit that are secured by liens or interests in real estate or
are made for the purpose of financing permanent improvements to real estate. These policies must establish loan portfolio diversification standards, prudent
underwriting standards (including loan-to-value limits) that are clear and measurable, loan administration procedures and documentation, approval and reporting
requirements. The real estate lending policies must reflect consideration of the federal bank regulatory agencies’ Interagency Guidelines for Real Estate Lending
Policies.

All secured loans are supported with appraisals or evaluations of collateral. Business equipment and machinery, inventories, accounts receivable, and farm
equipment are considered appropriate security, provided borrowers meet acceptable standards for liquidity and marketability. Loans secured by real estate
generally do not exceed 85% of the appraised value of the property. Loan to collateral values are monitored as part of the loan review process, and appraisals are
updated as deemed appropriate under the circumstances.

Commercial Lending

The Bank makes commercial real estate, equipment, construction, working capital and other commercial purpose loans to commercial customers throughout
the Bank’s various markets. The Bank has significant market share in south central Pennsylvania and has been expanding its presence geographically in recent
years. Currently, growth markets include the Harrisburg region, Lancaster County and Maryland markets. The Bank's commercial lending is focused in these
geographic regions or with borrowers headquartered in these geographic regions.

The Bank’s credit policy dictates the underwriting requirements for the various types of commercial loans the Bank makes available to borrowers. The policy
covers such requirements as debt coverage ratios, advance rates against different forms of collateral, loan-to-value ratios and maximum term.

A majority of the Company’s loan assets are loans for business purposes. At December 31, 2020, approximately 77% of the loan portfolio was comprised of
commercial loans.

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security (“CARES”) Act was enacted. The CARES Act established the SBA PPP. The SBA
PPP is intended to provide economic relief to small businesses nationwide adversely
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impacted under the COVID-19 Emergency Declaration issued on March 13, 2020. The SBA PPP, which began on April 3, 2020, provides small businesses with
funds to cover up to 24 weeks of payroll costs and other expenses, including benefits. It also provides for forgiveness of up to the full principal amount of
qualifying loans. The Bank closed and funded almost 3,200 PPP loans for a total gross loan amount of $467.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2020. As
these loans are 100% guaranteed by the SBA, there is no associated allowance for loan losses at December 31, 2020. These loans resulted in net fee income of
$13.5 million to be recognized through net interest income over the life of the loans, which is between two and five years. During the year ended December 31,
2020, the Company recognized $7.7 million of net deferred SBA PPP fees, included in interest income on loans on the condensed consolidated statements of
income. At December 31, 2020, the Bank had $5.8 million of unrecognized SBA PPP net deferred fees. The timing of the recognition of these fees is dependent
upon the forgiveness process established by the SBA. The Bank has implemented the SBA's streamlined forgiveness approval process, which has made the
forgiveness process easier for both borrowers and lenders. The remaining gross balance of PPP loans was reduced to $409.1 million at December 31, 2020 as a
result of forgiveness.

On December 27, 2020, a new COVID relief bill was signed, which granted additional SBA PPP funding. This bill gives businesses that were not approved
for the first iteration another chance to apply and allows businesses that have exhausted previous PPP funding and have been significantly impacted by the
pandemic to apply for a second draw. It also makes forgiveness easier for businesses that use the majority of the money for payroll and makes the loans tax-free for
the borrower. In January 2021, the Bank began originating another round of SBA PPP loans in accordance with this bill. Through March 8, 2021, 1,801 loans have
been funded in this round for a total gross loan amount of $168.1 million. These loans resulted in net fee income of $7.9 million to be recognized through net
interest income over the life of the loans.

Consumer Lending

The Bank provides home equity loans, home equity lines of credit and other consumer loans, primarily through its branch network and client call center. A
large majority of the consumer loans are secured by either a first or second lien position on the borrower’s primary residential real estate. The Bank requires a loan-
to-value ratio of no greater than 90% of the value of the real estate being taken as collateral. The Bank also, at times, purchases consumer loans to help diversify
credit risk in our loan portfolio.

Residential Lending

The Bank provides residential mortgages throughout its various markets referred from retail branches and through a network of mortgage loan officers. A
majority of the residential mortgages originated are sold to secondary market investors, primarily Wells Fargo and Fannie Mae. All mortgages, regardless of being
sold or held in the Bank’s portfolio, are generally underwritten to secondary market industry standards for prime mortgages. The Bank generally requires a loan-to-
value ratio of no greater than 80% of the value of the real estate being taken as collateral, without the borrower obtaining private mortgage insurance.

Loan Review

The Company has a loan review policy and program which is designed to identify and monitor risk in the lending function. The Management ERM
Committee, comprised of executive officers and loan department personnel, is charged with the oversight of overall credit quality and risk exposure of the
Company's loan portfolio. This includes the monitoring of the lending activities of all Company personnel with respect to underwriting and processing new loans
and the timely follow-up and corrective action for loans showing signs of deterioration in quality. A loan review program provides the Company with an
independent review of the commercial loan portfolio on an ongoing basis. Generally, consumer and residential mortgage loans are included in the Pass categories
unless a specific action, such as extended delinquencies, bankruptcy, repossession or death of the borrower occurs, which heightens awareness as to a possible
credit event.

Internal loan reviews are completed annually on all commercial relationships with a committed loan balance in excess of $1.0 million, which includes
confirmation of risk rating by an independent credit officer. In addition, all commercial relationships greater than $500 thousand rated substandard, doubtful or loss
are reviewed quarterly and corresponding risk ratings are changed or reaffirmed by the Company's Problem Loan Committee, with subsequent reporting to the
Management ERM Committee and the Board of Directors.

The Bank outsources its independent loan review to a third-party provider, which monitors and evaluates loan clients on a quarterly basis utilizing risk-rating
criteria established in the credit policy in order to identify deteriorating trends and detect conditions which might indicate potential problem loans. The results of
the third-party loan review are reported quarterly to the Management and Board ERM Committees for review. The loan ratings provide the basis for evaluating the
adequacy of the ALL.
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Deposit Products

The Bank offers deposit products to retail, commercial, non-profit and government clients through its retail branch network. Product offerings for retail
clients include checking accounts, money market, savings and certificates of deposit. The Company offers numerous products and treasury management solutions
for commercial clients, including account analysis for demand deposit accounts, certificates of deposit, sweep accounts, money market accounts and other treasury
services such as merchant banking, foreign exchange, remote deposit capture, lockbox and others. The Bank further provides various deposit solutions for
government agencies and non-profits, such as demand deposit accounts, sweeps and certificates of deposit.

Investment Services

Through its trust department, the Bank renders services as trustee, executor, administrator, guardian, managing agent, custodian, investment advisor, and
other fiduciary activities authorized by law under the trade name Orrstown Financial Advisors. OFA offers retail brokerage services through a third-party
broker/dealer arrangement with Cetera Advisor Networks LLC. At December 31, 2020, assets under management by OFA totaled $1.7 billion.

Competition

The Bank’s principal market area consists of south central Pennsylvania, the greater Baltimore region, and Washington County, Maryland. The Bank serves a
substantial number of depositors in this market area and its contiguous counties.

The Bank competes with other banks and less heavily regulated financial services companies such as credit unions and finance and trust companies, as well
as mortgage banking companies, mutual funds, investment advisors, and brokerage firms, both within and outside of its primary market areas. Financial technology
companies, or FinTechs, are also providing nontraditional, but increasingly strong, competition for the Bank's borrowers, depositors, and other clients.

The Bank competes for loans primarily on the basis of a combination of value and service by building client relationships as a result of addressing its clients’
banking needs, demonstrating expertise, and providing convenience to its clients.

The Bank competes for deposits similarly on the basis of a combination of value and service and by providing convenience through a banking network of
branches and ATMs within its markets and digital service channels such as mobile banking.

The Company implements strategic initiatives focused on expanding our core businesses and exploring, on an ongoing basis, acquisition, divestiture, and
joint venture opportunities to the extent permitted by our regulators. The Company analyzes each of the Bank's products and businesses in the context of
shareholder return, client demands, competitive advantages, industry dynamics, and growth potential. The Company's management believes its market area will
support growth in assets and deposits in the future, which it expects to contribute to the Company's ability to maintain or grow profitability.

Regulation and Supervision

The Parent Company is a bank holding company registered with the FRB and has elected status as a financial holding company. The Bank is a Pennsylvania-
chartered commercial bank and a member of the FRB.

Regulatory Environment

The banking industry is highly regulated. Orrstown is subject to supervision, regulation, and examination by various federal and state regulators, including
the FRB, SEC, CFPB, FDIC, and various state regulatory agencies. The statutory and regulatory framework that governs us is generally intended to protect
depositors and clients, the FDIC's Deposit Insurance Fund, the U.S. banking and financial system, and financial markets as a whole by ensuring the safety and
soundness of bank holding companies ("BHCs") and banks. Bank regulators regularly examine the operations of BHCs and banks. Regulators have broad
supervisory and enforcement authority over BHCs and banks, including the power to impose nonpublic supervisory agreements, issue cease and desist orders,
impose fines and other civil and criminal penalties, terminate deposit insurance, and appoint a conservator or receiver.

Engaging in unsafe or unsound practices or failing to comply with applicable laws, regulations, and supervisory agreements could subject Orrstown, its
subsidiaries, and their respective officers, directors, and institution-affiliated parties to the remedies described above, and other sanctions. In addition, the FDIC
may terminate a bank’s deposit insurance upon a finding that the bank’s financial condition is unsafe or unsound or that the bank has engaged in unsafe or unsound
practices or has violated an applicable rule, regulation, order, or condition enacted or imposed by the bank’s regulatory agency.

Banking statutes, regulations, and policies are continually under review by Congress, state legislatures, and federal and state regulatory agencies. In addition
to laws and regulations, state and federal bank regulatory agencies may issue policy
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statements, interpretive letters, and similar written guidance applicable to Orrstown. Any change in statutes, regulations, or regulatory policies applicable to us,
including changes in their interpretation or implementation, could have a material effect on our business or organization.

In May 2018, the Economic Growth Act was signed into law. Among other regulatory changes, the Economic Growth Act amended various sections of the
Dodd-Frank Act, including section 165 of the Dodd-Frank Act, which was revised to raise the asset thresholds for determining the application of enhanced
prudential standards for BHCs. Under the Economic Growth Act, BHCs with consolidated assets below $100.0 billion were immediately exempted from all of the
enhanced prudential standards, except risk committee requirements, which now apply to publicly-traded BHCs with $50.0 billion or more of consolidated assets.

The Company is also subject to the disclosure and regulatory requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, both as administered by the SEC, as well as the rules of Nasdaq that apply to companies with securities listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market.

Several of the more significant regulatory provisions applicable to BHCs and banks to which Orrstown and the Bank are subject are discussed below, along
with certain regulatory matters concerning Orrstown and the Bank. To the extent that the following information describes statutory or regulatory provisions, such
information is qualified in its entirety by reference to the particular statutes or regulations. Any change in applicable law or regulation may have a material effect
on the business and prospects of the Company and the Bank.

Financial and Bank Holding Company Activities

As a FHC, we are permitted to engage, directly or through subsidiaries, in a wide variety of activities that are financial in nature or are incidental or
complementary to a financial activity, in addition to all of the activities otherwise allowed to us.

As a FHC, Orrstown is generally subject to the same regulation as other BHCs, including the reporting, examination, supervision and consolidated capital
requirements of the FRB. To preserve its FHC status, Orrstown must remain well-capitalized and well-managed and ensure that the Bank remains well-capitalized
and well-managed for regulatory purposes and earns “satisfactory” or better ratings on its periodic Community Reinvestment Act examinations. An FHC ceasing to
meet these standards is subject to a variety of restrictions, depending on the circumstances.

If the Parent Company or the Bank are either not well-capitalized or not well-managed, the Parent Company or the Bank must promptly notify the FRB. Until
compliance is restored, the FRB has broad discretion to impose appropriate limitations on a FHC’s activities. If compliance is not restored within 180 days, the
FRB may ultimately require the FHC to divest its depository institutions or in the alternative, to discontinue or divest any activities that are permitted only to non-
FHC bank holding companies.

If the FRB determines that a FHC or its subsidiaries do not satisfy the CRA requirements, the potential restrictions are different. In that case, until all of the
subsidiary institutions are restored to at least “satisfactory” CRA rating status, the FHC may not engage, directly or through a subsidiary, in any of the additional
activities permissible under the BHC Act nor make additional acquisitions of companies engaged in such additional activities. However, completed acquisitions
and additional activities and affiliations previously begun are left undisturbed, as the BHC Act does not require divestiture for this type of situation.

Federal Deposit Insurance

The FDIC's Deposit Insurance Fund provides insurance coverage for certain deposits, up to a standard maximum deposit insurance amount of $250 thousand
per depositor and is funded through assessments on insured depository institutions, based on the risk each institution poses to the Deposit Insurance Fund. The
Bank accepts client deposits that are insured by the Deposit Insurance Fund and, therefore, must pay insurance premiums. The FDIC may increase the Bank’s
insurance premiums based on various factors, including the FDIC’s assessment of its risk profile.

If the FDIC is appointed conservator or receiver of a bank upon the bank’s insolvency or the occurrence of other events, the FDIC may sell some, part, or all
of a bank’s assets and liabilities to another bank or repudiate or disaffirm most types of contracts to which the bank was a party if the FDIC believes such contracts
are burdensome. In resolving the estate of a failed bank, the FDIC as receiver will first satisfy its own administrative expenses, and the claims of holders of U.S.
deposit liabilities also have priority over those of other general unsecured creditors.

Liability for Banking Subsidiaries

Orrstown is required to serve as a source of financial and managerial strength to the Bank and, under appropriate conditions, to commit resources to support
the Bank. This support may be required by the FRB at times when the Bank might
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otherwise determine not to provide it or when doing so is not otherwise in the interests of Orrstown or its shareholders or creditors. The FRB may require a BHC to
make capital injections into a troubled subsidiary bank and may charge the BHC with engaging in unsafe and unsound practices if the BHC fails to commit
resources to such a subsidiary bank or if it undertakes actions that the FRB believes might jeopardize the BHC’s ability to commit resources to such subsidiary
bank.

Under these requirements, Orrstown may in the future be required to provide financial assistance to the Bank should it experience financial distress. Capital
loans by Orrstown to the Bank would be subordinate in right of payment to deposits and certain other debts of the Bank. In the event of Orrstown's bankruptcy, any
commitment by Orrstown to a federal bank regulatory agency to maintain the capital of the Bank would be assumed by the bankruptcy trustee and entitled to a
priority of payment.

Pennsylvania Banking Law

The Pennsylvania Banking Code contains detailed provisions governing the organization, location of offices, rights and responsibilities of directors, officers,
and employees, as well as corporate powers, savings and investment operations and other aspects of the Bank and its affairs. The Pennsylvania Banking Code
delegates extensive rule-making power and administrative discretion to the Pennsylvania Department of Banking and Securities so that the supervision and
regulation of state chartered banks may be flexible and readily responsive to changes in economic conditions and in savings and lending practices.

The FDIA, however, prohibits state chartered banks from making new investments, loans, or becoming involved in activities as principal and equity
investments which are not permitted for national banks unless the FDIC determines the activity or investment does not pose a significant risk of loss to the Deposit
Insurance Fund, and the bank meets all applicable capital requirements. Accordingly, the additional operating authority provided to the Bank by the Pennsylvania
Banking Code is significantly restricted by the FDIA.

Dividend Restrictions

The Parent Company is a legal entity separate and distinct from its banking and non-banking subsidiaries. Since our consolidated net income consists largely
of net income of Orrstown's subsidiaries, our ability to make capital distributions, including paying dividends and repurchasing shares, depends upon our receipt of
dividends from these subsidiaries. Under federal law, there are various limitations on the extent to which the Bank can declare and pay dividends to the Parent
Company, including those related to regulatory capital requirements, general regulatory oversight to prevent unsafe or unsound practices, and federal banking law
requirements concerning the payment of dividends out of net profits, surplus, and available earnings. Certain contractual restrictions also may limit the ability of
the Bank to pay dividends to the Parent Company. No assurances can be given that the Bank will, in any circumstances, pay dividends to the Parent Company.

Orrstown's ability to declare and pay dividends to our shareholders is similarly limited by federal banking law and FRB regulations and policy. The Bank
must maintain the applicable CET1 Capital Conservation Buffer to avoid becoming subject to restrictions on capital distributions, including dividends. As of
January 1, 2019, the fully phased-in Capital Conservation Buffer was 2.5%.

FRB policy provides that a BHC should not pay dividends unless (1) the BHC’s net income over the last four quarters (net of dividends paid) is sufficient to
fully fund the dividends, (2) the prospective rate of earnings retention appears consistent with the capital needs, asset quality, and overall financial condition of the
BHC and its subsidiaries, and (3) the BHC will continue to meet minimum required capital adequacy ratios. Accordingly, a BHC should not pay cash dividends
that can only be funded in ways that weaken the BHC’s financial health, such as by borrowing. The policy also provides that a BHC should inform the FRB
reasonably in advance of declaring or paying a dividend that exceeds earnings for the period for which the dividend is being paid or that could result in a material
adverse change to the BHC’s capital structure. BHCs also are required to consult with the FRB before increasing dividends or redeeming or repurchasing capital
instruments. Additionally, the FRB could prohibit or limit the payment of dividends by a BHC if it determines that payment of the dividend would constitute an
unsafe or unsound practice.

Transactions between a Bank and its Affiliates

Federal banking laws and regulations impose qualitative standards and quantitative limitations upon certain transactions between a bank and its affiliates,
including between a bank and its holding company and companies that the BHC may be deemed to control for these purposes. Transactions covered by these
provisions must be on arm’s-length terms and cannot exceed certain amounts which are determined with reference to the bank’s regulatory capital. Moreover, if the
transaction is a loan or other extension of credit, it must be secured by collateral in an amount and quality expressly prescribed by statute, and if the affiliate is
unable to pledge sufficient collateral, the BHC may be required to provide it. The Dodd-Frank Act expanded the coverage and scope of these regulations, including
by applying them to the credit exposure arising under derivative transactions, repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements, and securities borrowing and lending
transactions. Federal banking
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laws also place similar restrictions on loans and other extensions of credit by FDIC-insured banks, such as the Bank, and their subsidiaries to their directors,
executive officers, and principal shareholders.

Regulatory Capital Requirements

Compliance with respect to capital requirements is incorporated by reference from Note 17, Shareholders' Equity and Regulatory Capital, to the Consolidated
Financial Statements under Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data," and from the Capital Adequacy and Regulatory Matters section of
Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Consolidated Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

The Bank is subject to certain risk-based capital and leverage ratio requirements under the U.S. Basel III capital rules adopted by the FRB. These rules
implement the Basel I1I international regulatory capital standards in the U.S., as well as certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act. These quantitative calculations
are minimums, and the FRB may determine that a banking organization, based on its size, complexity, or risk profile, must maintain a higher level of capital in
order to operate in a safe and sound manner. The FRB asset-sized reporting threshold for a BHC is $3.0 billion and a company with consolidated assets under that
limit is not subject to the FRB consolidated capital rules. A company with consolidated assets under the limit may continue to file reports that include capital
amounts and ratios. Orrstown has elected to continue to file those reports.

Under the U.S. Basel I1I capital rules, Orrstown's and the Bank’s assets, exposures, and certain off-balance sheet items are subject to risk weights used to
determine the institutions’ risk-weighted assets. These risk-weighted assets are used to calculate the following minimum capital ratios for Orrstown and the Bank:

* CET1 Risk-Based Capital Ratio, equal to the ratio of CET1 capital to risk-weighted assets. CET1 capital primarily includes common shareholders’ equity
subject to certain regulatory adjustments and deductions, including goodwill, intangible assets, certain deferred tax assets, and AOCI.

« Tier 1 Risk-Based Capital Ratio, equal to the ratio of Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets. Tier 1 capital is primarily comprised of CET1 capital, perpetual
preferred stock, and certain qualifying capital instruments.

» Total Risk-Based Capital Ratio, equal to the ratio of total capital, including CET1 capital, Tier 1 capital, and Tier 2 capital, to risk-weighted assets. Tier 2
capital primarily includes qualifying subordinated debt and qualifying ALL.

* Tier 1 Leverage Ratio, equal to the ratio of Tier 1 capital to quarterly average assets (net of goodwill, certain other intangible assets, and certain other
deductions).

Failure to be well-capitalized or to meet minimum capital requirements could result in certain mandatory and possible additional discretionary actions by
regulators that, if undertaken, could have an adverse material effect on our operations or financial condition. Failure to be well-capitalized or to meet minimum
capital requirements could also result in restrictions on the Bank’s ability to pay dividends or otherwise distribute capital or to receive regulatory approval of
applications.

In addition to meeting the minimum capital requirements, under the U.S. Basel III capital rules, the Bank must also maintain the required Capital
Conservation Buffer to avoid becoming subject to restrictions on capital distributions and certain discretionary bonus payments to management. The Capital
Conservation Buffer is calculated as a ratio of CET1 capital to risk-weighted assets, and it effectively increases the required minimum risk-based capital ratios. The
Capital Conservation Buffer requirement was phased in over a three-year period that began on January 1, 2016. The phase-in period ended on January 1, 2019, and
the Capital Conservation Buffer was at its fully phased-in level of 2.5% throughout 2019. The Tier 1 Leverage Ratio is not impacted by the Capital Conservation
Buffer, and a banking institution may be considered well-capitalized while remaining out of compliance with the Capital Conservation Buffer.

Orrstown has the ability to provide additional capital to the Bank to maintain the Bank’s risk-based capital ratios at levels which would be considered well-
capitalized.

At December 31, 2020, Orrstown's and the Bank’s regulatory capital ratios were above the well-capitalized standards and met the Capital Conservation
Buffer on a fully phased-in basis.

Bank Acquisitions by Orrstown

BHCs must obtain prior approval of the Federal Reserve in connection with any acquisition that results in the BHC owning or controlling 5% or more of any
class of voting securities of a bank or another BHC.

Acquisitions of Ownership of Orrstown

Acquisitions of Orrstown's voting stock above certain thresholds are subject to prior regulatory notice or approval under federal banking laws, including the
BHC Act and the Change in Bank Control Act of 1978. Under the Change in Bank Control
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Act, a person or entity generally must provide prior notice to the FRB before acquiring the power to vote 10% or more of our outstanding common stock. Investors
should be aware of these requirements when acquiring shares in our stock.

Data Privacy

Federal and state law contains extensive consumer privacy protection provisions. The GLB Act requires financial institutions to periodically disclose their
privacy policies and practices relating to sharing such information and enables retail clients to opt out of our ability to share information with unaffiliated third
parties under certain circumstances. Other federal and state laws and regulations impact our ability to share certain information with affiliates and non-affiliates for
marketing and/or non-marketing purposes, or to contact clients with marketing offers. These security and privacy policies and procedures for the protection of
personal and confidential information are in effect across all businesses and geographic locations as applicable. Federal law also makes it a criminal offense, except
in limited circumstances, to obtain or attempt to obtain client information of a financial nature by fraudulent or deceptive means. Data privacy and data protection
are areas of increasing federal and state legislative focus.

Like other lenders, the Bank uses credit bureau data in its underwriting activities. Use of such data is regulated under the Fair Credit Reporting Act, which
also regulates reporting information to credit bureaus, prescreening individuals for credit offers, sharing of information between affiliates, and using affiliate data
for marketing purposes. Similar state laws may impose additional requirements on us.

Cybersecurity

The GLB Act requires financial institutions to implement a comprehensive information security program that includes administrative, technical, and physical
safeguards to ensure the security and confidentiality of client records and information.

The Cybersecurity Information Sharing Act is intended to improve cybersecurity in the U.S. by enhanced sharing of information about security threats among
the U.S. government and private sector entities, including financial institutions. The Cybersecurity Information Sharing Act also authorizes companies to monitor
their own systems notwithstanding any other provision of law and allows companies to carry out defensive measures on their own systems from cyber attacks. The
law includes liability protections for companies that share cyber threat information with third parties so long as such sharing activity is conducted in accordance
with Cybersecurity Information Sharing Act.

In October 2016, the federal bank regulatory agencies issued an Advanced Notice of Proposed Rulemaking regarding enhanced cyber risk management
standards which would apply to a wide range of large financial institutions and their third-party service providers. The proposed rules would expand existing
cybersecurity regulations and guidance to focus on cyber risk governance and management, management of internal and external dependencies, and incident
response, cyber resilience, and situational awareness. In addition, the proposal contemplates more stringent standards for institutions with systems that are critical
to the financial sector. The FRB announced in May 2019 that it would revisit the Advanced Notice of Proposed Rulemaking in the future.

Community Reinvestment Act

The CRA is intended to encourage banks to help meet the credit needs of their service areas, including low- and moderate-income neighborhoods, consistent
with safe and sound business practices. The relevant federal bank regulatory agency, the FRB in the Bank’s case, examines each bank and assigns it a public CRA
rating. A bank’s record of fair lending compliance is part of the resulting CRA examination report.

The CRA requires the relevant federal bank regulatory agency to consider a bank’s CRA assessment when considering the bank’s application to conduct
certain mergers or acquisitions or to open or relocate a branch office. The FRB also must consider the CRA record of each subsidiary bank of a BHC in connection
with any acquisition or merger application filed by the BHC. An unsatisfactory CRA record could substantially delay or result in the denial of an approval or
application by Orrstown or the Bank. The Bank received a CRA rating of “Satisfactory” in its most recent examination.

Leaders of the federal banking agencies recently have indicated their support for modernizing the CRA regulatory framework to address changing delivery
systems and consumer preferences, and, in December 2019, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency and FDIC issued a joint proposed rule that would amend
the CRA regulatory framework. It is too early to tell whether and to what extent any changes will be made to applicable CRA requirements.

Anti-Money Laundering

The Bank Secrecy Act and the PATRIOT Act contain anti-money laundering and financial transparency provisions intended to detect and prevent the use of
the U.S. financial system for money laundering and terrorist financing activities. The Bank Secrecy Act, as amended by the PATRIOT Act, requires depository
institutions and their holding companies to undertake
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activities including maintaining an anti-money laundering program, verifying the identity of clients, verifying the identity of certain beneficial owners for legal
entity clients, monitoring for and reporting suspicious transactions, reporting on cash transactions exceeding specified thresholds, and responding to requests for
information by regulatory authorities and law enforcement agencies. The Bank is subject to the Bank Secrecy Act and, therefore, is required to provide its
employees with anti-money laundering training, designate an anti-money laundering compliance officer, and undergo an annual, independent audit to assess the
effectiveness of its anti-money laundering program. The Bank has implemented policies, procedures, and internal controls that are designed to comply with these
anti-money laundering requirements. Bank regulators are focusing their examinations on anti-money laundering compliance, and we will continue to monitor and
augment, where necessary, our anti-money laundering compliance programs. The federal banking agencies are required, when reviewing bank and BHC
acquisition or merger applications, to consider the effectiveness of the anti-money laundering activities of the applicant.

Office of Foreign Assets Control Regulation

The Office of Foreign Assets Control is responsible for administering economic sanctions that affect transactions with designated foreign countries, nationals,
and others, as defined by various Executive Orders and in various legislation. Office of Foreign Assets Control-administered sanctions take many different forms.
For example, sanctions may include: (1) restrictions on trade with or investment in a sanctioned country, including prohibitions against direct or indirect imports
from and exports to a sanctioned country and prohibitions on U.S. persons engaging in financial transactions relating to, making investments in, or providing
investment-related advice or assistance to, a sanctioned country; and (2) a blocking of assets in which the government or “specially designated nationals” of the
sanctioned country have an interest, by prohibiting transfers of property subject to U.S. jurisdiction, including property in the possession or control of U.S. persons.
The Office of Foreign Assets Control also publishes lists of persons, organizations, and countries suspected of aiding, harboring, or engaging in terrorist acts,
known as Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons. Blocked assets, for example property and bank deposits, cannot be paid out, withdrawn, set off, or
transferred in any manner without a license from the Office of Foreign Assets Control. Failure to comply with these sanctions could have serious legal and
reputational consequences.

Transaction Account Reserves

Effective March 26, 2020, FRB rules no longer require depository institutions to maintain reserves against their transaction accounts, primarily NOW and
regular checking accounts. For 2019, the first $16.9 million of covered balances were exempt from the reserve requirement, aggregate balances between $16.9
million and $127.5 million were subject to a 3% reserve requirement, and aggregate balances above $127.5 million were subject to a 10% reserve requirement.
These reserve requirements are subject to annual adjustment by the FRB. The Bank was in compliance with these requirements as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Consumer Protection Regulation and Supervision

We are subject to regulation by the CFPB with respect to federal consumer protection laws. We are also subject to certain state consumer protection laws, and
under the Dodd-Frank Act, state attorneys general and other state officials are empowered to enforce certain federal consumer protection laws and regulations.
State authorities have increased their focus on and enforcement of consumer protection rules. These federal and state consumer protection laws apply to a broad
range of our activities and to various aspects of our business and include laws relating to interest rates, fair lending, disclosures of credit terms and estimated
transaction costs to consumer borrowers, debt collection practices, the use and provision of information to consumer reporting agencies, and the prohibition of
unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices in connection with the offer, sale, or provision of consumer financial products and services.

The CFPB has promulgated many mortgage-related final rules since it was established under the Dodd-Frank Act, including rules related to the ability to
repay and qualified mortgage standards, mortgage servicing standards, loan originator compensation standards, high-cost mortgage requirements, Home Mortgage
Disclosure Act requirements, and appraisal and escrow standards for higher priced mortgages. The mortgage-related final rules issued by the CFPB have materially
restructured the origination, servicing, and securitization of residential mortgages in the U.S. These rules have impacted, and will continue to impact, the business
practices of residential mortgage lenders, including the Bank.

Future Legislation and Regulation

Changes in federal laws and regulations, as well as laws and regulations in states where the Company does business, can affect the operating environment of
Orrstown in substantial ways. We cannot predict whether those changes in laws and regulations will occur, and, if they occur, the ultimate effect they would have
upon the financial condition or results of operations of the Company.
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Nasdaq Capital Market

The Company’s common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the trading symbol “ORRF” and is subject to Nasdaq’s rules for listed
companies.

Available Information

We are subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act and, in accordance with the Exchange Act, we file annual, quarterly, and current
reports, proxy statements, and other information with the SEC. The SEC maintains an Internet web site that contains reports, proxy statements, and other
information about issuers, like us, who file electronically with the SEC. The address of the site is www.sec.gov. The reports and other information, including any
related amendments, filed by us with, or furnished by us to, the SEC are also available free of charge at our Internet web site as soon as reasonably practicable after
such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. The address of the site is www.orrstown.com. Except as specifically incorporated by reference
into this Annual Report on Form 10-K, information on those web sites is not part of this report.

ITEM 1A — RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock is subject to risks inherent in our business. The material risks and uncertainties that management believes affect us are
described below. Before making an investment decision, you should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below together with all of the other
information included or incorporated by reference in this report. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing us. Additional risks and
uncertainties that management is not aware of or focused on or that management currently deems immaterial may also impair our business operations. This report
is qualified in its entirety by these risk factors.

If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. If this were
to happen, the market price of our common stock could decline significantly, and you could lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Related to Credit
If our allowance for loan losses is not sufficient to cover actual losses, our earnings would decrease.

There is no precise method of predicting loan losses. The required level of reserves, and the related provision for loan losses, can fluctuate from year to year,
based on charge-offs and/or recoveries, loan volume, credit administration practices, and local and national economic conditions, among other factors. The ALL,
which is a reserve established through a provision for loan losses charged to expense, represents management’s best estimate of probable incurred losses within the
existing portfolio of loans. The level of the allowance reflects management’s evaluation of, among other factors, the status of specific impaired loans, historical
loss experience, delinquency, credit concentrations and economic conditions within our market area. The determination of the appropriate level of the ALL
inherently involves a high degree of subjectivity and judgment and requires us to make significant estimates of current credit risks and future trends, all of which
may undergo material changes. Changes in economic conditions affecting borrowers, new information regarding existing loans, identification of additional
problem loans and other factors, both within and outside of our control, may require us to increase our ALL.

In addition, bank regulatory agencies periodically review our ALL and may require us to increase the provision for loan losses or to recognize further loan
charge-offs, based on judgments that differ from those of, or information not available to, management. If loan charge-offs in future periods exceed the ALL, there
would be a need to record additional provisions to increase our ALL. Furthermore, growth in the loan portfolio would generally lead to an increase in the provision
for loan losses. Generally, increases in our ALL will result in a decrease in net income and stockholders’ equity, and may have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition and results of operations.

The deterioration of one or more of our significant lending relationships could result in a significant increase in the nonperforming loans and the provisions
for loan losses, which would negatively impact our results of operations. A significant portion of our loan customers have been negatively impacted by protocols
either required or recommended due to COVID-19. Some industries or sectors have been impacted more than others. In many cases, the projects supporting these
loans are not generating adequate cash flow to service the debt. If conditions do not improve or more government assistance is not provided, we may have to look
to secondary sources of repayment, including liquidation of collateral or collection from guarantors. Going to secondary sources of repayment typically increases
our risk of loss. Some of the industries most impacted and our related loan volume to such industries are in the hospitality sector and commercial real estate.
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Further, we have elected to delay implementation of ASU 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, under the three-year delay
permitted by the FASB in 2019. For a more complete description of the potential impact ASU 2016-13 may have on our financial statements and ALL, please refer
to the "Changes in our accounting policies or in accounting standards could materially affect how we report our financial results and condition" risk factor below
and Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to the Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data" appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Commercial real estate lending may expose us to a greater risk of loss and impact our earnings and profitability.

Our business strategy includes making loans secured by commercial real estate. These types of loans generally have higher risk-adjusted returns and shorter
maturities than other loans. Loans secured by commercial real estate properties are generally for larger amounts and may involve a greater degree of risk than other
loans. Payments on loans secured by these properties are often dependent on the income produced by the underlying properties which, in turn, depends on the
successful operation and management of the properties. Accordingly, repayment of these loans is subject to conditions in the real estate market or the local
economy. In challenging economic conditions, these loans represent higher risk and could result in an increase in our total net charge-offs, requiring us to increase
our ALL, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations. While we seek to minimize these risks in a variety of ways,
there can be no assurance that these measures will protect against credit-related losses.

The credit risk related to commercial and industrial loans is greater than the risk related to residential loans.

Commercial and industrial loans generally carry larger loan balances and involve a greater degree of risk of nonpayment or late payment than home equity
loans or residential mortgage loans.

Commercial and industrial loans include advances to local and regional businesses for general commercial purposes and include permanent and short-term
working capital, machinery and equipment financing, and may be either in the form of lines of credit or term loans. Although commercial and industrial loans may
be unsecured to our highest rated borrowers, the majority of these loans are secured by the borrower’s accounts receivable, inventory and machinery and
equipment. In a significant number of these loans, the collateral also includes the business real estate or the business owner’s personal real estate or assets.
Commercial and industrial loans are more susceptible to risk of loss during a downturn in the economy, as borrowers may have greater difficulty in meeting their
debt service requirements and the value of the collateral may decline. We attempt to mitigate this risk through our underwriting standards, including evaluating the
creditworthiness of the borrower and, to the extent available, credit ratings on the business. Additionally, monitoring of the loans through annual renewals and
meetings with the borrowers are typical. However, these procedures cannot entirely eliminate the risk of loss associated with commercial and industrial lending.

As a participating lender in the SBA Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”), we are subject to additional risks of litigation from our clients or other parties
regarding our processing of loans for the PPP and risks that the SBA may not fund some or all PPP loan guaranties.

On March 27, 2020, President Trump signed the CARES Act, which included a $349 billion loan program administered through the SBA referred to as the
PPP. Under the PPP, small businesses and other entities and individuals can apply for loans from existing SBA lenders and other approved regulated lenders that
enroll in the program, subject to numerous limitations and eligibility criteria. We are a participating as a lender in the PPP. The PPP opened on April 3, 2020;
however, because of the short timeframe between the passing of the CARES Act and the opening of the PPP, there is some ambiguity in the laws, rules and
guidance regarding the operation of the PPP, which exposes the Company to risks relating to noncompliance with the PPP. On or about April 16, 2020, the SBA
notified lenders that the $349 billion earmarked for the PPP was exhausted. Congress has approved additional funding for the PPP and President Trump signed the
new legislation on April 24, 2020. Since the opening of the PPP, several larger banks have been subject to litigation regarding the process and procedures that such
banks used in processing applications for the PPP. We may be exposed to the risk of litigation, from both clients and non-clients that approached us regarding PPP
loans, regarding our process and procedures used in processing applications for the PPP. If any such litigation is filed against us and is not resolved in a manner
favorable to us, it may result in significant financial liability or adversely affect our reputation. In addition, litigation can be costly, regardless of outcome. Any
financial liability, litigation costs or reputational damage caused by PPP related litigation could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

We also have credit risk on PPP loans if a determination is made by the SBA that there is a deficiency in the manner in which the loan was originated,
funded, or serviced by us, such as an issue with the eligibility of a borrower to receive a PPP loan, which may or may not be related to the ambiguity in the laws,
rules and guidance regarding the operation of the PPP. In the event of a loss resulting from a default on a PPP loan and a determination by the SBA that there was a
deficiency in the manner in which the PPP loan was originated, funded, or serviced by us, the SBA may deny its liability under the guaranty,

14



Table of Contents

reduce the amount of the guaranty, or, if it has already paid under the guaranty, seek recovery of any loss related to the deficiency from us.
Risks Related to Interest Rates and Investments
Changes in interest rates could adversely impact the Company’s financial condition and results of operations.

Our operations are subject to risks and uncertainties surrounding our exposure to changes in the interest rate environment. Operating income, net income and
liquidity depend to a great extent on our net interest margin, i.e., the difference between the interest yields we receive on interest-earning assets, such as loans and
securities, and the interest rates we pay on interest-bearing liabilities, such as deposits and borrowings. These rates are highly sensitive to many factors beyond our
control, including competition, general economic conditions, and monetary and fiscal policies of various governmental and regulatory authorities, including the
FRB. If the rate of interest we pay on our interest-bearing liabilities increases more than the rate of interest we receive on our interest-earning assets, our net
interest income, and therefore our earnings and liquidity, could be materially adversely affected. Our earnings and liquidity could also be materially adversely
affected if the rates on interest-earning assets fall more quickly than those on our interest-bearing liabilities.

Changes in interest rates also can affect our ability to originate loans; the ability of borrowers to repay adjustable or variable rate loans; our ability to obtain
and retain deposits in competition with other available investment alternatives; and the value of interest-earning assets, which would negatively impact
stockholders’ equity, and the ability to realize gains from the sale of such assets. Based on our interest rate sensitivity analyses, an increase in the general level of
interest rates will negatively affect the market value of the investment portfolio because of the relatively higher duration of certain securities included in the
investment portfolio.

Our subordinated notes, issued in December 2018, have a 6.0% fixed interest rate through December 2023, after which the interest rate will convert to a
variable rate of the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 3.16% through maturity in December 2028. Depending on our financial condition at the time
of the rate changing from fixed to variable, an increase in the interest rate on our subordinated debt could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and results
of operations.

The expected discontinuance of LIBOR presents risks to the financial instruments originated, issued or held by us that use LIBOR as a reference rate.

LIBOR is used as a reference rate for many of our transactions, which means it is the base on which relevant interest rates are determined. Transactions
include those in which we lend and borrow money and issue, purchase and sell securities. LIBOR is the subject of recent national and international regulatory
guidance and proposals for reform. The United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, which regulates the process for setting LIBOR, announced in July 2017 that
it intends to stop persuading or compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR to the administrator of LIBOR after 2021. In November 2020, the
FRB announced that LIBOR will be phased out and eventually replaced by June 2023. Banks were instructed to stop writing contracts using LIBOR by the end of
2021.

LIBOR is expected to be replaced by the Secured Overnight Financing Rate, or SOFR, which is a median of rates that market participants pay to borrow cash
on an overnight basis, using US Treasury Securities as collateral.

If SOFR does not achieve wide acceptance as the alternative to LIBOR, there likely will be disruption to all of the markets relying on the availability of a
broadly accepted reference rate. Should SOFR ultimately replace LIBOR, risks will remain for us with respect to outstanding loans or other instruments using
LIBOR. Those risks arise in connection with transitioning those instruments to a new reference rate and the corresponding value transfer that may occur in
connection with that transition. Risks related to transitioning instruments to SOFR or to how LIBOR is calculated and its availability include impacts on the yield
on loans or securities held by us and amounts paid on securities we have issued. The value of loans, securities, or borrowings tied to LIBOR and the trading market
for LIBOR-based securities could also be negatively impacted upon its discontinuance or phase out.

Further, it is possible that LIBOR quotes will become unavailable prior to 2022 if a sufficient number of banks decline to make submissions to the LIBOR
administrator. In that case, the risks associated with the transition from LIBOR would be accelerated and magnified. These risks may also be increased due to the
shorter time frame for preparing for the transition.

Risks Related to Competition and to Our Business Strategy
Difficult economic and market conditions can adversely affect the financial services industry and may materially and adversely affect the Company.

Our operations are sensitive to general business and economic conditions in the U.S. If the growth of the U.S. economy slows, or if the economy worsens or
enters into a recession, our growth and profitability could be constrained. In addition,
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economic conditions in foreign countries can affect the stability of global financial markets, which could impact the U.S. economy and financial markets. Weak
economic conditions are characterized by deflation, fluctuations in debt and equity capital markets, including a lack of liquidity and/or depressed prices in the
secondary market for mortgage loans, increased delinquencies on mortgage, consumer and commercial loans, residential and commercial real estate price declines
and lower home sales and commercial activity. All of these factors are detrimental to our business. Our business is significantly affected by monetary and related
policies of the U.S. federal government, its agencies and government-sponsored entities. Changes in any of these policies could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In particular, we may face the following risks in connection with volatility in the economic environment:

*  Loan delinquencies could increase;
*  Problem assets and foreclosures could increase;
*  Demand for our products and services could decline; and

*  Collateral for loans made by us, especially real estate, could decline in value, reducing client borrowing power, and reducing the value of the assets and
collateral associated with our loans.

Because our business is concentrated in south central Pennsylvania, the greater Baltimore region, and Washington County, Maryland, our financial
performance could be materially adversely affected by economic conditions and real estate values in these market areas.

Our operations and the properties securing our loans are primarily located in south central Pennsylvania, the greater Baltimore region, and Washington
County, Maryland. Our operating results depend largely on economic conditions and real estate valuations in these and surrounding areas. A deterioration in the
economic conditions in these market areas could materially adversely affect our operations and increase loan delinquencies, increase problem assets and
foreclosures, increase claims and lawsuits, decrease the demand for our products and services and decrease the value of collateral securing loans, especially real
estate, in turn reducing clients’ borrowing power, the value of assets associated with nonperforming loans and collateral coverage.

Competition from other banks and financial institutions in originating loans, attracting deposits and providing other financial services may adversely affect
our profitability and liquidity.

We experience substantial competition in originating both commercial and consumer loans in our market area. This competition comes principally from other
banks, savings institutions, credit unions, mortgage banking companies and other lenders. Some of our competitors enjoy advantages, including greater financial
resources and higher lending limits, a wider geographic presence, more accessible branch office locations, the ability to offer a wider array of services or more
favorable pricing alternatives, as well as lower origination and operating costs. This competition could reduce our net income and liquidity by decreasing the
number and size of loans that we originate and the interest rates we are able to charge on these loans.

As we expand our online lending capabilities, we will face competition, particularly in residential mortgage lending, from non-bank lenders (financial
institutions that only make loans and do not offer deposit accounts such as a savings account or checking account) and financial technology companies that use
new technology and innovation with available resources in order to compete in the marketplace of traditional financial institutions and intermediaries in the
delivery of financial services. This competition could similarly reduce our net income and liquidity.

In attracting business and consumer deposits, we face substantial competition from other insured depository institutions such as banks, savings institutions
and credit unions, as well as institutions offering uninsured investment alternatives, including money market funds. Some of our competitors enjoy advantages,
including more expansive marketing campaigns, better brand recognition and more branch locations. These competitors may offer higher interest rates than we do,
which could decrease the deposits that we attract or require us to increase our rates to retain existing deposits or attract new deposits. Increased deposit competition
could materially adversely affect our ability to generate the funds necessary for lending operations. As a result, we may need to seek other sources of funds that
may be more expensive to obtain and could increase our cost of funds.

The Company’s business strategy includes the continuation of moderate growth plans, and our financial condition and results of operations could be
negatively affected if we fail to grow or fail to manage our growth effectively.

Over the long term, we expect to continue to experience organic growth in loans and total assets, the level of our deposits and the scale of our operations.
Achieving our growth targets requires us to successfully execute our business strategies, which includes continuing to grow our loan portfolio. Our ability to
successfully grow will also depend on the continued availability of loan opportunities that meet underwriting standards. In addition, we may consider the
acquisition of other financial
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institutions and branches within or outside of our market area to the extent permitted by our regulators. The success of any such acquisition will depend on a
number of factors, including our ability to integrate the acquired institutions or branches into the current operations of the Company; our ability to limit the outflow
of deposits held by clients of the acquired institution or branch locations; our ability to control the incremental increase in noninterest expense arising from any
acquisition; and our ability to retain and integrate the appropriate personnel of the acquired institution or branches. We believe we have the resources and internal
systems in place to successfully achieve and manage our future growth. If we do not manage our growth effectively, we may not be able to achieve our business
plan goals and our business and prospects could be harmed.

The Company may be adversely affected by technological advances.

Technological advances impact our business. The banking industry undergoes constant technological change with frequent introductions of new technology-
driven products and services. In addition to improving client services, the effective use of technology increases efficiency and enables financial institutions to
reduce costs. Our future success may depend, in part, on our ability to address the needs of our current and prospective clients by using technology to provide
products and services that will satisfy demands for convenience, as well as to create additional efficiencies in operations.

We face security risks, including denial of service attacks, hacking, social engineering attacks targeting our colleagues and clients, malware intrusion or data
corruption attempts, and identity theft that could result in the disclosure of confidential information, adversely affect our business or reputation, and create
significant legal and financial exposure.

Our computer systems and network infrastructure and those of third parties, on which we are highly dependent, are subject to security risks and could be
susceptible to cyber attacks, such as denial of service attacks, hacking, terrorist activities, or identity theft. Our business relies on the secure processing,
transmission, storage, and retrieval of confidential, proprietary, and other information in our computer and data management systems and networks, and in the
computer and data management systems and networks of third parties. In addition, in order to access our network, products, and services, our clients and other third
parties may use personal mobile devices or computing devices that are outside of our network environment and are subject to their own cybersecurity risks.

We, our clients, regulators, and other third parties, including other financial services institutions and companies engaged in data processing, have been
subject to, and are likely to continue to be the target of, cyber attacks. These cyber attacks include computer viruses, malicious or destructive code, phishing
attacks, denial of service or information, ransomware, improper access by employees or vendors, attacks on personal email of employees, ransom demands to not
expose security vulnerabilities in our systems or the systems of third parties or other security breaches that could result in the unauthorized release, gathering,
monitoring, misuse, loss, or destruction of confidential, proprietary, and other information of ours, our employees, our clients, or of third parties, damage our
systems or otherwise materially disrupt our or our clients’ or other third parties’ network access or business operations. As cyber threats continue to evolve, we
may be required to expend significant additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any
information security vulnerabilities or incidents. Despite efforts to ensure the integrity of our systems and implement controls, processes, policies, and other
protective measures, we may not be able to anticipate all security breaches, nor may we be able to implement sufficient preventive measures against such security
breaches, which may result in material losses or consequences for us.

Cybersecurity risks for banking organizations have significantly increased in recent years in part because of the proliferation of new technologies, and the use
of the internet and telecommunications technologies to conduct financial transactions. For example, cybersecurity risks may increase in the future as we continue to
increase our mobile-payment and other internet-based product offerings to meet client demand and expand our internal usage of web-based products and
applications. In addition, cybersecurity risks have significantly increased in recent years, in part due to the increased sophistication and activities of organized
crime affiliates, terrorist organizations, hostile foreign governments, disgruntled employees or vendors, activists, and other external parties, including those
involved in corporate espionage. Even the most advanced internal control environment may be vulnerable to compromise. Due to increasing geopolitical tensions,
nation state cyber attacks and ransomware are both increasing in sophistication and prevalence. Targeted social engineering and email attacks (i.e. “spear phishing”
attacks) are becoming more sophisticated and are extremely difficult to prevent. In such an attack, an attacker will attempt to fraudulently induce colleagues,
clients, or other users of our systems to disclose sensitive information in order to gain access to its data or that of its clients. Persistent attackers may succeed in
penetrating defenses given enough resources, time, and motive. The techniques used by cyber criminals change frequently, may not be recognized until launched,
and may not be recognized until well after a breach has occurred. The speed at which new vulnerabilities are discovered and exploited often before security patches
are published continues to rise. The risk of a security breach caused by a cyber attack at a vendor or by unauthorized vendor access has also increased in recent
years. Additionally, the existence of cyber attacks or security breaches at third-party vendors with access to our data may not be disclosed to us in a timely manner.

We also face indirect technology, cybersecurity, and operational risks relating to the clients and other third parties with whom we do business or upon whom
we rely to facilitate or enable our business activities, including, for example, financial
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counterparties, regulators, and providers of critical infrastructure such as internet access and electrical power. As a result of increasing consolidation,
interdependence, and complexity of financial entities and technology systems, a technology failure, cyber attack, or other information or security breach that
significantly degrades, deletes, or compromises the systems or data of one or more financial entities could have a material impact on counterparties or other market
participants, including us. This consolidation, interconnectivity, and complexity increases the risk of operational failure, on both individual and industry-wide
bases, as disparate systems need to be integrated, often on an accelerated basis. Any third-party technology failure, cyber attack, or other information or security
breach, termination, or constraint could, among other things, adversely affect our ability to effect transactions, service our clients, manage our exposure to risk, or
expand our business.

Cyber attacks or other information or security breaches, whether directed at us or third parties, may result in a material loss or have material consequences.
Furthermore, the public perception that a cyber attack on our systems has been successful, whether or not this perception is correct, may damage our reputation
with clients and third parties with whom we do business. Hacking of personal information and identity theft risks, in particular, could cause serious reputational
harm. A successful penetration or circumvention of system security could cause us serious negative consequences, including our loss of clients and business
opportunities, costs associated with maintaining business relationships after an attack or breach; significant business disruption to our operations and business,
misappropriation, exposure, or destruction of our confidential information, intellectual property, funds, and/or those of our clients; or damage to our or our clients’
and/or third parties’ computers or systems, and could result in a violation of applicable privacy laws and other laws, litigation exposure, regulatory fines, penalties
or intervention, loss of confidence in our security measures, reputational damage, reimbursement or other compensatory costs, additional compliance costs, and
could adversely impact our results of operations, liquidity and financial condition. In addition, we may not have adequate insurance coverage to compensate for
losses from a cybersecurity event.

Cybersecurity and data privacy are areas of heightened legislative and regulatory focus.

As cybersecurity and data privacy risks for banking organizations and the broader financial system have significantly increased in recent years, cybersecurity
and data privacy issues have become the subject of increasing legislative and regulatory focus. The federal bank regulatory agencies have proposed regulations that
would enhance cyber risk management standards, which would apply to a wide range of large financial institutions and their third-party service providers and
would focus on cyber risk governance and management, management of internal and external dependencies, and incident response, cyber resilience, and situational
awareness. Several states have also proposed or adopted cybersecurity legislation and regulations, which require, among other things, notification to affected
individuals when there has been a security breach of their personal data.

We receive, maintain, and store non-public personal information of our clients and counterparties, including, but not limited to, personally identifiable
information and personal financial information. The sharing, use, disclosure, and protection of these types of information are governed by federal and state law.
Both personally identifiable information and personal financial information are increasingly subject to legislation and regulation, the intent of which is to protect
the privacy of personal information and personal financial information that is collected and handled.

We may become subject to new legislation or regulation concerning cybersecurity or the privacy of personally identifiable information and personal financial
information or of any other information we may store or maintain. We could be adversely affected if new legislation or regulations are adopted or if existing
legislation or regulations are modified such that we are required to alter our systems or require changes to our business practices or privacy policies. If
cybersecurity, data privacy, data protection, data transfer, or data retention laws are implemented, interpreted, or applied in a manner inconsistent with our current
practices, we may be subject to fines, litigation, or regulatory enforcement actions or ordered to change our business practices, policies, or systems in a manner that
adversely impacts our operating results.

We may become subject to claims and litigation pertaining to fiduciary responsibility.

We provide fiduciary services through OFA. From time to time, clients may make claims and take legal action with regard to the performance of our
fiduciary responsibilities. Whether such claims and legal actions are founded or unfounded, if such claims or legal actions are not resolved in a manner favorable to
us, the claims or related actions may result in significant financial expense and liability to us and/or adversely affect our reputation in the marketplace, as well as
adversely impact client demand for our products and services. Any financial liability or reputation damage could have a material adverse effect on our business,
which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Interest rate volatility stemming from COVID-19 could negatively affect our net interest income, lending activities, deposits and profitability.

Our net interest income, lending activities, deposits and profitability could be negatively affected by volatility in interest rates caused by uncertainties
stemming from COVID-19. In March 2020, the FRB lowered the target range for the federal funds rate to a range from 0 to 0.25 percent, citing concerns about the
impact of COVID-19 on markets and stress in the energy
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sector. A prolonged period of extremely volatile and unstable market conditions would likely increase our funding costs and negatively affect market risk
mitigation strategies. Higher income volatility from changes in interest rates and spreads to benchmark indices could cause a loss of future net interest income and
a decrease in current fair market values of our assets. Fluctuations in interest rates will impact both the level of income and expense recorded on most of our assets
and liabilities and the market value of all interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our net
income, operating results, or financial condition.

Risks Related to Mergers and Acquisitions
On October 1, 2018, we completed the acquisition of Mercersburg, and on May 1, 2019, we completed the acquisition of Hamilton Bancorp, Inc.
Growing by acquisition involves risks.

We intend to pursue a growth plan consistent with our business strategy, including growth by acquisition, as well as leveraging our existing branch network
and adding new branch locations in current and future markets we choose to serve.

Our ability to manage growth successfully will depend on our ability to attract qualified personnel and maintain cost controls and asset quality while
attracting additional loans and deposits on favorable terms, as well as on factors beyond our control, such as economic conditions and competition. If we grow too
quickly and are not able to attract qualified personnel, control costs and maintain asset quality, this continued rapid growth could materially adversely affect our
financial performance.

Goodwill incurred in acquisitions may negatively affect our financial condition.

To the extent that merger consideration, consisting of cash and shares of our common stock, exceeds the fair value of the net assets acquired, including
identifiable intangibles, that amount will be reported as goodwill by us. In accordance with current accounting guidance, goodwill will not be amortized but will be
evaluated for impairment annually or more frequently if events or circumstances warrant. A failure to realize expected benefits of the mergers could adversely
impact the carrying value of the goodwill recognized in the mergers and, in turn, negatively affect our financial results.

We may be unable to successfully integrate the operations of acquired entities over time.

Acquisitions involve the integration with Orrstown of companies that previously operated independently. The difficulties of combining the operations of the
acquired companies with Orrstown include:

* integrating personnel with diverse business backgrounds;
» integrating departments, systems, operating procedures and information technologies;
*  combining different corporate cultures;
* retaining existing clients and attracting new clients; and
* retaining key employees.
The process of integrating operations could cause an interruption of, or loss of momentum in, the activities of the combined company and the loss of key

personnel. The diversion of management’s attention and any delays or difficulties encountered in connection with the merger and the integration process could
have a material adverse effect on the business and results of operations of the combined company.

The success of acquisitions depends, in part, on our ability to realize the anticipated benefits and cost savings from combining the businesses acquired with
Orrstown. If we are unable to successfully execute on integration, the anticipated earnings and cost savings to be derived from acquisitions may not be realized
fully or may take longer to realize than expected. In addition, as with regard to any acquisition, a significant change in interest rates or economic conditions or
decline in asset valuations may also cause us not to realize expected benefits and result in the acquisitions not meeting expectations.

The market price of our common stock after acquisitions may be affected by factors different from those affecting our shares currently.

The businesses of the Company and acquired entities may differ and, accordingly, the results of operations of the combined company and the market price of
the shares of common stock of the combined company may be affected by factors different from those currently affecting the independent results of operations and
market prices of common stock of each separate entity. The market value of our common stock fluctuates based upon various factors, including changes in our
business, operations or prospects, market assessments of the merger, regulatory considerations, market and economic
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considerations, and other factors. Further, the market price of our common stock after an acquisition may be affected by factors different from those currently
affecting our common stock.

Additionally, future business acquisitions may result in the issuance and payment of additional shares of stock, which would dilute current shareholders’
ownership interests, and may involve the payment of a premium over book and market values. Therefore, dilution of our tangible book value and net income per
common share could occur in connection with any future transaction.

Risks Related to Regulatory Compliance and Legal Matters
Governmental regulation and regulatory actions against us may impair our operations or restrict our growth.

The Company is subject to regulation and supervision under federal and state laws and regulations. The requirements and limitations imposed by such laws
and regulations limit the manner in which we conduct our business, undertake new investments and activities and obtain financing. These regulations are designed
primarily for the promotion of the safety and soundness of financial institutions and the protection of the deposit insurance funds and consumers, and not to benefit
our shareholders.

Applicable laws and regulations impose capital adequacy requirements and restrict our ability to repurchase stock or to receive dividends from our
subsidiaries. Our ability to service our obligations and pay dividends to shareholders is largely dependent on the receipt of dividends from our subsidiaries,
primarily the Bank. The FRB requires a BHC to act as a source of financial and managerial strength for its subsidiary banks. The FRB could require us to commit
resources to the Bank when doing so is not otherwise in the interests of our shareholders or creditors.

We are subject to supervision and examination by numerous governmental bodies. The results of these supervisory or examination activities could result in
limitations on our ability to engage in new activities or expand geographically. These activities also could result in significant fines, penalties, or required
corrective actions, some of which could be expensive and difficult to implement. As we expand our product and service offerings into additional states, there could
be an increase in state regulation affecting our operations. Different approaches to regulation by different jurisdictions could increase our compliance costs or risks
of non-compliance.

Financial institution regulation has been the subject of significant legislation in recent years and may be the subject of further significant legislation in the
future, none of which is within our control. Federal and state regulatory agencies also frequently adopt changes to their regulations or change the manner in which
existing regulations are applied or enforced. The Company cannot predict the substance or impact of pending or future legislation, regulation or the application
thereof.

Compliance with such current and potential regulation and scrutiny may significantly increase our costs, impede the efficiency of our internal business
processes, require us to increase our regulatory capital and limit our ability to pursue business opportunities in an efficient manner. Bank regulations can hinder our
ability to compete with financial services companies that are not regulated in the same manner or are subject to less regulation. A failure to comply, or to have
adequate policies and procedures designed to comply, with regulatory requirements and expectations could expose us to damages, fines and regulatory penalties
and other regulatory or enforcement actions or consequences, such as limitations on activities otherwise permissible for us or additional requirements for engaging
in new activities, and could also injure our reputation with clients and others with whom we do business.

Increases in FDIC insurance premiums may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

We are generally unable to control the amount of premiums that are required to be paid for FDIC insurance. If there are bank or financial institution failures,
the Company may be required to pay significantly higher premiums than the levels currently imposed or additional special assessments or taxes that could
adversely affect earnings. Any future increases or required prepayments in FDIC insurance premiums may materially adversely affect our results of operations.

Legislative, regulatory and legal developments involving income and other taxes could materially adversely affect the Company’s results of operations and
cash flows.

The Company is subject to U.S. federal and U.S. state income, payroll, property, sales and use, and other types of taxes, including the Pennsylvania Bank
Shares Tax. Significant judgment is required in determining the Company's provisions for income taxes. Changes in tax rates, enactments of new tax laws,
revisions of tax regulations, and claims or litigation with taxing authorities could result in substantially higher taxes, and therefore, could have a significant adverse
effect on the Company's results of operations, financial condition and liquidity. Increases in the assessment rate for the Pennsylvania Bank Shares Tax, which is
calculated on the outstanding equity of the Bank, may also materially adversely affect results of operations.
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The Company is required to use judgment in applying accounting policies and different estimates and assumptions in the application of these policies could
result in a decrease in capital and/or other material changes to the reports of financial condition and results of operations.

Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant change relate to the determination of the ALL, the fair value of certain financial instruments,
particularly securities, and goodwill and purchase accounting associated with acquisitions. While we have identified those accounting policies that we consider
critical and have procedures in place to facilitate the associated judgments, different assumptions in the application of these policies could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in our accounting policies or in accounting standards could materially affect how we report our financial results and condition.

From time to time, the FASB, SEC and other regulatory bodies change the financial accounting and reporting standards that govern the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements. These changes can be operationally complex to implement and can materially impact how we record and report our financial
condition and results of operations.

For example, in June 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, that will, upon
adoption, substantially change the accounting for credit losses on loans and other financial assets held by banks, financial institutions and other organizations. The
update replaces existing incurred loss impairment guidance and establishes a single allowance framework for financial assets carried at amortized cost. Upon
adoption of ASU 2016-13, companies must recognize credit losses on these assets equal to management’s estimate of credit losses over the full remaining expected
life. Companies must consider all relevant information when estimating expected credit losses, including details about past events, current conditions, and
reasonable and supportable forecasts.

The changes were effective for most publicly-held companies on January 1, 2020. However, in July 2019, the FASB approved permitting “smaller reporting
companies”, such as Orrstown, up to an additional 3 years to adopt ASU 2016-13. We elected not to adopt ASU 2016-13 on January 1, 2020, and have not yet
determined if we will adopt its provisions prior to the extended implementation date of January 1, 2023.

In December 2018, the FRB, OCC and FDIC released a final rule to revise their regulatory capital rules, in part to address the upcoming change to the
treatment of credit expense and allowances under ASC 2016-13. The final rule provides an optional three year phase-in period for the day-one adverse regulatory
capital effects upon adopting the standard. The impact of this final rule on the Company will depend on whether we elect to phase in the impact of ASU 2016-13
over a three year period. The standard is likely to have a negative impact, potentially materially, to the ALL and our capital position at adoption. When we adopt
ASU 2016-13, we will also determine whether we will elect the phase-in provisions for regulatory capital. It is possible that our ongoing reported earnings and
lending activity will be negatively impacted in periods following adoption of ASU 2016-13.

The short-term and long-term impact of changing regulatory capital requirements and new capital rules is uncertain.

The Basel III Capital Rules have targeted higher levels of base capital, certain capital buffers, and a migration toward common equity as the key source of
regulatory capital, as domestic and international bank regulatory agencies have sought to require financial institutions, including depository institutions, to
maintain generally higher levels of capital. The application of more stringent capital requirements to the Company and the Bank could, among other things, result
in lower returns on invested capital, result in the need for additional capital, and result in regulatory actions if we were to be unable to comply with such
requirements, including limitations on our ability to make distributions, including paying out dividends or buying back shares. Furthermore, the imposition of
liquidity requirements in connection with the implementation of Basel III could result in our having to lengthen the term of our funding, restructure our business
models, and/or increase our holdings of liquid assets.

Noncompliance with the Bank Secrecy Act and other anti-money laundering statutes and regulations could cause us material financial loss.

The Bank Secrecy Act and the PATRIOT Act contain anti-money laundering and financial transparency provisions intended to detect and prevent the use of
the U.S. financial system for money laundering and terrorist financing activities. The Bank Secrecy Act, as amended by the PATRIOT Act, requires depository
institutions and their holding companies to undertake activities including maintaining an anti-money laundering program, verifying the identity of clients,
monitoring for and reporting suspicious transactions, reporting on cash transactions exceeding specified thresholds, and responding to requests for information by
regulatory authorities and law enforcement agencies. FinCEN, a unit of the Treasury Department that administers the Bank Secrecy Act, is authorized to impose
significant civil money penalties for violations of those requirements and has recently engaged in coordinated enforcement efforts with the federal bank regulatory
agencies, as well as the U.S. Department of Justice, Drug Enforcement Administration, and IRS.
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There is also increased scrutiny of compliance with the rules enforced by the Office of Foreign Assets Control. If our policies, procedures, and systems are
deemed deficient or the policies, procedures, and systems of the financial institutions that we have already acquired or may acquire in the future are deficient, we
would be subject to liability, including fines and regulatory actions such as restrictions on our ability to pay dividends and the necessity to obtain regulatory
approvals to proceed with certain planned business activities, including acquisition plans, which would negatively impact our business, financial condition, and
results of operations. Failure to maintain and implement adequate programs to combat money laundering and terrorist financing could also have serious
reputational consequences for us.

Pending litigation and legal proceedings and the impact of any finding of liability or damages could adversely impact the Company and its financial condition
and results of operations.

As more fully described in Note 23, Contingencies, to the Consolidated Financial Statements under Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statement and Supplementary
Data," of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company believes that the allegations of the Southeastern Pennsylvania Transportation Authority's third amended
complaint are without merit and it intends to vigorously defend itself against those claims. It is not possible at this time to estimate reasonably possible losses, or
even a range of reasonably possible losses, in connection with the litigation. There can be no assurances, however, that the Company will not incur any losses
associated with this litigation or that any losses that are incurred will not be material.

Indemnification costs associated with litigation and legal proceedings could adversely impact the Company and its financial condition and results of
operations.

We are generally required, to the extent permitted by Pennsylvania law, to indemnify our current and former directors and officers who are named as
defendants in lawsuits. We also have certain contractual indemnification obligations to third parties regarding litigation. Generally, insurance coverage is not
available for such indemnification costs we could incur to third parties. Current or future litigation could result in indemnification expenses that could have a
materially adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Liquidity
The Parent Company is a holding company dependent for liquidity on payments from its bank subsidiary, which is subject to restrictions.

The Parent Company is a holding company and depends on dividends, distributions and other payments from the Bank to fund dividend payments and stock
repurchases, if permitted, and to fund all payments on obligations. The Bank is subject to laws that restrict dividend payments or authorize regulatory bodies to
prohibit or reduce the flow of funds from it to us. In addition, our right to participate in a distribution of assets upon the Bank’s liquidation or reorganization is
subject to the prior claims of the Bank’s creditors, including its depositors.

The soundness of other financial institutions could adversely affect the Company.

Our ability to engage in routine funding and other transactions could be adversely affected by the actions and commercial soundness of other financial
institutions. Financial services institutions are interrelated as a result of trading, clearing, counterparty or other relationships. As a result, defaults by, or even
rumors or questions about, one or more financial services institutions, or the financial services industry generally, have historically led to market-wide liquidity
problems, losses of depositor, creditor and counterparty confidence and could lead to losses or defaults by us or by other institutions. We could experience
increases in deposits and assets as a result of other banks’ difficulties or failure, which would increase the capital we are required to maintain to support such
growth.

Risks Related to Owning our Stock

If the Company wants, or is compelled, to raise additional capital in the future, that capital may not be available when it is needed or on terms favorable to
current shareholders.

Federal banking regulators require us and our banking subsidiary to maintain adequate levels of capital to support our operations. These capital levels are
determined and dictated by law, regulation and banking regulatory agencies. In addition, capital levels are also determined by our management and board of
directors based on capital levels that they believe are necessary to support our business operations. At December 31, 2020, all four capital ratios for us and our
banking subsidiary were above regulatory minimum levels to be deemed “well capitalized” under current bank regulatory guidelines. To be “well capitalized,”
banks generally must maintain a tier 1 leverage ratio of at least 5.0%, CET1 capital ratio of 6.5%, Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio of at least 8.0%, and a total risk-
based capital ratio of at least 10.0%.

The Company’s ability to raise additional capital will depend on conditions in the capital markets at that time, which are outside of our control, and on our
financial performance. Accordingly, we cannot provide assurance of our ability to raise
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additional capital on terms and time frames acceptable to us or to raise additional capital at all. Additionally, the inability to raise capital in sufficient amounts may
adversely affect our operations, financial condition and results of operations. Our ability to borrow could also be impaired by factors that are nonspecific to us,
such as severe disruption of the financial markets or negative news and expectations about the prospects for the financial services industry as a whole. If we raise
capital through the issuance of additional shares of our common stock or other securities, we would likely dilute the ownership interests of current investors by
diluting earnings per share of our common stock and potentially dilute book value per share, depending on the issuance price. The price at which we issue
additional shares of stock could be less than the current market price of our common stock. Furthermore, a capital raise through the issuance of additional shares
may have an adverse impact on our stock price.

The market price of our common stock is subject to volatility.

The market price of the Company’s common stock has been subject to fluctuations in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control.
These factors include actual or anticipated variations in our operational results and cash flows, changes in financial estimates by securities analysts, trading
volume, large purchases or sales of our common stock, market conditions within the banking industry, the general state of the securities markets and the market for
stocks of financial institutions, as well as general economic conditions.

A reduction in our credit rating could adversely affect our access to capital and could increase our cost of funds.

A credit rating agency regularly evaluates Orrstown and the Bank, and credit ratings are based on a number of factors, including our financial strength and
ability to generate earnings, as well as factors not entirely within our control, including conditions affecting the financial services industry, the economy, and
changes in rating methodologies. There can be no assurance that we will maintain our current credit ratings. A downgrade of the credit ratings of Orrstown or the
Bank could adversely affect our access to liquidity and capital, and could significantly increase our cost of funds, trigger additional collateral or funding
requirements, and decrease the number of investors and counterparties willing to lend to us or purchase our securities. This could affect our growth, profitability,
and financial condition, including liquidity.

The Parent Company's primary source of income is dividends received from its bank subsidiary.

The Parent Company is a separate legal entity from the Bank and must provide for its own liquidity. In addition to its operating expenses, the Company is
responsible for paying any dividends declared to its shareholders. The Company also has repurchased shares of its common stock. The Company’s primary source
of income is dividends received from the Bank. Banking regulations limit the amount of dividends that may be paid from the Bank to the Company without prior
approval of regulatory agencies. Restrictions on the Bank’s ability to dividend funds to the Company are included in Note 17, Shareholders' Equity and Regulatory
Capital, to the Consolidated Financial Statements under Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

General Risk Factors

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused a significant global and national economic downturn and unprecedented levels of unemployment, which may adversely
affect our business and results of operations, and the future impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global, national and local economies and our business,
results of operations and financial condition remain uncertain.

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused a significant global and national economic downturn and unprecedented levels of unemployment, which has adversely
affected, and is expected to continue to adversely affect, the Company’s business and results of operations, and the future impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on
the global, national and local economies and the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition remain uncertain.

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in authorities implementing numerous measures attempting to contain the spread and impact of COVID-19, such as
travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, shelter in place orders, and limitations on business activity, including closures. These measures are, among other things,
severely restricting global and national economic activity, which is disrupting supply chains, lowering asset valuations, significantly increasing unemployment and
underemployment levels, decreasing liquidity in markets for certain securities and causing significant volatility and disruptions in the financial markets. These
measures have negatively impacted, and could continue to negatively impact, businesses, market participants, our counterparties and clients, and the global,
national and local economies for a prolonged period of time. Should current economic conditions persist or continue to deteriorate, this economic environment
could have a continued adverse effect on our business and operations, including, but not limited to: decreased demand for our products and services; protracted
periods of lower interest rates; lower asset management fees; and increased credit losses due to deterioration in the financial condition of our consumer and
commercial borrowers, including declining asset and collateral values, which may result in an increase in our provision for credit losses and net charge-offs.
Additionally, our liquidity and regulatory capital could be adversely impacted by customer withdrawal of deposits, volatility and disruptions in the capital and
credit markets, and customer draws on lines of
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credit. To the extent the COVID-19 pandemic continues to adversely affect the economy, and/or adversely affects our business, results of operations or financial
condition, it may also have the effect of increasing the likelihood and/or magnitude of other risks including those risks related to market, credit, and business
operations, or risks described herein.

In response to the economic and market conditions resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, governments and regulatory authorities, including central banks,
have acted to provide fiscal and monetary stimulus to support the global and national economy. However, there can be no assurance that these measures will
stimulate the global and national economy or avert recessionary conditions in markets in which we conduct operations.

We continue to closely monitor the COVID-19 pandemic and related risks as they evolve. The magnitude, duration and likelihood of the current outbreak of
COVID-19, further outbreaks of COVID-19, future actions taken by governmental authorities and/or other third parties in response to the COVID-19 pandemic,
and its future direct and indirect effects on the global, national and local economies and our business and results of operation are highly uncertain. The COVID-19
pandemic may cause prolonged global, national or local recessionary economic conditions or longer lasting effects on economic conditions than currently exist,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

The Company may not be able to attract and retain skilled people.

Competition for the best people in most activities engaged in by us can be intense, and we may not be able to attract and hire sufficiently skilled people to fill
open and newly created positions or to retain current or future employees. An inability to attract and retain individuals with the necessary skills to fill open
positions, or the unexpected loss of services of one or more of our key personnel, could have a material adverse impact on our business due to the loss of their
skills, knowledge of our markets, years of industry experience or the difficulty of promptly finding qualified replacement personnel.

We believe that our continued growth and future success will depend in large part on the skills of our management team and our ability to motivate and retain
these individuals and other key personnel. The loss of service of one or more of our executive officers or key personnel could reduce our ability to successfully
implement our long-term business strategy, our business could suffer, and the value of our stock could be materially adversely affected. Leadership changes will
occur from time to time, and we cannot predict whether significant resignations will occur or whether we will be able to recruit additional qualified personnel. We
believe our management team possesses valuable knowledge about the banking industry and that their knowledge and relationships could be very difficult to
replicate. Our success also depends on the experience of our branch managers and lending officers and on their relationships with the clients and communities they
serve. The loss of these key personnel could negatively impact our banking operations. The loss of key personnel, or the inability to recruit and retain qualified
personnel in the future, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or operating results.

We could be adversely affected by a failure in our internal controls.

We rely on our employees to design, manage, and operate our systems and controls to assure that we properly enter into, record and manage processes,
transactions and other relationships with clients, suppliers and other parties with whom we do business. In some cases, we rely on employees of third parties to
perform these tasks. We also depend on employees and the systems and controls for which they are responsible to assure that we identify and mitigate the risks that
are inherent in our relationships and activities. These concerns are increased when we change processes or procedures, introduce new products or services, or
implement new technologies, as we may fail to adequately identify or manage operational risks resulting from such changes.

As a result of our necessary reliance on employees, whether ours or those of third parties, to perform these tasks and manage resulting risks, we are subject to
human vulnerabilities. These range from innocent human error to misconduct or malfeasance, potentially leading to operational breakdowns or other failures. Our
controls may not be adequate to prevent problems resulting from human involvement in our business, including risks associated with the design, operation and
monitoring of automated systems.

Errors by our employees or others responsible for systems and controls on which we depend and any resulting failures of those systems and controls could
result in significant harm to us. This could include client remediation costs, regulatory fines or penalties, litigation or enforcement actions, or limitations on our
business activities. We could also suffer damage to our reputation, impacting our ability to attract and retain clients and employees.

We continue to devote a significant amount of effort and resources to constantly strengthening our controls and ensuring compliance with complex
accounting standards and regulations. However, these efforts may not be effective in preventing a breach in, or failure of, our controls.
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Negative public opinion could damage our reputation and adversely affect our earnings.

Reputational risk, or the risk to the Company's earnings and capital from negative public opinion, is inherent in our business. Negative public opinion can
result from the actual or perceived manner in which we conduct our business activities, including banking operations and trust and investment operations, our
management of actual or potential conflicts of interest and ethical issues, and our protection of confidential client information. Negative public opinion can
adversely affect the Company's ability to keep and attract clients and can expose the Company to litigation and regulatory action. Although we take steps to
minimize reputation risk in the way we conduct our business activities and deal with our clients, communities and vendors, these steps may not be effective.

Acts of terrorism, natural disasters, global climate change, pandemics and global conflicts may have a negative impact on our business and operations.

Acts of terrorism, natural disasters, global climate change, pandemics, global conflicts or other similar events could have a negative impact on our business
and operations. While we have in place business continuity plans, such events could still damage our facilities, disrupt or delay the normal operations of our
business (including communications and technology), result in harm to, or cause travel limitations on, our employees, and have a similar impact on our clients,
suppliers, third-party vendors and counterparties. These events also could impact us negatively to the extent that they result in reduced capital markets activity,
lower asset price levels, or disruptions in general economic activity in the U.S. or abroad, or in financial market settlement functions. In addition, these or similar
events may impact economic growth negatively, which could have an adverse effect on our business and operations, and may have other adverse effects on us in
ways that we are unable to predict.

ITEM 1B — UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2 — PROPERTIES

Our principal executive offices are located at 77 East King Street, Shippensburg, Pennsylvania, with additional executive and administrative offices at 4750
Lindle Road, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania. These facilities are owned by the Bank, which also maintains its principal and additional executive and administrative
offices at those locations.

We own or lease other premises for use in conducting our business activities, including bank branches, an operations center, and offices in Berks,
Cumberland, Dauphin, Franklin, Lancaster, Perry, and York Counties, Pennsylvania and Anne Arundel, Baltimore, Howard, and Washington Counties, Maryland,
as well as Baltimore City, Maryland. We believe that the properties currently owned and leased are adequate for present levels of operation. We are constantly
evaluating the best and most efficient mix of branch locations to service our clients due to evolving trends in our industry and increased client engagement through
digital channels.

In October 2019, Orrstown announced the consolidation of five Pennsylvania branches in Franklin and Perry Counties that averaged less than $20.0 million
in deposits per location into other, larger Orrstown Bank branches, as well as the sale of an operation's center facility. Orrstown expects that these efforts will
improve the profitability of the remaining branch locations and eliminate close to 50,000 square feet of excess back office space. The branch consolidations were
completed in January 2020, and the sale of the operations center facility was completed in the second quarter of 2020. In October 2020, the Company announced
the consolidation of an additional six branch locations, the discontinuance of three loan production offices, and a reduction in back-office real estate. These
facilities were closed in the first quarter of 2021.

ITEM 3 — LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Information regarding legal proceedings is included in Note 23, Contingencies, to the Consolidated Financial Statements under Part I, Item 8, "Financial
Statement and Supplementary Data."

ITEM 4 — MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART 11

ITEM S — MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “ORRF.” At the close of business on March 11, 2021, there were 0
shareholders of record.

The Board declared cash dividends of $0.68 and $0.60 per common share in 2020 and 2019, respectively. Our Board is currently committed to continuing to
pay regular cash dividends; however, there can be no assurance as to future dividends because they are dependent on our future earnings, capital requirements and
financial condition. Restrictions on the payment of dividends are discussed in Note 17, Shareholders' Equity and Regulatory Capital, to the Consolidated Financial
Statements under Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data." On January 20, 2021, the Board declared a cash dividend of $0.18 per common
share, which was paid on February 8, 2021, to shareholders of record as of February 1, 2021.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

Information regarding the Company's equity compensation plans is included in Part III, Item 12, Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

In September 2015, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized a share repurchase program under which the Company may repurchase up to 5% of
the Company's outstanding shares of common stock, or approximately 416,000 shares, in accordance with all applicable securities laws and regulations, including
Rule 10b-18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. When and if appropriate, repurchases may be made in open market or privately negotiated
transactions, depending on market conditions, regulatory requirements and other corporate considerations, as determined by management. Share repurchases may
not occur and the share repurchase program may be discontinued at any time.

No shares were repurchased from October 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, 154,680 shares had been repurchased under the program
at a total cost of $2.6 million, or $16.88 per share and the maximum number of shares that may yet be purchased under the plan is 261,320 shares.
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The performance graph below compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our common stock with other indexes: the SNL index of banks with assets
between $1.0 billion and $5.0 billion, the S&P 500 Index, and the NASDAQ Composite index. The graph assumes an investment of $100 on December 31, 2015
and reinvestment of dividends on the date of payment without commissions. Shareholder returns on our common stock are based on trades on the NASDAQ Stock
Market. The performance graph represents past performance and should not be considered to be an indication of future performance.

Total Return Performance
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Period Ending
Index 12/31/15 12/31/16 12/31/17 12/31/18 12/31/19 12/31/20
Orrstown Financial Services, Inc. 100.00 127.95 146.81 108.11 138.22 105.80
SNL Bank $1B-$5B Index 100.00 143.87 153.37 134.37 163.35 138.81
S&P 500 Index 100.00 111.96 136.40 130.42 171.49 203.04
NASDAQ Composite Index 100.00 108.87 141.13 137.12 187.44 271.64

Source: S&P Global Market Intelligence © 2021

In accordance with the rules of the SEC, this section captioned “Performance Graph” shall not be incorporated by reference into any of our future filings
made under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act. The Performance Graph and its accompanying table are not deemed to be soliciting material or to be
considered filed under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

The Company has not sold any equity securities within the past three years which were not registered under the Securities Act.
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ITEM 6 — SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
At or For The Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Summary of Operations
Interest income $ 99,631 $ 92,994 $ 65,667 $ 51,453 $ 42,276
Interest expense 16,024 23,699 13,510 7,644 5,417
Net interest income 83,607 69,295 52,157 43,809 36,859
Provision for loan losses 5,325 900 800 1000 250
Net interest income after provision for loan losses 78,282 68,395 51,357 42,809 36,609
Investment securities gains {ae) 4,749 1,006 1,190 1,420
Noninterest income 28,325 23,790 20,018 18,759 18,005
Noninterest expenses 74,080 77,300 57,936 50,330 48,140
Income before income tax expense 32,511 19,634 14,445 12,428 7,894
Income tax expense 6,048 2,710 1,640 4,338 1,266

Net income $ 26,463 $ 16,924 $ 12,805 $ 8,090 $ 6,628
Per Share Information
Basic earning per share $ 2.42 $ 1.63 $ 1.53 $ 1.00 $ 0.82
Diluted earnings per share 2.40 1.61 1.50 0.98 0.81
Dividends paid per share 0.68 0.60 0.51 0.42 0.35
Book value per share 21.98 19.93 18.39 17.34 16.28
Weighted average shares outstanding — basic 10,942 10,362 8,360 8,070 8,059
Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted 11,034 10,514 8,537 8,226 8,145
Stock Price Statistics
Close $ 16.55 $ 22.62 $ 18.21 $ 25.25 $ 22.40
High 22.88 23.48 27.05 26.95 23.75
Low 11.40 17.30 18.10 19.05 16.60
Price earnings ratio at close 6.8 13.9 11.9 253 27.3
Diluted price earnings ratio at close 6.9 14.0 12.1 25.8 27.7
Price to book at close 0.8 1.1 1.0 1.5 1.4
Year-End Information
Total assets $ 2,750,572 $ 2,383,274 $ 1,934,388 $ 1,558,849 $ 1,414,504
Loans 1,979,690 1,644,330 1,247,657 1,010,012 883,391
Total investment securities 477,028 506,570 476,686 425,305 408,124
Deposits — noninterest-bearing 456,778 249,450 204,843 162,343 150,747
Deposits — interest-bearing 1,900,102 1,626,072 1,353,913 1,057,172 1,001,705

Total deposits 2,356,880 1,875,522 1,558,756 1,219,515 1,152,452
Repurchase agreements 19,466 8,269 9,069 43,576 35,864
Borrowed money 89,948 241,514 170,309 133,815 76,163
Total shareholders’ equity 246,249 223,249 173,433 144,765 134,859
Assets under management — market value 1,719,832 1,613,223 1,330,595 1,370,950 1,174,143
Financial Ratios
Average equity / average assets 8.58 % 9.26 % 8.75 % 9.49 % 1041 %
Return on average equity 11.66 % 8.21 % 8.56 % 573 % 4.80 %
Return on average assets 1.00 % 0.76 % 0.75 % 0.54 % 0.50 %
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ITEM 7 - MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis is intended to assist readers in understanding the consolidated financial condition and results of operations of Orrstown
and should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Certain prior period
amounts presented in this discussion and analysis have been reclassified to conform to current period classifications.

Overview

The results of our operations are highly dependent on economic conditions and market interest rates. Our profitability for the years ended December 31,
2020, 2019 and 2018 was influenced by our continued organic growth and ongoing expansion into targeted markets, the acquisitions of Mercersburg and Hamilton,
and a continued focus on maintaining strong asset quality. These and other matters are discussed more fully below.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized charges associated with the consolidation of six branch locations, the discontinuance of
three loan production offices, a reduction in back-office real estate and staffing reductions. These actions were initiated due to evolving client preferences for the
digital delivery of products and services. In addition, the anticipated future cost reductions resulting from these actions will prepare the Company for a challenging
operating environment in 2021. A charge of $1.6 million was recorded in the year ended December 31, 2020, which included $1.3 million related to branch
consolidations.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The Company's consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP, and follow general practices within the financial services industry.
The most significant accounting policies followed by the Company are presented in Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to the Consolidated
Financial Statements under Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data." In applying those accounting policies, the Company's management is
required to exercise judgment in determining many of the methodologies, assumptions and estimates to be utilized. Certain of the critical accounting estimates are
more dependent on such judgment and, in some cases, may contribute to volatility in our reported financial performance should the assumptions and estimates used
change over time due to changes in circumstances. Some of the more significant areas in which the Company's management applies critical assumptions and
estimates include the following.

Accounting for loan losses — The loan portfolio is the largest asset on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. The allowance for loan losses represents
the amount that, in management’s judgment, appropriately reflects credit losses inherent in the loan portfolio at the balance sheet date. A provision for credit losses
is recorded to adjust the level of the ALL as deemed necessary by management. In estimating losses inherent in the loan portfolio, assumptions and judgment are
applied to measure amounts and timing of expected future cash flows, collateral values and other factors used to determine the borrowers’ abilities to repay
obligations. Historical loss trends are also considered, as are economic conditions, industry trends, portfolio trends and borrower-specific financial data. Loans
acquired at a discount, that is, in part, attributable to credit quality, are initially recorded at fair value with no carry-over of an acquired entity’s previously
established ALL. Cash flows expected at acquisition, in excess of estimated fair value, are recognized as interest income over the remaining lives of the loans.
Subsequent decreases in the expected principal cash flows require the Company to evaluate the need for additions to the ALL. Subsequent improvements in
expected cash flows result, first, in the recovery of any applicable ALL and, then, in the recognition of additional interest income over the remaining lives of the
loans. Changes in the circumstances considered when determining management’s estimates and assumptions, could result in changes to those estimates and
assumptions, and also in adjustment of the ALL, or, in the case of loans acquired at a discount, increases in interest income in future periods. The Company has
delayed the implementation of ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. The
implementation deadline of ASU 2016-13 was extended for smaller reporting and other companies until the fiscal year and interim periods beginning after
December 15, 2022.

Valuation methodologies — Management applies various valuation methodologies to assets and liabilities which often involve a significant degree of
judgment, particularly when liquid markets do not exist for the particular items being valued. Quoted market prices are referred to when estimating fair values for
certain assets, such as most investment securities. However, for those items for which an observable liquid market does not exist, management utilizes significant
estimates and assumptions to value such items. Examples of these items include derivatives and mortgage servicing assets. These valuations require the use of
various assumptions, including, among others, discount rates, rates of return on assets, repayment rates, cash flows, default rates, costs of servicing and liquidation
values. The use of different assumptions could produce significantly different results, which could have material positive or negative effects on our results of
operations, financial condition or disclosures of fair value information. In addition to valuation, the Company must assess whether there are any declines in value
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below the carrying value of certain assets that should be considered other than temporary or otherwise require an adjustment in carrying value and recognition of a
loss in the consolidated statements of income. Examples include investment securities, mortgage servicing rights, goodwill and core deposit intangible assets,
among others.

Readers of the Company's consolidated financial statements should be aware that the estimates and assumptions used may need to be updated in future
financial presentations for changes in circumstances, business or economic conditions, in order to fairly represent the condition of the Company at that time.

Economic Climate, Inflation and Interest Rates

Preliminary real GDP for the fourth quarter of 2020 resulted in an annualized increase of 4.0%. This is a substantial decrease from an increase of 38.3% for
the third quarter of 2020, which reflected the impact of government stimulus and the gradual re-opening of the economy from COVID-19 related shutdowns as
multiple vaccines have been approved. Overall, real GDP decreased by 3.5 % for 2020 as compared to an increase of 2.2% in 2019.The increase in fourth quarter
0f 2020 reflected both the continued economic recovery from the sharp declines earlier in the year and the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including
new restrictions and closures that took effect in some parts of the country. The full economic effects of the COVID-19 pandemic cannot be quantified in the GDP
estimate for the fourth quarter of 2020 because the impacts are generally embedded in source data and cannot be separately identified. As restrictions continue to
be lifted and the world population gets vaccinated, there is hope that the leisure, travel and entertainment industries will recover. Weekly jobless claims remain
high but the Labor Department announced a decline to 730,000 on February 25, 2021, a decline of 110,000 claims from the previous report. Also, the prospects for
a new government stimulus packages have recently been renewed, but remain uncertain.

The pace of U.S. economic growth weakened substantially late in the first quarter of 2020 and into the second quarter of 2020 as over 30 million people in
the U.S filed for unemployment since mid-March 2020. Early in 2020, a novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) emerged and spread, first in China and then around the
globe. The fast spread of the virus and the fear that resulted combined to create a high level of uncertainty about the near and intermediate future economic
outlook. Because of this uncertainty, markets were pricing in a wide range of potential outcomes by buying sovereign government bonds, especially U.S.
Treasuries, and selling stocks and bonds not issued by sovereign governments. The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely affected, and is likely to continue to
adversely affect, economic activity globally, nationally and locally. Actions taken around the world to help mitigate the spread of COVID-19 include restrictions
on travel, quarantines in certain areas, and forced closures for certain types of public places and businesses, as well as shelter-in-place orders by many states. These
restrictions have slowly been lifted as multiple vaccines have been rolled out late in the fourth quarter of 2020.

The decline in second quarter GDP reflected the response to COVID-19, as shelter-in-place orders issued in March and April were partially lifted in some
areas of the country in May and June, and government pandemic assistance payments were distributed to households and businesses. This led to shifts in economic
activity, as businesses remained closed or operated remotely and consumers and businesses significantly reduced or redirected their spending. Actions taken to
mitigate the spread of COVID-19 have had, and are expected to continue to have, an adverse impact on the economies and financial markets of many countries,
including the geographical area in which the Company operates.

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, market interest rates have declined significantly, with the 10-year Treasury bond falling for the first time below 1.00% on
March 3, 2020; it was at 0.69% on September 30, 2020. On March 3, 2020, in reaction to the increase in uncertainty, the Federal Reserve cut the Fed Funds rates
by 50 basis points between regularly scheduled meetings to a target range of 1.00% to 1.25%. On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared
COVID-19 a global pandemic. On March 13, 2020, a national emergency was declared by President Trump under the National Emergencies Act. On March 15,
2020, the Federal Reserve responded by again reducing the Fed Funds rate, this time by 100 basis points, to 0% to 0.25%. The Fed Funds rate was left unchanged
in future meetings with rates expected to remain at this level for an extended period of time. These reductions in interest rates and other effects of the COVID-19
pandemic may adversely affect the Company's financial condition and results of operations in future periods. It is unknown how long the adverse conditions
associated with the COVID-19 pandemic will last and what the complete financial effect will be to the Company. It is reasonably foreseeable that estimates made
in the financial statements could be materially and adversely impacted in the near term as a result of these conditions, including expected credit losses on loans and
the fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value.

The majority of the assets and liabilities of a financial institution are monetary in nature, and therefore, differ greatly from most commercial and industrial
companies that have significant investments in fixed assets or inventories. However, inflation does have an impact on the growth of total assets and on noninterest
expenses, which tend to rise during periods of general inflation. Inflationary pressures remain modest and there is great uncertainty about when, or if, inflation will
increase and pressure interest rates to move higher.

As the Company’s balance sheet consists primarily of financial instruments, interest income and interest expense are greatly influenced by the level of

interest rates and the slope of the yield curve as well as the mix of assets and funding. The Company has been able to grow its net interest income by $14.3 million
from 2019 to 2020, through a combination of organic
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commercial loan growth and the recognition of SBA PPP processing fee income. Competition for quality lending opportunities and deposits remains intense,
which, together with a flattening yield curve, will continue to challenge our ability to grow our net interest margin and to leverage our overhead expenses.

Results of Operations
Summary

Earnings in 2020 reflected continuing increased interest income from expanding loan and investment portfolios, partially offset by the impact of decreasing
interest rates and an overall increase in interest expense. In addition, the comparability of operating results for 2020 with 2019 has been impacted by the Hamilton
acquisition, which was completed on May 1, 2019. Hamilton added loans and deposits totaling $347.1 million and $388.2 million, respectively.

The Company recorded net income of $26.5 million, $16.9 million and $12.8 million for 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Diluted earnings per share
totaled $2.40, $1.61 and $1.50 for 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Net interest income totaled $83.6 million, $69.3 million and $52.2 million for 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, principally reflecting our expanded
geographic footprint, organic growth in commercial loans from an expanded sales force as we continued to take advantage of market opportunities, and SBA PPP
processing fee income. As previously noted, interest rates increased throughout 2018 and 2019 and decreased throughout 2020, contributing to fluctuations in
yields on loans and investments, and, to a lesser extent, costs of interest-bearing liabilities.

Asset quality trends continue to exhibit low levels of charge-offs and non-performing loans. The provision for loan losses totaled $5.3 million, $900 thousand
and $800 thousand in 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase in provision for loan losses in 2020 was primarily a result of increased uncertainty related to
the COVID-19 pandemic.

Noninterest expenses totaled $74.1 million, $77.3 million and $57.9 million for 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The changes in certain components of
noninterest expenses between years reflect the Hamilton acquisition, and the Company's continued focus on aligning its talent and locations with its business
model. Salaries and employee benefits expense increased $7.0 million from 2018 to 2019 and by $3.9 million from 2019 to 2020. Occupancy and furniture and
fixture costs increased $1.9 million from 2018 to 2019 and $0.5 million from 2019 to 2020 as new and acquired branch locations were brought on line. In 2020, the
Company incurred $1.3 million in pretax branch consolidation expenses, with $9.0 million incurred in 2019 for pretax merger related and branch consolidation
expenses. During 2020, the Company recorded a loss of $736 thousand associated with the sale of an operations facility.

Income tax expense totaled $6.0 million, $2.7 million and $1.6 million for 2020, 2019 and 2018, or an effective tax rate of 18.6%, 13.8% and 11.4%
respectively. The Company’s effective tax rate is less than the 21% federal statutory rate, principally due to tax-free income, which includes interest income on tax-
free loans and securities and income from life insurance policies, federal income tax credits, and the impact of non-tax deductible expenses, including merger
related expenses. The difference in the effective tax rate in 2020 from prior years was primarily due to an increase in estimated earnings before income taxes.

Net Interest Income

Net interest income is the primary component of Orrstown's revenue. Interest-earning assets include loans, securities and federal funds sold. Interest-bearing
liabilities include deposits and borrowed funds.

Net interest income is affected by changes in interest rates, volumes of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities, and the composition of those
assets and liabilities. “Net interest spread” and “net interest margin” are two common statistics related to changes in net interest income. Net interest spread
represents the difference between the yields earned on interest-earning assets and the rates paid for interest-bearing liabilities. Net interest margin is the ratio of net
interest income to average earning asset balances. Through the use of noninterest-bearing demand deposits and shareholders' equity, the net interest margin exceeds
the net interest spread, as these funding sources are noninterest-bearing.

The FRB influences the general market rates of interest, including the deposit and loan rates offered by many financial institutions. Our loan portfolio is
affected by changes in the prime interest rate. In 2018, the prime rate rose with 25 basis point increases in each of March, June, September and December, ending
the year at 5.50%. In 2019, 25 basis point reductions occurred in August, September and October and the prime rate ended the year at 4.75%. In March 2020, the
prime rate was reduced by 150 basis points and ended the year at 3.25%.

Core deposits are deposits that are stable, lower cost and generally reprice more slowly than other deposits when interest rates change. Core deposits, which
exclude certificates of deposit, are typically funds of local clients who also have a borrowing or other relationship with the Bank. We are primarily funded by core
deposits, with noninterest-bearing demand deposits
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historically being a significant source of funds. This lower-cost funding base is expected to have a positive impact on our net interest income and net interest
margin in a rising interest rate environment.

Net interest income totaled $83.6 million, $69.3 million and $52.2 million in 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The following table presents net interest
income, net interest spread and net interest margin on a taxable-equivalent basis for 2020, 2019 and 2018. Taxable-equivalent adjustments are the result of
increasing income from tax-free loans and investments by an amount equal to the taxes that would be paid if the income were fully taxable based on a 21% federal
corporate tax rate for 2020, 2019 and 2018, reflecting our statutory tax rates for those years.

2020 2019 2018
Taxable- Taxable- Taxable- Taxable- Taxable- Taxable-
Average Equivalent Equivalent Average Equivalent Equivalent Average Equivalent Equivalent
Balance Interest Rate Balance Interest Rate Balance Interest Rate
Assets
Federal funds sold and
interest-bearing bank
balances $ 32,519 § 115 035 % $ 57,765 $ 1331 230 % $ 16,442 $ 327 1.99 %
Taxable securities 438,565 10,458 2.38 436,174 14,538 3.33 359,852 10,858 3.02
Tax-exempt securities (V) 55,807 1,982 3.55 63,443 2,600 4.10 119,665 4,873 4.07
Total securities 494,372 12,440 2.52 499,617 17,138 3.43 479,517 15,731 3.28
Taxable loans ?3) 1,878,692 85,956 4.58 1,432,951 73,201 5.11 1,053,308 49,151 4.67
Tax-exempt loans (N3 49,794 1,944 3.90 59,864 2,367 3.95 47,318 1,875 3.96
Total loans 1,928,486 87,900 4.56 1,492,815 75,568 5.06 1,100,626 51,026 4.64
Total interest-earning assets 2,455,377 100,455 4.09 2,050,197 94,037 4.59 1,596,585 67,084 4.20
Cash and due from banks 26,954 25,046 18,951
Bank premises and equipment 36,627 40,982 35,399
Other assets 143,919 123,362 72,960
Allowance for loan losses (17,030) (14,466) (13,298)
Total $ 2,645,847 $ 2,225,121 $ 1,710,597
Liabilities and
Shareholders’ Equity
Interest-bearing demand
deposits $ 1,156,292 4,755 0.41 $ 920,025 8,253 0.90 $ 767,863 4,968 0.65
Savings deposits 163,133 246 0.15 146,185 296 0.20 109,819 195 0.18
Time deposits ) 452,298 7,008 1.55 542,513 10,761 1.98 316,488 5,066 1.60
Securities sold under
agreements to repurchase 18,064 86 0.48 8,830 113 1.28 9,715 80 0.82
FHLB Advances and other 179,457 1,923 1.07 103,807 2,289 2.21 155,097 3,129 2.02
Subordinated notes 31,874 2,006 6.29 31,842 1,987 6.24 1,139 73 6.41
Total interest-bearing
liabilities 2,001,118 16,024 0.80 1,753,202 23,699 1.35 1,360,121 13,511 0.99
Noninterest-bearing demand
deposits 381,869 234,354 183,387
Other 35,960 31,544 17,427
Total Liabilities 2,418,947 2,019,100 1,560,935
Shareholders” Equity 226,900 206,021 149,662
Total $ 2,645,847 $ 2,225,121 $ 1,710,597
Taxable-equivalent net
interest income / net
interest spread 84,431 329 % 70,338 324 % 53,573 321 %
Taxable-equivalent net
interest margin 344 % 343 % 336 %
Taxable-equivalent
adjustment 7)) (1043 (1417
Net interest income $ 83,607 $ 69,295 $ 52,156
Ratio of average interest-
earning assets to average
interest-bearing liabilities 123 % 117 % 117 %
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NOTES TO ANALYSIS OF NET INTEREST INCOME:
(1) Yields and interest income on tax-exempt assets have been computed on a taxable-equivalent basis assuming a 21% tax rate.
(2) Average balances include nonaccrual loans.
(3) Interest income on loans includes prepayment and late fees.

(4) For the year ended December 31, 2019, expenses associated with the early redemption of brokered time deposits totaled $0.2 million and increased the cost of funds by five basis
points.

The following table presents changes in net interest income on a taxable-equivalent basis for 2020, 2019 and 2018 by rate and volume components.

2020 Versus 2019 Increase (Decrease) 2019 Versus 2018 Increase (Decrease)
Due to Change in Due to Change in
Average Average Average Average
Volume Rate Total Volume Rate Total

Interest Income
Federal funds sold and interest-bearing bank
balances $ (581) $ (633) $ (1,214) §$ 822 § 180 $ 1,002
Taxable securities 80 (4,146) (4,066) 2,303 1,364 3,667
Tax-exempt securities 313) (306) (619) (2,289) 18 (2,272)
Taxable loans 22,777 (10,045) 12,732 17,715 6,357 24,073
Tax-exempt loans (398) (23) (421) 497 ®) 490

Total interest income 21,565 (15,153) 6,412 19,048 7,911 26,960
Interest Expense
Interest-bearing demand deposits 2,126 (5,652) 3,526) 984 2,328 3,312
Savings deposits 34 (80) (46) 65 29 95
Time deposits (1,786) (1,948) 3,734) 3,616 2,062 5,678
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 118 (145) 27) 7) 41 33
FHLB Advances and other 1,672 (2,043) 371) (1,036) 197 (839)
Subordinated notes 2 17 19 1,968 (54) 1,914

Total interest expense 2,166 (9,851) (7,685) 5,590 4,603 10,193
Taxable-Equivalent Net Interest Income $ 19,399 $ (5,302) $ 14,097 $ 13,458 § 3,308 $ 16,766
Note: The change attributed to volume is calculated by taking the average change in average balance times the prior year's

average rate and the remainder is attributable to rate.

2020 versus 2019

In 2020, net interest income increased $14.3 million, or 20.7%, compared with 2019. Net interest income for 2020 on a taxable-equivalent basis increased
$14.1 million, or 20.0%, compared with 2019. The Company’s net interest spread increased five basis points to 3.29% for 2020 compared with 2019. Taxable-
equivalent yields on interest-earning assets and costs of interest-bearing liabilities both increased from 2019 to 2020, reflecting increased average balances from
SBA PPP loans, organic growth and acquisitions, partially offset by changes in the interest rate environment between years. Other factors impacting the
comparison of taxable-equivalent yields between 2019 and 2020 include the effect of purchase accounting related to the Hamilton acquisition and the timing of our
adjustments to rates paid on interest-bearing deposits in response to market demand.

Interest income on a taxable-equivalent basis on loans increased $12.3 million, or 16.3%, from 2019 to 2020. The increase resulted from SBA PPP loans
originated in 2020, which drove an increase in average loan volume and a decrease in yield, with average loans increasing $435.7 million, or 29.2%, and yield
decreasing 50 basis points from 5.06% in 2019 to 4.56% in 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2020, SBA PPP loans had an average balance of $318.4 million
and an average yield of 3.5%. Accretion of purchase accounting adjustments in connection with acquisitions increased interest income by $2.3 million, $3.8
million and $335 thousand in 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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Interest income earned on a taxable-equivalent basis on securities decreased by $4.7 million, or 27.4%, from 2019 to 2020, with both average volume and
yield decreasing. Average securities decreased by $5.2 million, or 1.0%, and the taxable-equivalent yield decreased from 3.43% in 2019 to 2.52% in 2020.
Contributing to the overall decrease in interest income on securities was a decrease in average securities balances of $5.2 million from 2019 to 2020. This was
partially offset by declines in the yield on floating rate securities, which fell as the FRB reduced short-term rates by 75 basis points in the second half of 2019 and
an additional 150 basis points in the first half of 2020.

Interest expense on deposits and borrowings decreased by $7.7 million from 2019 to 2020, despite an increase in the average balance of interest-bearing
liabilities of $247.9 million, or 14.1%. The cost of interest-bearing liabilities declined by 55 basis points from 1.35% in 2019 to 0.80% in 2020 due to a decline in
market interest rates. In addition, there was an increase in non-interest bearing liabilities of $147.5 million, or 62.9% from 2019 to 2020 due primarily to the
funding of SBA PPP loans in 2020.

The Company's ability to attract new deposits in all categories, but in particular interest-bearing demand deposits, resulted in an increase in average interest-
bearing deposits totaling $236.3 million, or 25.7%, in 2020. Interest expense for these deposits decreased by $3.5 million, with the cost of funds decreasing from
0.90% in 2019 to 0.41% in 2020. The decrease was driven by the decreasing market rates from 2019 through 2020 due to the rate decreases commenced by the
FRB.

The Company also increased its average FHLB advances in 2020. Borrowings generally have higher interest rates associated with them than interest-bearing
deposits. Interest expense on all borrowings decreased $374 thousand in 2020, with average balances decreasing $9.2 million for short-term borrowings while
FHLB advances increased $75.7 million. The average rate paid on short-term borrowings decreased from 1.28% in 2019 to 0.48% in 2020 and the average rate
paid on FHLB advances decreased from 2.21% in 2019 to 1.07% in 2020.

2019 versus 2018

In 2019, net interest income increased $17.1 million, or 32.9%, compared with 2018. Net interest income for 2019 on a taxable-equivalent basis increased
$16.8 million, or 31.3%, compared with 2018. The Company’s net interest spread increased three basis points to 3.24% for 2019 compared with 2018. Taxable-
equivalent yields on interest-earning assets and costs of interest-bearing liabilities both increased from 2018 to 2019, reflecting increased average balances from
organic growth and acquisitions, partially offset by changes in the interest rate environment between years. Other factors impacting the comparison of taxable-
equivalent yields between 2018 and 2019 include the effect of purchase accounting related to the Mercersburg and Hamilton acquisitions and the timing of our
adjustments to rates paid on interest-bearing deposits in response to market demand.

Interest income on a taxable-equivalent basis on loans increased $24.5 million, or 48.1%, from 2018 to 2019. The increase resulted from an increase in both
average loan volume and yield, with average loans increasing $392.2 million, or 35.6%, and interest income on loans increasing 42 basis points from 4.64% in
2018 to 5.06% in 2019. The Company's geographic expansion and sales efforts with additional loan officers continued to drive loan growth in 2019 across most
loan classes. Increases in prime lending rates in 2018 contributed to an increased yield in the first half of 2019, but were partially offset by rate decreases in the
second half. In addition, the middle of the yield curve inverted for much of 2019, which lowered the rate on new loans more than the rate on new deposits, which
pressured net interest margin. Accretion of purchase accounting adjustments in connection with the acquisitions increased 2019 interest income by $3.8 million
compared with $335 thousand in 2018.

Interest income earned on a taxable-equivalent basis on securities increased $1.4 million, or 8.9%, from 2018 to 2019, with both average volume and yield
increasing. Average securities increased $19.8 million, or 4.1%, and the taxable-equivalent yield increased from 3.28% in 2018 to 3.43% in 2019. Contributing to
the overall increase in interest income on securities was the purchase of higher yielding, longer maturity, tax-free state and political subdivisions investments in the
third quarter of 2018, that were subsequently sold in the third quarter of 2019. This was partially offset by declines in the yield of floating rate securities, which fell
as the FRB reduced short-term rates by 75 basis points in the second half of 2019.

Interest expense on deposits and borrowings increased $10.2 million from 2018 to 2019, as the average balance of interest-bearing liabilities increased $393.1
million, or 28.9%. Interest expense on interest-bearing deposits declined less than the decline in market rates due to competitive factors in the marketplace.

Our ability to attract new deposits in all categories, but in particular interest-bearing demand deposits, resulted in an increase in average interest-bearing
deposits totaling $152.2 million, or 19.8% in 2019, of which approximately $51.0 million was acquired in the Hamilton acquisition. Interest expense for these
deposits increased $3.3 million, with the cost of funds increasing from 0.65% in 2018 to 0.90% in 2019. The increase was driven by increasing market rates
throughout 2018, followed by falling short-term rates once the FRB began to decrease rates in the second half of 2019. As noted, yields on
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interest-bearing deposits did not fall as much as market rates due to competitive factors. As a result, interest was paid at higher rates on interest-bearing deposits in
2019 than in 2018.

We also decreased our average short-term borrowings in 2019 in favor of brokered deposits at more attractive rates in early 2019. In late 2018, we issued
$32.5 million in aggregate principal amount of subordinated notes, the proceeds of which were designated for the cash portion of merger and acquisition activity
and for general corporate purposes. Borrowings generally have higher interest rates associated with them than interest-bearing deposits. Interest expense on all
borrowings increased $1.1 million in 2019, with average balances decreasing $49.2 million for short-term borrowings while long-term borrowings also decreased
$3.0 million. The average rate paid on short-term borrowings increased from 1.94% in 2018 to 1.95% in 2019 and the average rate paid on long-term borrowings
increased from 1.95% in 2018 to 2.21% in 2019.

Provision for Loan Losses

The Company recorded a provision for loan losses of $5.3 million, $900 thousand and $800 thousand in 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively. In calculating
the provision for loan losses, both quantitative and qualitative factors, including the Company's favorable historical charge-off data and stable economic and
market conditions, were considered in the determination of the adequacy of the ALL. Net charge-offs and loan growth resulted in the determination that a provision
expense was required in 2020, 2019 and 2018. The increase in provision from 2019 to 2020 was due primarily to the impact of COVID-19 on the Company's loan
portfolio as a new qualitative factor was created to address the associated risk.

See further discussion in the “Asset Quality” and “Credit Risk Management” sections of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations.

Noninterest Income

The following table compares noninterest income for 2020, 2019 and 2018.

$ Change % Change
2020 2019 2018 2020-2019 2019-2018 2020-2019 2019-2018

Service charges on deposit accounts $ 2,874 $ 3,404 $ 3233 § (530) $ 171 (15.6)% 53 %
Interchange income 3,423 3,281 2,821 142 460 43 % 16.3 %
Other service charges, commissions and fees 683 805 907 122) (102) 15.2)% (11.2)%
Swap fee income 847 1,197 — (350) 1,197 (29.2)% — %
Trust and investment management income 6,912 7,255 6,576 (343) 679 “4.7% 10.3 %
Brokerage income 2,821 2,426 2,035 395 391 16.3 % 19.2 %
Mortgage banking activities 5,274 3,047 2,663 2,227 384 73.1 % 14.4 %
Gain on sale of commercial loans 2,803 — — 2,803 — — % — %
Income from life insurance 2,261 2,044 1,463 217 581 10.6 % 39.7 %
Other income 427 331 320 96 11 29.0 % 3.4 %
Subtotal before securities gains 28,325 23,790 20,018 4,535 3,772 19.1 % 18.8 %
Investment securities (losses) gains (16) 4,749 1,006 (4,765) 3,743 (100.3)% 372.1 %

Total noninterest income $ 28,309 $ 28,539 $ 21,024  § (230) $ 7,515 (0.8)% 35.7 %

2020 versus 2019

Noninterest income decreased by $230 thousand from 2019 to 2020. The Company continues to focus on growth in relationship fee-based revenue for
commercial and retail clients. The following were significant factors in that net decrease.

* A decline of $530 thousand in service charges on deposit accounts reflects the impact of COVID-19, as the Company waived certain fees for a period
of time and experienced an overall decline in account usage.

*  Interchange income reflected an overall increase in our clients' activity and card usage due to COVID-19.

*  Mortgage banking income increased by $2.7 million due to an increase in loans sold to $205.2 million in 2020 from $106.7 million in 2019 as interest
rate declines led to significant refinancing activity.

*  Swap fee income declined by $350 thousand from 2019 to 2020. In 2020, Orrstown began entering into interest rate swap agreements directly with its
commercial customers. This offering replaced the third party swap transactions
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initiated in the prior year. This fee revenue will fluctuate from quarter to quarter, but client demand to fix loan interest rates declined slightly in the
current rate environment.

Trust and brokerage income reflected increased revenue from strong stock market performance.
Income from life insurance included death benefit proceeds of $58 thousand in 2020 and $255 thousand in 2019.

There was a decline of $4.8 million in investment gains from 2019 to 2020 due to prior year asset/liability management strategies which resulted in net
gains of $4.8 million on sales of securities, as market conditions presented opportunities to improve responsiveness of the portfolio to interest rate
conditions.

2019 versus 2018

Noninterest income increased $7.5 million from 2018 to 2019. We continue to focus on growth in relationship fee-based revenue for commercial and retail
clients. In addition to the impact of the Mercersburg and Hamilton acquisitions, the following were significant factors in that net increase.

Service charges on deposit accounts and interchange on debit card income reflected an overall increase in the Company's clients' activity and card usage
from our organic growth as well as the expanded client base from the acquisitions. These stable sources of fee revenue should grow over time as we add
retail and commercial clients.

Gains on SBA loan sales, which are included in other service charges, commissions and fees, decreased approximately $300 thousand from 2018 to
2019.

The Company began offering interest rate hedging products through a third party in the second half of 2019, whereby its receives a fee at loan closing.

Trust and brokerage income reflected increased revenue from generally improved market conditions, additional advisors and increased estate fees in
2019. We continue to look to build this business over the coming years and have recently begun efforts to offer wealth management products in our
acquired Baltimore market area.

The increase in mortgage banking activities reflects the increase in loans sold from $93.1 million in 2018 to $106.7 million in 2019. With interest rates
currently at low levels and recent market expansion efforts, we see opportunities to increase our market share with existing clients by increasing our
focus on branch referrals and local market outreach efforts.

Income from life insurance included death benefit proceeds in both 2019 and 2018, with the increase between years principally attributable to life
insurance assets obtained through acquisitions.

In both 2019 and 2018, asset/liability management strategies resulted in net gains on sales of securities, as market conditions presented opportunities to
improve responsiveness of the portfolio to interest rate conditions, while also considering funding requirements of anticipated lending activity.
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Noninterest Expenses

The following table compares noninterest expenses for 2020, 2019 and 2018.

$ Change % Change
2020 2019 2018 2020-2019 2019-2018 2020-2019 2019-2018

Salaries and employee benefits $ 43350 $ 39,495 § 32,524 $ 3855 § 6,971 9.8 % 214 %
Occupancy 4,760 4,325 3,084 435 1,241 10.1 % 40.2 %
Furniture and equipment 4,756 4,723 4,079 33 644 0.7 % 15.8 %
Data processing 3,574 3,599 2,674 (25) 925 0.7)% 34.6 %
Automated teller machine and interchange fees 1,057 1,015 806 42 209 4.1 % 259 %
Advertising and bank promotions 1,660 1,967 1,592 (307) 375 (15.6)% 23.6 %
FDIC insurance 686 367 681 319 (314) 86.9 % (46.1)%
Other professional services 3,120 2,954 1,847 166 1,107 5.6 % 59.9 %
Directors' compensation 921 1,003 984 (82) 19 (8.2)% 1.9 %
Taxes other than income 1,144 1,018 1,012 126 6 124 % 0.6 %
Intangible asset amortization 1,569 1,570 286 ()} 1,284 0.1)% 449.0 %
Merger related and branch consolidation expenses 1,310 8,964 3,197 (7,654) 5,767 (85.4)% 180.4 %
Insurance claim receivable (recovery) write off (486) 615 — (1,101) 615 (179.0)% — %
Other operating expenses 6,659 5,685 5,170 974 515 17.1 % 10.0 %

Total noninterest expenses $ 74,080 S 77,300 $ 57,936 $ (3,220) $ 19,364 (4.2)% 33.4 %
2020 versus 2019

Noninterest expenses decreased by $3.2 million from 2019 to 2020. The following were significant factors in that net decrease.

The salaries and employee benefit increase includes the impact in 2020 of additional employees, including new client-facing employees in new
branches in targeted expansion markets and others that were hired throughout 2019, as well as additional new relationship managers. Higher costs in
2020 also include annual merit and incentive compensation increases in 2020, increased stock compensation expense from additional share-based
awards granted in 2020, and higher medical costs for claims activity and the expanded workforce.

Occupancy expense in 2020 reflects a full period of expense for our expanded presence in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania, with two branch banking
locations added in the first quarter of 2019. In addition, lease termination costs of $588 thousand were recognized in 2020 as a part of the Company's
restructuring plan.

Advertising and bank promotions expense declined from 2019 to 2020 due to additional costs incurred in 2019 for the celebration of the Bank's 100th
anniversary year, as well as marketing associated with the acquisitions.

FDIC insurance expense reflects credits received in the second half of 2019 under the FDIC's regulations to provide credits, when the reserve ratio
reaches 1.38%, to banks with consolidated assets below $10 billion. FDIC insurance expense increased in 2020 after the remaining credits were used to
partially offset first quarter 2020 expense.

In 2020, branch consolidation costs totaled $1.3 million and there were no merger related costs. These costs primarily represented lease termination
costs. Merger related costs incurred in 2019 totaled $8.0 million. In the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company recorded $1.0 million in expenses
associated with the announced consolidation of five branches into other, larger Bank branches, which was completed in January 2020. The expenses
principally represented owned real estate write downs, lease termination costs, severance benefits for impacted employees and other branch exit related
expenses.

The insurance claim receivable (recovery) write off relates to an expense recorded in 2019 to write off an insurance claim receivable from a 2018 cyber
security incident. In 2019, the Company received reimbursement totaling $59 thousand for the write off. In February 2020, the Company received an
additional $486 thousand reimbursement in a final settlement of the matter.
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Other line items within noninterest expenses are generally attributable to normal fluctuations in the ordinary course of business.

2019 versus 2018

Noninterest expenses increased $19.4 million from 2018 to 2019. In addition to the impact of the Mercersburg and Hamilton acquisitions, the following were
significant factors in that net increase.

The salaries and employee benefits increase includes the impact in 2019 of additional employees, including new client-facing employees in new
branches in targeted expansion markets and others that were hired throughout 2018 and 2019, as well as additional new relationship managers. Higher
costs in 2019 also include annual merit and incentive compensation increases in 2019, increased stock compensation expense from additional share-
based awards granted in 2019, and higher medical costs for claims activity and the expanded workforce.

Occupancy and furniture and equipment expenses in 2019 reflect a full period of expense for our expanded presence in Lancaster County,
Pennsylvania, with two branch banking locations added in the third and fourth quarters of 2018 and two in the first quarter of 2019.

Increases in data processing reflect volume increases and physical growth and costs associated with more sophisticated product and service offerings.

Adpvertising and bank promotions expense includes additional costs incurred in 2019 for the celebration of the Bank's 100th anniversary year, as well as
marketing associated with the acquisitions.

FDIC insurance expense reflects credits received in the second half of 2019 under the FDIC's regulations to provide credits, when the reserve ratio
reaches 1.38%, to banks with consolidated assets below $10 billion.

Intangible asset amortization increased due to the core deposit intangibles recorded in the Mercersburg and Hamilton acquisitions.

Merger related costs incurred in 2019 totaled $8.0 million and represented principally data processing contract termination costs, employee contract
termination costs and legal and consulting fees for the Hamilton acquisition and system conversion expenses for both the Mercersburg and Hamilton
acquisitions. In the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company recorded $988 thousand in expenses associated with the announced consolidation of five
branches into other, larger Bank branches, which was completed in January 2020. The expenses principally represented owned real estate write downs,
lease termination costs, severance benefits for impacted employees and other branch exit related expenses.

The insurance claim receivable write off relates to an expense recorded in 2019 to write off an insurance claim receivable from a 2018 cyber security
incident. In 2019, the Company received reimbursement totaling $59 thousand for the write off. In February 2020, the Company received an additional
$486 thousand reimbursement in a final settlement of the matter.

Other line items within noninterest expenses are generally attributable to normal fluctuations in the ordinary course of business.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense totaled $6.0 million, $2.7 million and $1.6 million for 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The effective tax rate for 2020 was 18.6%
compared with 13.8% for 2019 and 11.4% for 2018. Generally, the Company’s effective tax rate is less than the 21% federal statutory rate, principally due to tax-
free income, which includes interest income on tax-free loans and securities and income from life insurance policies, federal income tax credits, and the impact of
non-tax deductible expenses, including merger related expenses. The difference in the effective tax rate in 2020 from prior years was primarily due to an increase
in estimated earnings before income taxes. In 2019, the Company's effective tax rate increased principally due to increased profitability, offset partially by benefits
realized from a $185 thousand expense reduction related to a favorable tax law clarification on the treatment of life insurance assets of an acquired entity, as well
as a $334 thousand expense reduction related to an increase in deferred state income taxes due to a state tax rate change resulting from the Hamilton acquisition.

Note 8, Income Taxes, to the Consolidated Financial Statements under Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data," includes a
reconciliation of our federal statutory tax rate to the Company's effective tax rate, which is a meaningful comparison between years and measures income tax
expense as a percentage of pretax income.
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Financial Condition

Management devotes substantial time to overseeing the investment of funds in loans and securities and the formulation of policies directed toward the
profitability and management of the risks associated with these investments.

Securities Available for Sale

The Company utilizes securities available for sale to manage interest rate risk, to enhance income through interest and dividend income, to provide liquidity
and to provide collateral for certain deposits and borrowings.

The Company has established investment policies and an asset management policy to assist in administering our investment portfolio. Decisions to purchase
or sell these securities are based on economic conditions and management’s strategy to respond to changes in interest rates, liquidity, pledges to secure deposits
and repurchase agreements and other factors while trying to maximize return on the investments. We may segregate our investment portfolio into three categories:
“securities held to maturity,” “trading securities” and “securities available for sale.” At December 31, 2020, management has classified the entire securities
portfolio as available for sale, which is accounted for at current market value with unrealized gains and losses excluded from earnings and reported in OCI, net of
income taxes.

Our securities available for sale portfolio includes debt investments that are subject to varying degrees of credit and market risks, which arise from general
market conditions, and factors impacting specific industries, as well as news that may impact specific issues. Management monitors its debt securities, using
various indicators in determining whether a debt security is other-than-temporarily impaired, including the amount of time the security has been in an unrealized
loss position, and the extent of the unrealized loss. In addition, management assesses whether it is likely we will have to sell the security prior to recovery, or if we
are able to hold the security until the price recovers. For those debt securities in which management concludes the security is other-than-temporarily impaired, it
recognizes the credit component of an OTTI impairment in earnings and the remaining portion in OCI. Management considers the asset quality of our debt security
portfolio to be strong; therefore, the Company did not record any OTTI expense in 2020, 2019 or 2018.

The following table summarizes the fair value of securities available for sale at December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

2020 2019 2018

States and political subdivisions $ 112,670 $ 87,863 $ 145,004
GSE residential mortgage-backed securities 4,293 — —
GSE residential CMOs 58,011 68,154 108,064
Non-agency CMOs 16,918 17,087 —
Private label residential CMOs — — 143
Private label commercial CMOs 62,236 86,629 75,045
Asset-backed 211,966 230,515 137,571
Other 371 637 17

Total debt securities $ 466,465 $ 490,885 $ 465,844

The Company decreased its investment portfolio in 2020, with the average balance of securities decreasing from $499.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019 to $494.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.

In late 2018, the Company increased its holdings of longer maturity state and political subdivisions in anticipation of falling interest rates. In 2019, interest
rates fell and the attractiveness of tax-free state and political subdivisions declined. In response, we reduced our holdings of longer maturity tax-free state and
political subdivisions at a gain. These securities were replaced with additional asset-backed and private label commercial CMOs that were either floating rate or
had shorter average lives than the state and political subdivision investments.

Asset-backed securities and CMOs provide monthly cash flows that may be used, in part, to meet anticipated loan demand in 2020, as management
anticipates the loan portfolio will continue to grow.
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The following table shows the maturities of investment securities at book value at December 31, 2020, and weighted average yields of such securities. Yields
are shown on a tax equivalent basis, assuming a 21% federal income tax rate.

After 1 year After 5 years
Within 1 but within 5 but within After 10
year years 10 years years Total

States and political subdivisions

Book value $ — $ — $ 27,419 $ 77,285 $ 104,704

Yield — % — % 4.38 % 3.73 % 3.90 %

Average maturity (years) — — 7.6 16.9 14.4
GSE residential mortgage-backed securities

Book value $ — $ — $ — $ 4,197 $ 4,197

Yield — % — % — % 1.84 % 1.84 %

Average maturity (years) — — — 0.3 0.3
GSE residential CMOs

Book value $ — $ — $ — $ 56,856 $ 56,856

Yield — % — % — % 2.16 % 2.16 %

Average maturity (years) — — — 23.1 23.1
Non-agency CMOs

Book value $ — $ — $ — $ 16,505 $ 16,505

Yield — % — % — % 1.09 % 1.09 %

Average maturity (years) — — — 4.5 4.5
Private label commercial CMOs

Book value $ — $ 3,894 $ 987 $ 59,060 $ 63,941

Yield — % 1.09 % 1.28 % 1.40 % 1.38 %

Average maturity (years) — 4.5 9.5 15.2 14.4
Asset-backed

Book value $ — $ 1,113 $ 2,732 $ 210,580 $ 214,425

Yield — % 411 % 4.50 % 1.01 % 1.07 %

Average maturity (years) — 4.2 5.2 21.2 20.9
Other

Book value $ — $ 249 $ — $ 122 $ 371

Yield — % 245 % — % — % 1.64 %

Average maturity (years) — 2.4 — — 1.6
Total

Book value $ — $ 5,256 $ 31,138 $ 424,605 $ 460,999

Yield — % 1.79 % 4.29 % 1.82 % 1.99 %

Average maturity (years) — 4.4 7.4 20.2 19.2

The average maturity is based on the contractual terms of the debt or mortgage-backed securities, and does not factor in required repayments or anticipated
prepayments. At December 31, 2020, the weighted average estimated life is 20 years for mortgage-backed and CMO securities, and 21 years for asset-backed
securities, based on current interest rates and anticipated prepayment speeds.
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The following table summarizes the credit ratings and collateral associated with the Company's investment portfolio, excluding equity securities, at
December 31, 2020:

Sector Portfolio Mix Amortized Book Fair Value Credit Enhancement AAA AA A BBB NR Collateral Type
Unsecured ABS 1 %$ 6,730 $ 6,806 4 % 2% — % — % — % 98 % Unsecured Consumer Debt
Student Loan ABS 2 %$ 11,222 $ 11,137 26 % — % — % — % — % 100 % Seasoned Student Loans
Federal Family Education
Loan ABS 39 %$ 180,031 $ 177,519 6 % 4% 73 % 23 % — % — % Federal Family Education Loan
PACE Loan ABS 1 %$ 5,147 $ 5,243 5 % 100 % — % — % — % — % PACE Loans
Non-Agency CMBS 14 %$ 63,941 $ 62,236 53 % 97 % — % 3% —% — % Commercial Real Estate
Non-Agency RMBS 4 %S 16,505 $ 16,919 37 % 100 % — % — % — % — % Reverse Mortgages @
Municipal - General
Obligation 12 %$ 53,789 $ 59,186 3% 85 % 12 % — % — %

Municipal - Revenue 11 %$ 50,915 $ 53,483 — % 61 % 19 % — % 20 %
SBA ReRemic 3%S$ 11,295 $ 11,262 — % 100 % — % — % — % SBA Guarantee ®)
Agency MBS 13 %$ 61,054 $ 62,304 — % 100 % — % — % — % Residential Mortgages ¢
Bank CDs — %S 249 § 249 — % — % — % — % 100 % FDIC Insured CD

100 % $ 460,878 $ 466,344 20 % 61 % 13 % — % 6 %

(M Minimum of 97% guaranteed by U.S. government
@ Reverse mortgages fund over time and credit enhancement is estimated based on prior experience.
() 100% guaranteed by U.S. government agencies

Note : Ratings in table are the lowest of the six rating agencies (Standard & Poors, Moody's, Morningstar, DBRS, KBRA and Fitch). Standard & Poors rates U.S. government
obligations at AA+

Loan Portfolio

The Company offers a variety of products to meet the credit needs of its borrowers, principally commercial real estate loans, commercial and industrial loans,
and retail loans consisting of loans secured by residential properties, and to a lesser extent, installment loans. No loans are extended to non-domestic borrowers or
governments.

Generally, we are permitted under applicable law to make loans to single borrowers (including certain related persons and entities) in aggregate amounts of
up to 15% of the sum of total capital and the ALL. The Company’s legal lending limit to one borrower was $34.7 million at December 31, 2020. No borrower had
an outstanding exposure exceeding the limit at year-end.

The risks associated with lending activities differ among loan classes and are subject to the impact of changes in interest rates, market conditions of collateral
securing the loans and general economic conditions. Any of these factors may adversely impact a borrower’s ability to repay loans, and also impact the associated
collateral. A further discussion on the classes of loans the Company makes and related risks is included in Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,
and Note 4, Loans and Allowance for Loan Losses, to the Consolidated Financial Statements under Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data."
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The following table presents the loan portfolio, excluding residential LHFS, by segments and classes at December 31.

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Commercial real estate:

Owner-occupied $ 174,908 §$ 170,884 $ 129,650 $ 116,811 $ 112,295

Non-owner occupied 409,567 361,050 252,794 244,491 206,358

Multi-family 113,635 106,893 78,933 53,634 47,681

Non-owner occupied residential 114,505 120,038 100,367 77,980 62,533
Acquisition and development:

1-4 family residential construction 9,486 15,865 7,385 11,730 4,663

Commercial and land development 51,826 41,538 42,051 19,251 26,085
Commercial and industrial () 647,368 214,554 160,964 115,663 88,465
Municipal 20,523 47,057 50,982 42,065 53,741
Residential mortgage:

First lien 244,321 336,372 235,296 162,509 139,851

Home equity — term 10,169 14,030 12,208 11,784 14,248

Home equity — lines of credit 157,021 165,314 143,616 132,192 120,353
Installment and other loans 26,361 50,735 33,411 21,902 7,118
Total loans $ 1,979,690 $ 1,644,330 $ 1,247,657 $ 1,010,012 $ 883,391

(M Includes $403.3 million and $0 of SBA PPP loans, net of deferred fees and costs, as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The loan portfolio at December 31, 2020 increased by $335.4 million, or 20.4%, from December 31, 2019 due primarily to the origination of SBA PPP loans
in 2020, which was partially offset by a reduction in mortgage loans resulting from significant refinancing activity in the low interest rate environment. The
increase in the loan portfolio from 2018 to 2019 was approximately 75% attributable to loans acquired in the Hamilton transaction. The Mercersburg acquisition in
2018 and Hamilton acquisition in 2019 increased the loan portfolio, principally in the residential mortgage - first lien and commercial real estate - owner and non-
owner occupied classes. The Company's organic growth has occurred in both core and newer markets, such as Lancaster County, Pennsylvania, principally in
commercial real estate, and in commercial and industrial loans and installment and other loans as we focused on increasing diversification in the portfolio. The
growth in installment and other loans in 2018 through 2020 was principally attributable to purchased automobile financing loans at higher returns than comparable
cash flows in the investment portfolio.

Competition for new business opportunities remains strong, which may temper loan growth in future quarters.

In addition to monitoring our loan portfolio by loan class as noted above, we also monitor concentrations by segment. The Bank’s lending policy reports
segment concentrations that exceeds 20% of the Bank’s total risk-based capital ("RBC"). The following segments met this criterion at December 31, 2020.

Balance % of Total Loans % of Total RBC
Office space $ 161,399 8.2% 63.0%
Strip retail shopping centers 61,268 3.1% 23.9%
Multi-family commercial real estate 115,671 5.8% 45.1%
1-4 Family rentals 114,394 5.8% 44.6%
Senior housing and care 56,627 2.9% 22.1%
Loans outside of market area 66,761 3.4% 26.0%
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The following table presents expected maturities of certain loan classes by fixed rate or adjustable rate categories at December 31, 2020.

Due In
One
One Year Year Through After Five
or Less Five Years Years Total
Acquisition and development:
1-4 family residential construction
Fixed rate $ — 3 —  $ 1471 $ 1,471
Adjustable and floating rate 6,185 1,830 — 8,015
6,185 1,830 1,471 9,486
Commercial and land development
Fixed rate 504 1,886 7,227 9,617
Adjustable and floating rate 3,712 26,100 12,397 42,209
4,216 27,986 19,624 51,826
Commercial and industrial
Fixed rate 3,561 487,553 43,626 534,740
Adjustable and floating rate 54,200 20,110 38,318 112,628
57,761 507,663 81,944 647,368
$ 68,162 $ 537,479 $ 103,039 $ 708,680

The final maturity is used in the determination of maturity of acquisition and development loans that convert from construction to permanent status. Variable
rate loans shown above include semi-fixed loans that contractually will adjust with prime or LIBOR after the interest lock period, which may be up to 10 years. At
December 31, 2020, these semi-fixed loans totaled $29.8 million.

Asset Quality
Risk Elements

The Company’s loan portfolio is subject to varying degrees of credit risk. Credit risk is managed through our underwriting standards, on-going credit
reviews, and monitoring of asset quality measures. Additionally, loan portfolio diversification, which limits exposure to a single industry or borrower, and
collateral requirements also mitigate our risk of credit loss.
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The following table presents the Company’s risk elements and relevant asset quality ratios at December 31.

Nonaccrual loans
OREO

Total nonperforming assets
Restructured loans still accruing

Loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing V)

Total nonperforming and other risk assets

Loans 30-89 days past due
Asset quality ratios:

Total nonperforming loans to total loans

Total nonperforming assets to total assets

Total nonperforming assets to total loans and OREO
Total risk assets to total loans and OREO

Total risk assets to total assets
Allowance for loan losses to total loans

Allowance for loan losses to nonperforming loans

Allowance for loan losses to nonperforming loans and restructured

loans still accruing

(M Includes $456 thousand and $2.0 million, respectively, of purchased credit impaired loans at December 31, 2020 and 2019.

The following table provides detail of impaired loans at December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Commercial real estate:

Owner occupied

Multi-family

Non-owner occupied residential
Acquisition and development

Commercial and land development
Commercial and industrial
Residential mortgage:

First lien

Home equity — term

Home equity — lines of credit
Installment and other loans

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
$ 10,310 $ 10,657 $ 5,165 $ 9,843 $ 7,043
— 197 130 961 346
10,310 10,854 5,295 10,804 7,389
934 979 1,132 1,183 930
554 2,232 57 — —
$ 11,798 $ 14,065 $ 6,484 $ 11,987 $ 8,319
$ 10,291 $ 17,527 $ 5,186 $ 5,277 $ 1,218
0.52 % 0.65 % 0.41 % 0.97 % 0.80 %
0.37 % 0.46 % 0.27 % 0.69 % 0.52 %
0.52 % 0.66 % 0.42 % 1.07 % 0.84 %
0.60 % 0.86 % 0.52 % 1.19 % 0.94 %
0.43 % 0.59 % 0.34 % 0.77 % 0.59 %
1.02 % 0.89 % 1.12 % 1.27 % 1.45 %
195.45 % 137.52 % 27133 % 130.00 % 181.39 %
179.22 % 125.95 % 222.55% 116.05 % 160.23 %
2020 2019
Restructured Restructured
Nonaccrual Loans Still Nonaccrual Loans Still
Loans Accruing Total Loans Accruing Total
$ 3,232 $ 28 § 3,260 $ 5842 § 30 $ 5,872
— — — 345 — 345
268 — 268 235 — 235
814 — 814 — — —
3,639 — 3,639 1,763 — 1,763
1,730 898 2,628 1,659 931 2,590
10 — 10 13 — 13
600 8 608 715 18 733
17 — 17 85 — 85
$ 10,310 $ 934 § 11,244 $ 10,657 979 $ 11,636

Nonperforming assets include nonaccrual loans and foreclosed real estate. Risk assets, which include nonperforming assets and restructured and loans past
due 90 days or more and still accruing, totaled $11.8 million at December 31, 2020, an increase of $2.3 million or 16.1%, from $14.1 million at December 31,
2019. Nonaccrual loans totaled $10.3 million at December 31, 2020, a decrease of $347 thousand from December 31, 2019. The change in nonaccrual loan
amounts also impacted other asset quality ratios detailed above.

The ALL totaled $20.2 million at December 31, 2020, a $5.5 million increase from $14.7 million at December 31, 2019, resulting from net recoveries of
$171 thousand and a provision for loan losses of $5.3 million for 2020. The ALL is higher as a percentage of the total loan portfolio at December 31, 2020 than in
prior years, reflecting the increased ALL balance. An
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increase in special mention loans and loan modifications due to COVID-19 led to the inclusion of $2.8 million in qualitative reserves associated with COVID-19 in
the ALL at December 31, 2020. Management believes its coverage ratios are adequate for the risk profile of the loan portfolio given ongoing monitoring of the
portfolio and its quantitative and qualitative analysis performed at December 31, 2020. As new information is learned about borrowers or updated appraisals on
real estate with lower fair values are obtained, the Company may experience an increase in impaired loans.

For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, recoveries of $1.2 million, $606 thousand and $882 thousand, respectively, were credited to the
ALL. These recoveries on previously charged-off relationships are the result of successful loan monitoring and workout solutions. Recoveries are difficult to
predict, and any additional recoveries that the Company receives will be used to replenish the ALL. Recoveries favorably impact historical charge-off factors, and
contribute to changes in the quantitative and qualitative factors used in our allowance adequacy analysis. However, as the loan portfolio continues to grow, future
provisions for loan losses may result.

The Company takes partial charge-ofts on collateral-dependent loans when carrying value exceeds estimated fair value, as determined by the most recent
appraisal adjusted for current (within the quarter) conditions, less costs to dispose. Impairment reserves remain in place if updated appraisals are pending, and
represent management’s estimate of potential loss.

The following table presents exposure to relationships with an impaired loan balance, partial charge-offs taken to date and specific reserves established on the
relationships at December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Partial
# of Recorded Charge-offs Specific
Relationships Investment to Date Reserves
December 31, 2020
Relationships greater than $1 million 2 8 5639 $ — 3 —
Relationships greater than $500 thousand but less than $1 million 2 1,211 17 —
Relationships greater than $250 thousand but less than $500 thousand 2 637 — —
Relationships less than $250 thousand 65 3,757 545 33
71 $ 11,244  $ 562 $ 33
December 31, 2019
Relationships greater than $1 million 2 3 5218  § —  $ —
Relationships greater than $500 thousand but less than $1 million 2 3 1,516 § 17 8 —
Relationships greater than $250 thousand but less than $500 thousand 3 980 — —
Relationships less than $250 thousand 68 3,922 781 36
75 8 11,636 § 798 $ 36

Internal loan reviews are completed annually on all commercial relationships with a committed loan balance in excess of $1.0 million, which includes
confirmation of risk rating by an independent credit officer. In addition, all commercial relationships greater than $500 thousand rated Substandard, Doubtful or
Loss are reviewed and corresponding risk ratings are reaffirmed by the Bank's Problem Loan Committee, with subsequent reporting to the Management ERM
Committee.

In its individual loan impairment analysis, the Company determines the extent of any full or partial charge-offs that may be required, or any reserves that may
be needed. The determination of the Company’s charge-offs or impairment reserve include an evaluation of the outstanding loan balance and the related collateral
securing the credit. Through a combination of collateral securing the loans and partial charge-offs taken to date, the Company believes that it has adequately
provided for the potential losses that it may incur on these relationships at December 31, 2020. However, over time, additional information may result in increased
reserve allocations or, alternatively, it may be deemed that the reserve allocations exceed those that are needed.

The Company’s foreclosed real estate balance at December 31, 2020 was zero for both residential and commercial properties. During 2020, no expense was
recorded for the write-down of other real estate owned properties.
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In an effort to assist clients which were negatively impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Bank offered various mitigation options, including a loan
payment deferral program. Under this program, most commercial deferrals were for a 90-day period, while most consumer deferrals were for a 180-day period. As
of December 31, 2020, the Company had loan deferrals under this program for commercial and consumer clients with a total loan balance of $15.7 million and
$2.5 million, respectively. In accordance with the revised Interagency Statement on Loan Modifications by Financial Institutions Working with Customers
Affected by the Coronavirus issued on April 7, 2020, these deferrals are exempt from TDR status as they meet the specified requirements. Below is a summary of
select loan concentrations and the deferrals within those categories at December 31, 2020.

The following table summarizes COVID-19 related modifications, including deferrals and forbearances:

Amount of Loans Percent of Non-PPP Loans
Loan Type December 31, 2020 September 30, 2020 December 31, 2020 September 30, 2020
Commercial $ 15,702 $ 61,597 14 % 56 %
Consumer Portfolio Loans 2,504 16,845 0.6 3.6
Total Loans $ 18,206 $ 78,442 1.2 % 50 %

The following table summarizes COVID-19 related deferral balances within certain industry segments at December 31, 2020:

% of Total non-PPP $ Non-PPP Segment

Industry Segment Balance Loans Total % of non-PPP Segment
Hotel/Motel $ 9,497 06% $ 48,379 19.6 %
Restaurant/Bar 774 0.1 33,400 23
Commercial construction 499 — 51,826 1.0
Mixed use 376 — 21,875 1.7
Multi-Family CRE — — 115,671 —
Strip Center/Retail — — 61,268 —
Senior Housing — — 43,814 —

Credit Risk Management

Allowance for Loan Losses

The Company maintains the ALL at a level deemed adequate by management for probable incurred credit losses. The ALL is established and maintained
through a provision for loan losses which is charged to earnings. On a quarterly basis, management assesses the adequacy of the ALL utilizing a defined
methodology which considers specific credit evaluation of impaired loans, historical loss experience and qualitative factors. Management addresses the
requirements for loans individually identified as impaired, loans collectively evaluated for impairment, and other bank regulatory guidance in its assessment.

The ALL is evaluated based on review of the collectability of loans in light of historical experience; the nature and volume of the loan portfolio; adverse
situations that may affect a borrower’s ability to repay; estimated value of any underlying collateral; and prevailing economic conditions. This evaluation is
inherently subjective as it requires estimates that are susceptible to significant revision as more information becomes available. A description of the methodology
for establishing the allowance and provision for loan losses and related procedures in establishing the appropriate level of reserve is included in Note 4, Loans and
Allowance for Loan Losses, to the Consolidated Financial Statements under Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."
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The following table summarizes the Company’s internal risk ratings at December 31, 2020 and 2019.

December 31, 2020
Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied
Non-owner occupied
Multi-family
Non-owner occupied residential
Acquisition and development:
1-4 family residential construction
Commercial and land development
Commercial and industrial
Municipal
Residential mortgage:
First lien
Home equity — term
Home equity — lines of credit
Installment and other loans

December 31, 2019
Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied
Non-owner occupied
Multi-family
Non-owner occupied residential
Acquisition and development:
1-4 family residential construction
Commercial and land development
Commercial and industrial
Municipal
Residential mortgage:
First lien
Home equity — term
Home equity — lines of credit
Installment and other loans

Special Non-Impaired Impaired -

Pass Mention Substandard Substandard Doubtful PCI Loans Total
$ 148,846 $ 12,491 $ 7855 §$ 3,260 —  § 2,456 $ 174,908
351,860 57,378 — — — 329 409,567
92,769 20,224 642 — — — 113,635
107,557 3,948 1,422 268 — 1,310 114,505
9,101 385 — — — — 9,486
49,832 655 525 814 — — 51,826
617,213 17,561 6,118 3,639 — 2,837 647,368
20,523 — — — — — 20,523
236,381 — — 2,628 — 5,312 244,321
10,076 — 64 10 — 19 10,169
156,264 95 54 608 — — 157,021
26,283 — — 17 — 61 26,361
$ 1,826,705 $ 112,737 $ 16,680 $ 11,244 — 12,324 $ 1,979,690

Special Non-Impaired Impaired -

Pass Mention Substandard Substandard Doubtful PCI Loans Total
$ 151,161 $ 4,513 §$ 3,163 $ 5,872 — 3 6,175 $ 170,884
342,753 17,152 — — — 1,145 361,050
100,361 4,822 682 345 — 683 106,893
111,697 4,534 1,115 235 — 2,457 120,038
15,865 — — — — — 15,865
39,939 206 1,393 — — — 41,538
198,951 1,133 8,899 1,763 — 3,808 214,554
42,649 4,408 — — — — 47,057
323,040 978 — 2,590 — 9,764 336,372
13,774 74 149 13 — 20 14,030
164,469 74 38 733 — — 165,314
50,497 — — 85 — 153 50,735
$ 1,555,156 $ 37,894 § 15,439 § 11,636 — 3 24205 $ 1,644,330

Non-Impaired Substandard loans are performing loans which have characteristics that cause management concern over the ability of the borrower to perform
under present loan repayment terms and which may result in the reporting of these loans as
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nonperforming, or impaired, loans in the future. Generally, management feels that substandard loans that are currently performing and not considered impaired
result in some doubt as to the borrower’s ability to continue to perform under the terms of the loan, and represent potential problem loans. Non-impaired

Substandard loans totaled $16.7 million at December 31, 2020.

Additionally, the Special Mention classification is intended to be a temporary classification reflective of loans that have potential weaknesses that may, if not
monitored or corrected, weaken the asset or inadequately protect the Company’s position at some future date. Special mention loans represent an elevated risk, but
their weakness does not yet justify a more severe, or classified, rating. These loans require inquiry by lenders on the cause of the potential weakness and, once
analyzed, the loan classification may be downgraded to Substandard or, alternatively, could be upgraded to Pass. Special mention loans increased by $74.8 million
from December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2020 due primarily to the economic weakness created by COVID-19 as well as related loan modifications completed in
2020. Any loans with second modifications that are COVID-19 related are classified as special mention.

The following tables summarize the average recorded investment in impaired loans and interest income recognized, on a cash basis, and interest income
earned but not recognized for years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

December 31, 2020

Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied
Non-owner occupied
Multi-family

Non-owner occupied residential

Acquisition and development:

Commercial and land development

Commercial and industrial
Residential mortgage:
First lien
Home equity — term

Home equity — lines of credit

Installment and other loans

December 31, 2019

Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied
Non-owner occupied
Multi-family

Non-owner occupied residential

Acquisition and development:

1-4 family residential construction
Commercial and land development

Commercial and industrial
Residential mortgage:
First lien
Home equity — term

Home equity — lines of credit

Installment and other loans

Interest
Average Interest Earned
Impaired Income But Not
Balance Recognized Recognized
$ 4,636 $ 1 172
83 — —
205 — —
388 — 21
641 — 23
1,196 — 20
2,995 48 92
11 — 1
692 1 36
25 — 1
$ 10,872 50 366
$ 2,455 2 387
46 = —
152 — 24
217 — 21
21 — —
683 = 130
2,582 50 91
13 — 1
750 2 64
13 — 2
$ 6,932 54 720
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December 31, 2018
Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied
Non-owner occupied
Multi-family
Non-owner occupied residential
Acquisition and development:
1-4 family residential construction
Commercial and land development
Commercial and industrial
Residential mortgage:
First lien
Home equity — term
Home equity — lines of credit
Installment and other loans

December 31, 2017
Commercial real estate:

Owner-occupied

Non-owner occupied

Multi-family

Non-owner occupied residential
Acquisition and development:

1-4 family residential construction
Commercial and industrial
Residential mortgage:

First lien

Home equity — term

Home equity — lines of credit
Installment and other loans

December 31, 2016
Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied
Non-owner occupied
Multi-family
Non-owner occupied residential
Acquisition and development:
Commercial and land development
Commercial and industrial
Residential mortgage:
First lien
Home equity — term
Home equity — lines of credit
Installment and other loans
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Interest

Average Interest Earned

Impaired Income But Not

Balance Recognized Recognized

1,495 2 156
1,842 — 236
148 — 20
346 — 36
181 — —
1 — 1
322 — 29
3,234 59 130
19 — 2
657 2 52
4 — 5
8,249 63 667
1,000 6 114
392 — 10
182 — 19
418 — 35
154 — 7
413 — 25
4,012 58 136
61 — 1
488 2 26
10 — 3
7,130 66 376
1,758 — 124
6,831 — 326
216 — 17
645 — 35
3 — 1
575 — 25
4,525 33 175
98 — 6
455 — 19
12 — 3
15,118 33 731
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The following table summarizes activity in the ALL for years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

Commercial Consumer
Acquisition Commercial
Commercial and and Residential I 1l
Real Estate Development Industrial Municipal Total Mortgage and Other Total Unallocated Total
December 31, 2020
Balance, beginning of year ~ $ 7634 S 959 § 2,356 $ 100 $ 11,049 § 3147 $ 319 3,466 $ 140 14,655
Provision for loan losses 2,745 146 2,096 (60) 4,927 203 117 320 78 5,325
Charge-offs 3) — (748) — (751) 114) (146) (260) — (1,011)
Recoveries 775 9 238 — 1,022 126 34 160 — 1,182
Balance, end of year $ 11,151  § 1,114 § 3942 § 40 $ 16,247 $ 3,362 § 324 3,686 $ 218 20,151
December 31, 2019
Balance, beginning of year ~ § 6,876 $ 817 $ 1,656 $ 98 $ 9447 § 3,753  § 244 3997 $ 570 14,014
Provision for loan losses 515 139 841 2 1,497 (347) 180 (167) (430) 900
Charge-offs (25) — (299) — (324) (386) (155) (541) — (865)
Recoveries 268 3 158 — 429 127 50 177 — 606
Balance, end of year $ 7634 3 959 $ 2356 $ 100 $ 11,049 § 3,147 $ 319 3,466 $ 140 14,655
December 31, 2018
Balance, beginning of year $ 6,763 $ 417  $ 1,446 $ 84 § 8710 $ 3,400 $ 211 3611 $ 475 12,796
Provision for loan losses (442) 396 209 14 177 363 165 528 95 800
Charge-offs 17) (7 — — (24) (148) (292) (440) — (464)
Recoveries 572 11 1 — 584 138 160 298 — 882
Balance, end of year $ 6,876 $ 817 $ 1,656 $ 98 $ 9447 $ 3,753 $ 244 3,997 $ 570 14,014
December 31, 2017
Balance, beginning of year ~ § 7,530 $ 580 $ 1,074 $ 54 $ 9238 § 2,979 $ 144 3,123  $ 414 12,775
Provision for loan losses 38 (167) 333 30 234 531 174 705 61 1,000
Charge-offs (835) — (85) — (920) (180) (166) (346) — (1,266)
Recoveries 30 4 124 — 158 70 59 129 — 287
Balance, end of year $ 6,763 $ 417  § 1,446 $ 84 § 8710 § 3,400 $ 211 3,611 § 475 12,796
December 31, 2016
Balance, beginning of year ~ $ 7,883 $ 850 $ 1,012 $ 58 § 9803 § 2,870 $ 121 2,991 $ 774 13,568
Provision for loan losses 107 (270) 129 “4) (38) 532 116 648 (360) 250
Charge-offs (872) — (79) — (951) (577) (194) (771) — (1,722)
Recoveries 412 — 12 — 424 154 101 255 — 679
Balance, end of year $ 7,530 $ 580 $ 1,074 $ 54 $ 9238 § 2979 $ 144 3,123  $ 414 12,775
The following table summarizes asset quality ratios for years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, 2018, 2017 and 2016.
2020 2019 2018 2017
Ratio of net charge-offs (recoveries) to average loans outstanding (0.01)% 0.02 % (0.04)% 0.10 % 0.13 %
Provision for loan losses to net charge-offs (recoveries) (3,114.04)% 347.49 % (191.39)% 102.15 % 23.97 %
Ratio of ALL to total loans outstanding at December 31 1.02 % 0.89 % 1.12 % 1.27% 1.45%

The Company recorded a provision for loan losses expense of $5.3 million, $900 thousand, $800 thousand, $1.0 million and $250 thousand for 2020, 2019,

2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. In addition, in certain cases, loans were successfully
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worked out with smaller charge-offs than the reserve established on them. From 2016 to 2019, the Company has benefited from organic loan portfolio growth and
favorable historical charge-off data combined with relatively stable economic conditions over the periods presented above. This was a principal factor in
management's determination that a negative or modest provision could be recorded despite net charge-offs recorded in 2016. In 2017, management determined that
a provision expense that offset net charge-offs for the year would maintain an adequate ALL, principally due to a charge-off in connection with one commercial
credit downgraded to nonaccrual status during the year. In 2018 and 2019, our continued organic loan portfolio growth was a key factor in the quantitative and

qualitative considerations used by management in the determination of the provision expense required to maintain an adequate allowance for loan losses. In 2020,

the severe economic impact of COVID-19 on the loan portfolio drove an increase in qualitative assumptions. These variations in net charge-offs (recoveries) and
provision expense (recovery) resulted in the fluctuations in the ratios presented in the tables above.

See further discussion in the “Provision for Loan Losses” section of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations. Also, see Note 4, Loans and Allowance for Loan Losses, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on the COVID-

19 qualitative assumptions.

The following table shows the allocation of the ALL by loan class, as well as the percent of each loan class in relation to the total loan balance at
December 31, 2020, 2019, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

Commercial real estate:

Owner-occupied

Non-owner occupied

Multi-family

Non-owner occupied residential
Acquisition and development:

1-4 family residential construction

Commercial and land development
Commercial and industrial
Municipal
Residential mortgage:

First lien

Home equity - term

Home equity - lines of credit
Installment and other loans
Unallocated

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

% of % of % of % of % of

Loan Loan Loan Loan Loan

Type to Type to Type to Type to Type to

Total Total Total Total Total

Amount Loans Amount Loans Amount Loans Amount Loans Amount Loans
$ 2,072 9% $ 1,539 10 % $ 1,491 10 % $ 1,488 12 % $ 1,591 13 %
6,049 21 % 3,965 22 % 3,683 20 % 4,059 24 % 4,380 23 %
1,846 6 % 974 7 % 792 6 % 444 5 % 604 5 %
1,184 6 % 1,156 7 % 910 8 % 772 8 % 955 7 %
144 — % 239 1 % 104 1 % 169 1 % 102 1 %
970 3 % 720 3% 713 3% 248 2 % 478 3%
3,942 32 % 2,356 13 % 1,656 13 % 1,446 12 % 1,074 10 %
40 1 % 100 3% 98 4 % 84 4 % 54 6 %
1,627 12 % 1,635 20 % 2,002 19 % 1,855 16 % 1,624 16 %
63 1% 59 1 % 109 1 % 119 1 % 151 1 %
1,672 8 % 1,453 10 % 1,642 12 % 1,426 13 % 1,204 14 %
324 1 % 319 3 % 244 3 % 211 2 % 144 1 %

218 140 570 475 414

$ 20,151 100 % $ 14,655 100 % § 14,014 100 % § 12,796 100 % § 12,775 100 %
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The following table summarizes the ending loan balance individually or collectively evaluated for impairment by loan class and the ALL allocation for each

at December 31, 2020 and 2019.

December 31, 2020
Loans allocated by:
Individually evaluated for
impairment
Collectively evaluated for
impairment

Allowance for loan losses
allocated by:

Individually evaluated for
impairment

Collectively evaluated for
impairment

December 31, 2019
Loans allocated by:

Individually evaluated for
impairment

Collectively evaluated for
impairment

Allowance for loan losses
allocated by:

Individually evaluated for
impairment

Collectively evaluated for
impairment

Commercial

Consumer

Acquisition Commercial
Commercial and an Residential Installment

Real Estate Development Industrial Municipal Total Mortgage and Other Total Unallocated Total
3,528 814 3,639 — 7,981 3,246 17 §$ 3,263 — 11,244
809,087 60,498 643,729 20,523 1,533,837 408,265 26,344 434,609 — 1,968,446
812,615 61,312 647,368 20,523 1,541,818 411,511 26,361 $ 437,872 — 1,979,690
— — 1 — 1 33 — 3 33 — 34
11,151 1,114 3,941 40 16,246 3,329 324 3,653 218 20,117
11,151 1,114 3,942 40 16,247 3,362 324 $ 3,686 218 20,151
6,452 — 1,763 — 8,215 3,336 85 § 3,421 — 11,636
752,413 57,403 212,791 47,057 1,069,664 512,380 50,650 563,030 — 1,632,694
758,865 57,403 214,554 47,057 1,077,879 515,716 50,735 § 566,451 — 1,644,330
— — — — — 36 — 3 36 — 36
7,634 959 2,356 100 11,049 3,111 319 3,430 140 14,619
7,634 959 2,356 100 11,049 3,147 319§ 3,466 140 14,655

In addition to the reserve allocations on impaired loans noted above, 11 loans, with aggregate outstanding principal balances of $1.2 million, have had
cumulative partial charge-offs to the ALL totaling $562 thousand at December 31, 2020. As updated appraisals were received on collateral-dependent loans, partial
charge-offs were taken to the extent the loans’ principal balance exceeded their fair value.

Management believes the allocation of the ALL between the various loan classes adequately reflects the probable incurred credit losses in each portfolio and
is based on the methodology outlined in Note 4, Loans and Allowance for Loan Losses, to the Consolidated Financial Statements under Part II, Item 8, "Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data." Management re-evaluates and makes certain enhancements to its methodology used to establish a reserve to better reflect the
risks inherent in the different segments of the portfolio, particularly in light of increased charge-offs, with noticeable differences between the different loan classes.
Management believes these enhancements to the ALL methodology improve the accuracy of quantifying probable incurred credit losses inherent in the portfolio.
Management charges actual loan losses to the reserve and bases the provision for loan losses on its overall analysis.

The largest component of the ALL for the years presented has been allocated to the commercial real estate segment, particularly the non-owner occupied loan
classes. The higher allocations in these classes as compared with the other classes is consistent with the inherent risk associated with these loans, as well as
generally higher levels of impaired and criticized loans for the periods presented. There has generally been a decrease in the ALL allocated to the commercial real
estate portfolio, as the level of classified assets has declined, and historical loss rates have improved as a result of improving economic and market conditions.

The unallocated portion of the ALL reflects estimated inherent losses within the portfolio that have not been detected, as well as the risk of error in the
specific and general reserve allocation, other potential exposure in the loan portfolio, variances in management’s assessment of national and local economic
conditions and other factors management believes appropriate at the time. The unallocated portion of the allowance increased from $140 thousand at December 31,
2019 to $218 thousand at December 31, 2020 and represents 1.1% of the ALL at December 31, 2020, compared with 1.0% at December 31, 2019. Changes in
qualitative factors of certain loan categories were made during 2019 to reflect limited credit losses in recent history.
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The Company monitors the unallocated portion of the ALL, and by policy, has determined it should not exceed 3% of the total reserve. Future negative provisions
for loan losses may result if the unallocated portion was to increase, and management determined the reserves were not required for the anticipated risk in the
portfolio.

Management believes the Company’s ALL is adequate based on information currently available. Future adjustments to the ALL and enhancements to the
methodology may be necessary due to changes in economic conditions, regulatory guidance, or management’s assumptions as to future delinquencies or loss rates.

Deposits

Total deposits grew $481.4 million, or 25.7%, from $1.9 billion at December 31, 2019 to $2.4 billion at December 31, 2020. This increase was primarily due
to deposits generated through the SBA PPP during 2020. In 2019, the Company acquired $388.2 million in deposits from Hamilton. At December 31, 2019, those
acquired accounts totaled approximately $332.0 million. During 2019, brokered deposits were reduced by $110.6 million and subscription service CDs declined by
$21.9 million. Organic growth totaled approximately $147.7 million in 2019.

The following table presents average deposits for years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018.

2020 2019 2018
Demand deposits $ 381,869 $ 234,354 $ 183,387
Interest-bearing demand deposits 1,156,292 920,025 767,863
Savings deposits 163,133 138,761 102,189
Time deposits 452,298 549,937 324,118
Total deposits $ 2,153,592 § 1,843,077 $ 1,377,557

Average total deposits increased $310.5 million, or 16.8%, from 2019 to 2020. SBA PPP loan funding was the principal driver of this increase. Average time
deposits less than $250 thousand grew from $287.9 million in 2018 to $483.9 million in 2019 and average time deposits in excess of $250 thousand increased from
$36.3 million in 2018 to $66.0 million in 2019.

In addition to deposits from acquisitions, the Bank has been able to garner organic growth in both interest-bearing and noninterest-bearing deposit
relationships from enhanced cash management offerings as we continued to develop commercial relationships. We also continued to grow core funding deposits
through marketing campaigns and improvement in our product delivery with investments in technology and increased sales efforts. We have also been able to
increase interest-free funds as we expanded our commercial and industrial loan portfolio.

In 2020, the Bank reduced its brokered deposit balances to zero at December 31, 2020 compared with $16.1 million at December 31, 2019, and averaged $3.2
million for 2020 compared with $100.8 million for 2019. Given interest rate conditions and asset/liability strategies, the Bank borrowed additional funds from
FHLB of Pittsburgh to replace called brokered deposits from the second half of 2019 through 2020.

Management evaluates its utilization of brokered deposits, taking into consideration the interest rate curve and regulatory views on non-core funding sources,
and balances this funding source with its funding needs based on growth initiatives. The Company anticipates that as loan growth increases, it will be able to

generate core deposit funding by offering competitive rates.

The following table presents maturities of time deposits of $250,000 or more at December 31, 2020.

Total
Three months or less $ 25,828
Over three months through six months 15,734
Over six months through one year 12,057
Over one year 8,319
Total $ 61,938
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Borrowings

In addition to deposit products, the Company uses short-term borrowing sources to meet liquidity needs and for temporary funding. Sources of short-term
borrowings include the FHLB of Pittsburgh, federal funds purchased, and to a lesser extent, the FRB discount window. Short-term borrowings also include
securities sold under agreements to repurchase with deposit clients, in which a client sweeps a portion of a deposit balance into a repurchase agreement, which is a
secured borrowing with a pool of securities pledged against the balance.

The Company also utilizes long-term debt, consisting principally of FHLB fixed and amortizing advances to fund its balance sheet with original maturities
greater than one year. The Company evaluates its funding needs, interest rate movements, the cost of options, and the availability of attractive structures when
considering the timing and extent of when it enters into long-term borrowings.

In December 2018, we issued unsecured subordinated notes payable totaling $32.5 million, the proceeds of which were designated for general corporate use,
including funding of cash consideration for mergers and acquisitions.

For additional information about borrowings, refer to Note 13, Short-Term Borrowings, Note 14, Long-Term Debt, and Note 15, Subordinated Notes, to the
Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

Shareholders' Equity

In 2020, total shareholders’ equity increased $23.0 million, or 10.3%. Net income increased equity by $26.5 million. AOCI increased by $3.8 million due to
an increase of $4.8 million in unrealized gains on securities partially offset by $1.0 million in unrealized losses on derivatives during 2020. Dividends paid to
shareholders decreased equity by $7.6 million.

In September, 2015, the Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program which is more fully described in Item 5 under Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities. The maximum number of shares that may yet be purchased under the plan is 261,320 shares at December 31, 2020.

The following table includes additional information for shareholders’ equity for years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018.

2020 2019 2018
Average shareholders’ equity $ 226,900 $ 206,021 $ 149,662
Net income 26,463 16,924 12,805
Cash dividends paid 7,610 6,150 4,375
Average equity to average assets ratio 8.58 % 9.26 % 8.75 %
Dividend payout ratio 28.12 % 36.81 % 3333 %
Return on average equity 11.66 % 8.21 % 8.56 %

Capital Adequacy and Regulatory Matters

Capital management in a regulated financial services industry must properly balance return on equity to its shareholders while maintaining sufficient levels of
capital and related risk-based regulatory capital ratios to satisfy statutory regulatory requirements. The Company’s capital management strategies have been
developed to provide attractive rates of returns to its shareholders, while maintaining a “well capitalized” position of regulatory strength.

Effective with the third quarter of 2018, the FRB raised the consolidated asset limit on small bank holding companies from $1 billion to $3 billion, and a
company with assets under the revised limits is not subject to the FRB consolidated capital rules. A company with consolidated assets under the revised limit may
continue to file reports that include capital amounts and ratios. The Company has elected to continue to file those reports.

Management believes the Company and the Bank met all capital adequacy requirements to which they are subject at December 31, 2020 and December 31,
2019. At December 31, 2020, the Bank was considered well capitalized under applicable banking regulations.

54



Table of Contents

Tables presenting the Company’s and the Bank’s capital amounts and ratios at December 31, 2020 and 2019 are included in Note 17 Shareholders' Equity
and Regulatory Capital, to the Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

The Company routinely evaluates its capital levels in light of its risk profile to assess its capital needs. In addition to the minimum capital ratio requirement
and minimum capital ratio to be well capitalized presented in the tables in Note 17, we must maintain a capital conservation buffer as noted in Item 1 - Business
under the topic Basel III Capital Rules. At December 31, 2020, the Company's and the Bank's capital conservation buffer, based on the most restrictive capital
ratio, was 6.5% and 6.7%, which is above the regulatory requirement of 2.50% at December 31, 2020.

Liquidity and Rate Sensitivity

Liquidity. The primary function of asset/liability management is to ensure adequate liquidity and manage the Company’s sensitivity to changing interest rates.
Liquidity management involves the ability to meet the cash flow requirements of customers who may be either depositors wanting to withdraw funds or borrowers
needing assurance that sufficient funds will be available to meet their credit needs. The Company's primary sources of funds consist of deposit inflows, loan
repayments, maturities and sales of investment securities, the sale of mortgage loans and borrowings from the FHLB of Pittsburgh. While maturities and scheduled
amortization of loans and securities are predictable sources of funds, deposit flows and mortgage prepayments are greatly influenced by general interest rates,
economic conditions and competition. The Company's maximum borrowing capacity from the FHLB is $830.3 million at December 31, 2020.

The Company regularly adjusts its investments in liquid assets based upon its assessment of expected loan demand, expected deposit flows, yields available
on interest-earning deposits and securities and the objectives of its asset/liability management policy.

At December 31, 2020, outstanding loan commitments totaled $596.2 million, which included $89.5 million in undisbursed loans, $223.2 million in unused
home equity lines of credit, $268.9 million in commercial lines of credit, and $14.5 million in standby letters of credit. Time deposits due within one year after
December 31, 2020 totaled $310.3 million, or 78% of time deposits. The large percentage of time deposits that mature within one year reflects clients’ preference
not to invest funds for long periods in the current interest rate environment. If these maturing deposits do not remain with us, we will be required to seek other
sources of funds, including other time deposits and lines of credit. Depending on market conditions, we may be required to pay higher rates on such deposits or
other borrowings than we currently pay on time deposits outstanding at December 31, 2020. We believe, however, based on past experience that a significant
portion of our time deposits will remain with us. We have the ability to attract and retain deposits by adjusting the interest rates we offer.

Our most liquid assets are cash and cash equivalents. The levels of these assets depend on our operating, financing, lending and investing activities during
any given period. At December 31, 2020, cash and cash equivalents totaled $125.3 million, compared with $56.5 million at December 31, 2019. Securities
classified as available for sale, net of pledging requirements, provide additional sources of liquidity, and totaled $67.8 million at December 31, 2020. Also at
December 31, 2020, the Company had the ability to borrow up to a total of $830.3 million from the FHLB of Pittsburgh, of which $151.4 million in advances and
letters of credit were outstanding. The Company’s ability to borrow from the FHLB is dependent on having sufficient qualifying collateral, which generally
consists of mortgage loans. In addition, the Company had $30.0 million in available unsecured lines of credit with other banks at December 31, 2020.

The Company is a separate legal entity from the Bank and must provide for its own liquidity. In addition to its operating expenses, the Company is
responsible for paying any dividends declared to its shareholders and interest on its borrowings. The Company also has repurchased shares of its common
stock. The Company’s primary source of income is dividends received from the Bank. Restrictions on the Bank’s ability to dividend funds to the Company are
included in Note 17, Shareholders' Equity and Regulatory Capital, to the Consolidated Financial Statements under Part 11, Item 8, "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data."

Interest Rate Sensitivity. Interest rate sensitivity management requires the maintenance of an appropriate balance between interest sensitive assets and
liabilities. Management, through its asset/liability management process, attempts to manage the level of repricing and maturity mismatch so that fluctuations in net
interest income are maintained within policy limits in current and expected market conditions. For further discussion, see Part I, Item 7A, "Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk."

Contractual Obligations

The Company enters into contractual obligations in the normal course of business to fund loan growth, for asset/liability management purposes, to meet
required capital needs and for other corporate purposes. The following table presents significant fixed and determinable contractual obligations of principal by
payment date at December 31, 2020. Further discussion of the
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nature of each obligation is included in the referenced Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements under Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" referenced in the following table.

Payments Due

Note Less than 1 More than
Reference year 2-3 years 4-5 years 5 years Total
Time deposits 11 $ 310,287 $ 72,651 $ 10,944 $ 2,336 $ 396,218
Short-term borrowings 13 75,195 — — — 75,195
Long-term debt 14 421 903 992 — 2,316
Subordinated notes 15 — — — 32,500 32,500
Operating lease obligations 6 1,208 1,592 1,666 9,449 13,915
Total $ 387,111 § 75,146 $ 13,602 $ 44,285 $ 520,144

The contractual obligations table above does not include off-balance sheet commitments to extend credit that are detailed in the following section. These
commitments generally have fixed expiration dates and many will expire without being drawn upon, therefore the total commitment does not necessarily represent
future cash requirements and is excluded from the contractual obligations table.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company is party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the financing needs of its clients. These
financial instruments include commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit.

The following table details significant commitments at December 31, 2020.

Contract or Notional

Amount
Commitments to fund:
Home equity lines of credit $ 223,216
1-4 family residential construction loans 28,928
Commercial real estate, construction and land development loans 60,606
Commercial, industrial and other loans 268,931
Standby letters of credit 14,491

A discussion of the nature, business purpose, and guarantees that result from the Company’s off-balance sheet arrangements is included in Note 19, Financial
Instruments with Off-Balance Sheet Risk, to the Consolidated Financial Statements under Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

Recently Adopted and Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Recently adopted and recently issued accounting standards are included in Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to the Consolidated
Financial Statements under Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

Supplemental Reporting of Non-GAAP Measures

As a result of prior acquisitions, the Company had intangible assets consisting of goodwill and core deposit and other intangible assets totaling $26.9 million
and $27.1 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Management believes providing certain “non-GAAP” information will assist investors in their understanding of the effect of acquisition activity on reported
results, particularly to overcome comparability issues related to the influence of intangibles (principally goodwill) created in acquisitions.

Tangible book value per share and net interest margin excluding the impact of purchase accounting, as used by the Company in this supplemental reporting,
are not GAAP measures. While we believe this information is a useful supplement to the GAAP based measures presented in Item 6, Selected Financial Data and
Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, readers are cautioned that this non-GAAP disclosure has
limitations as an
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analytical tool, should not be viewed as a substitute for financial measures determined in accordance with GAAP, and should not be considered in isolation or as a
substitute for analysis of our results and financial condition as reported under GAAP, nor are such measures necessarily comparable to non-GAAP performance
measures that may be presented by other companies. This supplemental presentation should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be

unaffected by similar adjustments to be determined in accordance with GAAP.

The following table presents the computation of each non-GAAP based measure shown together with its most directly comparable GAAP based measure.

Tangible book value per common share
Shareholders' equity
Less: Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Related tax effect

Tangible common equity (non-GAAP)

Common shares outstanding

Book value per share (most directly comparable GAAP based measure)
Intangible assets per share

Tangible book value per share (non-GAAP)

Taxable-Equivalent Net Interest Margin (excluding the effect of purchase accounting)
Taxable-equivalent net interest income/margin, as reported

Effect of purchase accounting:

Income
Expenses

Loans
Time deposits
Purchase accounting effect on taxable-equivalent income/ margin

Taxable-equivalent net interest income/margin (excluding the effect of
purchase accounting) (non-GAAP)

Allowance to unguaranteed loans
Allowance for loan losses

Gross loans

less: SBA guaranteed loans
Unguaranteed loans

Allowance to unguaranteed loans

2020 2019 2018
$ 246,249 $ 223,249 $ 173,433
18,724 19,925 12,592
5,458 7,180 3,910
(1,146) (1,508) (804)
$ 223,213  $ 197,652 $ 157,735
11,201 11,200 9,430
$ 2198 $ 1993 $ 18.39
2.05 2.28 1.66
$ 1993 $ 17.65 §$ 16.73
2020 2019 2018
$ 84,431 3.44% $ 70,338 343% $ 53,573 3.36 %
(5,547) 0.24)% 3,758) 0.21)% (372) 0.18 %
81 — % (102) 0.01 % 855 0.21 %
(5,628) 0.24)% (3,656) 0.20)% 1,227) 0.39 %
$ 78,803 320% $ 66,682 3.23% $ 52,346 3.75 %
December 31, 2020

$ 20,151

$ 1,979,690

(404,205)

$ 1,575,485
1.3%
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December 31, 2020 December 31,2019

Allowance plus purchase accounting marks to unguaranteed loans:
Allowance for loan losses $ 20,151 $ 14,655
Purchase accounting marks 7,784 18,160

Allowance plus purchase accounting marks 27,935 32,815
Gross loans 1,979,690 1,644,330
less: SBA guaranteed loans (404,205) (1,559)

Unguaranteed loans $ 1,575,485 $ 1,642,771
Allowance plus purchase accounting marks to unguaranteed loans: 1.8 % 2.0%

ITEM 7A — QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk comprises exposure to interest rate risk, foreign currency exchange rate risk, commodity price risk, and other relevant market rate or price risks.
In the banking industry, a major risk exposure is changing interest rates. The primary objective of monitoring our interest rate sensitivity, or risk, is to provide
management the tools necessary to manage the balance sheet to minimize adverse changes in net interest income as a result of changes in the direction and level of
interest rates. FRB monetary control efforts, the effects of deregulation, economic uncertainty and legislative changes have been significant factors affecting the
task of managing interest rate sensitivity positions in recent years.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the exposure to fluctuations in the Company’s future earnings (earnings at risk) and value (value at risk) resulting from changes in interest
rates. This exposure results from differences between the amounts of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities that reprice within a specified time
period as a result of scheduled maturities, scheduled and unscheduled repayments, the propensity of borrowers and depositors to react to changes in their economic
interests, and loan contractual interest rate changes.

We attempt to manage the level of repricing and maturity mismatch through our asset/liability management process so that fluctuations in net interest income
are maintained within policy limits across a range of market conditions, while satisfying liquidity and capital requirements. Management recognizes that a certain
amount of interest rate risk is inherent, appropriate and necessary to ensure the Company’s profitability. Thus, the goal of interest rate risk management is to
evaluate the amount of reward for taking risk and adjusting both the size and composition of the balance sheet relative to the level of reward available for taking
risk.

Management endeavors to control the exposure to changes in interest rates by understanding, reviewing and making decisions based on its risk position. The
Company primarily uses its securities portfolio, FHLB advances, interest rate swaps and brokered deposits to manage its interest rate risk position. Additionally,
pricing, promotion and product development activities are directed in an effort to emphasize the loan and deposit term or repricing characteristics that best meet
current interest rate risk objectives.

We use simulation analysis to assess earnings at risk and net present value analysis to assess value at risk. These methods allow management to regularly
monitor both the direction and magnitude of our interest rate risk exposure. These analyses require numerous assumptions including, but not limited to, changes in
balance sheet mix, prepayment rates on loans and securities, cash flows and repricing of all financial instruments, changes in volumes and pricing, future shapes of
the yield curve, relationship of market interest rates to each other (basis risk), credit spread and deposit sensitivity. Assumptions are based on management’s best
estimates but may not accurately reflect actual results under certain changes in interest rate due to the timing, magnitude and frequency of rate changes and changes
in market conditions and management strategies, among other factors. However, the analyses are useful in quantifying risk and providing a relative gauge of our
interest rate risk position over time.

Our asset/liability committee operates under management policies, approved by the Board of Directors, which define guidelines and limits on the level of
risk. The committee meets regularly and reviews our interest rate risk position and monitors various liquidity ratios to ensure a satisfactory liquidity position. By
utilizing our analyses, we can determine changes that may need to be made to the asset and liability mixes to mitigate the change in net interest income under
various interest rate scenarios. Management continually evaluates the condition of the economy, the pattern of market interest rates and other
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economic data to inform the committee on the selection of investment securities. Regulatory authorities also monitor our interest rate risk position along with other
liquidity ratios.

Net Interest Income Sensitivity

Simulation analysis evaluates the effect of upward and downward changes in market interest rates on future net interest income. The analysis involves
changing the interest rates used in determining net interest income over the next twelve months. The resulting percentage change in net interest income in various
rate scenarios is an indication of our short-term interest rate risk. The analysis assumes recent pricing trends in new loan and deposit volumes will continue while
balances remain constant. Additional assumptions are applied to modify pricing under the various rate scenarios.

The simulation analysis results are presented in the Net Interest Income table below. At December 31, 2020, these results indicate the Company would be
better positioned, over the next 12 months, in a moderately declining rate environment than it would be if interest rates increased. At December 31, 2019, the
results indicated we would be better positioned in a moderately increasing rate environment than if rates decreased moderately or increased more substantially.

Economic Value

Net present value analysis provides information on the risk inherent in the balance sheet that might not be considered in the simulation analysis due to the
short time horizon used in that analysis. The net present value of the balance sheet incorporates the discounted present value of expected asset cash flows minus the
discounted present value of expected liability cash flows. The analysis involves changing the interest rates used in determining the expected cash flows and in
discounting the cash flows. The resulting percentage change in net present value in various rate scenarios is an indication of the longer term repricing risk and
options embedded in the balance sheet.

At December 31, 2020, similar to at December 31, 2019, these results indicate the Company would be better positioned in a rising interest rate environment
than it would be if interest rates decreased.

Earnings at Risk Value at Risk
% Change in Net Interest Income % Change in Market Value
Change in Market Change in Market
Interest Rates December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 Interest Rates December 31, 2020 December 31,2019
(100) 0.8)% 0.5)% (100) (99.6)% (21.7)%
100 1.7 % (1.3)% 100 70.7 % 10.9 %
200 24 % (3.8)% 200 116.4 % 15.1%

Further discussion related to the quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk is included under the heading of Liquidity and Rate Sensitivity in
Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
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ITEM 8 — FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

The following table presents unaudited quarterly results of operations for years ended December 31.

2020 2019
Quarter Ended Quarter Ended
December September June March December September June March

Interest income $ 26426 $ 24216 $ 25,022 $ 23967 $§ 24028 $§ 24836 §$§ 24472 $§ 19,658
Interest expense 2,697 3,398 4,224 5,705 6,087 6,757 5,957 4,898
Net interest income 23,729 20,818 20,798 18,262 17,941 18,079 18,515 14,760
Provision for loan losses 300 2,200 1,900 925 — 300 200 400

Net interest income after provision for loan

losses 23,429 18,618 18,898 17,337 17,941 17,779 18,315 14,360
Investment securities gains (losses) 28 13) 9 (40) 18 2,328 2,064 339
Other noninterest income 7,153 6,874 7,184 7,114 7,012 6,274 5,710 4,796
Merger related and branch consolidation
expenses — 1,310 — — 988 471 6,860 645
Other noninterest expenses 18,080 17,955 18,431 18,304 18,721 17,669 16,432 15,516

Income before income tax expense 12,530 6,214 7,660 6,107 5,262 8,241 2,797 3,334
Income tax expense 2,471 1,237 1,301 1,039 1,028 1,340 110 232

Net income $ 10,059 §$ 4,977 $ 6,359 $ 5,068 $ 4234 § 6,901 $ 2,687 $ 3,102

Per share information:
Basic earnings per share (a) $ 092 $ 045 $ 058 $ 046 $ 039 § 063 § 026 $ 0.34
Diluted earnings per share (a) $ 091 $ 045 $ 058 $ 046 $ 038 $ 062 § 026 $ 0.33
Dividends paid per share $ 017 $ 017 $ 017 $ 017 § 015 § 015 § 015 § 0.15

(a) Sum of the quarters may not equal the total year due to rounding.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of Orrstown Financial Services, Inc., together with its consolidated subsidiaries (the "Company"), has the responsibility for establishing and
maintaining an adequate internal control structure and procedures for financial reporting. Management maintains a comprehensive system of internal control to
provide reasonable assurance of the proper authorization of transactions, the safeguarding of assets and the reliability of the financial records. The system of
internal control provides for appropriate division of responsibility and is documented by written policies and procedures that are communicated to employees. The
Company maintains an internal auditing program, under the supervision of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which independently assesses the
effectiveness of the system of internal control and recommends possible improvements.

Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the
Company has evaluated the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting at December 31, 2020, using the Internal Control — Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based upon this evaluation, management has concluded that, at
December 31, 2020, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based on the criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
(2013).

Crowe LLP has audited the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, as stated in their report dated
March 15, 2021.

/s/ Thomas R. Quinn, Jr. /s/ Thomas R. Brugger
Thomas R. Quinn, Jr. Thomas R. Brugger
President and Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

March 15, 2021
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Crowe Gl

Independerm Memirer Crowe Glob
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Shareholders and Board of Directors of Orrstown Financial Services, Inc.
Shippensburg, Pennsylvania

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Orrstown Financial Services, Inc. (the "Company") as of December 31, 2020
and 2019, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’, and cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). We also have audited
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework: (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2020 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework: (2013) issued by COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements and an opinion on the
Company'’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the
U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. Our audit of internal control
over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinions.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the
consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit
matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the
critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Allowance for Loan Losses — Adjustments for qualitative factors

As more fully described in Note 1 and Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company estimates and records an allowance for loan
losses for loans collectively evaluated for impairment by developing a loss rate based on historical losses and qualitative factors. Qualitative factors
are used to adjust historical loss rates considering relevant factors such as nature and volume of loans; national and local economic conditions;
concentrations of credit and changes within credit concentrations; quality of loan review; delinquency trends; classified loan trends; underwriting
standards and recovery practices; and experience, ability and depth of management and lending staff. The application of the adjustments for
qualitative factors to the historical loss rate calculation is subjective.

The principal considerations for our determination that auditing the adjustments to the historical loss rates is a critical audit matter is the high degree
of judgment involved in the assessment of the risk of loss associated with each risk factor. Our audit procedures included both control and
substantive testing related to the adjustments for qualitative factors. Procedures included, among others:

» Testing the following controls:

o Management’s review of the accuracy of data inputs used to adjust historical loss rates.
o Management’s review of the appropriateness and adequacy of the adjustments to the historical loss rates

o Management’s approval of the conclusions reached over the allowance for loan losses for loans collectively evaluated for
impairment.
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*  Substantive tests included:

o Data inputs used to adjust historical loss rates were agreed to source documentation.

o The adjustments to historical loss rates were evaluated for reasonableness and appropriateness including both directional
consistency and the magnitude of the adjustments.

o Analytical procedures were performed to evaluate changes that occurred in the allowance for loan losses for loans collectively
evaluated for impairment.

Crowe LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2014.

Washington, D.C.
March 15, 2021
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
ORRSTOWN FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)
Assets
Cash and due from banks
Interest-bearing deposits with banks

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted investments in bank stocks
Securities available for sale (amortized cost of $460,999 and $491,492 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively)
Loans held for sale, at fair value
Loans
Less: Allowance for loan losses

Net loans
Premises and equipment, net
Cash surrender value of life insurance
Goodwill
Other intangible assets, net
Accrued interest receivable
Other assets

Total assets
Liabilities
Deposits:

Noninterest-bearing

Interest-bearing

Total deposits

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
FHLB advances and other
Subordinated notes
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Shareholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, $1.25 par value per share; 500,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or outstanding

Common stock, no par value—$0.05205 stated value per share 50,000,000 shares authorized; 11,257,046 shares issued and
11,201,317 outstanding at December 31, 2020; 11,220,604 shares issued and 11,199,874 outstanding at December 31, 2019

Additional paid—in capital

Retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Treasury stock— 55,729 and 20,730 shares, at cost, at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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December 31,

2020 2019
26,203 $ 25,969
99,055 29,994

125,258 55,963
10,563 16,184
466,465 490,885
11,734 9,364
1,979,690 1,644,330
(20,151) (14,655)
1,959,539 1,629,675
35,149 37,524
68,554 63,613
18,724 19,925
5,458 7,180
8,927 6,040
40,201 46,921
2,750,572 $ 2,383,274
456,778 $ 249,450
1,900,102 1,626,072
2,356,880 1,875,522
19,466 8,269
58,045 209,667
31,903 31,847
38,029 34,720
2,504,323 2,160,025
586 584
189,066 188,365
54,099 35,246
3,346 (480)
(848) (466)
246,249 223,249
2,750,572 $ 2,383,274
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Consolidated Statements of Income
ORRSTOWN FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)
Interest income
Loans
Investment securities - taxable
Investment securities - tax-exempt
Short term investments
Total interest income
Interest expense
Deposits
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
FHLB advances and other
Subordinated notes
Total interest expense

Net interest income
Provision for loan losses

Net interest income after provision for loan losses
Noninterest income
Service charges on deposit accounts
Interchange income
Other service charges, commissions and fees
Swap fee income
Trust and investment management income
Brokerage income
Mortgage banking activities
Gain on sale of portfolio loans
Income from life insurance
Investment securities (losses) gains
Other income

Total noninterest income
Noninterest expenses
Salaries and employee benefits
Occupancy
Furniture and equipment
Data processing
Automated teller and interchange fees
Advertising and bank promotions
FDIC insurance
Other professional services
Directors' compensation
Taxes other than income
Intangible asset amortization
Merger related and branch consolidation expenses
Insurance claim (recovery) receivable write-off
Other operating expenses

Total noninterest expenses

Income before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net income

Per share information:
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share
Dividends paid per share

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
87,492 $ 75,071 $ 50,632
10,458 14,538 10,858
1,566 2,054 3,850
115 1,331 327
99,631 92,994 65,667
12,009 19,310 10,228
85 623 81
1,924 1,779 3,128
2,006 1,987 73
16,024 23,699 13,510
83,607 69,295 52,157
5,325 900 800
78,282 68,395 51,357
2,874 3,404 3,233
3,423 3,281 2,821
683 805 907
847 1,197 —
6,912 7,255 6,576
2,821 2,426 2,035
5,274 3,047 2,663
2,803 — —
2,261 2,044 1,463
(16) 4,749 1,006
427 331 320
28,309 28,539 21,024
43,350 39,495 32,524
4,760 4,325 3,084
4,756 4,723 4,079
3,574 3,599 2,674
1,057 1,015 806
1,660 1,967 1,592
686 367 681
3,120 2,954 1,847
921 1,003 984
1,144 1,018 1,012
1,569 1,570 286
1,310 8,964 3,197
(486) 615 —
6,659 5,685 5,170
74,080 77,300 57,936
32,511 19,634 14,445
6,048 2,710 1,640
26,463 $ 16,924 3 12,805
242§ 163 $ 1.53
2.40 1.61 1.50
0.68 0.60 0.51
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
ORRSTOWN FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.

Years Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands) 2020 2019 2018
Net income $ 26,463 $ 16,924 § 12,805
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Unrealized gains (losses) on securities available for sale arising during the period 6,057 7,905 (6,359)
Reclassification adjustment for losses (gains) realized in net income 16 (4,749) (1,006)
Net unrealized gains (losses) on securities available for sale 6,073 3,156 (7,365)
Tax effect (1,275) (664) 1,548
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax and reclassification adjustments on
securities available for sale 4,798 2,492 (5,817)
Unrealized losses on interest rate swaps used in cash flow hedges (1,347) — —
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income 117 — —
Net unrealized losses on interest rate swaps used in cash flow hedges (1,230) — —
Tax effect 258 — —
Total other comprehensive loss, net of tax and reclassification adjustments on interest rate
swaps 972) — —
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax and reclassification adjustments 3,826 2,492 (5,817)
Total comprehensive income $ 30,289 $ 19,416 $ 6,988

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
ORRSTOWN FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.

Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018

Accumulated
Additional Other Total
Common Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Treasury Shareholders’
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) Stock Capital Earnings Income (Loss) Stock Equity
Balance, January 1, 2018 $ 435  § 125,458 § 16,042 2,845  § (15 $ 144,765
Net income — — 12,805 — — 12,805
Total other comprehensive loss, net of taxes — — — (5,817) — (5,817)
Cash dividends ($0.51 per share) — = (4,375) = — (4,375)
Issuance of stock (1,052,635 common shares) to acquire
Mercersburg Financial Corporation 55 24,998 — — — 25,053
Share-based compensation plans:
38,764 net common shares issued and 8,214 net
treasury shares acquired, including compensation
expense totaling $1,493 1 1,222 — — (221) 1,002
Balance, December 31, 2018 491 151,678 24,472 (2,972) (236) 173,433
Net income — — 16,924 — — 16,924
Total other comprehensive income, net of taxes — — — 2,492 — 2,492
Cash dividends ($0.60 per share) — — (6,150) — — (6,150)
Issuance of stock (1,765,704 common shares) to acquire
Hamilton Bancorp, Inc 92 36,530 — — — 36,622
Share-based compensation plans:
15,645 net common shares issued and 11,699 net
treasury shares acquired, including compensation
expense totaling $1,586 1 157 — — (230) (72)
Balance, December 31, 2019 584 188,365 35,246 (480) (466) 223,249
Net income — — 26,463 — — 26,463
Total other comprehensive income, net of taxes — — — 3,826 — 3,826
Cash dividends ($0.68 per share) — — (7,610) — — (7,610)
Share-based compensation plans:
36,442 net common shares issued and 34,999 net
treasury shares acquired, including compensation
expense totaling $2,092 2 701 — — (382) 321
Balance, December 31, 2020 $ 586 $ 189,066 $ 54,099 3,346 $ (848) $ 246,249

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
ORRSTOWN FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.

(Dollars in thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Net discount (accretion) premium amortization
Depreciation and amortization expense
Impairment of intangibles
Provision for loan losses
Share-based compensation
Gain on sales of loans originated for sale
Mortgage loans originated for sale
Proceeds from sales of loans originated for sale
Gain on sale of portfolio loans
Net loss (gain) on disposal of OREO
Writedown of OREO
Net loss on disposal of premises and equipment
Deferred income taxes
Investment securities losses (gains)
Gains on termination of rate swap
Income from life insurance
(Increase) decrease in accrued interest receivable
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest payable and other liabilities
Other, net
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sales of AFS securities
Maturities, repayments and calls of AFS securities
Purchases of AFS securities
Net cash and cash equivalents received from acquisitions
Net purchases of restricted investments in bank stocks
Net decrease (increase) in loans
Proceeds from sales of portfolio loans
Purchases of bank premises and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of OREO
Proceeds from sale of rate swap
Purchases of bank owned life insurance
Death benefit proceeds from life insurance contracts
Other
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in deposits

Net (decrease) increase n borrowings with original maturities less than 90 days

Proceeds from other short-term borrowings

Payments on other short-term borrowings

Proceeds from subordinated notes, net of issuance costs
Payment of subordinated notes issuance costs
Dividends paid

Acquisition of treasury stock

Treasury shares repurchased for employee taxes associated with restricted stock vesting
Proceeds from issuance of stock for option exercises and employee stock purchase plan

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
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Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
26,463 $ 16924 $ 12,805
(4,481) (2,547) 1,406

6,573 5,547 3,642
153 — —
5,325 900 800
2,092 1,586 1,493
(6,067) (2,613) (2,144)
(207,051) (112,568) (90,305)
208,987 108,885 94,727
(2,803) — (291)
152 (156) (108)

544 — 24

2 139 12
(1,973) 1,776 543
16 (4,749) (1,006)

(226) — —
(2,261) (2,044) (1,463)
(2,887) 1,248 (879)
953 (5,291) 2,696
6,660 2,053 535
30,171 9,090 22,487
= 199,429 156,364
56,239 33,265 18,373
(26,691) (190,530) (226,014)
— 29,442 12,407

5,621 (2,684) (592)
(349,947) (46,157) (99,828)
22,665 — 3,589
(1,303) (2,911) (4,791)
4,096 1318 1,413
218 — —
(3,636) (3,280) (900)
391 571 576

— — 7
(292,347) 18,463 (139,396)
481,277 (71,561) 178,798
(135,402) 115,800 (14,507)
126,599 20,000 25,000
(131,622) (116,776) (40,365)
— — 31,857

_ (59) _
(7,610) (6,150) (4,375)
(1,170) — —
(717) (1,772) (651)

116 113 160
331,471 (60,405) 175,917
69,295 (32,852) 59,008
55,963 88,815 29,807
125258 $ 55963 S 88,815
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(Dollars in thousands)
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest
Income taxes
Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and financing activities:
OREO acquired in settlement of loans
Premises and equipment transferred to held for sale
Lease liabilities arising from obtaining ROU assets

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Years Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
16,665 $ 24313  § 12,930
550 — 60
— 161 539
— 4,894 1,003
400 7,380
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(All dollar amounts presented in the tables, except share and per share amounts, are in thousands)

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

See the Glossary of Defined Terms at the beginning of this Report for terms used throughout the consolidated financial statements and related notes of this
Form 10-K.

Nature of Operations — Orrstown Financial Services, Inc. is a financial holding company that operates Orrstown Bank, a commercial bank with banking and
financial advisory offices in Berks, Cumberland, Dauphin, Franklin, Lancaster, Perry and York Counties, Pennsylvania, and in Anne Arundel, Baltimore, Howard
and Washington Counties, Maryland, as well as Baltimore City, Maryland. The Company operates in the community banking segment and engages in lending
activities, including commercial, residential, commercial mortgages, construction, municipal, and various forms of consumer lending, and deposit services,
including checking, savings, time, and money market deposits. The Company also provides fiduciary services, investment advisory, insurance and brokerage
services. Effective July 31, 2020, Wheatland Advisors, Inc., a registered investment advisor non-bank subsidiary, headquartered in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania
was discontinued. The Company and the Bank are subject to regulation by certain federal and state agencies and undergo periodic examinations by such regulatory
authorities.

Basis of Presentation — The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Orrstown Financial Services, Inc. and its wholly owned
subsidiary, the Bank. The accounting and reporting policies of the Company conform to GAAP and, where applicable, to accounting and reporting guidelines
prescribed by bank regulatory authorities. All significant intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated. Certain reclassifications have been made to
prior year amounts to conform with current year classifications. In October 2018, the Company acquired Mercersburg Financial Corporation and its wholly-owned
subsidiary, First Community Bank of Mercersburg, based in Mercersburg, Pennsylvania. In May 2019, the Company acquired Hamilton Bancorp, Inc., and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Hamilton Bank, based in Towson, Maryland. The results of operations and assets acquired and liabilities assumed from acquired entities
are included only from the date of acquisition. The comparability of the Company's results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2020, to 2019 and 2018
have been impacted by these acquisitions.

The Company's management has evaluated all activity of the Company and concluded that subsequent events are properly reflected in the Company's
consolidated financial statements and notes as required by GAAP.

To prepare financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, management makes estimates
and assumptions based on available information. These estimates and assumptions affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and the disclosures
provided, and actual results could differ.

Concentration of Credit Risk — The Company grants commercial, residential, construction, municipal, and various forms of consumer lending to clients
primarily in its market area in south central Pennsylvania and in the greater Baltimore region and Washington County, Maryland. Therefore, the Company's
exposure to credit risk is significantly affected by changes in the economy in those areas. Although the Company maintains a diversified loan portfolio, a
significant portion of its clients’ ability to honor their contracts is dependent upon economic sectors for commercial real estate, including office space, retail strip
centers, sales finance, sub-dividers and developers, and multi-family, hospitality, and residential building operators. Management evaluates each clients'
creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis. The amount of collateral obtained upon the extension of credit is based on management’s credit evaluation of the client.
Types of collateral held varies, but generally includes real estate and equipment.

The types of securities the Company invests in are included in Note 3, Securities Available for Sale, and the types of lending the Company engages in are
included in Note 4, Loans and Allowance for Loan Losses.

Cash and Cash Equivalents — Cash and cash equivalents include cash, balances due from banks, federal funds sold and interest-bearing deposits due on
demand, all of which have original maturities of 90 days or less. Net cash flows are reported for client loan and deposit transactions, loans held for sale, redemption
(purchases) of restricted investments in bank stocks, and short-term borrowings.

Cash and cash equivalents includes amounts that the Company is required to maintain on hand or on deposit at the Federal Reserve Bank to meet certain
regulatory reserve balance requirements. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had reserve requirements of zero and $9.2 million, respectively.

Balances with correspondent banks may, at times, exceed federally insured limits. The Company considers this to be a normal business risk and reviews the
financial condition of its correspondent banks on a quarterly basis.
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Restricted Investments in Bank Stocks — Restricted investments in bank stocks consist of Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia stock, FHLB of Pittsburgh
stock and Atlantic Community Bankers Bank stock. Federal law requires a member institution of the district Federal Reserve Bank and FHLB to hold stock
according to predetermined formulas. Atlantic Community Bankers Bank requires its correspondent banking institutions to hold stock as a condition of
membership. The restricted investment in bank stocks is carried at cost. On a quarterly basis, management evaluates the bank stocks for impairment based on
assessment of the ultimate recoverability of cost rather than by recognizing temporary declines in value. The determination of whether a decline affects the
ultimate recoverability of cost is influenced by criteria such as operating performance, liquidity, funding and capital positions, stock repurchase history, dividend
history, and impact of legislative and regulatory changes.

Securities — The Company typically classifies debt securities as available for sale on the date of purchase. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had
no held to maturity or trading securities. AFS securities are reported at fair value. Interest income and dividends on debt securities are recognized in interest
income on an accrual basis. Purchase premiums and discounts on debt securities are amortized to interest income using the interest method over the terms of the
securities and approximate the level yield method.

Changes in unrealized gains and losses, net of related deferred taxes, for AFS securities are recorded in AOCI. Realized gains and losses on securities are
recorded on the trade date using the specific identification method and are included in noninterest income on the consolidated statements of income.

AFS securities include investments that management intends to use as part of its asset/liability management strategy. Securities may be sold in response to
changes in interest rates, changes in prepayment rates and other factors. The Company does not have the intent to sell any of its AFS securities that are in an
unrealized loss position and it is more likely than not that the Company will not be required to sell these securities before recovery of their amortized cost.

Management evaluates securities for OTTI on at least a quarterly basis, and more frequently when economic or market conditions warrant such an
evaluation. For securities in an unrealized loss position, management considers the extent and duration of the unrealized loss, and the financial condition and near-
term prospects of the issuer. Management also assesses whether it intends to sell, or it is more likely than not that it will be required to sell, a security in an
unrealized loss position before recovery of its amortized cost basis. If either of the criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell is met, the entire difference
between amortized cost and fair value is recognized as an impairment through earnings. For debt securities that do not meet the aforementioned criteria, the
amount of impairment is split into two components: OTTI related to other factors, which is recognized in OCI, and the remaining OTTI, which is recognized in
earnings. The credit loss is defined as the difference between the present value of the cash flows expected to be collected and the amortized cost basis.

The Company’s securities are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate risk, market risk, and credit risk. Due to the level of risk associated with certain
investments and the level of uncertainty related to changes in the value of investments, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in risks in the near term would
materially affect investment assets reported in the consolidated financial statements.

Loans Held for Sale — Effective October 1, 2019, The Company adopted the fair value option on these loans which allows the Company to record the
mortgage loans held for sale portfolio at fair market value as opposed to the lower of cost or market. The Company economically hedges its residential loans held
for sale portfolio with forward sale agreements which are reported at fair value. A lower of cost or market accounting treatment would not allow the Company to
record the excess of the fair market value over book value but would require the Company to record the corresponding reduction in value on the hedges. Both the
loans and related hedges are carried at fair value which reduces earnings volatility as the amounts more closely offset, particularly in environments when interest
rates are declining. For loans held for sale for which the fair value option has been elected, the aggregate fair value exceeded the aggregate principal balance by
$436 thousand. There were no loans held for sale that were nonaccrual or 90 or more days past due as of December 31, 2020. In previous periods, loans originated
and intended for sale in the secondary market were carried at the lower of aggregate cost or fair value. Gains and losses on loan sales (sales proceeds minus
carrying value) are recorded in noninterest income. Interest income on these loans is recognized in interest and fees on loans in the consolidated statements of
operations.

Loans — Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or pay-off are reported at their outstanding
unpaid principal balances adjusted for charge-offs, the ALL, and any deferred fees or costs on originated loans. Interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal
balance. Loan origination fees, net of certain direct origination costs, are deferred and amortized as a yield adjustment over the respective term of the loan. For
purchased loans that are not deemed impaired at the acquisition date, premiums and discounts are amortized or accreted as adjustments to interest income using the
effective yield method.

For all classes of loans, the accrual of interest income on loans, including impaired loans, ceases when principal or interest is past due 90 days or more or
immediately if, in the opinion of management, full collection is unlikely. Interest will continue to
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accrue on loans past due 90 days or more if the collateral is adequate to cover principal and interest, and the loan is in the process of collection. Interest accrued,
but not collected, at the date of placement on nonaccrual status, is reversed and charged against interest income, unless fully collateralized. Subsequent payments
received are either applied to the outstanding principal balance or recorded as interest income, depending upon management’s assessment of the ultimate
collectability of principal. Loans are returned to accrual status, for all loan classes, when all the principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought
current, the loan has performed in accordance with the contractual terms of the note for a reasonable period of time, generally six months, and the ultimate
collectability of the total contractual principal and interest is reasonably assured. Past due status is based on the contractual terms of the loan.

Loans, the terms of which are modified, are classified as TDRs if a concession was granted in connection with the modification, for legal or economic
reasons, related to the debtor’s financial difficulties. Concessions granted under a TDR typically involve a temporary deferral of scheduled loan payments, an
extension of a loans' stated maturity date, a temporary reduction in interest rates, or granting of an interest rate below market rates given the risk of the transaction.
If a modification occurs while the loan is on accrual status, it will continue to accrue interest under the modified terms. Nonaccrual TDRs may be restored to
accrual status if scheduled principal and interest payments, under the modified terms, are current for six months after modification, and the borrower continues to
demonstrate its ability to meet the modified terms. TDRs are evaluated individually for impairment on a quarterly basis including monitoring of performance
according to their modified terms.

Allowance for Loan Losses — The ALL is evaluated on at least a quarterly basis, as losses are estimated to be probable and incurred, and, if deemed
necessary, is increased or decreased through the provision for loan losses on the consolidated statements of income. Loan losses are charged against the ALL when
management determines that all or a portion of the loan is uncollectible. Recoveries on previously charged-off loans are credited to the ALL when received. The
ALL is allocated to loan portfolio classes on a quarterly basis, but the entire balance is available to cover losses from any of the portfolio classes when those losses
are confirmed.

Management uses internal policies and bank regulatory guidance in periodically evaluating loans for collectability and incorporates historical experience, the
nature and volume of the loan portfolio, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to repay, estimated value of any underlying collateral and
prevailing economic conditions. This evaluation is inherently subjective as it requires estimates that are susceptible to significant revision as more information
becomes available.

See Note 4, Loans and Allowance for Loan Losses, for additional information.

Acquired Loans - Loans acquired in connection with business combinations are recorded at fair value with no carryover of any allowance for loan losses. Fair
value of the loans involves estimating the amount and timing of principal and interest cash flows expected to be collected on the loans and discounting those cash
flows at a market rate of interest.

The excess of cash flows expected at acquisition over the estimated fair value is referred to as the accretable discount and is recognized into interest income
over the remaining life of the loan. The difference between contractually required payments at acquisition and the cash flows expected to be collected at acquisition
is referred to as the nonaccretable discount. These loans are accounted for under ASC 310-30, Loans and Debt Securities Acquired with Deteriorated Credit
Quality ("ASC 310-30"). The nonaccretable discount includes estimated future credit losses expected to be incurred over the life of the loan. Subsequent decreases
in expected cash flows will require us to evaluate the need for an addition to the allowance for loan losses. Subsequent improvement in expected cash flows will
result in the reversal of a corresponding amount of the nonaccretable discount, which we will then reclassify as accretable discount to be recognized into interest
income over the remaining life of the loan.

Loans acquired through business combinations that do meet the specific criteria of ASC 310-30 are individually evaluated each period to analyze expected
cash flows. To the extent that the expected cash flows of a loan have decreased due to credit deterioration, the Company establishes an allowance.

Loans acquired through business combinations that do not meet the specific criteria of ASC 310-30 are accounted for under ASC 310-20, Receivables -
Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs. These loans are initially recorded at fair value, and include credit and interest rate marks associated with acquisition
accounting adjustments. Purchase premiums or discounts are subsequently amortized as an adjustment to yield over the estimated contractual lives of the loans.
There is no allowance for loan losses established at the acquisition date for acquired performing loans. An allowance for loan losses is recorded for any credit
deterioration in these loans subsequent to acquisition.

Acquired loans that meet the criteria for impairment or nonaccrual of interest prior to the acquisition may be considered performing upon acquisition,
regardless of whether the client is contractually delinquent if the Company expects to fully collect the new carrying value (i.e., fair value) of the loans. As such, the
Company may no longer consider the loan to be nonperforming and may accrue interest on these loans, including the impact of any accretable discount. In
addition, charge-offs on such loans would be first applied to the nonaccretable difference portion of the fair value adjustment.
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Loan Commitments and Related Financial Instruments — Financial instruments include off-balance sheet credit commitments issued to meet client financing
needs, such as commitments to make loans and commercial letters of credit. These financial instruments are recorded when they are funded. The face amount
represents the exposure to loss, before considering client collateral or ability to repay. The Company maintains a reserve for probable losses on off-balance sheet
commitments which is included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

Loans Serviced — The Bank administers secondary market mortgage programs available through the FHLB and the Federal National Mortgage Association
and offers residential mortgage products and services to clients. The Bank originates single-family residential mortgage loans for immediate sale in the secondary
market and retains the servicing of those loans. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the balance of loans serviced for others totaled $441.1 million and $360.1 million,
respectively.

Transfers of Financial Assets — Transfers of financial assets are accounted for as sales when control over the assets has been surrendered. Control over
transferred assets is deemed to be surrendered when (1) the assets have been isolated from the Company, (2) the transferee obtains the right (free of conditions that
constrain it from taking advantage of that right) to pledge or exchange the transferred assets, and (3) the Company does not maintain effective control over the
transferred assets through an agreement to repurchase them before their maturity.

Cash Surrender Value of Life Insurance — The Company has purchased life insurance policies on certain employees. Life insurance is recorded at the cash
surrender value adjusted for other charges or other amounts due that are probable at settlement.

Derivatives - FASB ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”), provides the disclosure requirements for derivatives and hedging activities with the
intent to provide users of financial statements with an enhanced understanding of: (a) how and why an entity uses derivative instruments, (b) how the entity
accounts for derivative instruments and related hedged items, and (c) how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity’s financial position,
financial performance, and cash flows. Further, qualitative disclosures are required that explain the Company’s objectives and strategies for using derivatives, as
well as quantitative disclosures about the fair value of and gains and losses on derivative instruments, and disclosures about credit-risk-related contingent features
in derivative instruments.

As required by ASC 815, the Company records all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of derivatives
depends on the intended use of the derivative, whether the Company has elected to designate a derivative in a hedging relationship and apply hedge accounting and
whether the hedging relationship has satisfied the criteria necessary to apply hedge accounting. Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to
changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or firm commitment attributable to a particular risk, such as interest rate risk, are considered fair value hedges.
Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows, or other types of forecasted transactions, are
considered cash flow hedges. Hedge accounting generally provides for the matching of the timing of gain or loss recognition on the hedging instrument with the
recognition of the changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk in a fair value hedge or the earnings effect of the
hedged forecasted transactions in a cash flow hedge.

The Company may enter into derivative contracts that are intended to economically hedge certain of its risk, even though hedge accounting does not apply or
the Company elects not to apply hedge accounting. The Company's objectives in using interest rate derivatives are to add stability to interest income and to manage
its exposure to interest rate movements. To accomplish this objective, the Company primarily uses interest rate swaps as part of its interest rate risk management
strategy. Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of fixed amounts from a counterparty in exchange for the Company making
variable-rate payments over the life of the agreements without exchange of the underlying notional amount. The Company may enter into derivative contracts that
are intended to economically hedge certain of its risk, even though hedge accounting does not apply or the Company elects not to apply hedge accounting.

Changes to the fair value of derivatives designated and that qualify as cash flow hedges are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income and are
subsequently reclassified into earnings in the period that the hedged transaction affects earnings. During 2020, such derivatives were used to hedge the variable
cash flows associated with overnight borrowings.

Derivatives not designated as hedges are not speculative and result from a service the Company provides to certain customers. The Company executes
interest rate swaps with commercial banking customers to facilitate their respective risk management strategies. Those interest rate swaps are simultaneously
hedged by offsetting derivatives that the Company executes with a third party, such that the Company minimizes its net risk exposure resulting from such
transactions. As the interest rate derivatives associated with this program do not meet the strict hedge accounting requirements, changes in the fair value of both the
customer derivatives and the offsetting derivatives are recognized directly in earnings.

Premises and Equipment — Buildings, improvements, equipment, furniture and fixtures are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Land is carried at cost. Depreciation and amortization has been recognized generally on the straight-line method and is computed over the estimated useful lives of
the various assets as follows: buildings
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and improvements, including leasehold improvements — 10 to 40 years; and furniture and equipment — 3 to 15 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over
the shorter of the lease term or the indicated life. Repairs and maintenance are charged to operations as incurred, while additions and improvements are typically
capitalized. Gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of individual assets is recorded as income or expense in the period of retirement or disposal. Premises no
longer in use and held for sale are included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets at the lower of carrying value or fair value and no depreciation is
charged on them. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, premises held for sale totaled $1.1 million and $5.2 million, respectively.

Leases - The Company evaluates its contracts at inception to determine if an arrangement is,or contains, a lease. Operating leases are included in operating
lease ROU assets in other assets and operating lease liabilities in accrued interest payable and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company had
no finance leases at December 31, 2020.

ROU assets represent the right to use an underlying asset for the lease term, and lease liabilities represent an obligation to make lease payments arising from
the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. The
Company's leases do not provide an implicit rate, so the Company's incremental borrowing rate is used, which approximates its fully collateralized borrowing rate,
based on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The incremental borrowing rate is reevaluated upon
lease modification. The operating lease ROU asset also includes any initial direct costs and prepaid lease payments made less any lease incentives. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Company may include options to extend the lease when it is reasonably certain that it will exercise that option.

In accordance with ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)” (“ASU 2016-02”), the Company keeps leases with an initial term of 12 months or less off of the
balance sheet. The Company recognizes these lease payments in the unaudited condensed consolidated statements of income on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. The Company has lease agreements with lease and non-lease components and has elected the practical expedient to account for them as a single lease
component.

The Company's operating leases relate primarily to bank branches and office space. Upon the adoption of ASU 2016-02 on January 1, 2019, operating lease
liabilities of $10.5 million and related lease assets of $7.5 million were recognized on the consolidated balance sheets. The difference between the lease assets and
lease liabilities primarily consists of deferred rent liabilities reclassified upon adoption to reduce the measurement of the lease assets. The standard did not
materially impact the Company's consolidated net income and had no impact on cash flows.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets — Goodwill is calculated as the purchase premium, if any, after adjusting for the fair value of net assets acquired in
purchase transactions. Goodwill is not amortized but is reviewed for potential impairment on at least an annual basis, with testing between annual tests if an event
occurs or circumstances change that could potentially reduce the fair value of a reporting unit. Other intangible assets represent purchased assets that can be
distinguished from goodwill because of contractual or other legal rights. The Company’s other intangible assets have finite lives and are amortized on either an
accelerated amortization method or straight line basis over their estimated lives, generally 10 years for deposit premiums and 10 to 15 years for other client
relationship intangibles.

Mortgage Servicing Rights — The estimated fair value of MSRs related to loans sold and serviced by the Company is recorded as an asset upon the sale of
such loans. MSRs are amortized as a reduction to servicing income over the estimated lives of the underlying loans. MSRs are evaluated periodically for
impairment by comparing the carrying amount to estimated fair value. Fair value is determined periodically through a discounted cash flow valuation performed by
a third party. Significant inputs to the valuation include expected servicing income, net of expense, the discount rate and the expected life of the underlying loans.
To the extent the amortized cost of the MSRs exceeds their estimated fair values, a valuation allowance is established for such impairment through a charge against
servicing income on the consolidated statements of income. If the Company determines, based on subsequent valuations, that the impairment no longer exists or is
reduced, the valuation allowance is reduced through a credit to earnings. MSRs totaled $2.8 million and $3.1 million at December 31, 2020 and December 31,
2019, respectively, and are included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.

Foreclosed Real Estate — Real estate acquired through foreclosure or other means is initially recorded at the fair value of the related real estate collateral at
the transfer date less estimated selling costs, and subsequently at the lower of its carrying value or fair value less estimated costs to sell. Fair value is determined
based on an independent third party appraisal of the property or, when appropriate, a recent sales offer. Costs to maintain such real estate are expensed as incurred.
Costs that significantly improve the value of the properties are capitalized. Real estate acquired through foreclosure or other means totaled zero and $197 thousand
at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and is included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.

Investments in Real Estate Partnerships — The Company has a 99% limited partner interest in several real estate partnerships in central Pennsylvania. These
investments are affordable housing projects, which entitle the Company to tax deductions and credits that expire through 2025. The Company accounts for its
investments in affordable housing projects
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under the proportional amortization method when the criteria are met, which is limited to one investment at December 31, 2020. Other investments are accounted
for under the equity method of accounting. The investment in these real estate partnerships, included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets, totaled $3.1
million and $3.6 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, of which $1.1 million and $1.3 million are accounted for under the proportional
amortization method.

Equity method losses totaled $299 thousand, $55 thousand and $331 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and are
included in other noninterest income on the consolidated income statements. Proportional amortization method losses totaled $214 thousand for the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, and are included in income tax expense on the consolidated income statements. During 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company
recognized federal tax credits from these projects totaling $460 thousand, $460 thousand and $578 thousand, respectively, which are included in income tax
expense on the consolidated income statements.

Advertising — The Company expenses advertising as incurred. Advertising expense totaled $392 thousand, $577 thousand and $418 thousand for the years
ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Repurchase Agreements — The Company enters into agreements under which it sells securities subject to an obligation to repurchase the same or similar
securities which are included in short-term borrowings on the consolidated balance sheets. Under these agreements, the Company may transfer legal control over
the assets but still retain effective control through an agreement that both entitles and obligates the Company to repurchase the assets. As a result, these repurchase
agreements are accounted for as collateralized financing arrangements (i.e., secured borrowings) and not as a sale and subsequent repurchase of securities. The
obligation to repurchase the securities is reflected as a liability on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets, while the securities underlying the repurchase
agreements remaining are reflected in AFS securities. The repurchase obligation and underlying securities are not offset or netted as the Company does not enter
into reverse repurchase agreements.

The right of setoff for a repurchase agreement resembles a secured borrowing, whereby the collateral would be used to settle the fair value of the repurchase
agreement should the Company be in default (e.g., fail to make an interest payment to the counterparty). For the repurchase agreements, the collateral is held by the
Company in a segregated custodial account under a third party agreement. Repurchase agreements are secured by GSE MBSs and mature overnight.

Share Compensation Plans — The Company has share compensation plans that cover employees and non-employee directors. Compensation expense relating
to share-based payment transactions is measured based on the grant date fair value of the share award, including a Black-Scholes model for stock options.
Compensation expense for all share awards is calculated and recognized over the employees’ or non-employee directors' service period, generally defined as the
vesting period.

Income Taxes — Income tax accounting guidance results in two components of income tax expense: current and deferred. Current income tax expense reflects
taxes to be paid or refunded for the current period by applying the provisions of enacted tax law to taxable income or excess of deductions over revenues. The
Company determines deferred income taxes using the liability (or balance sheet) method. Under this method, the net deferred tax asset or liability is based on the
tax effects of the differences between the book and tax bases of assets and liabilities, and enacted changes in tax rates and laws are recognized in the period in
which they occur.

Deferred income tax expense results from changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities between periods. Deferred tax assets are recognized if it is more likely
than not, based on the technical merits, that the tax position will be realized or sustained upon examination. The term more likely than not means a likelihood of
more than 50 percent; the terms examined and upon examination also include resolution of the related appeals or litigation processes, if any. A tax position that
meets the more likely than not recognition threshold is initially and subsequently measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that has a greater than 50 percent
likelihood of being realized upon settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. The determination of whether or not a tax
position has met the more likely than not recognition threshold considers the facts, circumstances, and information available at the reporting date and is subject to
management’s judgment. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, on income taxes as a component of income
tax expense.

Loss Contingencies — Loss contingencies, including claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business, are recorded as liabilities when the
likelihood of loss is probable and an amount or range of loss can be reasonably estimated.

Treasury Stock — Common stock shares repurchased are recorded as treasury stock, at cost on the consolidated balance sheets.

Earnings Per Share — Basic earnings per share represents income available to common stockholders divided by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period. Restricted stock awards are included in weighted average common shares outstanding as they are earned. Diluted earnings per
share includes additional common shares that
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would have been outstanding if dilutive potential common shares had been issued. Potential common shares that may be issued by the Company relate solely to
outstanding stock options and restricted stock awards and are determined using the treasury stock method.

Treasury shares are not deemed outstanding for earnings per share calculations.

Comprehensive Income — Comprehensive income consists of net income and OCI. Unrealized gains (losses) on securities available for sale and derivatives,
net of tax, were the components of AOCI at December 31, 2020. Unrealized gains(losses) on securities available for sale was the sole component of AOCI at
December 31, 2019.

Fair Value — Fair values of financial instruments are estimated using relevant market information and other assumptions, as more fully disclosed in the Fair
Value note to the consolidated financial statements. Fair value estimates involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment. Changes in assumptions or in
market conditions could significantly affect the estimates.

Segment Reporting — The Company operates in one segment — Community Banking. The Company’s non-community banking activities are insignificant to
the consolidated financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements - ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments ("ASU 2016-13"). The amendments in this update require an organization to measure all expected credit losses for financial assets held at the reporting
date based on historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Financial institutions and other organizations will use forward-
looking information to better inform their credit loss estimates. Many of the loss estimation techniques applied today will still be permitted, although the inputs to
those techniques will change to reflect the full amount of expected credit losses. Organizations will continue to use judgment to determine which loss estimation
method is appropriate for their circumstances. Additionally, the amendments in this update amend the accounting for credit losses on available-for-sale debt
securities and purchased financial assets with credit deterioration. For certain public companies, this update was effective for interim and annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2019. The Company delayed the adoption of ASU 2016-13 as noted below.

ASU No. 2019-10, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326), Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815), and Leases (Topic 842): Effective Dates ("ASU
2019-10"), extended the implementation deadline of ASU 2016-13 for smaller reporting and other companies until the fiscal year and interim periods beginning
after December 15, 2022. The Company meets the requirements to be considered a smaller reporting company under SEC Regulation S-K and SEC Rule 405, and
did not adopt ASU 2016-13 on January 1, 2020. The Company is evaluating the impact of the delay for adoption of ASU 2016-13, and is working with a third-
party vendor solution to assist with the application of ASU 2016-13 and finalizing the loss estimation models to be used. Once management determines which
methods will be utilized, a third party will be contracted to perform a model validation prior to adoption. While the Company anticipates the allowance for loan
losses will increase under its current assumptions, it expects the impact of adopting ASU 2016-13 will be influenced by the composition, characteristics and quality
of'its loan and securities portfolios, as well as general economic conditions and forecasts at the adoption date. The other provisions of ASU 2019-10 were not
applicable to the Company.

ASU 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment. The update simplifies how all entities assess
goodwill for impairment by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. As amended, the goodwill impairment test will consist of one step comparing
the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. An entity should recognize a goodwill impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount
exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value. The adoption of this guidance, effective January 1, 2020, did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated
financial statements.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial
Reporting ("ASU 2020-04"). ASU 2020-04 contains optional expedients and exceptions for applying generally accepted accounting principles to contract
modifications and hedging relationships, subject to meeting certain criteria, that reference LIBOR or another reference rate expected to be discontinued. The
optional expedients apply consistently to all contracts or transactions within the scope of this topic, while the optional expedients for hedging relationships can be
elected on an individual basis. The Company has formed a cross-functional working group to lead the transition from LIBOR to a planned adoption of an alternate
index. The Company plans to replace LIBOR with SOFR in its loan agreements. The Company is in the process of implementing fallback language for loans that
will mature after 2021. The Company expects to adopt the LIBOR transition relief allowed under this standard, and is currently evaluating the potential impact of
this guidance on its financial statements.
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NOTE 2. MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS AND BRANCH CONSOLIDATIONS
Mercersburg Financial Corporation

On October 1, 2018, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding common shares of Mercersburg Financial Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiary,
First Community Bank of Mercersburg, headquartered in Mercersburg, Pennsylvania. The Company issued 1,052,635 shares of its common stock and paid $4.9
million in cash for all outstanding shares of Mercersburg stock. Based on the Company's $23.80 closing stock price on Friday, September 28, 2018, the
consideration paid to acquire Mercersburg totaled $29.9 million.

The fair value of assets acquired, excluding goodwill, totaled $181.4 million, including loans totaling $141.1 million and investment securities available for
sale totaling $7.4 million. The fair value of liabilities assumed totaled $163.4 million, including deposits totaling $160.4 million. The Company recognized
$11.9 million in initial goodwill, representing consideration transferred in excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired in the Mercersburg acquisition. The
goodwill resulting from the acquisition represents the value expected from the expansion of our market in south central Pennsylvania and the enhancement of our
operations through client synergies and efficiencies, thereby providing enhanced client service.

The Mercersburg acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting and, accordingly, purchased assets, including identifiable
intangible assets, and assumed liabilities were recorded at their respective acquisition date fair values. The fair value measurements of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed were subject to refinement for up to one year after the closing date of the acquisition as additional information relative to closing date fair
values became available. No material measurement period adjustments were made in the year ended December 31, 2020. The results of operations for the
Company include Mercersburg's results from and after October 1, 2018.

Hamilton Bancorp, Inc.

On May 1, 2019, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding common shares of Hamilton Bancorp, Inc., and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Hamilton
Bank, based in Towson, Maryland. The Company acquired Hamilton to introduce our banking and financial services into the greater Baltimore area of Maryland.

Pursuant to the merger agreement, the Company issued 1,765,704 shares of its common stock and paid $14.2 million in cash for all outstanding shares of
Hamilton stock and options vesting upon acquisition. Based on the Company's closing stock price of $20.74 on Tuesday, April 30, 2019, the consideration paid to
acquire Hamilton totaled $50.8 million.

The fair value of assets acquired, excluding goodwill, totaled $494.0 million, including loans totaling $347.1 million. The fair value of liabilities assumed
totaled $449.4 million, including deposits totaling $388.2 million. Goodwill represents consideration transferred in excess of the fair value of the net assets
acquired. At May 1, 2019, the Company recognized $6.1 million in goodwill associated with the Hamilton acquisition. The goodwill resulting from the acquisition
represents the value expected from the expansion of our market in the greater Baltimore area and the enhancement of our operations through client synergies and
efficiencies, thereby providing enhanced client service. Goodwill acquired in the Hamilton acquisition is not deductible for tax purposes.

The Hamilton acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting and, accordingly, purchased assets, including identifiable intangible
assets, and assumed liabilities were recorded at their respective acquisition date fair values. The fair value measurements of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
are subject to refinement for up to one year after the closing date of the acquisition as additional information relative to closing date fair values becomes available.
The Company finalized the fair values of loans, intangible assets, other assets, income taxes and liabilities associated with Hamilton as of May 1, 2020.
Measurement period adjustments made from the date of acquisition through May 1, 2020 are summarized in Note 7 - Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. The
results of operations for the Company include Hamilton's results from and after May 1, 2019.
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The following table summarizes the consideration paid for Hamilton and the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
acquisition date.

Fair value of consideration transferred:

Cash $ 14,197
Common stock issued 36,622
Total consideration transferred $ 50,819

Estimated fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 43,140
Securities available for sale 60,882
Restricted investments in bank stocks 2,658
Loans 347,143
Premises and equipment 3,749
Core deposit intangible 4,550
Goodwill 6,132
Cash surrender value of life insurance 17,948
Deferred tax asset, net 7,257
ROU lease asset 2,793
Other assets 3,925
Total assets acquired $ 500,177
Deposits $ (388,246)
Borrowings (51,393)
Other liabilities 9,719)
Total liabilities assumed $ (449,358)

The determination of estimated fair values of the acquired loans required the Company to make certain estimates about discount rates, future expected cash
flows, market conditions and other future events that are highly subjective in nature. Based on such factors as past due status, nonaccrual status, bankruptcy status,
and credit risk ratings, the acquired loans were divided into loans with evidence of credit quality deterioration, which are accounted for under ASC 310-30
(purchased credit impaired), and loans that do not meet these criteria, which are accounted for under ASC 310-20 (purchased non-impaired). Expected cash flows,
both principal and interest, were estimated based on key assumptions covering such factors as prepayments, default rates and severity of loss given default. These
assumptions were developed using both Hamilton's historical experience and the portfolio characteristics as of the acquisition date as well as available market
research. The fair value estimates for acquired loans were based on the amount and timing of expected principal, interest and other cash flows, including expected
prepayments, discounted at prevailing market interest rates applicable to the types of acquired loans, which the Company considered to be level 3 fair value
measurements. Deposit liabilities assumed in the Hamilton acquisition were segregated into two categories: time-deposits (i.e., deposit accounts with a stated
maturity) and demand deposits, both using level 2 fair value measurements. In determining fair value of time deposits, the Company discounted the contractual
cash flows of the deposit accounts using prevailing market interest rates for time deposit accounts of similar type and duration. For demand deposits, the
acquisition date outstanding balance of the assumed demand deposit accounts approximates fair value. Acquisition date fair values for securities available for sale
were determined using Level 1 or Level 2 inputs consistent with the methods discussed further in Note 20 - Fair Value. The remaining acquisition date fair values
represent either Level 2 or Level 3 fair value measurements (premises and equipment and core deposit intangible).

The Company recognized a core deposit intangible of $4.6 million, which is being amortized using an accelerated method over a 10-year amortization period,
consistent with expected future cash flows.

Loans acquired from Hamilton were measured at fair value at the acquisition date with no carryover of any ALL. Loans were segregated into those loans
considered to be performing and those considered PCI. The following table presents performing and PCI loans acquired, by loan class, at May 1, 2019.
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Upon completion of the Hamilton acquisition, the Company sold the acquired investment portfolio and paid off acquired borrowings at the indicated fair

value amounts in conjunction with its asset/liability management strategies.

Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied
Non-owner occupied
Multi-family
Acquisition and development:
1-4 family residential construction
Commercial and land development
Commercial and industrial
Residential mortgage:
First lien
Home-equity - term
Home equity - lines of credit
Installment and other loans

Total loans acquired

The following table presents the fair value adjustments made to the amortized cost basis of loans acquired at May 1, 2019.

Gross amortized cost basis at acquisition
Market rate adjustment

Credit fair value adjustment on non-credit impaired loans
Credit fair value adjustment on impaired loans

Estimated fair value of acquired loans

Performing PCI Total
42,148 $ 5,894 48,042
45,401 770 46,171
10,773 — 10,773
7,450 — 7,450
4,528 — 4,528
32,316 1,914 34,230
152,657 10,494 163,151
4,478 1 4,479
13,657 — 13,657
14,467 195 14,662
327,875 $ 19,268 347,143
$ 362,125
(5,309)
(3,947)
(5,726)
$ 347,143

The market rate adjustment represents the movement in market interest rates, irrespective of credit adjustments, compared to the contractual rates of the
acquired loans. The credit fair value adjustment made on non-credit impaired loans represents the changes in credit quality of the underlying borrowers from loan
inception to the acquisition date. The credit fair value adjustment on PCI loans is derived in accordance with ASC 310-30 and represents the portion of the loan

balance that has been deemed uncollectible based on our expectations of future cash flows for each respective loan.

The following table provides information about acquired PCI loans at May 1, 2019.

Contractually required principal and interest at acquisition
Contractual cash flows not expected to be collected (nonaccretable discount)

Expected cash flows at acquisition

Interest component of expected cash flows (accretable discount)

Estimated fair value of acquired PCI loans

31,599
(8,834)

22,765
(3,497)

19,268

Unaudited pro forma net income for the year ended December 31, 2019, would have totaled $20.9 million, and revenues would have totaled $102.5 million

for the same period had the Hamilton acquisitions occurred January 1, 2019.

In connection with the Mercersburg and Hamilton acquisitions, the Company incurred merger related expenses. Mercersburg related merger expenses totaled
$280 thousand during the year ended December 31, 2019. which is included in merger related and branch consolidation expenses on the consolidated statements of

income. For December 31, 2019, the
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expenses consisted primarily of $81 thousand of investment banking, legal and consulting fees; and $199 thousand of information systems expense, including
canceling of contracts. Hamilton related merger expenses totaled $7.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, which is included in merger related and
branch consolidation expenses on the consolidated statements of income. For December 31, 2019, these expenses consisted primarily $1.9 million of investment
banking, legal and consulting fees; $3.7 million of information systems expense, including canceling of contracts; and $2.2 million of other expenses, including
payout of employee termination contracts.

Branch Consolidation

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized charges associated with the consolidation of six branch locations, the discontinuance of
three loan production offices, a reduction in back-office real estate and staffing model adjustments. These actions were initiated due to evolving client preferences
for the digital delivery of products and services. In addition, the anticipated future cost reductions resulting from these actions will prepare the Company for a
challenging operating environment in 2021. A charge of $1.6 million was recorded in the year ended December 31, 2020, which included $1.3 million related to
branch consolidations.

In October, 2019, the Company announced the consolidation of five branches in Franklin and Perry Counties, Pennsylvania, into other, larger branches of the
Bank, as part of its ongoing evaluation of branch profitability. The Company also announced the sale/leaseback of an operations center facility to eliminate
approximately 50,000 square feet of excess back office space. The branch consolidations were completed in January 2020, and the sale of the operations center
facility was completed in the second quarter of 2020.

In conjunction with the consolidation and operations center facility sale/leaseback, the Company recorded $988 thousand in expenses in the fourth quarter of
2019, consisting of $762 thousand in fixed asset write downs, $126 thousand in lease termination costs, and $100 thousand in severance and other costs. At
December 31, 2019, fixed assets included in this consolidation, with an estimated fair value of $4.9 million, were held for sale and carried in other assets on the
consolidated balances sheets.

NOTE 3. INVESTMENT SECURITIES

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, all investment securities were classified as AFS. The following table summarizes amortized cost and fair value of AFS
securities, and the corresponding amounts of gross unrealized gains and losses recognized in AOCI at December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

December 31, 2020
States and political subdivisions $ 104,704 $ 9,091 $ 1,125 § 112,670
GSE residential MBSs 4,197 96 — 4,293
GSE residential CMOs 56,856 2,226 1,071 58,011
Non-agency CMOs 16,505 413 — 16,918
Private label commercial CMOs 63,941 57 1,762 62,236
Asset-backed 214,425 171 2,630 211,966
Other 371 — — 371

Totals $ 460,999 $ 12,054 $ 6,588 $ 466,465
December 31, 2019
States and political subdivisions $ 83,607 $ 4,288 $ 32 $ 87,363
GSE residential CMOs 67,928 1,000 774 68,154
Non-agency CMOs 17,210 123 17,087
Private label commercial CMOs 86,704 156 231 86,629
Asset-backed 235,406 138 5,029 230,515
Other 637 — — 637

Totals $ 491,492 $ 5582 § 6,189 §$ 490,885
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The following table summarizes investment securities with unrealized losses at December 31, 2020 and 2019, aggregated by major security type and
length of time in a continuous unrealized loss position.

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or More Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
# of Securities Value Losses # of Securities Value Losses # of Securities Value Losses

December 31, 2020
States and political subdivisions 1 3 9,079 $ 1,125 — 8 — 3 — 1 3 9,079 $ 1,125
GSE residential CMOs 3 23,954 1,071 — — — 3 23,954 1,071
Private label commercial CMOs 1 4,314 685 10 42,403 1,077 11 46,717 1,762
Asset-backed 2 16,921 12 15 183,161 2,618 17 200,082 2,630

Totals 7 $ 54268 $ 2,893 25 § 225,564 § 3,695 32§ 279832 $ 6,588
December 31, 2019
States and political subdivisions 1 3 6,173 $ 32 — 8 0 $ 0 1 3 6,173  $ 32
GSE residential CMOs 5 37,158 309 1 11,602 465 6 48,760 774
Non-agency CMOs 1 17,087 123 — — — 1 17,087 123
Private label commercial CMOs 6 26,079 67 8 39,726 164 14 65,805 231
Asset-backed 9 92,189 1,145 9 121,399 3,884 18 213,588 5,029

Totals 22 $ 178,686 $ 1,676 18 § 172,727  $ 4,513 40 $ 351413 $ 6,189

The Company determines whether unrealized losses are temporary in nature in accordance with FASB ASC 320-10, Investments - Overall, (“FASB ASC
320-10”) and FASB ASC 325-40, Investments — Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial Assets, when applicable. The evaluation is based upon factors such as
the creditworthiness of the underlying borrowers, performance of the underlying collateral, if applicable, and the level of credit support in the security structure.
Management also evaluates other factors and circumstances that may be indicative of an OTTI condition. This includes, but is not limited to, an evaluation of the
type of security, length of time and extent to which the fair value has been less than cost and near-term prospects of the issuer.

FASB ASC 320-10 requires the Company to assess if an OTTI exists by considering whether the Company has the intent to sell the security or it is more
likely than not that it will be required to sell the security before recovery. If either of these situations applies, the guidance requires the Company to record an OTTI
charge to earnings on debt securities for the difference between the amortized cost basis of the security and the fair value of the security. If neither of these
situations applies, the Company is required to assess whether it is expected to recover the entire amortized cost basis of the security. If the Company is not
expected to recover the entire amortized cost basis of the security, the guidance requires the Company to bifurcate the identified OTTI into a credit loss component
and a component representing loss related to other factors. A discount rate is applied which equals the effective yield of the security. The difference between the
present value of the expected flows and the amortized book value is considered a credit loss, which would be recorded through earnings as an OTTI charge. When
a market price is not readily available, the market value of the security is determined using the same expected cash flows; the discount rate is a rate the Company
determines from the open market and other sources as appropriate for the security. The difference between the market value and the present value of cash flows
expected to be collected is recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss on the consolidated statements of financial condition.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had no cumulative OTTI. There were no OTTI charges recognized in earnings as a result of credit losses on
investments in the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. During the year ended December 31, 2020, unrealized losses were substantially higher due to
market uncertainty brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic. The sudden and desperate need for liquidity from many institutional pools of capital combined with
the global economic implications of the COVID-19 pandemic caused significant widening of spreads.

State and Political Subdivisions. The unrealized losses presented in the table above have been caused by a widening of spreads and/or a rise in interest rates
from the time these securities were purchased. Management considers the investment rating, the state of the issuer of the security and other credit support in
determining whether the security is OTTI. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, management concluded that an OTTI did not exist on any of the aforementioned
securities based upon its assessment. Management also concluded that it does not intend to sell nor will it be required to sell the securities, before their recovery,
which may be maturity, and management expects to recover the entire amortized cost basis of these securities.
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GSE Residential CMOs. The unrealized losses presented in the table above have been caused by a widening of spreads and/or a rise in interest rates from the
time these securities were purchased. The contractual terms of these securities do not permit the issuer to settle the securities at a price less than its par value basis.
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, management concluded that an OTTI did not exist on any of the aforementioned securities based upon its assessment.
Management also concluded that it does not intend to sell nor will it be required to sell the securities, before their recovery, which may be maturity, and
management expects to recover the entire amortized cost basis of these securities.

Non-agency CMOs. The unrealized losses presented in the table above were caused by a widening of spreads and/or a rise in interest rates from the time the
securities were purchased. As of December 31, 2019, management concluded that an OTTI did not exist on any of the aforementioned securities based upon its
assessment. Management also concluded that it does not intend to sell nor will it be required to sell the securities, before their recovery, which may be maturity,
and management expects to recover the entire amortized cost basis of these securities.

Private Label Commercial CMOs and Asset-backed. The unrealized losses presented in the table above have been caused by a widening of spreads from the
time the securities were purchased. Management considers the investment rating and other credit support in determining whether a security is other-than-
temporarily impaired. Because the Company does not intend to sell these securities and it is not more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell them
before recovery of their amortized cost basis, which may be maturity, the Company does not consider these securities to be OTTI at December 31, 2020 and 2019.

The following table summarizes amortized cost and fair value of investment securities by contractual maturity at December 31, 2020. Expected maturities
may differ from contractual maturities if borrowers have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. Securities not due at a
single maturity date are shown separately.

Amortized Cost Fair Value

Due in one year or less $ — 8 —
Due after one year through five years 249 249
Due after five years through ten years 27,419 29,709
Due after ten years 77,407 83,083
CMOs and MBSs 141,499 141,458
Asset-backed 214,425 211,966

$ 460,999 $ 466,465

The following table summarizes proceeds from sales of investment securities and gross gains and gross losses for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019
and 2018.

2020 2019 2018
Proceeds from sale of investment securities $ — 3 199,429 § 156,364
Gross gains — 4,974 1,681
Gross losses 16 225 675

During the year ended December 31, 2020, a loss of $16 thousand was recorded to adjust an equity security to market value, compared to net investment
security gains of $4.7 million and $1.0 million for years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. Investment securities with a fair value of $398.7 million and $158.7
million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, were pledged to secure public funds and for other purposes as required or permitted by law.

NOTE 4. LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES

The Company’s loan portfolio is grouped into classes to allow management to monitor the performance by the borrower and to monitor the yield on the
portfolio. Consistent with ASU 2010-20, Disclosures about the Credit Quality of Financing Receivables and the Allowance for Loan Losses, the segments are
further broken down into classes to allow for differing risk characteristics within a segment.

The risks associated with lending activities differ among the various loan classes and are subject to the impact of changes in interest rates, market conditions
of collateral securing the loans, and general economic conditions. All of these factors may adversely impact both the borrower’s ability to repay its loans and
associated collateral.

The Company has various types of commercial real estate loans, which have differing levels of credit risk. Owner occupied commercial real estate loans are
generally dependent upon the successful operation of the borrower’s business, with
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the cash flows generated from the business being the primary source of repayment of the loan. If the business suffers a downturn in sales or profitability, the
borrower’s ability to repay the loan could be in jeopardy.

Non-owner occupied and multi-family commercial real estate loans and non-owner occupied residential loans present a different credit risk to the Company
than owner occupied commercial real estate loans, as the repayment of the loan is dependent upon the borrower’s ability to generate a sufficient level of occupancy
to produce rental income that exceeds debt service requirements and operating expenses. Lower occupancy or lease rates may result in a reduction in cash flows,
which hinders the ability of the borrower to meet debt service requirements, and may result in lower collateral values. The Company generally recognizes that
greater risk is inherent in these credit relationships as compared to owner occupied loans mentioned above.

Acquisition and development loans consist of 1-4 family residential construction and commercial and land development loans. The risk of loss on these loans
is largely dependent on the Company’s ability to assess the property’s value at the completion of the project, which should exceed the property’s construction
costs. During the construction phase, a number of factors could potentially negatively impact the collateral value, including cost overruns, delays in completing the
project, competition, and real estate market conditions which may change based on the supply of similar properties in the area. In the event the collateral value at
the completion of the project is not sufficient to cover the outstanding loan balance, the Company must rely upon other repayment sources, if any, including the
guarantors of the project or other collateral securing the loan.

Commercial and industrial loans include advances to local and regional businesses for general commercial purposes and include permanent and short-term
working capital, machinery and equipment financing, and may be either in the form of lines of credit or term loans. Although commercial and industrial loans may
be unsecured to our highest-rated borrowers, the majority of these loans are secured by the borrower’s accounts receivable, inventory and machinery and
equipment. In a significant number of these loans, the collateral also includes the business real estate or the business owner’s personal real estate or assets.
Commercial and industrial loans present credit exposure to the Company, as they are more susceptible to risk of loss during a downturn in the economy as
borrowers may have greater difficulty in meeting their debt service requirements and the value of the collateral may decline. The Company attempts to mitigate
this risk through its underwriting standards, including evaluating the creditworthiness of the borrower and, to the extent available, credit ratings on the business.
Additionally, monitoring of the loans through annual renewals and meetings with the borrowers are typical. However, these procedures cannot eliminate the risk of
loss associated with commercial and industrial lending. At December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, commercial and industrial loans include $403.3 million
and $0, respectively, of loans, net of deferred fees and costs, originated through the U.S. Small Business Administration Paycheck Protection Program ("SBA
PPP").

Municipal loans consist of extensions of credit to municipalities and school districts within the Company’s market area. These loans generally present a lower
risk than commercial and industrial loans, as they are generally secured by the municipality’s full taxing authority, by revenue obligations, or by its ability to raise
assessments on its clients for a specific utility.

The Company originates loans to its retail clients, including fixed-rate and adjustable first lien mortgage loans with the underlying 1-4 family owner occupied
residential property securing the loan. The Company’s risk exposure is minimized in these types of loans through the evaluation of the creditworthiness of the
borrower, including credit scores and debt-to-income ratios, and underwriting standards which limit the loan-to-value ratio to generally no more than 80% upon
loan origination, unless the borrower obtains private mortgage insurance.

Home equity loans, including term loans and lines of credit, present a slightly higher risk to the Company than 1-4 family first liens, as these loans can be
first or second liens on 1-4 family owner occupied residential property, but can have loan-to-value ratios of no greater than 90% of the value of the real estate taken
as collateral. The creditworthiness of the borrower is considered including credit scores and debt-to-income ratios.

Installment and other loans’ credit risk are mitigated through prudent underwriting standards, including evaluation of the creditworthiness of the borrower
through credit scores and debt-to-income ratios and, if secured, the collateral value of the assets. These loans can be unsecured or secured by assets the value of
which may depreciate quickly or may fluctuate, and may present a greater risk to the Company than 1-4 family residential loans.

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security (“CARES”) Act was enacted. The CARES Act established the SBA PPP. The SBA
PPP is intended to provide economic relief to small businesses nationwide adversely impacted under the COVID-19 Emergency Declaration issued on March 13,
2020. The SBA PPP, which began on April 3, 2020, provides small businesses with funds to cover up to 24 weeks of payroll costs and other expenses, including
benefits. It also provides for forgiveness of up to the full principal amount of qualifying loans. The Bank closed and funded almost 2,700 PPP loans for a total loan
amount of $409.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2020. As these loans are 100% guaranteed by the SBA, there is no associated allowance for loan losses
at December 31, 2020. These loans resulted in net fee income of $13.5 million to be recognized through net interest income over the life of the loans, which is
between two and five years.
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During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized $7.7 million of net deferred SBA PPP fees, included in interest income on loans on the
condensed consolidated statements of income. At December 31, 2020, the Bank had $5.8 million of unrecognized SBA PPP net deferred fees. The timing of the
recognition of these fees is dependent upon the forgiveness process established by the SBA. The Bank continues to closely monitor the SBA guidance regarding
this process. The Bank is working on implementing the SBA's recently announced, streamlined forgiveness approval process, which is anticipated to make the
forgiveness process easier for both borrowers and lenders.

In an effort to assist clients which were negatively impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Bank offered various mitigation options, including a loan
payment deferral program. Under this program, most commercial deferrals were for a 90-day period, while most consumer deferrals were for a 180-day period.
Commercial and consumer deferrals totaled $15.7 million and $2.5 million, respectively, at December 31, 2020. In accordance with the revised Interagency
Statement on Loan Modifications by Financial Institutions Working with Customers Affected by the Coronavirus issued on April 7, 2020, these deferrals are
exempt from TDR status as they meet the specified requirements. In addition, modifications pursuant to the CARES Act do not represent TDRs.

The following table presents the loan portfolio by segment and class, excluding residential LHFS, at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

2020 2019

Commercial real estate:

Owner-occupied $ 174,908 $ 170,884

Non-owner occupied 409,567 361,050

Multi-family 113,635 106,893

Non-owner occupied residential 114,505 120,038
Acquisition and development:

1-4 family residential construction 9,486 15,865

Commercial and land development 51,826 41,538
Commercial and industrial () 647,368 214,554
Municipal 20,523 47,057
Residential mortgage:

First lien 244,321 336,372

Home equity — term 10,169 14,030

Home equity — lines of credit 157,021 165,314
Installment and other loans 26,361 50,735
Total loans $ 1,979,690 $ 1,644,330

() This balance includes $403.3 million and $0 of SBA PPP loans, net of deferred fees and costs, at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.

In order to monitor ongoing risk associated with its loan portfolio and specific loans within the segments, management uses an internal grading system. The
first several rating categories, representing the lowest risk to the Bank, are combined and given a “Pass” rating. Management generally follows regulatory
definitions in assigning criticized ratings to loans, including "Special Mention," "Substandard," "Doubtful" or "Loss." The Special Mention category includes loans
that have potential weaknesses that may, if not monitored or corrected, weaken the asset or inadequately protect the Bank's position at some future date. These
assets pose elevated risk, but their weakness does not yet justify a more severe, or classified rating. Substandard loans are classified as they have a well-defined
weakness, or weaknesses that jeopardize liquidation of the debt. These loans are characterized by the distinct possibility that the Bank will sustain some loss if the
deficiencies are not corrected. Substandard loans include loans that management has determined not to be impaired, as well as loans considered to be impaired. A
Doubtful loan has a high probability of total or substantial loss, but because of specific pending events that may strengthen the asset, its classification as Loss is
deferred. Loss loans are considered uncollectible, as the borrowers are often in bankruptcy, have suspended debt repayments, or have ceased business operations.
Once a loan is classified as Loss, there is little prospect of collecting the loan’s principal or interest and it is charged-off.
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The following summarizes the Company’s loan portfolio ratings based on its internal risk rating system at December 31, 2020 and 2019:

December 31, 2020
Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied
Non-owner occupied
Multi-family
Non-owner occupied residential
Acquisition and development:
1-4 family residential construction
Commercial and land development
Commercial and industrial
Municipal
Residential mortgage:
First lien
Home equity — term
Home equity — lines of credit
Installment and other loans

December 31, 2019
Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied
Non-owner occupied
Multi-family
Non-owner occupied residential
Acquisition and development:
1-4 family residential construction
Commercial and land development
Commercial and industrial
Municipal
Residential mortgage:
First lien
Home equity — term
Home equity — lines of credit
Installment and other loans

Special Non-Impaired Impaired -

Pass Mention Substandard Substandard Doubtful PCI Loans Total

148,846 12,491 § 7,855 $ 3,260 $ — 8 2,456 $ 174,908
351,860 57,378 — — — 329 409,567
92,769 20,224 642 — — — 113,635
107,557 3,948 1,422 268 — 1,310 114,505
9,101 385 — — — — 9,486
49,832 655 525 814 — — 51,826
617,213 17,561 6,118 3,639 — 2,837 647,368
20,523 — — — — — 20,523
236,381 — — 2,628 — 5,312 244,321
10,076 — 64 10 — 19 10,169
156,264 95 54 608 — — 157,021
26,283 — — 17 — 61 26,361
1,826,705 112,737 $ 16,680 $ 11,244  § — $ 12,324 § 1,979,690
151,161 4513 $ 3,163 § 5872 §$ — | 9 6,175 $ 170,884
342,753 17,152 — — — 1,145 361,050
100,361 4,822 682 345 — 683 106,893
111,697 4,534 1,115 235 — 2,457 120,038
15,865 — — — — — 15,865
39,939 206 1,393 — — — 41,538
198,951 1,133 8,899 1,763 — 3,808 214,554
42,649 4,408 — — — — 47,057
323,040 978 — 2,590 — 9,764 336,372
13,774 74 149 13 — 20 14,030
164,469 74 38 733 — — 165,314
50,497 — — 85 — 153 50,735

1,555,156 37,894 § 15,439 $ 11,636 $ — $ 24205 § 1,644,330
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For commercial real estate, acquisition and development, and commercial and industrial loans, a loan is considered impaired when, based on current
information and events, it is probable that the Company will be unable to collect the scheduled payments of principal or interest when due according to the
contractual terms of the loan agreement. Factors considered by management in determining impairment include payment status, collateral value, and the
probability of collecting scheduled principal and interest payments when due. Loans that experience insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls generally
are not classified as impaired. Generally, loans that are more than 90 days past due are deemed impaired. Management determines the significance of payment
delays and payment shortfalls on a case-by-case basis, taking into consideration all of the circumstances surrounding the loan and the borrower, including the
length of the delay, the reasons for the delay, the borrower’s prior payment record, and the amount of the shortfall in relation to the principal and interest owed to
determine if the loan should be placed on nonaccrual status. Nonaccrual loans in the commercial and commercial real estate portfolios and any TDRs are, by
definition, deemed to be impaired. Impairment is measured on a loan-by-loan basis for commercial, construction and restructured loans by either the present value
of the expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate, the loan’s obtainable market price, or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is
collateral dependent. A loan is collateral dependent if the repayment of the loan is expected to be provided solely by the underlying collateral. For loans that are
deemed to be impaired for extended periods of time, periodic updates on fair values are obtained, which may include updated appraisals. Updated fair values are
incorporated into the impairment analysis in the next reporting period.

Loan charge-offs, which may include partial charge-offs, are taken on an impaired loan that is collateral dependent if the loan’s carrying balance exceeds its
collateral’s appraised value, the loan has been identified as uncollectible, and it is deemed to be a confirmed loss. Typically, impaired loans with a charge-off or
partial charge-off will continue to be considered impaired, unless the note is split into two and management expects the performing note to continue to perform and
the loan is adequately secured. The second, or non-performing note, would be charged-off. Generally, an impaired loan with a partial charge-off may continue to
have an impairment reserve on it after the partial charge-off, if factors warrant.

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, nearly all of the Company’s loan impairments were measured based on the estimated fair value of the collateral securing the
loan, except for TDRs. By definition, TDRs are considered impaired. All TDR impairment analyses are initially based on discounted cash flows for those loans.
For real estate loans, collateral generally consists of commercial real estate, but in the case of commercial and industrial loans, it could also consist of accounts
receivable, inventory, equipment or other business assets. Commercial and industrial loans may also have real estate collateral.

Updated appraisals are generally required every 18 months for classified commercial loans in excess of $250 thousand. The “as is" value provided in the
appraisal is often used as the fair value of the collateral in determining impairment, unless circumstances, such as subsequent improvements or approvals, dictate
that another value provided by the appraiser is more appropriate.

Generally, impaired commercial loans secured by real estate, other than new and performing TDRs, are measured at fair value using certified real estate
appraisals that had been completed within the last 18 months. Appraised values are discounted for estimated costs to sell the property and other selling
considerations to arrive at the property’s fair value. In those situations, in which it is determined an updated appraisal is not required for loans individually
evaluated for impairment, fair values are based on either an existing appraisal or a discounted cash flow analysis as determined by management. The approaches
are discussed below:

«  Existing appraisal — if the existing appraisal provides a strong loan-to-value ratio (generally 70% or lower) and, after consideration of market conditions
and knowledge of the property and area, it is determined by the Credit Administration staff that there has not been a significant deterioration in the
collateral value, the existing certified appraised value may be used. Discounts to the appraised value, as deemed appropriate for selling costs, are
factored into the fair value.

*  Discounted cash flows — in limited cases, discounted cash flows may be used on projects in which the collateral is liquidated to reduce the borrowings
outstanding, and is used to validate collateral values derived from other approaches.

Collateral on certain impaired loans is not limited to real estate, and may consist of accounts receivable, inventory, equipment or other business assets.
Estimated fair values may be determined based on borrowers’ financial statements, inventory ledgers, accounts receivable agings or appraisals from individuals
with knowledge in the business. Stated balances are generally discounted for the age of the financial information or the quality of the assets. In determining fair
value, liquidation discounts are applied to this collateral based on existing loan valuation policies.

The Company distinguishes substandard loans on both an impaired and non-impaired basis, as it places less emphasis on a loan’s classification, and increased
reliance on whether the loan was performing in accordance with the contractual terms. A substandard classification does not automatically meet the definition of
impaired. Loss potential, while existing in the aggregate amount of substandard loans, does not have to exist in individual extensions of credit classified as
substandard. As a result, the
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Company’s methodology includes an evaluation of certain accruing commercial real estate, acquisition and development, and commercial and industrial loans
rated substandard to be collectively evaluated for impairment. Although the Company believes these loans meet the definition of substandard, they are generally
performing and management has concluded that it is likely the Company will be able to collect the scheduled payments of principal and interest when due
according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement.

Larger groups of smaller balance homogeneous loans are collectively evaluated for impairment. Generally, the Company does not separately identify
individual consumer and residential loans for impairment disclosures, unless such loans are the subject of a restructuring agreement due to financial difficulties of

the borrower.

The following table, which excludes PCI loans, summarizes impaired loans by segment and class, segregated by those for which a specific allowance was
required and those for which a specific allowance was not required at December 31, 2020 and 2019. The recorded investment in loans excludes accrued interest
receivable due to insignificance. Related allowances established generally pertain to those loans in which loan forbearance agreements were in the process of being
negotiated or updated appraisals were pending and any partial charge-off will be recorded when final information is received.

December 31, 2020
Commercial real estate:

Owner-occupied

Non-owner occupied residential
Acquisition and development:

Commercial and land development
Commercial and industrial
Residential mortgage:

First lien

Home equity—term

Home equity—Tlines of credit
Installment and other loans

December 31, 2019
Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied
Multi-family
Non-owner occupied residential
Commercial and industrial
Residential mortgage:
First lien
Home equity—term
Home equity—Ilines of credit
Installment and other loans

Impaired Loans with a Specific Allowance

Impaired Loans with No Specific Allowance

Recorded Unpaid Recorded Unpaid
Investment Principal Balance Investment Principal Balance
(Book Balance) (Legal Balance) Allowance (Book Balance) (Legal Balance)
— — — 3,260 4,091
— — — 268 393
— — — 814 875
— — — 3,639 4,269
424 508 33 2,204 3,264
— — — 10 13
— — — 608 832
— — — 17 18
424 508 33 10,820 13,755
— — — 5,872 8,086
— — — 345 569
— — — 235 422
— — — 1,763 3,361
425 425 36 2,165 3,164
— — — 13 15
— — — 733 1,077
— — — 85 97
425 425 36 11,211 16,791
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The following table, which excludes PCI loans, summarizes the average recorded investment in impaired loans and related recognized interest income for the
years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

2020 2019 2018
Average Interest Average Interest Average Interest
Impaired Income Impaired Income Impaired Income
Balance Recognized Balance Recognized Balance Recognized
Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied $ 4,636 $ 1 S 2455 §$ 2 1,495 § 2
Non-owner occupied 83 — 46 — 1,842 —
Multi-family 205 — 152 — 148 —
Non-owner occupied residential 388 — 217 — 346 —
Acquisition and development:
1-4 family residential construction — — — — 181 —
Commercial and land development 641 — 21 — 1 —
Commercial and industrial 1,196 — 683 — 322 —
Residential mortgage:
First lien 2,995 48 2,582 50 3,234 59
Home equity — term 11 — 13 — 19 —
Home equity — lines of credit 692 1 750 2 657 2
Installment and other loans 25 — 13 — 4 —
$ 10,872 $ 50 $ 6,932 § 54 $ 8249 $ 63
The following table presents impaired loans that are TDRs, with the recorded investment at December 31, 2020 and 2019.
2020 2019
Number of Recorded Number of Recorded
Contracts Investment Contracts Investment
Accruing:
Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied 1 S 28 1 $ 30
Residential mortgage:
First lien 9 898 9 931
Home equity - lines of credit 1 8 1 18
11 934 11 979
Nonaccruing:
Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied — — 4 1,909
Residential mortgage:
First lien 5 320 5 359
5 320 9 2,268
16 $ 1,254 20 3,247
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The following table presents the number of loans modified as TDRs, and their pre-modification and post-modification investment balances for the year ended
December 31, 2019. There were no loans modified as TDRs during 2020 and 2018.

Pre- Post-
Modification Modification
Number of Investment Investment
Contracts Balance Balance
December 31, 2019
Commercial real estate:
Owner occupied 3 3 1,866 §$ 1,881

The loans presented in the table above were considered TDRs as a result of the Company agreeing to below market interest rates given the risk of the
transaction; allowing the loan to remain on interest only status; or a reduction in interest rates, in order to give the borrowers an opportunity to improve their cash
flows. For new and accruing TDRs, impairment is generally assessed using a discounted cash flow analysis. For TDRs in default of their modified terms,
impairment is generally determined on a collateral dependent approach. Certain loans modified during a period may no longer be outstanding at the end of the
period if the loan was paid off.
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Management further monitors the performance and credit quality of the loan portfolio by analyzing the length of time a portfolio is past due, by aggregating
loans based on their delinquencies. The following table presents the classes of the loan portfolio summarized by aging categories of performing loans and

nonaccrual loans at December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Days Past Due
Total Non- Total
Current 30-59 60-89 (still accruing) Past Due Accrual Loans
December 31, 2020
Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied $ 168,262 958 — — 958 § 3,232 § 172,452
Non-owner occupied 409,130 108 — — 108 — 409,238
Multi-family 113,635 — — — — — 113,635
Non-owner occupied residential 112,443 484 — — 484 268 113,195
Acquisition and development:
1-4 family residential construction 9,486 — — — — — 9,486
Commercial and land development 50,922 32 58 — 90 814 51,826
Commercial and industrial 640,573 9 310 — 319 3,639 644,531
Municipal 19,677 846 — — 846 — 20,523
Residential mortgage:
First lien 230,903 5,758 535 83 6,376 1,730 239,009
Home equity — term 10,099 40 — 1 41 10 10,150
Home equity — lines of credit 156,153 268 — — 268 600 157,021
Installment and other loans 26,052 168 49 14 231 17 26,300
Subtotal 1,947,335 8,671 952 98 9,721 10,310 1,967,366
Loans acquired with credit deterioration:
Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied 2,456 — — — — — 2,456
Non-owner occupied 329 — — — — — 329
Non-owner occupied residential 1,161 — — 149 149 — 1,310
Commercial and industrial 2,837 — — — — — 2,837
Residential mortgage:
First lien 4,341 655 9 307 971 — 5,312
Home equity — term 19 — — — — — 19
Installment and other loans 57 4 — — 4 — 61
Subtotal 11,200 659 9 456 1,124 — 12,324
$ 1,958,535 9,330 961 554 10,845 $ 10,310 $ 1,979,690
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Days Past Due

90+ Total Non- Total
Current 30-59 60-89 (still accruing) Past Due Accrual Loans
December 31, 2019
Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied $ 158,723  $ 144§ — 3 — 3 144 § 5,842  § 164,709
Non-owner occupied 359,425 480 — — 480 — 359,905
Multi-family 105,865 — — — — 345 106,210
Non-owner occupied residential 116,370 841 66 69 976 235 117,581
Acquisition and development:
1-4 family residential construction 15,587 278 — — 278 — 15,865
Commercial and land development 40,403 1,135 — — 1,135 — 41,538
Commercial and industrial 208,668 315 — — 315 1,763 210,746
Municipal 47,057 — — — — — 47,057
Residential mortgage:
First lien 314,473 9,092 1,234 150 10,476 1,659 326,608
Home equity — term 13,993 — 4 — 4 13 14,010
Home equity — lines of credit 163,907 417 275 — 692 715 165,314
Installment and other loans 50,224 236 37 — 273 85 50,582
Subtotal 1,594,695 12,938 1,616 219 14,773 10,657 1,620,125
Loans acquired with credit deterioration:
Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied 6,015 — 129 31 160 — 6,175
Non-owner occupied 564 — — 581 581 — 1,145
Multi-family 683 — — — — — 683
Non-owner occupied residential 1,710 105 111 531 747 — 2,457
Commercial and industrial 3,792 — — 16 16 — 3,808
Residential mortgage:
First lien 6,308 1,857 745 854 3,456 — 9,764
Home equity — term 16 4 — — 4 — 20
Installment and other loans 131 22 — — 22 — 153
Subtotal 19,219 1,988 985 2,013 4,986 — 24,205
$ 1613914 § 14,926 $ 2,601 $ 2,232 $ 19,759 $ 10,657 $ 1,644,330

The Company maintains its ALL at a level management believes adequate for probable incurred credit losses. The ALL is established and maintained
through a provision for loan losses charged to earnings. On a quarterly basis, management assesses the adequacy of the ALL utilizing a defined methodology
which considers specific credit evaluation of impaired loans as discussed above, historical loan loss experience, and qualitative factors. Management believes its
approach properly addresses relevant accounting guidance for loans individually identified as impaired and for loans collectively evaluated for impairment, and
other bank regulatory guidance.

In connection with its quarterly evaluation of the adequacy of the ALL, management reviews its methodology to determine if it properly addresses the current
risk in the loan portfolio. For each loan class, general allowances based on quantitative factors, principally historical loss trends, are provided for loans that are
collectively evaluated for impairment. An adjustment to historical loss factors may be incorporated for delinquency and other potential risk not elsewhere defined
within the ALL methodology.
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In addition to this quantitative analysis, adjustments to the ALL requirements are allocated on loans collectively evaluated for impairment based on additional
qualitative factors, including:

Nature and Volume of Loans — including loan growth in the current and subsequent quarters based on the Company’s targeted growth and strategic plan,
coupled with the types of loans booked based on risk management and credit culture; the number of exceptions to loan policy; and supervisory loan to value
exceptions.

Concentrations of Credit and Changes within Credit Concentrations — including the composition of the Company’s overall portfolio makeup and
management's evaluation related to concentration risk management and the inherent risk associated with the concentrations identified.

Underwriting Standards and Recovery Practices — including changes to underwriting standards and perceived impact on anticipated losses; trends in the
number of exceptions to loan policy; supervisory loan to value exceptions; and administration of loan recovery practices.

Delinquency Trends — including delinquency percentages noted in the portfolio relative to economic conditions; severity of the delinquencies; and whether
the ratios are trending upwards or downwards.

Classified Loans Trends — including internal loan ratings of the portfolio; severity of the ratings; whether the loan segment’s ratings show a more favorable or
less favorable trend; and underlying market conditions and impact on the collateral values securing the loans.

Experience, Ability and Depth of Management/Lending staff — including the years’ experience of senior and middle management and the lending staff;
turnover of the staff; and instances of repeat criticisms of ratings.

Quality of Loan Review — including the years of experience of the loan review staff; in-house versus outsourced provider of review; turnover of staff and the
perceived quality of their work in relation to other external information.

National and Local Economic Conditions — including trends in the consumer price index, unemployment rates, the housing price index, housing statistics
compared to the prior year, bankruptcy rates, regulatory and legal environment risks and competition. During the year ended December 31, 2020, this factor was
increased for the commercial and consumer portfolios to account for the negative economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

COVID-19 — during the year ended December 31, 2020, a qualitative allocation was implemented associated with the potential impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on the Company's commercial loan portfolio. The factor assumes downgrades of loans which were granted deferrals or forbearances based upon
identified hardships resulting from the economic shutdown driven by the pandemic. The qualitative reserve on these loans will be reduced over time as sustained
performance is demonstrated after the loans are removed from deferral status or the forbearance period has ended.
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The following table presents activity in the ALL for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

December 31, 2020

Balance, beginning of year
Provision for loan losses
Charge-offs
Recoveries

Balance, end of year

December 31, 2019

Balance, beginning of year
Provision for loan losses
Charge-offs
Recoveries

Balance, end of year

December 31, 2018

Balance, beginning of year
Provision for loan losses
Charge-offs
Recoveries

Balance, end of year

Commercial Consumer
Acquisition Commercial
Commercial and and i i

Real Estate Development Industrial Municipal Total Mortgage and Other Total Unallocated Total
$ 7,634 $ 959 2,356 100 $ 11,049 § 3,147 § 319 3,466 140 14,655
2,745 146 2,096 (60) 4,927 203 117 320 78 5,325
3 — (748) — (751) (114) (146) (260) — (1,011)
775 9 238 — 1,022 126 34 160 — 1,182
$ 11,151  § 1,114 3,942 40 S 16,247  § 3362 $ 324 3,686 218 20,151
$ 6876 $ 817 1,656 98 $ 9447 $ 3753 § 244 3,997 570 14,014
515 139 841 2 1,497 (347) 180 (167) (430) 900
25) — (299) — (324) (386) (155) (541) — (865)
268 3 158 = 429 127 50 177 — 606
$ 7,634 § 959 2,356 100§ 11,049 $ 3,147 § 319 3,466 140 14,655
$ 6,763 § 417 1,446 84 8,710 § 3,400 § 211 3,611 475 12,796
(442) 396 209 14 177 363 165 528 95 800
(17) ) — — (24) (148) (292) (440) — (464)
572 11 1 — 584 138 160 298 — 882
$ 6,876 $ 817 1,656 98 8 9,447 § 3,753 § 244 3,997 570 14,014
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The following table summarizes the ending loan balances individually evaluated for impairment based upon loan segment, as well as the related ALL loss

allocation for each at December 31, 2020 and 2019. PCI loans are excluded from loans individually evaluated for impairment.

December 31, 2020
Loans allocated by:
Individually evaluated for
impairment
Collectively evaluated for
impairment

Allowance for loan losses
allocated by:

Individually evaluated for
impairment

Collectively evaluated for
impairment

December 31,2019
Loans allocated by:
Individually evaluated for
impairment
Collectively evaluated for
impairment

Allowance for loan losses
allocated by:

Individually evaluated for
impairment

Collectively evaluated for
impairment

Accretable yield, beginning of period

Additions ()
Accretion of income

Other changes, net @

Commercial Consumer
Acquisition Commercial
Commercial and and i i I
Real Estate Development Industrial Municipal Total Mortgage and Other Total Unallocated Total
3,528 814 3,639 — 7,981 3246 $ 17 $ 3,263 = 8 11,244
809,087 60,498 643,729 20,523 1,533,837 408,265 26,344 434,609 — 1,968,446
812,615 61,312 647,368 20,523 1,541,818 411,511  § 26,361 $ 437,872 — $ 1,979,690
— — 1 — 1 33§ — 3 33 — 3 34
11,151 1,114 3,941 40 16,246 3,329 324 3,653 218 20,117
11,151 1,114 3,942 40 16,247 3,362 $ 324 8§ 3,686 218 $ 20,151
6,452 — 1,763 — 8,215 3336 $ 8 $ 3,421 — 3 11,636
752,413 57,403 212,791 47,057 1,069,664 512,380 50,650 563,030 — 1,632,694
758,865 57,403 214,554 47,057 1,077,879 515,716  § 50,735 § 566,451 — $ 1,644,330
— — — — — 36 $ — 8 36 — 3 36
7,634 959 2,356 100 11,049 3,111 319 3,430 140 14,619
7,634 959 2,356 100 11,049 3,147 § 319§ 3,466 140§ 14,655
The following table provides activity for the accretable yield of purchased impaired loans for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.
2020 2019
$ 6,950 § 2,065
570 3,497
(3,457) (2,336)
Reclassifications from nonaccretable difference due to improvement in expected cash flows 1,871 2,444
(2,496) 1,280
$ 3,438 $ 6,950

Accretable yield, end of period

() The amount for the year ended December 31, 2020 reflects a measurement period adjustment for Hamilton loans that should have been in the PCI pool at the acquisition date.

The amount for the year ended December 31, 2019 reflects loans acquired from Hamilton.

@ The amount for the year ended December 31, 2020 represents the impact of purchased credit impaired loans sold during that year.
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NOTE 5. PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT

The following table summarizes premises and equipment at December 31, 2020 and 2019.

2020 2019

Land $ 8,586 $ 8,786
Buildings and improvements 27,569 27,520
Leasehold improvements 6,570 6,216
Furniture and equipment 23,254 22,293
Construction in progress 115 593
66,094 65,408

Less accumulated depreciation 30,945 27,884
$ 35,149 $ 37,524

Depreciation expense totaled $3.2 million, $2.7 million, and $2.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

NOTE 6. LEASES

A lease provides the lessee the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The Company has primarily
entered into operating leases for branches and office space. Most of the Company's leases contain renewal options, which the Company is reasonably certain to
exercise. Including renewal options, the Company's leases range from three to 33 years. Operating lease right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are included in
other assets and accrued interest and other liabilities on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.

The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate to determine the present value of the lease payments, as the rate implicit in the Company's leases is not
readily determinable. Lease agreements that contain non-lease components are generally accounted for as a single lease component, while variable costs, such as

common area maintenance expenses and property taxes, are expensed as incurred.

The following table summarizes the Company's right-of-use assets and related lease liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Operating lease ROU assets $ 8,686 $ 9,222
Operating lease ROU liabilities 9,143 9,688
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years) 16.8 17.6
Weighted-average discount rate 43 % 45 %

The following table presents information related to the Company's operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

December 31, 2020 December 31,2019
Cash paid for operating lease liabilities $ 1,202 $ 1,122
Operating lease expense 1,620 1,405
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The following table presents maturities of the Company's lease liabilities by year.

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

Less: imputed interest

Total lease liabilities

NOTE 7. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following table presents changes in goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Balance, beginning of year

Acquired goodwill

Adjustments to acquired goodwill ()
Balance, end of year

$ 1,208

785

807

827

839

9,449

13,915

4,772

$ 9,143

2020 2019

$ 19,925 $ 12,592
— 7,029
(1,201) 304
$ 18,724 $ 19,925

() The Company finalized its purchase accounting adjustments associated with Hamilton as of May 1, 2020.

Goodwill is not amortized but is reviewed for potential impairment on at least an annual basis, with testing between annual tests if an event occurs or
circumstances change that could potentially reduce the fair value of a reporting unit.

The Company typically completes its annual goodwill impairment assessment as of November 30. Due to the severe economic impact of COVID-19 and a
resulting sustained decline in the Company's market value below book value, management performed a quantitative Step 1 impairment analysis of its goodwill to
determine whether the Company's goodwill was impaired as of August 31, 2020. This analysis, which was performed in accordance with ASU 2017-04,
Intangibles-Goodwill and Other, considered several factors, such as future cash flow projections and estimated market acquisition premiums in its analysis. In
performing the analysis, management made several assumptions with respect to future operating performance, economic and market conditions and various others,
many of which require significant judgment. The analysis performed and the related assumptions reflect the best currently available estimates and judgements
regarding future performance of the Company. It was concluded that no impairment existed at August 31, 2020 as the calculated fair value of the reporting unit
exceeded its book value. No changes occurred that would impact the results of that analysis through December 31, 2020.

The following tables present changes in and components of other intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Balance, beginning of year
Acquired CDI
Non-compete agreement
Amortization expense
Impairment

Balance, end of year

2020 2019
$ 7,180 $ 3,910
— 4,550
— 290
(1,569) (1,570)
(153) —
$ 5458 $ 7,180
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2020 2019
Gross Carrying Amount Accumulated Amortization  Gross Carrying Amount  Accumulated Amortization

Amortized intangible assets:

Core deposit intangibles $ 8,390 $ 2935 § 8,390 § 1,493
Other client relationship intangibles 25 22 524 338
Non-compete agreement — — 290 193
Total $ 8,415 § 2,957 § 9,204 $ 2,024

During the year ended December 31, 2020, other client relationship intangibles with a gross carrying amount of $149 thousand were fully amortized and
there was a further reduction of the gross carrying amount of $350 thousand due to the dissolution of Wheatland which resulted in an impairment charge of $153
thousand.

The following table presents future estimated aggregate amortization expense at December 31, 2020.

2021 $ 1,275
2022 1,105
2023 935
2024 766
2025 596
Thereafter 781

$ 5,458

The Company incurred amortization expense of $1.6 million, $1.6 million and $286 thousand, respectively, in the years ending December 31, 2020, 2019 and
2018.

NOTE 8. INCOME TAXES

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the State of Maryland. The Company is no
longer subject to tax examination by tax authorities for years before 2017.

The following table summarizes income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

2020 2019 2018
Current expense $ 6,602 $ 934 § 1,097
Deferred expense (554) 1,776 543
Income tax expense $ 6,048 $ 2,710 $ 1,640

The following table reconciles the Company's effective income tax rate to its statutory federal rate for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

2020 2019 2018
Statutory federal tax rate 21.0 % 21.0 % 21.0 %
Increase (decrease) resulting from:
State taxes, net of federal benefit 1.0 % 0.1)% — %
Tax exempt interest income (2.00% 4.2)% (7.1%
Income from life insurance 1.1)% 1.71% (1.71)%
Disallowed interest expense 0.1 % 0.3 % 0.8 %
Low-income housing credits and related expense 0.8)% 1.3)% 2.5)%
Merger related — % 0.7 % 0.6 %
Other 0.4 % (0.9)% 0.9 %
Effective income tax rate 18.6 % 13.8 % 114 %
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Income tax expense includes $3 thousand related to net security losses for the year ended December 31, 2020 and $997 thousand and $211 thousand related
to net security gains for the years ended December 31, 2019, and 2018, respectively.

The Company recognizes, when applicable, interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in the provision for income taxes in the results of
operations. There were no penalties or interest related to income taxes recorded in the consolidated income statements for the years ended December 31, 2020,
2019 and 2018 and no amounts accrued for penalties at December 31, 2020 and 2019.

The following table summarizes the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2020, and 2019.

2020 2019
Deferred tax assets:

Allowance for loan losses $ 4,457 $ 3,418
Deferred compensation 578 415
Retirement and salary continuation plans 2,536 2,357
Share-based compensation 735 631
Off-balance sheet reserves 345 234
Nonaccrual loan interest 395 697
Deferred loan fees 1,483 153
Net unrealized losses on securities available for sale — 127
Net unrealized losses on interest rate swaps 258 —
Purchase accounting adjustments 1,886 4,081
Bonus accrual 622 493
ROU liability 2,003 2,123
Net operating loss carryforward 2,472 1,872
Other 448 417

Total deferred tax assets 18,218 17,018

Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation 74 452
Net unrealized gains on securities available for sale 1,148 —
Mortgage servicing rights 614 694
Purchase accounting adjustments 1,206 1,599
ROU Asset 1,903 2,021
Other 340 275

Total deferred tax liabilities 5,285 5,041

Net deferred tax asset, included in other assets $ 12,933 § 11,977

At December 31, 2020, the Company had acquired federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $11.2 million and $9.0 million, respectively, subject
to annual loss limitation limits, that expire beginning in 2033. A deferred tax asset is recognized for these carryforwards because the benefit is more likely than not
to be realized.

FASB ASC 740, Income Taxes, (“ASC 740”) clarifies the accounting for income taxes by prescribing a minimum probability threshold that a tax position
must meet before a financial statement benefit is recognized. The minimum threshold is defined in ASC 740 as a tax position that is more likely than not to be
sustained upon examination by the applicable taxing authority, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of
the position. The tax benefit to be recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate
settlement. ASC 740 was applied to all existing tax positions upon initial adoption. There was no liability for uncertain tax positions and no known unrecognized
tax benefits at December 31, 2020 or 2019.
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NOTE 9. RETIREMENT PLANS

The Company maintains a 401(k) profit-sharing plan for all qualified employees. Employees are eligible to participate in the 401(k) profit-sharing plan
following completion of one month of service and attaining age 18. Pursuant to the 401(k) profit-sharing plan, employees can contribute up to the lesser of $57
thousand, or 100% of their compensation. Substantially all of the Company’s employees are covered by the plan, which contains limited match or safe harbor
provisions. The Company will match 50% of the first 6% of the base contribution that an employee contributes. The Company’s match is immediately vested and
paid at the end of the year. Employer contributions to the plan are based on the performance of the Company and are at the discretion of the Board of Directors.
Employer contribution expense totaled $626 thousand, $590 thousand and $479 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.

The Company has deferred compensation agreements with certain present and former directors, whereby a director or his beneficiaries will receive a monthly
retirement benefit beginning at age 65. The arrangement is funded by an amount of life insurance on the participating director, which is calculated to meet the
Company’s obligations under the compensation agreement. The cash value of the life insurance policies is an unrestricted asset of the Company. The estimated
present value of future benefits to be paid totaled $53 thousand and $68 thousand at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Expense for this plan totaled $7
thousand, $8 thousand and $9 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.

The Company also has supplemental discretionary deferred compensation plans for directors and executive officers. The plans are funded annually with
director fees and salary reductions which are either placed in a trust account invested by the Bank’s OFA division or recognized as a liability. The trust account
balance totaled $2.5 million and $1.8 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and is directly offset in other liabilities. Expense for these plans totaled
$61 thousand for each of the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018.

In addition, the Company has two supplemental retirement and salary continuation plans for directors and executive officers. These plans are funded with
single premium life insurance on the plan participants. The cash value of the life insurance policies is an unrestricted asset of the Company. The estimated present
value of future benefits to be paid on these plans totaled $11.4 million and $10.6 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Expense for these plans
totaled $1.5 million, $1.0 million and $872 thousand, for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.

The Company has promised a continuation of life insurance coverage to certain persons post-retirement. The estimated present value of future benefits to be
paid totaled $1.5 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019. Expense for this plan totaled $25 thousand, $22 thousand and $126 thousand for the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.

Trust account balances, and estimated present values of future benefits and deferred compensation liabilities, noted above are included in other assets and
other liabilities, respectively, on the consolidated balance sheets.

NOTE 10. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

The Company maintains share-based compensation plans under the shareholder-approved 2011 Plan. The purpose of the share-based compensation plans is
to provide officers, employees, and non-employee members of the Board of Directors of the Company with additional incentive to further the success of the
Company. At December 31, 2020, 881,920 shares of the common stock of the Company were reserved to be issued and 356,479 shares were available to be issued.

The 2011 Plan incentive awards may consist of grants of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock,
deferred stock units and performance shares. All employees and members of the Board of Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, are eligible to participate
in the 2011 Plan. The 2011 Plan allows for the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors to determine the type of incentive to be awarded, its term,
manner of exercise, vesting and restrictions on shares. Generally, awards are nonqualified under the IRC, unless the awards are deemed to be incentive awards to
employees at the Compensation Committee’s discretion.
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The following table presents a summary of nonvested restricted shares activity for 2020.

Weighted Average

Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Nonvested shares, beginning of year 228,758 $ 21.90
Granted 114,182 20.09
Forfeited (15,633) 21.4
Vested (81,731) 20.92
Nonvested shares, end of year 245,576  § 21.45

The following table presents restricted shares compensation expense, with tax benefit information, and fair value of shares vested at December 31, 2020,
2019 and 2018.

2020 2019 2018
Restricted share award expense $ 1,710 $ 1,578 $ 1,479
Restricted share award tax benefit 359 451 374
Fair value of shares vested 1,384 2,744 1,074

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, unrecognized compensation expense related to the share awards totaled $2.0 million and $2.2 million, respectively. The
unrecognized compensation expense at December 31, 2020 is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.8 years.

The following table presents a summary of outstanding stock options activity for 2020.

‘Weighted Average
Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding, beginning of year 30,559 $ 21.56
Forfeited (1,000) 21.14
Expired (29,559) 25.76

Options outstanding and exercisable, end of year — 8§ —

The Company maintains an employee stock purchase plan to provide employees of the Company an opportunity to purchase Company common stock.
Eligible employees may purchase shares in an amount that does not exceed 10% of their annual salary at the lower of 95% of the fair market value of the shares on
the semi-annual offering date, or related purchase date. The Company reserved 350,000 shares of its common stock to be issued under the employee stock purchase
plan. At December 31, 2020, 160,235 shares were available to be issued.

The following table presents information for the employee stock purchase plan for years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

2020 2019 2018

Shares purchased 7,831 5,399 5,907
Weighted average price of shares purchased $ 1485 § 20.69 $ 23.04

The Company issues new shares or treasury shares, depending on market conditions, in its share-based compensation plans.
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NOTE 11. DEPOSITS

The following table summarizes deposits by type at December 31, 2020 and 2019.

2020 2019
Noninterest-bearing $ 456,778 $ 249,450
NOW and money market 1,327,459 963,672
Savings 176,425 142,832
Time ($250,000 or less) 334,280 450,490
Time (over $250,000) 61,938 69,078
Total $ 2,356,880 $ 1,875,522
The following table summarizes scheduled future maturities of time deposits as of December 31, 2020.

2021 $ 310,287
2022 45,029
2023 27,622
2024 6,718
2025 4,226
Thereafter 2,336

$ 396,218

Brokered time deposits totaled zero and $16.1 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Management evaluates brokered deposits as a funding
option, taking into consideration regulatory views on such deposits as non-core funding sources. Time deposits that meet or exceed the FDIC limit of $250,000 at
December 31, 2020 and 2019 totaled $61.9 million and $69.1 million, respectively.

NOTE 12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Directors and executive officers of the Company, including their immediate families and companies in which they have a direct or indirect material interest,
are considered to be related parties. In the ordinary course of business, the Company engages in various related party transactions, including extending credit and
bank service transactions. The Company relies on the directors and executive officers for the identification of their associates.

Federal banking regulations require that any extensions of credit to insiders and their related interests not be offered on terms more favorable than would be
offered to non-related borrowers of similar creditworthiness. The following table presents the aggregate activity in loans to related parties during 2020.

Balance, beginning of year $ 1,318
New loans 5,432
Repayments (1,530)
Director and officer relationship changes (171)
Balance, end of year $ 5,049

None of these loans are past due, on nonaccrual status or have been restructured to provide a reduction or deferral of interest or principal because of
deterioration in the financial position of the borrower. There were no loans to a related party that were considered classified loans at December 31, 2020 or 2019.
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NOTE 13. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

The Company has short-term borrowing capability from the FHLB, federal funds purchased and the FRB discount window. The following table summarizes
these short-term borrowings at and for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

2020 2019 2018
Balance at year-end $ 55,729 $ 146,600 $ 55,000
Weighted average interest rate at year-end 0.41 % 1.87 % 2.76 %
Average balance during the year $ 138,310 $ 23,171 $ 71,457
Average interest rate during the year 0.67 % 220 % 2.09 %
Maximum month-end balance during the year $ 178,729 $ 146,600 $ 103,000

The Company also enters into borrowing arrangements with certain of its deposit clients by agreements to repurchase ("repurchase agreements") under which
the Company pledges investment securities owned and under its control as collateral against the borrowing arrangement, which generally matures within one day
from the transaction date. The Company is required to hold U.S. Treasury, U.S. Agency or U.S. GSE securities as underlying securities for repurchase agreements.
The following table provides additional details for repurchase agreements at and for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

2020 2019 2018
Balance at year-end $ 19,466 $ 8,269 $ 9,069
Weighted average interest rate at year-end 0.23 % 1.31% 1.22%
Average balance during the year $ 18,064 $ 8,830 $ 9,715
Average interest rate during the year 0.47 % 1.28 % 0.82 %
Maximum month-end balance during the year $ 24,403 $ 12,774  $ 14,591
Fair value of securities underlying the agreements at year-end 29,477 13,062 17,942

NOTE 14. LONG-TERM DEBT

The following table presents components of the Company’s long-term debt at December 31, 2020, and 2019.

Amount Weighted Average rate
2020 2019 2020 2019
FHLB fixed rate advances maturing:
2021 $ — 3 40,350 — % 1.76 %
2023 — 20,000 — % 3.06 %
— 60,350 — % 219 %
FHLB amortizing advance requiring monthly principal and interest
payments, maturing:
2025 2,316 2,717 4.74 % 4.74 %
Total FHLB Advances $ 2,316 $ 63,067 4.74 % 230 %

1 $20,000,000 of borrowings was prepaid and $40,350,000 of borrowings matured during the year ended December 31, 2020.
Except for amortizing advances, interest only is paid on a quarterly basis.
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The following table summarizes the future annual principal payments required on these borrowings at December 31, 2020.

2021 $ 421
2022 441
2023 462
2024 484
2025 508
Thereafter —

$ 2,316

The Bank is a member of the FHLB of Pittsburgh and has access to the FHLB program of overnight and term advances. Under terms of a blanket collateral
agreement for advances, lines and letters of credit from the FHLB, collateral for all outstanding advances, lines and letters of credit consisted of 1-4 family
mortgage loans and other real estate secured loans totaling $830.3 million at December 31, 2020. The Bank had additional availability of $678.9 million at the
FHLB on December 31, 2020 based on its qualifying collateral, net of short-term borrowings and long-term debt detailed above, deposit letters of credit totaling
$93.0 million and non-deposit letters of credit totaling $354 thousand at December 31, 2020.

The Bank has available unsecured lines of credit, with interest based on the daily Federal Funds rate, with two correspondent banks totaling $30.0 million, at
December 31, 2020. There were no borrowings under these lines of credit at December 31, 2020 and 2019.

NOTE 15. SUBORDINATED NOTES

The Company has unsecured subordinated notes payable, which mature on December 30, 2028. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, subordinated notes payable
outstanding totaled $31.9 million and $31.8 million, respectively, which qualified for Tier 2 capital. The notes are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets net
of remaining debt issuance costs totaling $597 thousand and $653 thousand at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, which are amortized over a 10-year
period on an effective yield basis. The subordinated notes have a fixed interest rate of 6.0% through December 30, 2023, which then converts to a variable rate of
three-month LIBOR for the applicable interest period plus 3.16% through maturity. The Company may, at its option, redeem the notes, in whole or in part, on any
interest payment date on or after December 30, 2023, and at any time upon the occurrence of certain events. There are no debt covenants on the subordinated notes
payable.

NOTE 16. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company is exposed to certain risk arising from both its business operations and economic conditions. The Company principally manages its exposures
to a wide variety of business and operational risks through management of its core business activities. The Company manages economic risks, including interest
rate, liquidity, and credit risk primarily by managing the amount, sources, and duration of its assets and liabilities and the use of derivative financial instruments.
Specifically, the Company enters into derivative financial instruments to manage exposures that arise from business activities that result in the receipt or payment
of future known and uncertain cash amounts, the value of which are determined by interest rates. The Company’s derivative financial instruments are used as risk
management tools by the Company to manage differences in the amount, timing, and duration of the Company’s known or expected cash receipts and its known or
expected cash payments principally related to the Company’s borrowings and are not used for trading or speculative purposes.

The Company’s objectives in using interest rate derivatives are to add stability to interest expense and to manage its exposure to interest rate movements. To
accomplish this objective, the Company primarily uses interest rate swaps as part of its interest rate risk management strategy. The purpose of the interest rate
swaps is to convert short-term debt to longer term fixed rate debt. Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable amounts from a
counterparty in exchange for the Company making fixed-rate payments over the life of the agreements without exchange of the underlying notional amount. At
December 31, 2020, the Company had one interest rate derivative designated as a hedging instrument with a notional amount of $50.0 million. The Company had
no derivative instruments at December 31, 2019. Such derivatives were used to hedge the variable cash flows associated with the Company's borrowings. At
December 31, 2020, the Company had cash collateral of $1.7 million held with the counterparty for this derivative.

The Company enters into interest rate swaps that allow its commercial loan customers to effectively convert a variable-rate commercial loan agreement to a
fixed-rate commercial loan agreement. Under these agreements, the Company enters into a variable-rate loan agreement with a customer in addition to an interest
rate swap agreement, which serves to effectively swap
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the customer’s variable-rate loan into a fixed-rate loan. The Company then enters into a corresponding swap agreement with a third party in order to economically
hedge its exposure through the customer agreement. The interest rate swaps with both the customers and third parties are not designated as hedges and are marked
through earnings. At December 31, 2020, the Company had three customer and three corresponding third-party broker interest rate derivatives not designated as a
hedging instrument with an aggregate notional amount of $61.3 million. The Company had no such derivative instruments at December 31, 2019.

As a part of its normal residential mortgage operations, the Company will enter into an interest rate lock commitment with a potential borrower. The
Company enters into a corresponding commitment to an investor to sell that loan at a specific price shortly after origination. In accordance with FASB ASC 8§20,
adjustments are recorded through earnings to account for the net change in fair value of these transactions for the held for sale pipeline.

The following table summarizes the fair value of the Company's derivative instruments at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019:

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Notional Balance Sheet Notional Balance Sheet
Amount Location Fair Value Amount Location Fair Value
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:

Interest rate swaps - balance sheet hedge $ 50,000 Other liabilities $ (1,234) §$ — $ —
Total derivatives designated as hedging instruments 8 (1,234) $ —
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:

Interest rate swap - commercial borrower $ 30,673 Other assets $ 708 § — $ —

Interest rate swap - counterparty 30,673  Other liabilities (744) — —

Interest Rate lock commitments with customers 22,560 Other assets 673 4,408  Other assets 103

Forward sale commitment 10,400  Other liabilities (61) 8,969  Other assets 1
Total derivatives not designated as hedging instruments $ 576 $ 104

The following tables summarize the effect of the Company's derivative financial instruments on OCI and net income at December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Amount of (Loss) Gain Recognized in OCI on Derivative

2020 2019
Derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships:
Interest rate products $ (1,347) $ —
Total $ (1,347) § —

Location of Loss Recognized from

Amount of Loss Reclassified from AOCI into Income AOCI into Income
2020 2019
Derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships:
Interest rate products $ 117 § — Interest expense
Total $ 117 $ —

Location of Gain (Loss)

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income Recognized in Income
2020 2019
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Interest rate products $ (56) $ —  Other operating expenses
Interest rate lock commitments with customers 570 — Mortgage banking activities
Forward sale commitment (203) —  Mortgage banking activities
Total $ 311 § —
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The following table is a summary of interest rate swap components at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019:

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Weighted average pay rate 0.77 % — %
Weighted average receive rate 0.09 % — %
Weighted average maturity in years 4.2 0.0

NOTE 17. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND REGULATORY CAPITAL

The Company maintains a stockholder dividend reinvestment and stock purchase plan. Under the plan, shareholders may purchase additional shares of the
Company’s common stock at the prevailing market prices with reinvestment dividends and voluntary cash payments. The Company reserved 1,045,000 shares of
its common stock to be issued under the dividend reinvestment and stock purchase plan. At December 31, 2020, approximately 665,000 shares were available to be
issued under the plan.

Banks and bank holding companies are subject to regulatory capital requirements administered by federal banking agencies. Capital adequacy guidelines and,
additionally for banks, prompt corrective action regulations, involve quantitative measures of assets, liabilities and certain off-balance sheet items calculated under
regulatory accounting practices. Capital amounts and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by regulators. Failure to meet capital requirements
can initiate regulatory action. Under the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision's capital guidelines for U.S. Banks ("Basel III rules"), an entity must hold a
capital conservation buffer above the adequately capitalized risk-based capital ratios. The required capital conservation buffer was 1.25% for 2017, 1.875% for
2018 and 2.50% for 2019 under phase-in rules. The Company and the Bank have elected not to include net unrealized gain or loss on available for sale securities in
computing regulatory capital.

Effective with the third quarter of 2018, the FRB raised the consolidated asset limit to be considered a small bank holding company from $1.0 billion to $3.0
billion, and a company with assets under the revised limits is not subject to the FRB consolidated capital rules. A company with consolidated assets under the
revised limit may continue to file reports that include capital amounts and ratios. The Company has elected to continue to file those reports.

Management believes, at December 31, 2020 and 2019, that the Company and the Bank met all capital adequacy requirements to which they are subject.

Prompt corrective action regulations provide five classifications: well capitalized, adequately capitalized, undercapitalized, significantly undercapitalized and
critically undercapitalized, although these terms are not used to represent overall financial condition. If adequately capitalized, regulatory approval is required to
accept brokered deposits. If undercapitalized, capital distributions are limited, as is asset growth and expansion, and capital restoration plans are required. At
December 31, 2020, the most recent regulatory notifications categorized the Bank as well capitalized under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action.
There are no conditions or events since that notification that management believes have changed the Bank's classification.
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The following table presents capital amounts and ratios at December 31, 2020 and 2019.

December 31, 2020

Total risk-based capital:
Orrstown Financial Services, Inc.
Orrstown Bank

Tier 1 risk-based capital:
Orrstown Financial Services, Inc.
Orrstown Bank

Tier 1 common equity risk-based capital:
Orrstown Financial Services, Inc.
Orrstown Bank

Tier 1 leverage capital:
Orrstown Financial Services, Inc.
Orrstown Bank

December 31, 2019

Total risk-based capital:
Orrstown Financial Services, Inc.
Orrstown Bank

Tier 1 risk-based capital:
Orrstown Financial Services, Inc.
Orrstown Bank

Tier 1 common equity risk-based capital:

Orrstown Financial Services, Inc.
Orrstown Bank

Tier 1 leverage capital:
Orrstown Financial Services, Inc.
Orrstown Bank

For Capital Adequacy Purposes
(includes applicable capital

To Be Well
Capitalized Under
Prompt Corrective

Actual conservation buffer) Action Regulations
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
271,184 15.6 % $ 183,099 10.5 % n/a n/a
256,376 14.7 % 183,012 10.5 % 174,297 10.0 %
217,582 125 % 148,223 8.5 % n/a n/a
234,677 13.5 % 148,152 8.5 % 139,437 8.0 %
217,582 12.5 % 122,066 7.0 % n/a n/a
234,677 13.5 % 122,008 7.0 % 113,293 6.5 %
217,582 8.1 % 108,063 4.0 % n/a n/a
234,677 8.7 % 108,148 4.0 % 135,185 5.0 %
244,003 141 % $ 182,028 10.5 % n/a n/a
231,805 13.4 % 181,948 10.5 % 173,284 10.0 %
196,451 113 % 147,356 8.5 % n/a n/a
216,100 12.5 % 147,291 8.5 % 138,627 8.0 %
196,451 11.3 % 121,352 7.0 % n/a n/a
216,100 12.5 % 121,299 7.0 % 112,635 6.5 %
196,451 8.6 % 91,782 4.0 % n/a n/a
216,100 9.4 % 91,798 4.0 % 114,747 5.0 %

In September 2015, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized a share repurchase program under which the Company may repurchase up to 5% of
the Company's outstanding shares of common stock, or approximately 416,000 shares, in accordance with all applicable securities laws and regulations, including
Rule 10b-18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. When and if appropriate, repurchases may be made in open market or privately negotiated
transactions, depending on market conditions, regulatory requirements and other corporate considerations, as determined by management. Share repurchases may
not occur and may be discontinued at any time. At December 31, 2020, 154,680 shares had been repurchased under the program at a total cost of $2.6 million, or

$16.88 per share.

On January 20, 2021, the Board declared a cash dividend of $0.18 per common share, which was paid on February 8, 2021.

Banking regulations limit the ability of the Bank to pay dividends or make loans or advances to the Parent Company. Dividends that may be paid in any
calendar year are limited to the current year's net profits, combined with the retained net profits of the preceding two years. At December 31, 2020, dividends from
the Bank available to be paid to the Parent Company, without prior approval of the Bank's regulatory agency, totaled $47.4 million, subject to the Bank meeting or
exceeding regulatory capital requirements. The Parent Company's principal source of funds for dividend payments to shareholders is dividends received from the

Bank.

At December 31, 2020, there were no loans from the Bank to any nonbank affiliate, including the Parent Company. The Bank's loans to a single affiliate may
not exceed 10%, and loans to all affiliates may not exceed 20%, of the Bank’s capital
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stock, surplus, and undivided profits, plus the ALL (as defined by regulation). Loans from the Bank to nonbank affiliates, including the Parent Company, are also
required to be collateralized according to regulatory guidelines. At December 31, 2020, the maximum amount the Bank had available to loan nonbank affiliates
totaled $199.9 million.

NOTE 18. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table presents earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

2020 2019 2018

Net income $ 26,463 $ 16,924 § 12,805
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic 10,942 10,362 8,360

Dilutive effect of share-based compensation 92 152 177
Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted 11,034 10,514 8,537
Per share information:

Basic earnings per share $ 242§ 1.63 3 1.53

Diluted earnings per share 2.40 1.61 1.50

Average outstanding stock options of approximately 16,109, 22,223 and 20,574, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 were
not included in the computation of earnings per share because the effect was antidilutive, as the exercise price exceeded the average market price. The dilutive
effect of share-based compensation in each year above relates principally to restricted stock awards.

NOTE 19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS WITH OFF-BALANCE SHEET RISK

The Company is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the financing needs of its clients. These
financial instruments include commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit. Those instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit and
interest rate risk in excess of the amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets. The contract amounts of those instruments reflect the extent of involvement
the Company has in particular classes of financial instruments.

The Company’s exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party to the financial instrument for commitments to extend credit and
standby letters of credit and financial guarantees written is represented by the contractual amount of those instruments. The Company uses the same credit policies
in making commitments and conditional obligations as it does for on-balance sheet instruments. The following table presents these contractual, or notional,
amounts at December 31, 2020, and 2019.

2020 2019
Commitments to fund:
Home equity lines of credit $ 223216 $ 205,502
1-4 family residential construction loans 28,928 19,812
Commercial real estate, construction and land development loans 60,606 19,018
Commercial, industrial and other loans 268,931 222,288
Standby letters of credit 14,491 10,588

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a client as long as there is no violation of any condition established in the contract. Commitments
generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of a fee. Since many of the commitments are expected to expire
without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements. The Company evaluates each client’s credit-
worthiness on a case-by-case basis. The amount of collateral obtained, if deemed necessary by the Company upon extension of credit, is based on management’s
credit evaluation of the client. Collateral varies but may include accounts receivable, inventory, equipment, residential real estate, and income-producing
commercial properties.
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Standby letters of credit and financial guarantees written are conditional commitments issued by the Company to guarantee the performance of a client to a
third party. Those guarantees are primarily issued to support public and private borrowing arrangements. The credit risk involved in issuing letters of credit is
essentially the same as that involved in extending loans to clients. The Company holds collateral supporting those commitments when deemed necessary by
management. The liability, at December 31, 2020 and 2019, for guarantees under standby letters of credit issued was not considered to be material.

The Company maintains a reserve, based on historical loss experience of the related loan class, for off-balance sheet credit exposures that currently are not
funded, in other liabilities on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. This reserve totaled $1.5 million and $1.0 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. The net amount expensed for this off-balance sheet credit exposures reserve was $511 thousand, $39 thousand and $182 thousand for the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The Company sells loans to the FHLB of Chicago as part of its MPF Program. Under the terms of the MPF Program, there is limited recourse back to the
Company for loans that do not perform in accordance with the terms of the loan agreement. Each loan that is sold under the program is “credit enhanced” such that
the individual loan’s rating is raised to a minimum “BBB,” as determined by the FHLB of Chicago. Outstanding loans sold under the MPF Program totaled $18.9
million and $26.0 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, with limited recourse back to the Company on these loans of $777 thousand at
December 31, 2020 and 2019. Many of the loans sold under the MPF Program have primary mortgage insurance, which reduces the Company’s overall exposure.
The net amount expensed or recovered for the Company's estimate of losses under its recourse exposure for loans foreclosed, or in the process of foreclosure, is
recorded in other operating expenses on the consolidated statements of income. These amounts were not material for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and
2018.

NOTE 20. FAIR VALUE

Fair value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for
the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Certain financial instruments and all non-financial instruments
are excluded from fair value disclosure requirements. Accordingly, the aggregate fair value amounts presented do not represent the underlying value of the
Company.

The fair value hierarchy distinguishes between (1) market participant assumptions developed based on market data obtained from independent sources
(observable inputs) and (2) an entity's own assumptions about market participant assumptions based on the best information available in the circumstances
(unobservable inputs). The fair value hierarchy consists of three broad levels, which gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are:

Level 1 — quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the entity has the ability to access at the measurement date.

Level 2 — significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; or other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3 — at least one significant unobservable input that reflects a company's own assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use in
pricing an asset or liability or quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active; .

In instances in which multiple levels of inputs are used to measure fair value, hierarchy classification is based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement in its entirety. The Company's assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires
judgment, and considers factors specific to the asset or liability.

The Company used the following methods and significant assumptions to estimate fair value for financial instruments measured on a recurring basis:

Where quoted prices are available in an active market, securities are classified within Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy. Level 1 securities include highly
liquid government bonds, mortgage products and exchange traded equities. If quoted market prices are not available, securities are classified within Level 2 and
fair values are estimated by using pricing models, quoted prices of securities with similar characteristics or discounted cash flow. Level 2 securities include U.S.
agency securities, mortgage-backed securities, obligations of states and political subdivisions and certain corporate, asset backed and other securities. In certain
cases where there is limited activity or less transparency around inputs to the valuation, securities are classified within Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy. All of the
Company’s securities are classified as available for sale.
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The Company had no fair value liabilities measured on a recurring basis at December 31, 2020 or 2019.

The following table summarizes assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2020 or 2019.

Total Fair
Value
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Measurements
December 31, 2020
Investment securities:
States and political subdivisions $ —  $ 103,591 $ 9,079 $ 112,670
GSE residential MBSs — 4,293 — 4,293
GSE residential CMOs — 58,011 — 58,011
Non-agency CMOs — — 16,918 16,918
Private label commercial CMOs — 56,730 5,506 62,236
Asset-backed — 211,966 — 211,966
Other 371 — — 371
Loans held for sale — 11,734 — 11,734
Interest rate swaps — 690 — 690
Interest rate lock commitments on residential mortgages — — 673 673
Totals $ 371§ 447,015 $ 32,176 $ 479,562
December 31, 2019
Investment securities:
States and political subdivisions $ — 3 87,863 $ — 3 87,863
GSE residential CMOs — 68,154 — 68,154
Non-agency CMOs — — 17,087 17,087
Private label commercial CMOs — 79,437 7,192 86,629
Asset-backed — 230,515 — 230,515
Other 637 — — 637
Loans held for sale — 9,364 — 9,364
Interest rate lock commitments on residential mortgages — — 103 103
Totals $ 637 $ 475333 § 24,382 $ 500,352

The Company has CMOs measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) at December 31, 2020 and 2019. The
Level 3 valuation is based on a non-executable broker quote, which is considered a significant unobservable input. Such quotes are updated as available and may
remain constant for a period of time for certain broker-quoted securities that do not move with the market or that are not interest rate sensitive as a result of their
structure or overall attributes.

Effective October 1, 2019, the Company’s residential mortgage loans held-for-sale were recorded at fair value utilizing Level 2 measurements. This fair
value measurement is determined based upon third party quotes obtained on similar loans. The adoption of this accounting election resulted in an increase of $226
thousand in gain on sale of loans in the consolidated statements of income for the year ended December 31, 2019. For loans held-for-sale for which the fair value
option has been elected, the aggregate fair value exceeded the aggregate principal balance by $436 thousand and $226 thousand as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively.

The determination of the fair value of interest rate lock commitments on residential mortgages is based on agreed upon pricing with the respective investor on
each loan and includes a pull through percentage. The pull through percentage represents an estimate of loans in the pipeline to be delivered to an investor versus
the total loans committed for delivery. Significant changes in this input could result in a significantly higher or lower fair value measurement. As the pull through
percentage is a significant unobservable input, this is deemed a Level 3 valuation input. The average pull through percentage, which is based upon historical
experience, was 90% as of December 31, 2020. An increase or decrease of 5% in the pull through assumption would result in a positive or negative change of $42
thousand in the fair value of interest rate lock commitments at December 31, 2020. The fair value of interest rate lock commitments was $673 thousand and $103
thousand at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and is included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.
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The following provides details of the Level 3 fair value measurement activity for the years ended December 31, 2020 or 2019.

Investment securities:

2020 2019
Balance, beginning of year $ 24,279 $ 7,209
Unrealized gain (loss) included in OCI (668) 17
Purchases — 17,619
Net discount accretion 571 7
Principal payments (10,571) (539)
Transfers into Level 3 17,892 —
Balance, end of year $ 31,503 $ 24,279

The transfers into Level 3 for 2020 noted above relate to two CMO investment securities and one municipal bond for which trading was substantially
limited during the year due to the COVID-19 pandemic. As such, older trades or trades of similar securities were utilized to approximate fair value.

Interest rate lock commitments on residential mortgages:

2020 2019
Balance, beginning of year $ 103 S —
Total gain included in earnings 570 103
Balance, end of year $ 673 § 103

Certain financial assets are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. Adjustments to the fair value of these assets usually results from the application of
lower-of-cost-or-market accounting or write-downs of individual assets. The Company used the following methods and significant assumptions to estimate fair
value for these financial assets.

Impaired Loans

Loans are designated as impaired when, in the judgment of management and based on current information and events, it is probable that all amounts due,
according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement, will not be collected. The measurement of loss associated with impaired loans for all loan classes can be
based on either the observable market price of the loan, the fair value of the collateral, or discounted cash flows using a market rate of interest for performing
TDRs. For collateral-dependent loans, fair value is measured based on the value of the collateral securing the loan, less estimated costs to sell. Collateral may be in
the form of real estate or business assets including equipment, inventory, and accounts receivable. The value of the real estate collateral is determined utilizing an
income or market valuation approach based on an appraisal conducted by an independent, licensed appraiser outside of the Company using observable market data
(Level 2). However, if the collateral is a house or building in the process of construction, or if management adjusts the appraisal value, then the fair value is
considered Level 3. The value of business equipment is based upon an outside appraisal, if deemed significant, or the net book value on the applicable business’
financial statements if not considered significant using observable market data. Likewise, values for inventory and accounts receivable collateral are based on
financial statement balances or aging reports (Level 3). Impaired loans with an allocation to the ALL are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. Any fair
value adjustments are recorded in the period incurred as provision for loan losses on the unaudited condensed consolidated statements of income.

Changes in the fair value of impaired loans for those still held at December 31 considered in the determination of the provision for loan losses totaled $244
thousand, $77 thousand and $146 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.

Foreclosed Real Estate

OREO property acquired through foreclosure is initially recorded at the fair value of the property at the transfer date less estimated selling cost.
Subsequently, OREO is carried at the lower of its carrying value or the fair value less estimated selling cost. Fair value is usually determined based upon an
independent third-party appraisal of the property or occasionally upon a recent sales offer. There were no specific charges to value OREO at the lower of cost or
fair value on properties held at December 31, 2020 and 2019. Changes in the fair value of foreclosed real estate for those still held at December 31 charged to
OREO totaled $0 for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018.
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Mortgage Servicing Rights

The MSR fair value is estimated to be equal to its carrying value, unless the quarterly valuation model calculates the present value of the estimated net
servicing income is less than its carrying value, in which case an impairment charge is taken. At December 31, 2020, a $1.1 million lower of cost or fair value
reserve existed on the mortgage servicing right portfolio. In 2019, net impairment charges of $997 thousand were recorded in mortgage banking activities on the
consolidated statements of income. A reserve of $70 thousand existed at December 31, 2019, and $70 thousand in impairment charges were recorded in 2019.

The following table summarizes assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis at December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Total
Fair Value
Level 3 Measurements
December 31, 2020
Impaired loans
Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied 846 846
Non-owner occupied residential 36 36
Commercial and industrial 12 12
Residential mortgage:
First lien 638 638
Home equity - lines of credit 89 89
Total impaired loans 1,621 1,621
Mortgage servicing rights 2,745 2,745
December 31, 2019
Impaired loans
Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied 938 938
Multi-family 96 96
Non-owner occupied residential 103 103
Commercial and industrial 11 11
Residential mortgage:
First lien 641 641
Home equity - lines of credit 400 400
Installment and other loans 7 7
Total impaired loans 2,196 2,196
Mortgage servicing rights 3,119 3,119
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The following table presents additional qualitative information about assets measured on a nonrecurring basis and for which the Company has utilized Level
3 inputs to determine fair value.

Fair Value
Estimate Valuation Techniques Unobservable Input Range
December 31, 2020
Impaired loans $ 1,621 Appraisal of collateral Management adjustments on appraisals
for property type and recent activity 5% - 25% discount
- Management adjustments for
liquidation expenses 6.02% - 19.32% discount
Mortgage servicing rights 2,745 Discounted cash flows Weighted average CPR 18.02%
Discount rate 9.56%
December 31, 2019
Impaired loans $ 2,196 Appraisal of collateral Management adjustments on appraisals
for property type and recent activity 0% - 20% discount
- Management adjustments for
liquidation expenses 6% - 33% discount
Mortgage servicing rights 3,119 Discounted cash flows Weighted average CPR 11.63%
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Fair values of financial instruments

GAAP requires disclosure of the fair value of financial assets and liabilities, including those that are not measured and reported at fair value on a recurring or
nonrecurring basis. The following table presents the carrying amounts and estimated fair values of financial assets and liabilities at December 31, 2020, and 2019.

Carrying
Amount Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
December 31, 2020
Financial Assets
Cash and due from banks $ 26,203 $ 26,203 $ 26,203 $ — 3 —
Interest-bearing deposits with banks 99,055 99,055 99,055 — —
Restricted investments in bank stock 10,563 n/a n/a n/a n/a
Investment securities 466,465 466,465 371 434,591 31,503
Loans held for sale 11,734 11,734 — 11,734 —
Loans, net of allowance for loan losses 1,959,539 1,953,860 — — 1,953,860
Interest rate lock commitments on residential mortgages 673 673 — — 673
Interest rate swaps 690 690 — 690 —
Accrued interest receivable 8,927 8,927 — 1,529 7,398
Financial Liabilities
Deposits 2,356,880 2,359,317 — 2,359,317 —
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 19,466 19,466 — 19,466 —
FHLB advances and other 58,045 58,298 — 58,298 —
Subordinated notes 31,903 31,712 — 31,712 —
Interest rate swaps 1,956 1,956 — 1,956 —
Accrued interest payable 238 238 — 238 —
December 31, 2019
Financial Assets
Cash and due from banks $ 25,969 $ 25,969 $ 25,969 $ — 3 —
Interest-bearing deposits with banks 30,493 30,493 30,493 — —
Restricted investments in bank stock 16,184 n/a n/a n/a n/a
Investment securities 490,885 490,885 637 465,969 24,279
Loans held for sale 9,364 9,364 — 9,364 —
Loans, net of allowance for loan losses 1,629,675 1,652,788 — — 1,652,788
Interest rate lock commitments on residential mortgages 103 103 — — 103
Accrued interest receivable 6,040 6,040 — 1,863 4,177
Financial Liabilities
Deposits 1,875,522 1,876,555 — 1,876,555 —
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 8,269 8,269 — 8,269 —
FHLB advances and other 209,667 210,005 — 210,005 —
Subordinated notes 31,847 33,953 — 33,953 —
Accrued interest payable 879 879 — 879 —

The methods used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments at December 31, 2020 did not necessarily represent an exit price. In accordance with the
Company's adoption of ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments — Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities, the methods utilized to measure the fair value of financial instruments at December 31, 2020 represents an approximation of exit price; however, an
actual exit price may differ.
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NOTE 21. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CLIENTS

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) and all subsequent amendments (collectively
“ASC 606”). The update implements a common revenue standard that clarifies the principles for recognizing revenue. The core principle of ASC 606 is that an
entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to clients in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The majority of the Company's revenue comes from interest income, including loans and securities,
that are outside the scope of ASC 606. The Company's services that fall within the scope of ASC 606 are presented within noninterest income on the consolidated
statements of income and are recognized as revenue as the Company satisfies its obligation to the client. Services within the scope of ASC 606 include service
charges on deposit accounts, income from fiduciary investment management and brokerage activities and interchange fees from service charges on ATM and debit
card transactions. ASC 606 did not result in a change to the accounting for any in-scope revenue streams; as such, no cumulative effect adjustment was recorded.

Descriptions of revenue generating activities that are within the scope of ASC 606 are as follows:

Service Charges on Deposit Accounts - The Company earns fees from its deposit clients for transaction-based, account maintenance, and overdraft services.
Transaction-based fees, which include services such as ATM use fees, stop payment charges, statement rendering, and ACH fees, are recognized at the time the
transaction is executed as that is the point in time the Company fulfills the client's request. Account maintenance fees, which relate primarily to monthly
maintenance, are earned over the course of a month, representing the period over which the Company satisfies the performance obligation. Overdraft fees are
recognized at the point in time that the overdraft occurs. Service charges on deposits are withdrawn from the client's account balance.

Interchange Income - The Company earns interchange fees from debit/credit cardholder transactions conducted through the MasterCard payment network.
Interchange fees from cardholder transactions represent a percentage of the underlying transaction value and are recognized daily, concurrently with the transaction
processing services provided to the cardholder. Interchange income is presented net of cardholder rewards.

Loan swap referral fees - The Company earns fees from a third-party service provider for loan hedging referrals provided to lending clients. The Company
acts as an agent in arranging the relationship between our client and the third-party service provider. The Company is paid and recognizes income upon completion
of the loan hedge between our client and the third-party service provider.

Trust and Investment Management Income - The Company earns wealth management and investment brokerage fees from its contracts with trust and wealth
management clients to manage assets for investment, and/or to transact on their accounts. These fees are primarily earned over time as the Company provides the
contracted services and are generally assessed based on a tiered scale of the market value of assets under management. Fees that are transaction based, including
trade execution services, are recognized at the point in time that the transaction is executed, i.e., the trade date. Other related services provided included financial
planning services and the associated fees the Company earns, which are based on a fixed fee schedule, are recognized when the services are rendered. Services are
generally billed in arrears and a receivable is recorded until fees are paid.

Brokerage Income - The Company earns fees from investment management and brokerage services provided to its clients through a third-party service
provider. The Company receives commissions from the third-party service provider and recognizes income on a weekly basis based upon client activity. As the
Company acts as an agent in arranging the relationship between the client and the third-party service provider and does not control the services rendered to the
clients, brokerage income is presented net of related costs.

Gains/Losses on Sales of OREO - The Company records a gain or loss on the sale of OREO when control of the property transfers to the buyer, which
generally occurs at the time of an executed deed. If the Company finances the sale of OREO to the buyer, the Company assesses whether the buyer is committed to
perform their obligations under the contract and whether collectability of the transaction price is probable. Once these criteria are met, the OREO asset is
derecognized and the gain or loss on sale is recorded upon the transfer of control of the property to the buyer. In determining the gain or loss on the sale, the
Company adjusts the transaction price and related gain or loss on sale if a significant financing component is present.

At December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had receivables from trust and wealth management clients totaling $661 thousand and $719
thousand, respectively.
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The following table presents the Company's noninterest income disaggregated by revenue source for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

Noninterest income
Service charges on deposit accounts
Loan swap referral fees
Trust and investment management income
Brokerage income
Interchange income
Revenue from contracts with clients

Other service charges

Mortgage banking activities
Gain on sale of commercial loans
Income from life insurance
Other income

Investment securities gains

Total noninterest income

NOTE 22. ORRSTOWN FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. (PARENT COMPANY ONLY) CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Condensed Balance Sheets

Assets

Cash in Orrstown Bank
Investment in Orrstown Bank
Other assets

Total assets
Liabilities
Subordinated notes
Accrued interest and other liabilities
Total liabilities
Shareholders’ Equity
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Treasury stock
Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
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2020 2019 2018
3,113 $ 3,793 $ 3,578
847 1,197 —
6,912 7,255 6,576
2,821 2,426 2,035
3,423 3,281 2,821
17,116 17,952 15,010
444 416 562
5,274 3,047 2,663
2,803 — —
2,261 2,044 1,463
427 331 320
(16) 4,749 1,006
28,309 $ 28,539 $ 21,024
December 31,
2020 2019

13,961 $ 11,568

263,346 242,041

941 1,724

278,248 $ 255,333

31,903 $ 31,847

96 237

31,999 32,084

586 584

189,066 188,365

54,099 35,246
3,346 (480)
(848) (466)

246,249 223,249

278,248 $ 255,333
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Condensed Statements of Income

For the Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018

Income
Dividends from bank subsidiary $ 14,000 $ 2,000 $ 4,450
Interest income from bank subsidiary 76 257 7
Other income 62 55 102

Total income 14,138 2,312 4,559
Expenses
Interest on short-term borrowings — — 57
Interest on subordinated notes 2,006 1,987 73

Total interest expense 2,006 1,987 130
Share-based compensation 463 236 205
Management fee to bank subsidiary 1,254 1,350 1,042
Merger related expenses — 1,574 1,545
Other expenses 1,324 802 656

Total expenses 5,047 5,949 3,578

Income (loss) before income tax benefit and equity in undistributed income of subsidiaries 9,091 (3,637) 981

Income tax benefit (1,022) (1,182) (735)
(Loss) income before equity in undistributed income of subsidiaries 10,113 (2,455) 1,716
Equity in undistributed income of subsidiaries 16,350 19,379 11,089
Net income $ 26,463 $ 16,924 $ 12,805
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Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 26,463 $ 16,924 § 12,805
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Amortization 56 47 3
Deferred income taxes 39) 16 22
Equity in undistributed income of subsidiaries (16,350) (19,379) (11,089)
Share-based compensation 463 236 205
Net change in other liabilities (141) (423) 12
Net change in other assets (221) 311 2,039
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 10,231 (2,268) 3,997
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital contributed to subsidiaries — (100) —
Net cash paid for acquisitions (85) (8,142) (4,597)
Net cash used in investing activities (85) (8,242) (4,597)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Dividends paid (7,610) (6,150) (4,375)
Proceeds from issuance of subordinated notes, net of costs — — 31,857
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 1,628 1,463 1,448
Payments to repurchase common stock (1,887) (1,772) (651)
Other, net 116 (59) —
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (7,753) (6,518) 28,279
Net increase (decrease) in cash 2,393 (17,028) 27,679
Cash, beginning 11,568 28,596 917
Cash, ending $ 13,961 $ 11,568 $ 28,596

NOTE 23. CONTINGENCIES

The nature of the Company’s business generates a certain amount of litigation involving matters arising out of the ordinary course of business. Except as
described below, in the opinion of management, there are no legal proceedings that might have a material effect on the results of operations, liquidity, or the
financial position of the Company at this time.

On March 5, 2019, Paul Parshall, a purported individual stockholder of Hamilton, filed, on behalf of himself and all of Hamilton’s stockholders other than the
named defendants and their affiliates (the “Purported Class”), a derivative and putative class action complaint in the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, Maryland,
captioned Paul Parshall v. Carol Coughlin et. al., naming each Hamilton director, Orrstown, and Hamilton as defendants (the “Action”). The Action alleged, among
other things, that Hamilton’s directors breached their fiduciary duties to the Purported Class in connection with the merger, and that the Proxy
Statement/Prospectus omitted certain material information regarding the merger. Orrstown was alleged to have aided and abetted the Hamilton directors’ alleged
breaches of their fiduciary duties. The Action sought, among other remedies, to enjoin the merger or, in the event the merger was completed, rescission of the
merger or rescissory damages; unspecified damages; and costs of the lawsuit, including attorneys’ and experts’ fees. A settlement was reached on the Action in
March 2020 which resulted in a payment by the Company of $135 thousand in mootness fees to the defendants in April 2020.

On May 25, 2012, SEPTA filed a putative class action complaint in the U.S. District Court for the Middle District of Pennsylvania against the Company, the
Bank and certain current and former directors and officers (collectively, the “Orrstown Defendants”). The complaint alleged, among other things, that (i) in
connection with the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 dated February 23, 2010 and its Prospectus Supplement dated March 23, 2010, and (ii) during
the purported class period of March 24, 2010 through October 27, 2011, the Company issued materially false and misleading statements regarding the Company’s
lending practices and financial results, including misleading statements concerning the stringent nature of the
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Bank’s credit practices and underwriting standards, the quality of its loan portfolio, and the intended use of the proceeds from the Company’s March 2010 public
offering of common stock. The complaint asserted claims under Sections 11, 12(a) and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, and sought class certification, unspecified money damages, interest, costs, fees and equitable or
injunctive relief. Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (“PSLRA”), the Court appointed SEPTA Lead Plaintiff on August 20, 2012.

On March 4, 2013, SEPTA filed an amended complaint. The amended complaint expanded the list of defendants in the action to include the Company’s
former independent registered public accounting firm, Smith Elliott Kearns & Company, LLC (“SEK”), and the underwriters of the Company’s March 2010 public
offering of common stock. In addition, among other things, the amended complaint extended the purported 1934 Exchange Act class period from March 15, 2010
through April 5, 2012.

On June 22, 2015, in a 96-page Memorandum, the Court dismissed without prejudice SEPTA’s amended complaint against all defendants, finding that
SEPTA failed to state a claim under either the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. On February §, 2016, the
Court granted SEPTA’s motion for leave to amend again and SEPTA filed its second amended complaint that same day.

On December 7, 2016, the Court issued an Order and Memorandum granting in part and denying in part defendants’ motions to dismiss SEPTA’s second
amended complaint. The Court granted the motions to dismiss the Securities Act claims against all defendants, and granted the motions to dismiss the Exchange
Act Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 claims against all defendants except Orrstown Financial Services, Inc., Orrstown Bank, Thomas R. Quinn, Jr., Bradley S. Everly,
and Jeffrey W. Embly. The Court also denied the motions to dismiss the Exchange Act Section 20(a) claims against Quinn, Everly, and Embly.

On December 15, 2017, the Orrstown Defendants and SEPTA exchanged expert reports in opposition to and in support of class certification, respectively. On
January 15, 2018, the parties exchanged expert rebuttal reports. SEPTA has not yet filed a motion for class certification.

On August 9, 2018, SEPTA filed a motion to compel the production of Confidential Supervisory Information (CSI) of non-parties the Board of Governors of
the Federal Reserve System (FRB) and the Pennsylvania Department of Banking and Securities, in the possession of Orrstown and third parties. On August 30,
2018, the FRB filed an unopposed motion to intervene in the Action for the purpose of opposing SEPTA’s motion to compel. On February 12, 2019, the Court
denied SEPTA’s motion to compel the production of CSI on the ground that SEPTA had failed to exhaust its administrative remedies.

On April 11, 2019, SEPTA filed a motion for leave to file a third amended complaint. The proposed third amended complaint seeks to reassert the Securities
Act claims that the Court dismissed as to all defendants on December 7, 2016, when the Court granted in part and denied in part defendants’ motions to dismiss
SEPTA’s second amended complaint. The proposed third amended complaint also seeks to reassert the Exchange Act claims against those defendants that the
Court dismissed from the case on December 7, 2016.

On June 13, 2019, Orrstown filed a motion for protective order to stay discovery pending resolution of SEPTA’s motion for leave to file a third amended
complaint. On July 17, 2019, the Court entered an Order partially granting Orrstown’s motion for protective order, ruling that all deposition discovery in the case
was stayed pending a decision on SEPTA’s motion for leave to file a third amended complaint. Party and non-party document discovery in the case has largely
been completed.

On February 14, 2020, the Court issued an Order and Memorandum granting SEPTA’s motion for leave to file a third amended complaint. The third
amended complaint is now the operative complaint. It reinstates the Orrstown Defendants, as well as SEK and the underwriter defendants, previously dismissed
from the case on December 7, 2016. The third amended complaint also revives the previously-dismissed 1933 Securities Act claim against the Orrstown
Defendants, SEK, and the underwriter defendants. Defendants filed their motions to dismiss the third amended complaint on April 24, 2020. SEPTA’s opposition
was filed on July 8, 2020, and Orrstown’s reply brief was filed on August 12, 2020. The motions to dismiss the third amended complaint are currently pending.

Additionally, on February 24, 2020, the Orrstown Defendants, and the underwriter defendants and SEK, separately filed motions under 28 U.S.C. § 1292(b)
asking the District Court to certify its February 14, 2020 Order granting leave to file the third amended complaint for interlocutory appeal to the Third Circuit
Court of Appeals. The District Court granted those motions on July 17, 2020, and defendants filed their Petition for Permission to Appeal with the Third Circuit on
July 27, 2020. The Third Circuit granted permission to appeal the Order pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1292(b) on August 13, 2020. Defendants filed their joint Opening
Brief in the Third Circuit on November 2, 2020, asking the Court to reverse the district court’s Order. SEPTA filed its responsive brief on December 2, 2020 and
defendants filed their reply brief on December 23, 2020. Oral argument was held on February 10, 2021. The Third Circuit’s decision is pending.
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The Company believes that the allegations of SEPTA’s third amended complaint are without merit and intends to defend itself vigorously against those
claims. It is not possible at this time to reasonably estimate possible losses, or even a range of reasonably possible losses, in connection with the litigation.
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ITEM 9 — CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A — CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Based on the evaluation required by Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b), the Company's management, including the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Securities Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e), at December 31, 2020. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective at December 31, 2020. There have been no changes in internal control over financial reporting that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of 2020.

Management's Report on Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting is included in Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data." The
effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting at December 31, 2020 has been audited by Crowe LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firm, as stated in the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm appearing in Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data."

ITEM 9B — OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART III

ITEM 10 — DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted a code of ethics that applies to all senior financial officers (including its chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief
accounting officer, and any person performing similar functions). You can find a copy of the Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers by visiting our website at
www.orrstown.com and following the links to “Investor Relations” and “Governance Documents.” A copy of the Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers may
also be obtained, free of charge, by written request to Orrstown Financial Services, Inc., 77 East King Street, PO Box 250, Shippensburg, Pennsylvania 17257,
Attention: Secretary. The Company intends to disclose any amendments to or waivers from a provision of the Company’s Code of Ethics for Senior Financial
Officers in a timely manner.

All other information required by Item 10 is incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement for the 2021 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders filed pursuant to Regulation 14A, under Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance and Proposal 1 — Election of Directors —
Biographical Summaries of Nominees and Directors; Information About Executive Officers; Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings; and Proposal 1 — Election
of Directors — Nomination of Directors, and Board Structure, Committees and Meeting Attendance.

ITEM 11 - EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 is incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement for the 2021 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders filed pursuant to Regulation 14A, under Proposal 1 — Election of Directors — Compensation of Directors, Compensation Discussion and Analysis,
Compensation Committee Report, Executive Compensation Tables, Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control and Compensation Committee
Interlocks and Insider Participation.
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ITEM 12 — SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table presents equity compensation plan information at December 31, 2020.

Number of securities
remaining available for

Weighted future issuance under
Number of securities to be average exercise equity compensation
issued upon exercise of price of outstanding plans (excluding
outstanding options, options, warrants and securities reflected in
Plan Category warrants and rights rights column (a))
(a) (b) (©)

Equity compensation plan approved by security holders — n/a 881,920
Total — n/a 881,920

All other information required by Item 12 is incorporated, by reference, from the Company’s definitive proxy statement for the 2021 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders filed pursuant to Regulation 14A, under Share Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.

ITEM 13 — CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 is incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement for the 2021 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders filed pursuant to Regulation 14A, under Proposal 1 — Election of Directors — Director Independence, and Transactions with Related Persons,
Promoters and Certain Control Persons.

ITEM 14 — PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement for the 2021 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders filed pursuant to Regulation 14A, under Proposal 3 — Ratification of the Audit Committee’s Selection of Crowe LLP as the Company’s Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm for the Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2020 — Relationship with Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
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PART IV

ITEM 15 — EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

a. The following documents are filed as part of this report:

(1) — Financial Statements

Consolidated financial statements of the Company and subsidiaries required in response to this Item are incorporated by reference from Item 8 of this report.

(2) — Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission are not
required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and therefore have been omitted.

(3) — Exhibits

2.1(a)
2.1(b)

3.1
32
4.1

4.2

43
4.4

10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4

10.5
10.6

10.7
10.8

10.9

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated May 31, 2018, by and between Orrstown Financial Services, Inc. and Mercersburg Financial Corporation
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Registrant's Form 8-K filed June 1. 2018.

Agreement and Plan of Merger. dated October 23, 2018, by and between Orrstown Financial Services, Inc. and Hamilton Bancorp. Inc.,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Registrant's Form 8-K filed October 24, 2018.

Articles of Incorporation as amended. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on January 29. 2010.
By-laws as amended. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K filed January 30, 2018.

Specimen Common Stock Certificate, incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed February 8. 2010
(File No. 333-164780).

Subordinated Indenture, dated December 19, 2018, by and between Orrstown Financial Services, Inc., and U.S. Bank, National Association,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Registrant's Form 8-K filed on December 20, 2018.

Form of Global Note for subordinated notes. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Registrant's Form 8-K filed December 20. 2018.

Form of Registration Rights Agreement for subordinated notes, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Registrant's Form 8-K filed
December 20. 2018.

Change in Control Agreement between Orrstown Financial Services. Inc., Orrstown Bank and Thomas R. Quinn, Jr. incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Form 8-K filed September 27, 2019.

Change in Control Agreement between Orrstown Financial Services. Inc., Orrstown Bank and Robert G. Coradi, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant's Form 8-K filed June 2, 2015.

Change in Control Agreement between Orrstown Financial Services. Inc., Orrstown Bank and Adam L. Metz, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Form 8-K filed March 14, 2017.

Change in Control Agreement between Orrstown Financial Services. Inc., Orrstown Bank and Thomas R. Brugger. incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Form 8-K filed June 25. 2019.

Change in Control Agreement between Orrstown Financial Services. Inc., Orrstown Bank and Christopher D. Holt dated July 15. 2019.

Salary Continuation Agreement between Orrstown Bank and Thomas R. Quinn, Jr. — incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Form 8-K filed January 8. 2010.

Salary Continuation Agreement between Orrstown Bank and Thomas R. Quinn, Jr. — incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Form 8-K filed September 27, 2019.

Salary Continuation Agreement between Orrstown Bank and Robert Coradi dated March 26. 2018 — incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Registrant’s Form 10-Q filed November 5. 2020.

Officer group term replacement plan for selected officers — incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant’s Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1999 filed March 28, 2000.
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10.10 Director Retirement Agreement, as amended, between Orrstown Bank and Andrea Pugh. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4(c) to the
Registrant’s Form 10-K filed March 15. 2010.

10.11 Director Retirement Agreement, as amended. between Orrstown Bank and Glenn W. Snoke. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4(f) to the
Registrant’s Form 10-K filed March 15. 2010.

10.12 Director Retirement Agreement, as amended, between Orrstown Bank and Joel R. Zullinger, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4(h) to the
Registrant’s Form 10-K filed March 15, 2010.

10.13 Revenue neutral retirement plan — incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K filed March 28, 2000.

10.14 Non-employee director stock option plan of 2000 — incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s registration statement on Form S-8 filed March
31.2000.

10.15 Employee stock option plan of 2000 — incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s registration statement on Form S-8 filed March 31. 2000.

10.16 2011 Orrstown Financial Services. Inc. Stock Incentive Plan — incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s registration statement
on Form S-8 filed May 24, 2018..

10.17 Employment Agreement between Orrstown Financial Services. Inc., Orrstown Bank and Thomas R. Quinn. Jr. incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed June 8. 2015.

10.18 Employment Agreement between Orrstown Financial Services, Inc., Orrstown Bank and Thomas R. Brugger, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed June 25. 2019.

10.19 Employment Agreement between Orrstown Financial Services. Inc.. Orrstown Bank and Philip E. Fague, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.3 to the Registrant's Form 8-K filed June 2. 2015.

10.20 Employment Agreement between Orrstown Financial Services, Inc., Orrstown Bank and Robert G. Coradi, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.7 to the Registrant's Form 8-K filed June 2. 2015.

10.21 Employment Agreement between Orrstown Financial Services, Inc.. Orrstown Bank and Barbara E. Brobst, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.9 to the Registrant's Form 8-K filed June 2. 2015.

10.22 Employment Agreement between Orrstown Financial Services, Inc.. Orrstown Bank and Adam L. Metz, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant's Form 8-K filed March 14, 2017.

10.23 Employment Agreement between Orrstown Financial Services, Inc., Orrstown Bank and Robert J. Fignar, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Registrant's Form 8-K filed June 1. 2018.

10.24 Employment Agreement between Orrstown Financial Services, Inc.. Orrstown Bank and Christopher D. Holt dated July 15. 2019

10.25 Brick Plan — Deferred Income Agreement between Orrstown Bank and Joel R. Zullinger. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the
Registrant’s Form 10-K filed March 15, 2010.

10.26 Director/Executive Officer Deferred Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13(a) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K filed March
15.2010.

10.27 Trust Agreement for Director/Executive Officer Deferred Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13(b) to the Registrant’s
Form 10-K filed March 15. 2010.

10.28 Deferred Compensation Agreement between Orrstown Bank and Thomas R. Quinn. Jr., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant's Form 8-K filed September 27. 2019.

10.29 Deferred Compensation Agreement between Orrstown Bank and Thomas R. Brugger. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's
Form 8-K filed September 18, 2020.

10.30 Deferred Compensation Agreement between Orrstown Bank and Christopher D. Holt, dated September 16. 2020.

10.31 Form of Subordinated Note Purchase Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant's Report of Form 8-K filed on
December 20. 2018.

14 Code of Ethics Policy for Senior Financial Officers posted on Registrant’s website.
21 Subsidiaries of the registrant

23.1 Consent of Crowe LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
31.1 Rule 13a — 14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification (Chief Executive Officer)

31.2 Rule 13a — 14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications (Chief Financial Officer)
32.1 Section 1350 Certifications (Chief Executive Officer)
322 Section 1350 Certifications (Chief Financial Officer)

125


https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-10-056983.html?hash=ed35b348aef181a9a08a30507b768cff71319c90d764742b1eb216b0ed32bdfd&dest=DEX104C_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-10-056983.html?hash=ed35b348aef181a9a08a30507b768cff71319c90d764742b1eb216b0ed32bdfd&dest=DEX104C_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-10-056983.html?hash=ed35b348aef181a9a08a30507b768cff71319c90d764742b1eb216b0ed32bdfd&dest=DEX104F_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-10-056983.html?hash=ed35b348aef181a9a08a30507b768cff71319c90d764742b1eb216b0ed32bdfd&dest=DEX104F_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-10-056983.html?hash=ed35b348aef181a9a08a30507b768cff71319c90d764742b1eb216b0ed32bdfd&dest=DEX104H_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-10-056983.html?hash=ed35b348aef181a9a08a30507b768cff71319c90d764742b1eb216b0ed32bdfd&dest=DEX104H_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000950115-00-000406.html?hash=5c43ead439683248f1115a343fb03b45b1ef82ac001cba74b1682a815579cfc7
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000950115-00-000474.html?hash=543a73076292ff3196d3cd0e4985920521fa5310518ab3b6b74d8b1c251e7a3b
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000950115-00-000474.html?hash=543a73076292ff3196d3cd0e4985920521fa5310518ab3b6b74d8b1c251e7a3b
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000950115-00-000475.html?hash=ad0e66374844f2ee8ca97aa651f5ed588d3d664830a6b088d3aea3ddfc03e422
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-11-158546.html?hash=20587ea73a9ecd0923ab9ea064dd66299dfe45dad38b9a8c9a4daade3a820ee2&dest=DS8_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-11-158546.html?hash=20587ea73a9ecd0923ab9ea064dd66299dfe45dad38b9a8c9a4daade3a820ee2&dest=DS8_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-15-000053.html?hash=662b651231b42af8a5246a9cfadd7823925bae52ea19a05fc9eb0b6cb9326171&dest=EXHIBIT101-QUINNEMPLOYMENT_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-15-000053.html?hash=662b651231b42af8a5246a9cfadd7823925bae52ea19a05fc9eb0b6cb9326171&dest=EXHIBIT101-QUINNEMPLOYMENT_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-19-000106.html?hash=271a447e1202862945287468d3c365c0dd4a600e42fed761cf155e6237edfb9c&dest=EMPLOYMENTCONTRACT-BRU_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-19-000106.html?hash=271a447e1202862945287468d3c365c0dd4a600e42fed761cf155e6237edfb9c&dest=EMPLOYMENTCONTRACT-BRU_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-15-000051.html?hash=802599f81febc813165c86b8355aeed0df1ddc0a87ae29b4096833732376b4ab&dest=EXHIBIT103-FAGUEXEMPLOYMEN_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-15-000051.html?hash=802599f81febc813165c86b8355aeed0df1ddc0a87ae29b4096833732376b4ab&dest=EXHIBIT103-FAGUEXEMPLOYMEN_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-15-000051.html?hash=802599f81febc813165c86b8355aeed0df1ddc0a87ae29b4096833732376b4ab&dest=EXHIBIT107-CORADIXEMPLOYME_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-15-000051.html?hash=802599f81febc813165c86b8355aeed0df1ddc0a87ae29b4096833732376b4ab&dest=EXHIBIT107-CORADIXEMPLOYME_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-15-000051.html?hash=802599f81febc813165c86b8355aeed0df1ddc0a87ae29b4096833732376b4ab&dest=EXHIBIT109-BROBSTXEMPLOYME_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-15-000051.html?hash=802599f81febc813165c86b8355aeed0df1ddc0a87ae29b4096833732376b4ab&dest=EXHIBIT109-BROBSTXEMPLOYME_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-17-000052.html?hash=c07550998f23c4e385de5b03c3ceb8fe596c82b73b05912bdd9285e721824a15&dest=AMETZCONTRACT030817_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-17-000052.html?hash=c07550998f23c4e385de5b03c3ceb8fe596c82b73b05912bdd9285e721824a15&dest=AMETZCONTRACT030817_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-18-000095.html?hash=5d4419f08cb336aee9b854851bc79837b27af4c856478c463926d246e1f0b974&dest=EX102EMPLOYMENTAGREEMENTFI_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-18-000095.html?hash=5d4419f08cb336aee9b854851bc79837b27af4c856478c463926d246e1f0b974&dest=EX102EMPLOYMENTAGREEMENTFI_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-10-056983.html?hash=ed35b348aef181a9a08a30507b768cff71319c90d764742b1eb216b0ed32bdfd&dest=DEX1011_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-10-056983.html?hash=ed35b348aef181a9a08a30507b768cff71319c90d764742b1eb216b0ed32bdfd&dest=DEX1011_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-10-056983.html?hash=ed35b348aef181a9a08a30507b768cff71319c90d764742b1eb216b0ed32bdfd&dest=DEX1013A_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-10-056983.html?hash=ed35b348aef181a9a08a30507b768cff71319c90d764742b1eb216b0ed32bdfd&dest=DEX1013A_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-10-056983.html?hash=ed35b348aef181a9a08a30507b768cff71319c90d764742b1eb216b0ed32bdfd&dest=DEX1013B_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-10-056983.html?hash=ed35b348aef181a9a08a30507b768cff71319c90d764742b1eb216b0ed32bdfd&dest=DEX1013B_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-19-000164.html?hash=af84c85ebe8b481d553fde51833b9186a452124f17b0c1461016d60223b2b294&dest=EXHIBIT101-09X25X19_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-19-000164.html?hash=af84c85ebe8b481d553fde51833b9186a452124f17b0c1461016d60223b2b294&dest=EXHIBIT101-09X25X19_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-20-000192.html?hash=6f9b7216f9556ca6606cdf0fe3d90a31cef50590e636970a74223753cdc663b6&dest=EXHIBIT10109-17X2020_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-20-000192.html?hash=6f9b7216f9556ca6606cdf0fe3d90a31cef50590e636970a74223753cdc663b6&dest=EXHIBIT10109-17X2020_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-20-000192.html?hash=6f9b7216f9556ca6606cdf0fe3d90a31cef50590e636970a74223753cdc663b6&dest=EXHIBIT10109-17X2020_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-20-000192.html?hash=6f9b7216f9556ca6606cdf0fe3d90a31cef50590e636970a74223753cdc663b6&dest=EXHIBIT10109-17X2020_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-20-000192.html?hash=6f9b7216f9556ca6606cdf0fe3d90a31cef50590e636970a74223753cdc663b6&dest=EXHIBIT10109-17X2020_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-20-000192.html?hash=6f9b7216f9556ca6606cdf0fe3d90a31cef50590e636970a74223753cdc663b6&dest=EXHIBIT10109-17X2020_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-20-000192.html?hash=6f9b7216f9556ca6606cdf0fe3d90a31cef50590e636970a74223753cdc663b6&dest=EXHIBIT10109-17X2020_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-20-000192.html?hash=6f9b7216f9556ca6606cdf0fe3d90a31cef50590e636970a74223753cdc663b6&dest=EXHIBIT10109-17X2020_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-20-000192.html?hash=6f9b7216f9556ca6606cdf0fe3d90a31cef50590e636970a74223753cdc663b6&dest=EXHIBIT10109-17X2020_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-18-000200.html?hash=932512cc24bb7f495f17b2afca4f7ffbf078f8e5c0a168dddcd18c1dd69cf2ff&dest=EX10-1NOTEPURCHASEAGREEMENT_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000826154-18-000200.html?hash=932512cc24bb7f495f17b2afca4f7ffbf078f8e5c0a168dddcd18c1dd69cf2ff&dest=EX10-1NOTEPURCHASEAGREEMENT_HTM

Table of Contents

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

All other exhibits for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission are not required under the
related instructions or are inapplicable and therefore have been omitted.

b. Exhibits — The exhibits to this Form 10-K begin after the signature page.
c. Financial statement schedules — None required.

ITEM 16 — FORM 10-K SUMMARY

Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ORRSTOWN FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.
(Registrant)

Dated: March 15, 2021 By: /s/ Thomas R. Quinn, Jr.

Thomas R. Quinn, Jr., President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Thomas R. Quinn, Jr. President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and Director March 15, 2021
Thomas R. Quinn, Jr.
/s/ Thomas R. Brugger Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) March 15, 2021
Thomas R. Brugger
/s/ Neil Kalani Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer) March 15, 2021
Neil Kalani
/s/ Joel R. Zullinger Chairman of the Board and Director March 15, 2021
Joel R. Zullinger
/s/ Cindy J. Joiner Director March 15, 2021
Cindy J. Joiner
/s/ Mark K. Keller Director March 15, 2021
Mark K. Keller
/s/ Thomas D. Longenecker Director March 15, 2021
Thomas D. Longenecker
/s/ Andrea Pugh Director March 15, 2021
Andrea Pugh
/s/ Michael J. Rice Director March 15, 2021
Michael J. Rice
/s/ Eric A. Segal Director March 15,2021
Eric A. Segal
/s/ Glenn W. Snoke Director March 15, 2021
Glenn W. Snoke
/s/ Floyd E. Stoner Director March 15, 2021
Floyd E. Stoner
/s/ Linford L. Weaver Director March 15, 2021

Linford L. Weaver
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CHANGE IN CONTROL AGREFMENT

‘Itis Chunge in Cloatrel Agrcement (S Agreement™) 3z eflcetive as of Juby ﬁ, PIEE R
{the “Kilective Date™), by and among {rrstown Fnancis] Scrviees, Inc., a Pennsylvania
carporalion (“Orrstewn™), Orestown Bank, a hank and frust company organized under the
Pennsvlvania Banking Code of 1965 and a wholly owned subsidiaey of Orstown (the “Rank™)
(Chrsiown and the Bank are hersinatier colleclively refenred to as the “Fmployer™ and
Christopher Holt, an adutt individual {“Exeeuative™),

BACKGROTIND

The Employer and Executive lave enlered inie that cortain Emplovment Apreemenl, of
even date herewith {the “Employment Agreement™) which is incorporated by relerence snd
mude: 8 part of this Apreement. Tn comneciion therewith, the Employer and Frecutive also desire
i enter into this Change in Control Aprecment to provide cerain rights and henelils (o
Exceutive in the event ol any change of control of Orrstown.

NOW, FREREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mumal covenants and
agreements cantuined herein and intending to he legully bomd hereby, the parties hereto asree as
feut lawwes:

ARTICLE L Term of Agreement

1.1 Jerm. This Apreernent shall commence on the FEftective Dule and shal? continue
for a term of three (3) years; provided, however, that the teem shall autiroutivaliy extend for
additionat consecutive ane {V)-=yenr periods on cacl anniversary ul the Fifeetive Date nnless
cither party gives wrillen nidice of norrenewal to the other at least sixiy (607 days prier to such
anniversary. Heferences in the Aprcement to the "Ferm” ahall reler 1o the initial three-vear term
af this Apreersnent and any exiensions thereof

ARTICLE L1, Paymenis in Conncetion with a Change in Control,
21 Definitions.

() T purposes of this Apreament, 2 *Change in Control™ shzll be deemed
tey erzeur i

iy Aay person or group ol persons acting in concert, shatl bave
acquired ownesship ol more Ihan 30 pereent of the toal fair market vabue o7 1o
voting power of the sluck of (hrstown; oo

(1) The composition of the Board ol 1rectors of Ormrsiown shall have
changesl sizch that, during any period of 12 comsecitive manths dorng the Term
i ihis Agrecment, the majority of such Boznd is replaeed by dircctors whess
appeinhnent of loction is nor endorsed by o majosily of the members of the
Eoard of [Mrectors of Orestown, whe were i offiee befors the appeintmoent or
eloction; or

Exhibit 10.5



Termination) to cnable Execative to net an amount equal 1o the Unvesled
Company Contribution, and

(i) ke Benptoyer shall pay Exceutive up to $10,000 for executive
outplucemen| services ulilized by Excontive upon the receipt by the Fmplaver ol
writlen receips or other appropriate documentation.

fiv)  Except for the payment providesd in (15 sbove, such peyments
shall be made in ane lump swe within HAcen {15 business days after terminazion
of Executive’s employment [ollowing a Change in Control,

() Txcept us provided i Section 2.20d), if Executive’s emplayment i
Lerrminyled by Enypleyer fa any reason in cenneceion with a Change in Condeed within e
Chunge in Comrol Perded, or by Exeevtlve for any eeason within six (6) months
following a Change in Comrol, Executive shall continie to receive all emploves benetiis
svailable to Executive pursuant to Section 3.2 af the Fmployment Agrecment that
Excentive was receiving immediately bedoee such lerminulion, a3 provided in Scotion
4.2(a) of the Empleyment Agreemenl, ulse the benelils availabls 1o Excoutive
inmrediately before such terrmination purswanl (o Section 3.4 of the Emplovment
Agreement (Expense Reimbursement), Fxeculive shall conrinue to reecive all sueh
henefits o a periad of e () yesrs afler the date of a tenminstion desertbed in Section
2.2a). Bxecutive shall puy (he sane pereentage of the totzl cost of eoverage under the
apphicable employes benelil plans as Excoutive was paving when Executive’s
erplosyrment lermmated. The lobad cost of Exceutive’s continued coverage shall e
determined vsiny the samue rawes for health, life and/or dizability coverage that apply o
time Lo litne 1o similarly situsted active cmployees. Nonwithstanding the forepaing, in
lien of emgeang coverags under the group teom 1ife insueance progeam, the Employer shall
pay Fxecutive a lump sum payvment within thivey (30) davs after Isecutive’s terminalion
date in an smounl equal (o 150% of the Emplover's actuak joenivmg costal providing
group term e msurance coversge to Exceutive for the thiee year periad [illowing
Frployes's tormination of ewplevment date. L additinn, the Vmpliver shall pay to {he
Excewtive, i a single hunp s as soon as practicable afler Deeculive’s feminalion of
empleyment in the Change in Cortrol Period), |Misplaced] an aggrepste amooni cqual 1o
two {2) additional years of the Employer eetirement plan conlribulions by the Employer
uader each tax gualitied or ronqualified defined conlgbution type of retiromens plan in
which the lxecutive was a parlicipant immedialely prior 10 Excoutive's tormination of
emplayient and equal ko the selumial present value of twe (2) addidonal vears of benefit
aceruals under each e gualilied or nengualitied defined benefit type of retirement plan
in which Fxeoutive wes » paricipant immedistely prior to Executive™s termination or
restpmation, caleulated in cach case as U Excoutive had continued as a plaa parsicipant o
the by of sddilional yeas indicated below, Executive’s anuad eompensation lor
plan purposes i the most recently completed plan year of each plan continued nnehanged
throagh these additional years, and the cetirement plans continued w aperle wnchanged
through the additional vears. The acmuarial equivalencs lctors and sssumplions
generaily i use vunder any defined benefit plan shall be upplicd in determining fump sum
present walues of any delined henelit plas addilional pecruals pavable herevnder, The
period of continued heallth coversge requinsd by Seeton A986B ) of the Internal



Termination) to cnable Execative to net an amount equal 1o the Unvested
Company Contribation, and

(i) ke Beptoyer shall pay Exceutive up to $10,000 for executive
outplucemen| services ulilized by Excontive upon the receipt by the Emplaver ol
writlen receips or other appropriate documentation.

fiv)  Except for the payment providesd in (15 sbove, such peyments
shall be made in ane lump swe within HAcen {15 business days after terminazion
of Executive’s employment [ollowing a Change in Control,

() Tecept as provided in Section 2.20d), if Executive’s emplayment s
Lermingled by Enypleyer fa any reason in cenneceion with a Changg in Condeed within e
Chynge in Comrol Perded, or by Exeevtlve for any eeason within six (6) months
following a Change in Comrol, Executive shall continie o receive all emplovee benetiis
available o Excoutivie purauant to Section 3.2 ol the Employment Agreement that
Excentive was receiving immediately bedoee such lerminulion, a3 provided in Scotion
4.2(a) of the Emplovment Agreement, also the benelils availabls to Excoutive
inmrediately before such terrminalion purswanl (o Section 3.4 of the Emplovment
Agreement (Hxpense Reimbursement), Fxrecutive shall conrinue to reecive all such
banefits o a periad of e () years 2fler the date of a tenminstion descrebed in Section
2.2a). Pxecutive shall puy (he ssane pereentage of the total cost of eoverage under the
applicabte emnployee benedil plans ss Exccutive was paving when Executive’s
emploserment lerminated. The lobal eost of Exccotive’s comtinved coverage shalt be
determined vsiny the wame rawes for health, life and/or dizability coverage that apply o
time Lo litne 1o similarly situsted active cmployees. Nonwithstanding the forepaing, in
liew o amgeang coveragse under the group teom 1ife insueance progeam, the Employer shall
pay Executive a lump sum payment within thivey (307 days after 1xecutive’ s terminalion
date in an smounl cqual (o 150% of the Emplovers actuak poesniwg costal providing,
group termn Ll msuranes coversge to Exceutive for the thiee year periad [llowing
Froployes's tormination of envplevment date. In addition, the Vmpliayver shall pav (o (he
Excewtive, i a single hunp s as soon as practicabls afler Deeculive’s feminalion of
empleyiment in the Change in Cortrol Period), |Misplaced] an aggrepste amooani cqual 1o
two {2) additional years of the Employer eetirement plan conlribulions by the Employer
wader each tax gualitied or nonqualified defined conigbution type of retiromens plan in
which the lxecutive was a participant immedialely prior (o Excoutive’s tormination of
emplayient and equal ko the sulurial present value of twe (2) addidonal vears of benefit
accruals under each e gualilied or nengqualitied defined benefit type of retirerment plan
in which Fxecutive was o paricipant immediately prior to Executive™s terminstion o
restgmation, caleulated in cach case as U Excoutive had continued as a plaa parsicipant e
the mumnber of sddilional vears indicated below, Executive’s mumad sompangation lor
plan purposes i the most recently completed plan year of each plan continued nnehanged
through these additional years, and the vetirement plans continued w aperate wnchuanged
through the additional vears. The acmarial equivalencs lctors and sssumplions
generaily i use under any defined benefit plan shall be upplicd in defermining fump sum
present values of any delined benelit plas addilional aecruals pavable hereonder, The
period of continued heallh coversge requinsd by Seeton A986BY ) of the Internal



Bevenue Code o 1984, as amemded {“COTBRA™ shall nm concurrenfly with he
coverape pravided herern.

(¢} Uponthe ccctrtence of a Chanpe of Cantzol, the vesting arul exencise
rights of all stock options, shaves of restricted atack, and other syuity -bused compensation
units held by Executive pursuznt o any stock option plan, slewk aplion sgreemen),
restricted swck apreement, or other lomy lerm incentives plan shail be governed by the
terins of such plan or agresment, bul e event [he plan or agreemenl = silent on the
subjecl o chunge in conirol, alf such epéions, shares, snd onies shall immediately beeome
vesied and exercisable a2 1o 9]l or any part of the shares and rights covered thereby.

(dl  Excentive is to receive no payments under Section 2.2(a) and na kenefis
under Seetien 2.2(h) if the Executive’s employment is terminated during 2 Change in
Control Period by the death or [Disability of Execulive or lor Cawse. Inoan instance af
death or Dsability of the Fxecutive, however, lxecutive amit Fxeculive™s dependenls,
beneliciaries and estate shall receive uny benells payable (o them under the Eraployment
Apresrenl.

{c) References in this Section 2.2 to “the Employer™ shall inclode the
suecessorz: of the Emplover, as apolicable.

(1 If any benefit or payment feom the Compiny o Ereculive (whether paid
ar pavable or distributed or disteibtable pursuant to lhe lerms of this Agreement or
atherwise) (2 “Payment™) shall ke determined 1o be an “Fxcess Parachote Payment™, as
defined in Section ZHOCHB b of the Tntemal Revenne Code o 1986, a5 amendud (The
“Lode™). then the agoregate present vaiue ol amounts or benelils payable 0 Bxeoptive
pursuant to this Apresment (“Agrcement Payments™) shall be reduced (bul nod bela
wer) o the Reduced Amount. The *Redoeed Amount” shali be the grester of (13 (he
hipltest apgrepate present value of A gresment Pavimenls that can be paid without causizg
any paymnents o benelils hereunder 1o be an Facess Parachole Payment or (7 the largest
porlion, up o and inclubing the (ofal, of the Agreement Paviments that after taking into
nccounl alb applivable siate and federal taxes (compoted at the highesr applicable
maarginad rate ) meludiong sy taxes pavable perscant fo Scotion 4999 of the Codc, ecautis
in & grealer afler-lax bencfit 1o Exceutive than the after-tax benefit to Executive of the
amound calculatcd under (1) hereof (computed at the hizhest appiicable marpinal rare).
For purposes of this Section 2.2, prezent vaine shall be determined in acentdance with
Section 280CHd)(d) of the Code.

2.3 Revision ive Covepanls. I Txecutive’s emplovmant i3 enninaled o
conaection wilth a Change in Control, the Restricied Period inder tThe Employment Agrcemend
shall be reviged aulpmatically o egqoul the greater of six (0) mopths or the peried extending from
the duie ol the jermination of aciive cooploymenlt do the firs anniversary of the Change in

Canlral,

z4 T1apsition Serviees. For ane (1) vear following cessation of employment afler
any Chanpe in Conteol, Executive agrees to remain available to provide the Cmployer witl
Lansition assistance on matlers wilh which Execotive was invalved during his or ber



ernployment, Txecolive shall wender such assistance ina timely manper oo reasonalle notce
[rom the Emoployer. Exceutive shall not be entitled to any separate compensation Tar the seovices
deseribed in this parsgraph (other than reimbursement for reasanable oul ol pockesl expanses
actvally incurred). The Empboyver aprees o provide rensonahls advanes nediee of (e neeod Tor
Executive's aszistance and shall exercise reasomable eflors o schedole and limit such metters so
a5 w0 averdd interfering with Nseeutive’s personal snd other profissional ohligations.

ARTICLE 1L Miscellancous,

31 Lvalidity. B asy provision Beeenl s deternmined w be imvalid or unsplorecable by
a cowt of competent jurisdiction, Executive shall negotiale in goad failh do provide the Emplover
with protection as nearly equivalent 1o that fouad 1y be iovalid or unenforceable and i any such
prevvigicn shall he so deterrmingd 1 be invalid or eaenlorecable by veason of the duration or
gevgraphica] seope of the covenanls ¢ondained fherein, such duration or pecpraphical scape, or
herth, shall be considered to be reduced to a dusation or geearaphical scope to the extent
nepessHry W eure sueh mvalidiy,

32 Assipeenens Henetlt This Agresinend shall nol be assigoable by Exeoulive, and
shal be assignable by the Einployver only o any alfiliale or 1o sny person or entity which may
become a succassoer in interest (by pirchass ol assels or siock, or by mereer, o otherwize) o the
Emplover in the business ora portion ol the business presenily operated by it Subjeet to the
forepping, this Apreement and the Aghs amd obligalions sel forh herein shall imre 2o the benefit
of, and be kinding upim, the parties kerela and each o theit respective pormitted successors,
asgigns, heim, execuns and adminisitators, melonding the restrictive covensnts of this
Apreeiment.

33 Nalices, Al nofices hereunder shall be in writing and shatl be sutficiently amven
1 humal-delivered, sent by documented overnight deliveny service or registered or certified mail.
perstage prepaid. retum reectpl requested or by telegram, fax or telecopy (confinmed by 1L 5.
mail), receip! acknowledgzed, addresscd as set forth bolow or to such ather person andfor ol such
olher sddress as may be furnished in writing by any parry hereto te the other. Any such nolice
shal! be decmed to have been given as of the date received, in the case of personal delivery, oran
the date shewn on the recaipt or condtemation theretor, in all olher ases. Any snd ol services of
process and any other notice in 2oy sach action, suil or proceeling shafl be efleclive upains sny
party if piven as providad in this Agreement; provided thal nothing hervin shall be deemed fo
aftect the dipht af any parly Lo serve process 0 any sther manneT permitted by law,

{a) If to the Employer:

Orratown Hank

77 Hast King Street

Shippenshurg, PA 17237

Allention: Chiel Tlaman Resources Olficsr



1)) It to Excoutive:

Chelstopher Hali

M1k enwick Dinve

Finksburg, MIr 21048

34 Emtre Azrecanent and Medificaln. This Agreoment and the Employment
Agrecment constities the entire agreemenl hetween the parties herete with respeet w0 the matters
contemplatecd herein and therein and supersedes #f] prior agreements and nnderstandings with
respect theeeto. Any armendment, modifcalion, oF waiver of this Agreement shall not he
effective unless in writing smd wgrocd and cxecuted by the Emplover and Executive. Neiller the
[wifure nor amy delay on the pard of any party o cxereise any right, remedy, power or priviiege
shall preclule any other or further exercise of the same ar of any other right. remedy, nower, or
privilege with respeet to any ecewrrence and such failure or delay By exercise any right shall he
eomsttucd a5 a waiver of any dght, remedy, pawer, ar privilepe with vespeel (o sny other
seeurrense, The Emplover and Lxecutive ackniveledge sml agree Ra the Tollowing restrictive
covenants shall supersede and replace in their entirety The restriclive covenants in any Restieted
Stock Share Grant Apreement hetwesn Ormdewn and Excoutive, as lollows: Exccutive shall not,
dwing the Emplayvioent Perind amd for & Resiticled Perod (as defined below) after Executive
ceases (o be employed by or provide service lo Employer. dircetty or indivectly, be ar become an
officer, owaer, sharsholder, general ur limited parhuer, dircctor or emplovee or agent of, ora
consultant w, o give nancial o olher sssistance 1o, sy persen of cutity constdering enpaning
in commercial banking or the provision of finaueial products or scrvices, of i3 so engaped, within
an area iaving a sevenly-lve (75) mile radius from the headquarters of Employer at the tme
Hxecutive ceases W he emplivid by Empdoyer; provided such person or entity s enpaped fn a
business or activily which is substantially similar to the business or activity in which Pxecutive
18 enpared while employel by or providing servies to Emplover. “estricted Pevtad”™ shall menn
the lomger al (1) «ix (6) mosths or (8} the perdod extending from the date of the termination of
active employment (o the first anniversary of the Chanpe in Conteod.

constucd and enforced in accondance with, the laws ol the Commonwenlth of Ponnsyivania (and
Linited States tederal law, 1o the extent appticable}, withoul piving sifect to otherwise applicable
principles of conBlicts of Taw. Al aclions herevmsder shall b filed in the appropedate coues
located in Cumberland and Franklin Coustivs, Peansyivasia and Exceoutive consents to venue
and jarisdiclien thensin.

3.5 Governing Law. Forum. This Apreement 35 muds pursuant o, snd shall be

3.6 Headipgs: Counterparts. The headings of sections and subsections in this
Apreement sre for convenience only and shall net affeet its imerpretation. Thiz Agreement may
bu excevted in rwo ar more counterparts, each af which shall be deerned 1o be an omigina] snd all
of which, when taken together, shall be deemed % constitule but ome and the same Agrecment.

37 lurher Assurances. Each of the parties hercto shall cxccues such fiuther
instruments andd ke sucl other aciions a2 any other panty shall reasenably request in order 10
ellecinate the purpeses of fhis Agreement.



38 Attomevs’ Foes and Retated Fxpenses. All reasonable aitornevs” fees and related
expenacs newred by Executive in connection with o relating to the review and negotiation of
this Apreament of, If Executive prevails in connection wilh enfircing Dxeculive’s sights under
this Agreement, the enforcement by Freculive of Txeculive's rphls onder this Agreemend, shall
be paid in fubl by the Dmployer.

3.9 Mitieation, Executive shall not be required to mitipate the amount of any
pavient or benefit provided for herein by seeking employment or otherwize shall not be entitled
to set-off against the amount of any payments made pursuatt heeto with sespect ta any
compensation earned by Executive ardsing foim other emplosyinent.

A0 Indempaficatipn. Exvepl e the exlenl mecnsistend with (he Employer’s
cerlilivae ol imeorporation or bylaws, the Employer wili indemmfy Executive and held
Fregnftive harmmless (o the fullest extent permittcd by law with respect to Exeoutive’s scrvice as
an officer and cmplovee of the Emplover and it sebsidiarics, which indemanification shall be
providod following formination of cmplovment for se kanp as Executive may have [tabilitr with
respect w0 Exscutive’s service as an officer or emplovee of the Ymplover and ita subsidiaries.
Executive will be covered by a divectors” and officers” insucance policy with respect 1o
Executive’s acts as an officer to the same extent as 211 other olticers ol the Tmployer under such
polieies,

FLE 4094 Sale Harbor, Mobwithgianding anything in (his Agreoment to the conirary.,
in no event shell the Frplover be obligaed o eommenee payment or distibotion to the
Toereulivi af any amound thal consteutes nonogualiAed defermed componsalion withic the mesning
of Code Section 4004 (“Section 402A™) carlier than the carlicst pomissible date under Scetion
4094 thal such amommt could be paid wathoeot additional {axes or interest being imposed under
Sechion 4094, The Bmplover and Excoutive agree that they will cxcente any and all
amendments o this Apreement as they matually agree in pood faith may be noccssary to cisurne
compliance wilh the distribuion provisions of Scction 4094 and to cause ary and all amonsts
due ynder this Agreement, the pavimant or distribution of which is delayed pursvant to Section
A09A, 1o be paid or distributed in a single sum pavment ac the carliest permissibie date vader
Scotion 4094, Without limiting the peoerality of the forepaing, in the event Executive ista
receive o payment of compensation heceunder that is on aceoint of a separation fom service,
auch payment is subject to the provisions of Section 4084, and Hxecative is a key emploves ol
the Employer, then payment shall aol be made befree the date thal is sis montha afler the date ol
separation [rom seevice (or, 1 earlier than the erdd of The six moenth penl, te ke of
Fxecisive’s death). Amoeusts otherwise payable during such six month paymen| shall be
aecumulaied and paid ina lump sum on the fmst day of the seventh month, For purposes hereof,
Farvomive is 8 key emplovee of the Emplever if, on his date of scparation from service, the
Emplover is pubhicly draded and he mel the definition key coployee found i Code Scection
A1 AN, (11) or {1i1) (disrcearding Scotion 41600051} as of the last dav of the calendar vear
proceding the dase of separstion.

302 Release Notwithstanding any other peovision of this Agreement, any severance
o teronielion payviments ar benefits described are conditionad on Rrecutive’ s execution uml
delivery Lo the Bmplover of an ellective peneral relesse aml non-lisparagement agreemen| in g
fisrm preserihed by the Employer substamially in conformily with such sgrecment stiached



hereto as Annex A and in s munner consistent with the requirements of the Older Werkers
Menefit Proteciion Act and any applicable state law, hecoming offvetive by the 0" day
loliowing (he Exceutive’s separation feom servive, Soch payments will conimence Tollowing: U
dale the release becomes effective, provided that i the 90 day period spans two calendar veurs,
the payvinents witl commence i the secomd calendar vear.

313 (hher Righty, Nothing in this Agieement i infended d Bmil Excoeutive’s rizht
{a) payement or reimbursenent for welfare beaefit claims meurred prior Lo fhe cessation of hisher
employment under any group nswance plan, policy or arrangement of the Emplover in
acerrdance with the terms of such plan, pebicy or smmgement (b) clect COBRA benefiis in
sccordunee with the applicable law, or (2] reveive u divtribution of vested accened benelils fom
my employes ponsion beaefit plan in accordanee with the woms of that plan.

114 Buevival. Wowilhatanding anything to the contrary in this Agresment, the partics
agree that the Bmployee’s obligations under Section 2.3 of this Agreemend shall continue deapite
the expirativon al Ihe lem ol 1his Agresment o its Termination,

3153 Regulatory Timitatiens, Motwithstanding anything heretn contained fo the
cotrrary, aay payments Lo Employes by the Emplayer, whether pursuant o lhis Apreement or
otherwise, are sulject by und condifioned upon their compliance with Section §8(k) of the
Federal Lrepesit Insurance Acl, 12 U8.C, §1828{k) and FIIC regulaiion 12 C.F.R. Fart 359,
Ciodden Parachoie and Tndemnificadion Payments.

[Signature page folfows!



LN WITNESS WHERFQF, the pamios have executed 1his Agreciment as of the dee M
above writen,

= {Cleeontve™) . o

J:"”‘_‘,f —

Signature: Christopler Holt
DRESTOWMN FIMNAMNCTAL COMEMOR AT TORN (5Orrstonwn '™

— - — s
By "-—_"__;ZZf:""-mm_ &- "L 1
Foee: Thousas R, Quinn, Jr. 0'
Vitke:  President & Chicl Exceulive (HTicer

DRERSTOWN BANK (L “Hank'}

Hy r: fl:'s..--—q_- il -_L =3

Farme: oimas R Chud
Tidle: P'resdent & Chiet




EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Employment Apreement {“Aprecment™) iz effective as of luly _.-’—r/:;m 9 (the
“Etfective Date™), by and among Orstown Financial Services, Inc., a Penmsvheania corpuration
(Orrstown”), Urrslown Fank, o bank and tust company organized under the PennayTvamin
Banking Code of 1965 and a wholly owned subsidiary of Orestown (the “Bank™) (Ormsiown 2nd
the Hank are heremuler eollectively referred to as the *Reaployer™ anif Christophar Hel, an
adult individus? {lhe “Executive™.

BACKGROUND

The Employer desives to enter ingo a comprehensive Employment Agrecment with the
Baccutive (this *Agreement™), addressing e torms and conditions of Executive’s emplovinent,
incheding bur net limited to the cinseguences it the Exceutive’s emplovment is werminated [or
Grood Reason or without Cause, exch as defined hereln. The Executise desires 1o hegin
cmplevment with the Emplover, on the terms and conditions contained in this Apreement. On
the date herecd, the lmployer and Excenlive are alzo enteving into o Chunge in Controb
Apreement (lbe “Change in Contrel Agreement™) to provide cerlain righis and benedifs t
Execulive in the event of 1 change of contrel of Orstown, Also on the date hereof, the
Emplover angd Treomive se also cotering iote 8 Salary Conneation Apreemicnt (ihs *“Salary
Continugion Agreemnent ™), a form of which is attached heretn as Txhibit A, which shafl be
ellective as ol , 2020,

WNOW, THEREFGRE, in consideration of the premises snd (he metusl covenants and
EI.!._:F{!L‘,‘TIiﬂ-"l'l (£2)

NOW, THEREFOKE, in congideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and
agrecments contained herein and intending fa be legally boud herehy, the partics hereto agree as
fuallows:

ARTICLE L. Capacity and Duties.

1.1 Crmplyment. The Emplover heveby agrees to emplay the Execuive, and
Ixecutive hereby nerees 1o be cmploved by the Employer, Tor the period and upon the terms and
condilrons hereinafler ot forth. BExecutive ackiowiedpes that the Foinplover has given Excoutive
graoed ard valuable consideration for the execution of this Apreement s the resirictive
vovenanls contained berein, the sufficiency of which s uckpowledged by Excoutive,

i.2 Comacity and [hsties.

{a} Exeerstive shall serve hereunder initially as Fxecutive Viee President,
Markel President, and thercafter during the Limpeovrnenl Period (as delmed in Scebon 2.1
below) in such other or additional positions as may be wssigmed by 1he Board of Diteczors
ol the Emplover andfor the Bank {collectively, the “Thoard™) or by the President and
Chicf Excentive Officer af the Panplayer nciing on behall of fhe Beard, Executive shall
perform such duties and shall buve such sulhoridy consistent with Executive’s positian as
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may {iom time f e reasonably be specificd by the Board or by the President and Chicl
Pgecolive QlTieer seling cn behalf of the Board. ixecotive shall reporl direetly to thc
Chiel Executive Officer of the Bmploser and shall perform Excowrtive's duties for the
Fraployer principally at the Towson, Maryland ollies, o at such other locstions as may
be determined by the Board or by Ibe Presiden! and Chicf Exceutive Officer of the
Employer acting an betall ol the Besard, except for periodic wavet that miay be necessary
or apprapriate in connecdion wilh the performance of bxecueive’s duties hereurder. The
retmns and conditions of this Agreement have been reviewed and approved hy The Rosnd's
Executive Compensation Commities, and such Commities shall review the Aproomenl st
feaxt anouaily, or move frequaktly, fo assess the coulihuing approprialencss of thiz
Apreement in light of the then-current needs of the Employer. No change i dutics of
Frevulive sholl in any way diminish the Base Sulary payable 1o Exceutive pursnant to the
provisions of Scction 3 herein.

{l:} Hxecutive shall devaly Execwtive's full working time, energy, skill end
best efforts to the perlormanes of Exeetive's duties hereunder, i a manmer that will
taighfully ancl dlagently further the business and interests of the Criplover, and shall nol
bz eanpboved by or parlicipaic of cngaze inoor be a pat of inoany munner the namsgement
or aperalion vl ay business citcrprize other than the Eimployer, (ncluding, withou
limilation, participation by Executive an any nnaltiliated profit or nop-profit board of
divechors) exeept: (1) vpon the prioy written notice o and consent of Exceotive Committes
ol the Boacd or the Chicf Executive Officer, or (i1} selely as an invesior in real or
personal property, the manapement of which shall nol detrs, from the performance of his
duties hereonder; provided, however, that the engasement by Excoutive in any sush
business aciivity skall at all times be i conlimmity with the Emplover's Code of Ethics.
ug lhe s may be mrended or supplemented from Gme 1o fime. Notwithszanding
anything hercin to the contrary, Hxecutive shadl lerminale auy such activity upon thity
(307 days® written request by the Lmplover.

ARTICLE I1. Term of Emplovitent.

21 Term. The lerm of Excourive's employment under this Agreemenl shall
commendce on the Blleclive Date and cortinue for a theee (3) vear-peniod 1V nof sooner forminated
or lurther exfended pursuant to the terms of this Apreemeant (such periad, as carlier torminated or
Further extendad, lhe “Emplovment Peviad™). The Dmplevment Petiod shatl be extended
auwomatieally for ene (1) additional year on each unmiversary of the Effcctive Date, unlass either
the Employer or Executive pives contiary wrillen nolics to the other at least sixty (60 dags prine
to the anniversacy date. Lipon the piving ol nodics of non-renewal of the Emplasimeid Period, the
Employment Feriad shall continens fur n fwo (2) yesr-period afrer the relevant anniversary dute.
It is the intention ol the parties that this Agreement continne until (i) the expiration dale 17 sither
party bas piven wrilten nalice i the other party of his or its mtention not to renew his
Apreement as provide] ghowve or (i) dhe carliest of (2] the voluntary termination af Precibees
employmenl with e Employer by Exceutive other than for Geod Reason {as defined in Section
4.2}, (0] the volunlury lermination of Executive’s emploviment by Bxecutive lor Good Reazon,
{c) the termination of Exccutive’s employment by the Emplover for Cause (s defined in Seetion
4.5} () dhe terminstion of Exccutive’s emnployinent by the Fmplover without Causc, (c)
lerminatior of Exceutive’s employinent with the Tmpioyer due fo Disshility (as defined in
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Seation 4,45, (1 the leominstion of Exceotive’s employment with the Empleyver due to his
reliremend epon attaining agc 65 or {g) the death of Executive. For the avoidance of doudit,
written notice given by any party of an intention not 1o renew this Ageeement does not, i and o
itself, establish a right to any payments conternplated in Section 4 ai this Apreemenl.

ARTICLE 11 Cempensation.

il Basic Compensation.

{a) As companaation fo Freculive™s services hersynder, the Emplayer shall
pay w0 xecwive a salary ar an initial anmual rate equal 1o 3325000, payable in poriodic
instatlments in weeordance with the Bmplover's regular payroll praciices in effoct from Gme ta
lime. Preculive’s gnmeal salary, us determmined in accordance with this Scerion 3.1, is hereinaficr
ree[erped 1o s Breculive's “Bage Salary.” For wears subscquent to the initial vear of the
Employment Peniod, Bxcoutive's Base Salary shall be sot by the Emplover at an amount no less
than the initial Base Salary. For cach wear i the Emptoviment *eriod, Executive shall bea
participant in any borus andfor incartive compensation progiam tor executives, including i
particular any anvwal cash bonus plan and/or equity-based long term incentive plan that the
Ermployer may implement and administes frors time o me durdng the Employ ment Period. The
amount and foem of such bonus and incentive campensation shall be delermined anmualiy by the
Emplover conaistent with its Board’s execalive compensalion practices; pravided thal the
FEmplever shall pay 1o Fxecoiive (1) a cush bonws mthe amaowni o] 230000 puyalble promplly
after Bxecutive’s connpletion af thirly {301 days ol employmen| with the Fmplever sl (i3 for
fircal veur 2019, & caxh bonus in the armount ol al least 51000060, pavable In carly 2020
conewrretlly with the payment of the Tmplayver's alher execulive omus payments. Redorences
herein o the amannl ol Fxecolive’s Base Sakary or smmieal cash bonns or eash incentive
crenpensalion shall be e the gross smounl o such compensalion slemend, exclugive o any
elewtive compensation deleral rereements entered into by Execwive {Tom time fo time, The
determinuiiom ul compensalion payable by the Employer heremder shall be made b the
Erpoufive Compensalion Comenitlee of the Board, or ite desipnee, which shall perfomm an aiweal
e o this Agreemend, the Empleves®s perdonuance with the Emplover and compensadion
pavable hereunder, In svch annual revicw, the Excoumve Compensation Committes shall
consider the recommendations of the Board.  The results of anch review, including
rocommcnaation as to base salary admstment and bonus, shall be reported ¢o the Board and shalt
be memarialized in the minotes of the meetings of the Bozed or held in a confidential file by the
Emplever's Human Resources Department.  Motwithstanding any other provision ol this
Apreement, e order for the Nmployes 1o be eligible to receive any bonus ot incenlive
conmpetiatio: yment, il 18 expressly agreed thin the Tinployes rust be emnploced on boths (1}
the (uy the bonus or imcenlive compensstion pryment is declured by Eomployer and {33 the date
such homus o incentive compensalion paymenl s paid iy Employer.

(k) Subjeet to the approval of the Executive Compensation Cormmittes of the
Board, after Exceutive’s completion of ninety (907 days of cinployment with the Emplover,
Emptover will grant wo Executive shares of Restricted Stock (as such term iz defined in the 26011
Urrstowe: Finanelal Services, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan (the “Stock Incentive Plan™)), with 2
air Market Waloe {22 such tern i3 delied in the Stock Incentive Plan) an the date af the grant
equul e 31500, Such Restricied Siock prant slall be subjeci o lree-year clill vestng and

(¥}
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otherwise be subject to the terms and conditions of the Stocl Incentive Plan and fhe Besircied
Stock Bhare Grrant Agreement to be entered inlo by Exevulive and the Emplaver al the fime of
the prant.

32 Emplovee Benefits, In addition to the compensation provided fior in Section 3.1,
shoring (he Empleyiment Pericd, Exceutive shalf participate in those of the Emplover™s broad-
bused cmplovee retivement plans, weifare beretit plans, and oiher berelit programs or which
Executive is cligible under the terms of the plan or program, on the same lerms and condifions
that are applicable to employees zenerally. In addition, Frecalive rouy be eligible, as determined
L thie Executive Compensation Committee ol the Posnd [ram dime do Gme, Juring the
bployment Period o parlicipate in any of the Cmployer’s exeeutive-only retincment plar,
deferred compensalion plan, wellire benelil plan, or other benefit programs, as and to the extent
arty swch benelil pragrams, phms or ymaegements arc of may from time fo tine be in offect
during the Eraployment Period,

3.3 Vacation and Leave. Executive shall be entitled to unnual peid vacation, lesve ol
absence and leave for illness or femporary disahility in confonmity wilth the Employer’s rogulsre
policies and practices, and any leave nn account ol illness or temporary disabilily shalk nol
conatitule 4 hreach by Faeculive ol Txeculive™s npreements hereander,

34 Fapense Reimbursernent. During the Emplesvment Perfod. the Employer shall
reimiburge Execniivy for all reasenable cxpenses incwred by Exceutive in connection with the
perlomemes of Exeoutive™s dulics hereunder in accordance with its repufar reimbursement
pobieies Az n elleet [rom fime o ime and upon reezipt of itemized vouchers theretor and such
ather supponling information as the Emplover may reasonahly requise.

ARTICLE 1¥. Terminalion of Employment,

4.1 Volustary Termination or Relivement, I the event Exceolive’s employment is
valunezrily terminated by the Bxecutive other than Tor Good Renson (as defined in Seefion 4.2,
Emploser shall aot thereaiter be ohligated 1o malce soy forther payments hercuvnder other than
amounts (inchading salary, expense rambursement, and emplevee benefits) acerved under this
Apreernent a5 ol the date ol such lerminglion in aecordsnes with gencrally accepted accounting
principles, Terminalion of Exceutive’s crployment based on “Retirement™ shall mean voluntary
terminalion of Excoutive’s empleviment by Excentive at any time after Executive reaches ape 63
o in accordance will any retitement policy catablish by the Board with livecutive’s consent as il
applics to him. In the cvent Executives emploviment terminates doe wo Retirement, the
Ermployer shall be oblipsted to pay Executive an amount equal 1o 8ix months® Base Salary
payable during such six (0) montk period in accordance with the Tmployer’s normal payrell
processing intervals io effect fion time 0 time at the rete inoelTect immedialely prior o the Pale
of Termination, Wogether with a lump sum payment within thicty-fwe {33 davs sler Exeoutive's
termination date in an amaount equal o FE0% ol the Fmplover's sclual premiom cost of
provdicding group term L insurance coverage o Fxeonive for the three year pernod foflowing
Freculive’s lemnmation debe, applicable expense reimbursements and ali accrued and unpaid
henelie amd vested beneils in sceorfanee witn the applicabte employee benefie plans. Upon
mpkinyg the payimenis deseribed in this Scetion 4.1, the Employer shall have no further
eompensation oblipation to Exeouive horoundes.
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42 lerrdnation lor Good Beasen: Toermination Withew Causs,
v#)  Excopt as cxpressly provided o Section 2.2¢a) and 2.2(b) ol he Chunge in
Control Agreemenr, in the event:

[i} Frevulive’s employment i3 terminated during the Emplavmenst
Period hy Dxecutive [or Good Roason (25 defined horeing within thivty ¢30) days
ol The ekl exisience of the Good Reason conditien; or

[ii}  Exeoutive’s employment is erminated during the FPaoployment
Poried by the Emplover for any reason other thar Cinese (s delined hercin;

Lher, suhjecd W Secton 614 “Releaze™, the Employer shall pay {or cauze o be
paicdy o Fxecutive in aceordance with the Emplover's normal payroll processing
inkeryals an amount equal to (i) Exceutive's Base Salary for (A six (6) moaths
[allwing such teniinetion or {B) the remaining ducation of the Emplayment
Period (whichever is greater, and (i) an amaount egual Lo the average anmual cash
bonus camed during the past theee calendar yvears preceding the calendar year in
which Executive’s termination of emplovment is eMeckive (exclusive of oy
election to defer receipt of eoanpensation Prsculive may have made), Txeonive
shalt alzo continue to be eligible o parlicipate in any “group heallh plan,” a:
defined in 24 [1L8.0. $1167 7 ), in which Fxeeufive participated pursnant to
Section 3.2 fora period of six (6] months Gonfiming o pay he cnployee porlion
of the prettivm costs Tor the active pland, subjee! o he Taw known as COBILA,
pursearn oo Section $HR0HY 0 of the Internsg] Revenue Code of 19846, as
amended, and 22 115 .C. 1161 el seq. Furthermore, in lieu of ongoing covorage
unter the Employers groap keem )il iesoranee program, the Emplover shall pay
Lxmecutive i lurp sum puymuenl within thirty-{ive (33} days after Exceative’s
terminadion dule inoun armasnd eogual e 130% of the Empiover’s aetual premium
cosl ol prividing group letm life insurance coverape to Bxecutive for the three
year perie] foflewing Excowfive’s termination date. Exccutive shall be
compensafed n respeet of his inabikity to participate in the Emplovers insured
cmpleyee group disability plan for a pertod of six (1 months thaough payiment by
the: Empleyer to Excentive, of an amount equal to the cost that would have been
incuered by the Emplover if Executive were able to participale in such plan ur
program (less the emploves portion ol the premium costs Tor e selive plan) plus
an atnount witich, when added 1o the Pmplover annuoal cas! o The Employer,
wirild be sulticient alier Federal, siale arad T insome and pavrol] taxes {based
o the k2 retums [led by Treculive mes! cecently prior do the Dae of
Ternymution) s enable the Execulive (o nel an amount equal to the Emplover
anmial cosl w the Employer.

ik Ag wzed herein, Exeeutive shall hive “Good Reason™ to rerminate his
cmployment if one of the fellowing conditions {i) through (iti} comes into existence,
Excewtive provides notice to the Hmployer of the existence of the condition within Ihirty
(30 davs of its iritial existence, and the Employer fails to remedy the condilim within
thizty (307 days of seceiving notice ol (15 exislence:
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7 The Emplover has materially breached its ieaterial oblipations
under this Aprecment:

{11} The Employver, withoal Execulive’s prior written conscnt, changes
Lev anvy maierial respect the authotity, duiics, Base Salary or reporting streeture of
Finsculive, m o manner and Lo the extont that results in & matorial disdrution; or

¢iziy  The Employer requires Executive 1o relocate his principal husiness
lecation 75 miles or more feom the location of the Fmplayers Tawson, Maryband
office as of the FEffective 1are.

fcl the arnounls payable nsccordance with the Empioyver's nommal paveall
processang inlervals putsyant (o this Scetion 4.2 shall be paid commencing within G0 dags
afler The Date of Terminstion; provided, however, that if the 60-day period beping in one
(1} ealendsr yesr and cnds ins sccond calerdar vear, the amount shall begin to be paid in
the seeond calondar year by the last day of such 60-day period; provided, lurther, that the
initial payment shall include a catch-up paviment 1 cover amaunls retraactive 1o the day
inumediately following the Late of Fermination. [Fack payment pursiant 1o this
Agreement is intended o comstitule & separate payment [or perposes of Tropsoy
Regulation Section 1.4094-2(k)2).

43 Termination for Cauge, Executive’s empdoyment herconder shal! terminate
immedialely upon npdice ol emuination for Cause (as defined horein), in which cvenr the
Fipnplayer shull nod thereaRer be obligated o make any fucther pavments hereunder other than
amounts (inclwiing safary, expense reimbursement. and coaployee benefits) accrued under this
Agreement or aeeried or vested under the terms of any croplovee benefit plan or incentive andfor
equily bysed long werm incentive plan gz of the date of such termination in accordance with
genrally sovepled secounting prnciples, As vsed hercin, “Cause™ shafl mean the following:

fa)  Exccutive shall have committed an 2ot of dishonesty with respect o
rnaterial communications with the Boasd ar anyane o whnen The Bxeculive reporls;

thh Dxecative’s willld miscondue! i the porfomanes of s dutics as an
employee of the Employer or etheredse reigied 1w his employient with the Employer:

fey the issnance of a final cease-and-desist order by a state or federat agency
hsving jurisdsetion over the Empleser ar any entity which contrals the Tinplover w the
extont such cease-and-desist order reguires the termination v’ Execulive’s empleyinent;

d) Txecutive’s breach ol duciary duly;

5] Excoutive's matcrial breach of any provision of this Agreement;

(fy Executive’s willfal violation of any lasw, rule or regulation that consiilutes
a felony (other than teaffic violations or similar offenaes);

(2} Execulrve’s delibernte sl mlenttonsl refusal or fatlurs (for reasons otler
thauy incapscity due 1o accitent or physieat or mendal illness) to perfonn Execurive’s

ACTINTIEELIE4A LG



duties i the Fanplover, where sucl vefussl or fuibure continucs for a poried of at Least
Lharly (30 consesalive days [ollowing the reccint by Excentive of wiitten notice from the
Employer setting forth in reasonabic detail the facts upon which the Eeplover relies in
concloding that Excoutive has deliberately and intentienally refused or failed W perform
aneh dutics: or

th) Fxeeutive’s comgluel that brings publhic diseredil on or injures the
reputation ol the Employer, in the Emplovers reasonable opinion.

4.4 Benelits Following Death or Dizabilitr,

[a) Fotlowing ixecutive’s tal disebilily (“MDisability™, us delmed below) or
death during the Emplovment Period, 1he employmen! ol The Execitive wilk torminate
autormatically, in which event the Tanl shall ey thereaftor be ohligated to make any
iurther puyments hoereuntdur cther than smounls (includiyg salsry, cxpense
reimbursement, and employes benefiiz) acerued under this Agrecment or accrued or
vested under the torms of any employee benefit plan, or ncentive andfor equity based
long term incentive plan as of the date of such termination in zceordance with penesally
acecpted accounting puinciples or as otherwise apecifically provided herein For puepusses
horeof, “Disability™ slabl mean that the Execntive, by reason of a medicull y determinahle
pluysical or medical impainment that can be expected o resull in death or expected Ly Tas
for & continwons period of at feast (123 twelve manths, (1) is enable o engage in any
substaatial gainful activiey or (i) has received moome replacerment benelils lor o perted
of 2k least three (3) months ander an accidant or heallh plan ol the lmployer,

(b} In (he event of a lermination ol Execulive”s emploviment as a result of
Iwecutive's death, the Finplower shall, ag soon as administratively practicablec, pay
Faeculive’s designaled benediciymies an ymounl vyual Lo six monlhs’ Base Satary at the
rate anul us reguired by Seclion 3.1 and in ellecl immediately prior to the date of death,
agether willh o lump sum payveend 10 an amowan) coual to 100% of the premimn cose of
COTBRA continuation coverage under the applicable health plan of the Emplower or its
Affilivles pursvant 1o Code Scction 49808 for Excewtive's (1) swviving spouse for the
poriod commencing as of the first day of the fivst month next foflowing Executive’s death
and certinning for the dueation of the aoplicable COBRA conrinuation pericd and (il)
dependent children for the peried commencing as of the first day of the first manth nest
fallowing Lxecwive's death and continuing untsl the earlier ol (A) the duration af the
applicable COBRA continuation period, or (3 the dale such dependen) chiliven cense w
be “qualifying children™ under the Fmploves's health plan, s the CORRA rate then in
effect as of the date of Frevutive™s death {as reasonuhly delermined by the Emplove)
(e the employee portion al e premium cosls o the acliee plan), subjeel o nercase
hused on premium rale incresses over the applicable periods of time deseribed i this
senlpnee. The perod of confinued heallh covermpe roguired by COBEA shall run
eomeurrently wilh dhe coversge provided herein. Exceuwtive's dependents, hencficiaries
and csale, az fhe casc may be, will also roccive such swrvivor's income and other benefits
az they may be cuttled under the tenms of the benetit propesima, lans, and aranzements
described in Section 3.2 which provide benefits upon the desth of Executive.
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{c) Bn the event ol & fermination of this Asreeinent as a reault of the
Execulive’s Dhaubibily, subject (o Sevtion 6,14 (CRelease™ { Ad the Finpioyer shall pay
Exceutive within hitly-five (35] days [ollowing leeminalion an amounl egoal o sic (6)
months' Base Salary at the rate and as required by Scetion 3.1 and n effeet jmmediately
prior to the date of Disabality, together with a lunp sum payinent o an sssunt eyl Lo
100% of the premiun: cost of COBRA comtinnation coverage undet the applicable heallth
ptan of the Employer or its affiliates pursuant to Code Section 49808 for Executive’s (3)
individual coverage and that of his spouse tor the period commencing as of the first day
o the lirst rmonth next Gl lonwirg Dxecttive’s termination as a result of Disabilin: and
conlinuing [or the duration of the applicable CORRA continuation period and (1i)
depenfent children [or Lhe penod commencing as of the sl day of the Tt month eext
following Excoutive's tormingion as o resull of Thisahilite end continuing wnidil the
carlier of (A) the apphicable COBRA conlinuation perad or (T8 e date such dependent
children cease to be *gualifving children”™ under the Employer’s health plan, st (he
CUBRA rate then in effect ag of the dare of Exceutive’s termination as a resull of
1Jisability (as reasonalbly determined by the Empleyer) (less the emplaver portion of the
premium costs for the active plan), subject w0 increase based on premiu rate ncreascs
aver the appiicable perieds of tme described tn this sentence. Fne Employer shall also
pay Faeeutive a lomp sum payment within thicty-five (33) days after Executive’s
teremination date equal wa F50% of the Fmployer’s actual preminm cost of providing
group lerm Tile insununue covernpe i Exacutive [be the three year period following
Esecilivees dale of Disahilily and (A) therealter e as lonp as Execulive continues to be
tiigwhlet, the Employer shail continue o pay an amount equal tooat leasc 64 ol Hase
Salary im el Immebiately prioe e the dute of Thsahility watil the earlier of Execative’s
desth or Deeember 31 of the catenibyr wear in winch Execotive adleing age 63, reduced by
any dizghility peyments [rom any Tmplover provided disability insumance plans or
proeTams and any bonelis payments recerved Mmom the Federal Social Security o
applicable state dizability beneiits programs; aml (B, 4y the exienl not duplicative of the
forcpeing, Exceotive shall receive hose bepefits cuslomanly provided by the Tplover
to disabled former cmployees, which benelils may inclede, bul shall net be Bonited b,
life, medical, health, accident insurance and a survivor's income benefil, The period ol
continned health coverape roauired bye COBEA shall run concurcently with the coverage
provided hevein.

) Torithe purposes ol (hand {) above, Brecutive or Executive’s
dependenls shall paw (he game perecentage of the iodal cost ot proep beaith plan coverage
a5 Excoutive was paving, il any, when Fxecutive’s employment lertninated. "The total
cost of Excoutive’s contioued coverage shall be delenmined using the seime miles 1
aroup health plan coverage thal apply from fime to Gnee o smalarly situated active
cnployees.

45 Death o Ihsability Following Fenmination of Emplovmcnt. Executive’s

dizahitily or death lollowing Fxecotive's ermination of employment pursuant te Scetion 4.2
shall nol alTect Fxecotive™s right, or iF applicable, the right of Bxecutive’s beneficiaries, to
mreedve the pavments ot lhes balangs ol the pericd described in Section 4.2,
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46 Deneliciary Degigealion. Excoutive may, at any tine. by writien notice to the
Emplover, nams onc or mors beneficiarics of any benefits which may become pagyable by the
Emplover pursuant to this Apreement. 1F Execurive fails to desipnate a bereficiacy any benetits
to be paid pursuant to thiz Agreement shall be paid 0 Preculive’s extate.

47 Preemiptive Copstderalion, Moowilhsamding soyiling o the contrary sot forlh
herein, 11 Frecutive 15 suspended andfor lemporarily prohibieed from participating in the conduet
af- the Emplever’s, or anv of it affilistes”, affairs by 2 notice served under Section Blel3) or
(=¥ 13 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Ace (12 118 51818 (i3} and {g)(11) or zay
amendments o supplemaents thercto. the Emplover’s obligaticns under this Agreement shall be
suspended as of the date of service unless staved by apprapriate proceedings. 11 the charges in
the notice ave dismissed, the Employer may in its discretion (i) pay lxecutive all or part of the
cortigrensation withheld shile this Agresmant’s abligatioos wens suspended, und {5} reinsiate {n
whiale or in part) any o ilx eblipations which were werpended. 11 Exetidive is removed or
permaneniby prohibited (om partcipating in the conducl ol the Boployer's, or any of Hs
allibates’, business aflairs by an order issued by Lhe FRIC or SEC, or cqunvalent provisions
telading Lo regylator with supervizory suthority over the Emplover or any of ies affiliates, 18
ohligations of the Employer and any of its affiliates under this Agrcoment shall torminats as of
the effeetive date of the order, but vested rights of the parties shall nor be affected.

48 FIIWC Compiisncs. MNotwithatanding anvihing herein contained to the contraey,
any payments w Lxecotive by the Emplover whetler porsuant o this Aoresment or ocherwise
are subject 1o and conditioned upon their compliance with Section 18(%) of the Federal [Deposit
lnauranee Act. 12 VL5007 $1R28(1Y and FIC eepulation 12 C.F.R, Parg 359, Cinlden Parach ute
and Indemnilication Poyiments,

ARTICLE V. Restrictive Covenants and Clawback.

51 Confidentiality and Non-dizclosure, Excoutive acknowiodges a duty of
confidentiality owed 1o the Emplover and shail not. at any time during or after Exceutive’s
cmplovmant by the Employer, retain i writing, use. divalge, disclose, fiunish, or makc
accassible to any person or entity. without the express authorizstion of the Board ar seniar
manapement of the Bmplover, any trade seceet, private or confidentiat information or knowledge
of the Emplover or any of their affiliates learned, abtained or acgquired by Execative while so
enpdaved, inchoding ut aol Hmited to, proprigtary business inlbatnation, peoducts, proceises,
services, formulas, materials and frmuolations, research and develepment, lechniigues or kngw-
how, Ananciak records, sales reconds wnd data, customer Trsts, enstomer condact inlormeation and
vesforner preferenes miamation, histone] volinnes, brasiness sitplegics and compaiiiive sles or
markeling slrulegics snd Itade seerciz as defned by Pennsylvania law, Al compuder soflwar,
business cards, cuslomer lists, price lists, conttecd torms. catalegs, books, records, files and
know-how acquired while an emplovee ef the Emplover are acknowledged to be the property of
the BEmplower €or the applicable affiliatc) and shatl not be duplizated, omoved from #he
Emplover's poascasion or made use of ather than in pursuit of the Emplever'a business, Upon
the termination of the employment hereunder, the Executive shall deliver to the Bank all
corrcapondence, reparts, customer files, customer [iats, office keys, manuals, advertising
lrcinres, sample conltacls, price lists, emploses Dsts, prospective employes oe customer Bxs,
mnwiling lisks, letlers, reconds mod ey und all other documenls pertaining W or conlaining
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iformation ehalive L the buzsiness of the Banl:, and the Execntive shalt not remove any of such
records cillier during the conrse of emplovinent or upon the termination theread.

Fxecutive understands thal in the event ¢y viclation of the provizions of this Soction
5.1, ke Bank shall have the vight o seek injunctive relict, in additden fo any other cxisting rghts
provithed bersin or by operalion of Jaw, withost ihe regairement of posting bond.  The remodics
proveitled in this Section 5,1 shabl be in addition to any legal or equirable remedies existing
belween Exceutive, and shall not be construed as a limitation upon, or as alernative or in liew of,
such remedics,

52 lntellectal Propeitv Riches Hxecutive agrees that all Herary wiork,
copyriphtable material ar other raprietary mformation or materials developed by (he Exceetive
during the term of this Agreement and relating b, or capable ol being usel o adopted [or wse in,
the business al the Emphoyer ur any AN ates shall inure to and be the property of the Employver
and AlTates snd st be prompily dischosed o the Eoployer, Emploves hercby transfers and
asgipns 1o Froployer sl nglits in and 1o suel Indellectaal Property, Beth during conployanent by
the Tmployer and thereafier, the Exeeutive shalf, at the cxpensc of the Emplover, execute such
docurents snd do such things as the Employer reasonably may request o enable the Emplover
or thelr nominee (i) to apply for copyright or equivalent protection ia the Lnited States, Canada
and clsewlere for any lierary work bercinahove refesred in this pacagraph, o (Fi} 1o be vesled
with any snch coepyright protection in the United States, Canada and elzeshere.

33 Man-Competition and Moo-solicitalien.

{a) TFxecutive shall nol, during the Employment Peried and for a Kestreted
Periind {ax dedined below afier Exoeulive ceases (o be coaploved by or provide service fo
Fimplayer, dircelly or mndirectly, be or besoms o officer, eener, sharcholder, goneral or
limited pariner, divector or emploves or agent of, or a consuitant to, or give financial or
alher wesislance o, any Derson or cnity considering cngaging in commercial banking or
{he provviznon of Onancial products or soryvices, or 15 w0 engaged. within an anes having a
arviepty-five (751 mile radius from the headquartars of Emploser st the tinte Executive
eeases to be emploved by Emplover; provided such person or entity is engaged ina
business o activity which iz substantially similar to the boainess or activity in which
Exccutive is enzaped while emplayed by or providing serviee to Dmplover. “Restricted
Feriod” shall mean the longer of (1) 3ix (8) months ar (i} te lengtl of me Baecutive is
o receive pavments under ihes Apreement (or any apphicable Change in Conlrol
Apreamenty, provided, however, that the perisl onder (1) showe shall nol execed twenty-
Fonrr {24 s

] Excoutive shall vot. during the Employment Period and for a period of
twelve {227 months after Excentive ceases to be cmployed by or provide service ta
Emplover, directly or indirceely:

(i} seek, i competition with the business ol the Fmplaver, 1o procure
arders from or do business wilth any custormer ol the mpleyver ar iis subadiaries
ar alliliales (which shall inclods corrent eustomers sod [omer customers that had
# eysfomer relalionship within the provious lon {100 yoars) which Excoutive know
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or shauld have known after reasonable inquiry to have had a customer
relalionship during the last ten vears of Execative’s employmed with Tmployer,
or solicit on behalf of a competitar any prospeclive custome s whi une or were
identified theouah leads developed during the Test three yoars of Ezcoutive's
emplesment with Limployer, or dvert or altempl 1o divert away from the
Lanployer ar s subsidiuries or allilaes, the business of aay customer or busincss
enlaity with which the Emplover or irs subsidiaries or affiliates, did business:

{ii}  zolicir o contact gy person whe is an emplayee of the Fmplover
or its subsidiarics or affitiates, with a view w the engagement ur enpleyment of
such person by a thivd party, or cawse any person wha is s employes of the
Emplover w terminate his ar her employment fr the purpose of Joining or
bhecoming emplayed b a thind pariy;

I seck (o contracl wilh or engage (in suck a way as to advessely affect or
inleriore wiih the business of the Emplover or its subsidiaries or afTiliates) any person or
cntity who has been contracted with or enpgaped to provide poods or services 1o the
Emplover oy its subsidisrics o affiliztes, if such contract or engagement remaing in ellecl
or was loge in cffeet within the pericd of ane (1) vear preceding such aclfon by Excoulive;
ot

fdy  engape in or paricipage inoaoy elfor or ae te indvee any of the customces,
assciates, consullants, ar smployess of the Employer 1o modify adverscly such porson’s
business relativnghip with Ihe Bmplover or ils subsidianics or affilistes;

provided, however, (1) that nolling hercin shall prohibir the Executive sod Executive’s affiliates
Fram crwning, @3 passive Investors, in the ageregate not wore than 10%: of the outstanding
pubhcly tmeded stock ol anv corporanion so cngaped and (2) in the event the Lxecttive’s
employment is ferminated by the Excentive with or withont Good Keason o by the Finployer
ofher than for Cause, the non-competition covenants in this Section 5.3{a) shall apply.

The pentics cxpressly acknowledae that the restrections comtaingd in this Section 5.3 e
rcasenable in order to presecve the Emplover®s good wiil and other proprictary righis.
Nerwithstanding this aslaowledzment, i a courl having jurisdiction makes 3 Goal judicial
determination that the duration or peopraphic seope o the resiticlions in dhis Seetion 5.3 s
unieaspnalile or otherwise unenfurceable, he covenanls in Seetion 5.3 shadl nol be rendared veid
but shall be armended L apply the maximwm duralion and geographic scope that such conrt may
Judicially deem o indicate to be reazonable, For the purpose of Sectons 3.2 and 3.3, the
Cmplayer shull be deemed to refer 1o the Emplover and all of thely present or futwre affiliates.

54 Imupctivie and Other Relief,

(a) Rwecutive acknowledpes and agress thal the covenants coniamed hencin
are tair and reagomable in lighl ol the additional consideralion paid hereosder, which
Executive acknoadedpes is abegquabe and sufiivienl considersiion, snd tha damages alone
shall no e an adeguate remedy Tor aey roach by Excoutive of Excoutive’s covenants
which then apply snd secordingly cxpreszhy aorees that, (o addition to any othet remedies
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which the Finplover may have, the Vmplover shall be enlilled 1o seek infuneiive il in
any court of competent jurisdiction lor soy bresck or iheealened breach of any such
cirvenants by Exevulive wilhoul the requirenent of posting & bond, Nothing contained

vin shall preven! or delay the Employer from secking, in any court of comperent
Jurisdiction, specific perfmance or other cquitable remedtes in the event of any breach
or itended brcach by Exeeutive of any of its aldizgations hereunder.

[k In the event Execotive breaches Execulive’s nhligations under Section 5.3,
the perind apecified thersin shall be whled during the pertod of sny such breach and any
lligation seeking remedivs for such breseh snd shall vesunwe upen the conclusion o
lermaneation ¢f uny such breach und any such liigatton. The remedics sct forth in this
Saehon are eormdalivg and in addition to any aod all other remedies available to e
Employor at law or in couity,

{ch L addition to other eemedies contined in this Ayreemnent 1o whick te
FEmployer may he entitled, the Employer shall receive aliommey’s [ees and any olher
expensas incident o the mamenance ol any action o enforee 1(s nghis under this
Agresmment il such litigation 5 conelwled or lermeinated, Inowhele or in parl, o the
Empluyer’s favar,

3.5 Digclosure, Executive aprees to disclose the restrictive covenants contained in
Seetions 3.2 and 5.3 of this Anroement to any prospective employer prion to emplovenant with
the prospoctive employer both duing his employment by the Employer and for a period of one
(1) year foellowing termination of amployiment with the Emplover.

ih Clawhark, xecutive acknowledpes thay the lxecutive 15 subject 10 any clawhack
policy that may he adepred by the Board. Absent any forinual clawkhack policy, the Txecolive
agiees that Frecutive sholl be requied o ferleil armd pay buck 1w the Cmployer uny hopus or
other incenlive connpensatiom paid w0 Execulive 11 {2) o courl makes 2 final determination thal
the Executive directly or indirectly engaged in fraud or miscondoer that wnesad ot partially
s the need Ffor o mulenial Snancia] restatenent by the Emplover; or (b the mdependend
meembers of the RBoard determing thul the Execulive bas commilied o malerial violation of the
Employer's Code of Conrducl.

ARTICLE V1L MiseeHaneous,

. [ovalidity. 11 any provisian hereol i determined 4o be jovalid or voenlorcesble by
a courl ol competent junsdiclion, Txeculive shull negoliate n gesd Eith Lo provide the Emplover
walh prorlectien ws nearly equivabent o thar Tound 2 be invalid or unenforeeable and if any auch
privision shell be s determinel o be imvalid or uneniorcesbls by rogson of the duration or
geamraphical seope of the covenants contained therein, such duration or geographical scope, or
hioth., shall be considered to be reduced to a duwration or geopraphical scope to the cxtent
necoasary to cure such invalidity,

62 Assipnment: Benefit. This Agresment shall not he assipnable by Executive, und
shall be assignable by the Fmployer only 1o any aflilile ar o any person or enlity whick may
hecmne a successor in interest (by purchase ol wssels or siock. or by mereer, or athereise) o the
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Emplower i the busineas or a portion of the business prezently aperaled by i1, Suhject o ihe
forepning, this Apreement and the rights and obligzlions sel Tarlh herein shalt oee (o the beneli)
ol arni be binding wpon, the paries herelo and each of their reapective permitted succeoszors,
aAsigms, heirs, execulors smd administralors, including the restriciive covenants of this
Apreement,

0.3 Notices. All notices hereunder shal! he i wriling und shall be sufficientiy given
if hapd-detivered, sent by documented overnight delivery service or regisierad ar cerlilied mail,
postape prepaid, return receipt requested or by telepram, e or ielecopy fconfiirmed by 15 8.

i |J__ ret,eipl ackacrwledoed, adiressed wx sed Tordh belesaer o o such olher porses andfor al such
arther uddress vs may be [umishe] inownling by uny parts hereto o the other, Any such notice
shafl be deemed 1o have heen given as ol the date reecived, inthe casc of personsl delivery, or on
Mae dlate: shown on the reeeip or confirmation thevefor, in all other cases. Any and all serviee of
process and anyv oehor nolles in any such action. suit or proceeding shall be effective aaainst any
party if given as provided in this Agreement; pravided that nothing herein shall be deemed o
affect the rigle of any party to serve process in any other manner pernitted by law.

(a) 11 tir 1he Tanploser:

Chrstown Bank

77 Esst King Strect

Shippenshure, PA 17257

Altention: Dircetor of Human Mesources

by If to bxecumive:

Christapher Holt
A2 Fenwick Drive
Finksbues, M0 21048

and 1o

Georee T Brown, Fsqguine
Framon & Crabam, P4,
One Soutly Sireel, Suile 2604
Baltimore, »D 21202

6.4 Entire Apreement and Modification. This Agreement between the pariies, along
with the Change of Control Agreement of even date herewith, canstitute the entire aareement
between the parties hereto with respect to the matters contemplated herein and supersede all prize
agreements and understandings with respect therelo. Any arnendment, modilication, ar waiver
of this Apreement shall not be elTective unless in writing and aoreed and executedt by the
Einployer and Txeculive, Meither the Gilure nor uny delay on (e pard ol ey parly o exepise
any right, remedy, peaer or prvilege shall preciude any other or Turther exercise ol the same or
ol amy onher vighl, remedy, power, or privilees witlh respect (o any ocowmence and such ilvee or
delay do exoreise any right shall be consirucd a2 4 waiver of any dght, ronedy, power, of
privibeps witl: reapect to any other occuirense.
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6.5 Qovernine Law, Forum, This Agreement is made possuant &, and shall Le
constroed and coforced in aceordance with, the s of the Commomweall ol Permsybeamia {znl
United States federal law, to the extent appticable), withaul giving elleal v othorwise applicable
principles of conflicts of law.  All actions hereamsdar shal? be: [led in the approoriate courls
tacmted in Cumberfund and Franklin Countivs, Pennevivania and Excentive consents to venus
and jursdiclion therein.

4.6 Headings: Counterparts. The headings of sections and subsections in this
Agrecment ave for convenicnee only and shalt not affect its ioterpretation. This Agreement may
ke cxcouted in two or more counterparts, each ol which shall be deemed Lo he an original and a1
af which, when taken tozether, shall be deemed w0 constitule bul one and The sme Agreemenl.

a7 Further Assuranees, Each of the partics hereto shall execute such further
mstruments and tuke such othar actiens as auy other party shall reasenably request in order o
cifoetoate the purposcs of this Agreoment.

%4 Attotnevs’ Fees and Related Uxpenses. AN reasonahle siormeys® [ees and rebated
expenses incurred by Txecutive in conmection with ar ralating e the pevieve and negetiation of
this Apresreent up 1o 53,000 ar, i Hsecutive prevails it conneclion with enloreing Exceutive's
rights wnder thiv Agresrneni, the enloroement by Excemive of Excoutive's righrs under this
Apreement, shall be paid in full by the Employer,

6%  Mitigafion, Exceutive shall not be requircd to mitigate the amount of any
payvmenl or benefit provided for in Sccticn d horein or puwrsusnt to the Change in Conteol
Agrecment by secking ciaplovment or otherwise and shall not be entitled 1o set-oft apainst the
amount of any payments made pursiuant to Section 4 heeein or pursuant to the Chaege in Contzol
Agreement with respoct 1o any componsation camned by Executive arising from othe:
cmployment.

A4 Indemnification. Excepl wo the extent inconsistent wilk the Tmplaver's certificale:
of incorporation or bylaws, the Bmployer will indemmily the Pxeewive and hold Frecolive
harmless o the fuHlest exient permitled by faw with respeet (e Exeeulive’s servicoe ss an olfecr
anel empioyee o the Bmployer and 15 subsidismies, which indemmsifcation shall be provided
Tellewing Lermination of emplosment Tor so long as Exceotive may bave liability with respeet to
Freculive’s service s an oflicer or coplovree of the Emploer and its subsidianes, The
Erevulive will be covered by a dircetors’ and officers’ imsurancs palicy with respect to
Exceulive's aets as an officer to the same extent as all other officers of the BEuployer urder such
policics,

G611 494 Safe Blarbor. Notwithalanding anyehing i this Apresment o lhe conlmary,
ira mr event shall 1he Bmplosver be uhligated Lo commence payment or disiribudion o the
Fxecotive o any amoont that constitates nomguali el deleresd compensaion within fe meaning
al Code Section 4094 (“Scetton A09A™) aarlicer than (he earices! permissible date under Seetion
AHRA hal woch smoun! coutd e pad withow! additionas] laxes or imlerest being impesed cnder
Seation 40%A, The Emplover snd Excewive agree char they will exconts any and sll
amendments to this Agrcement as they mutvally agree in good faith may be necessary to ensurs
compliance with the distribution provisions of Section 4094 and o cause any and all amaunts
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dae unader this Aprecmend, the payment or distribution of which is delayed parsnant to Soedon
A09A, o be pald or distribated in g singbe s parment at the earliest permissible date aeder
Seetion 4094, Without limiting the zeneratity of the faregoing, in the event Fxecutive is 10
receive a pavment of compensation lierennder that is on aceount of a separation Irom service,
such payment is subject g the peovisions ol Section $84, snd Fxeculive 15 0 “key omplopee™
(i defined in accordance with Section 40941 of the Pmployer, then paymenl ghall nal be meade
belore the date that 15 six months alter the dale of ssparation (rom sorviee (or, 1f carlicr than the
end gf the six month period, he date of he Bxegotive’s death), Ameunts otherwise payvable
dumang such 21z momth payment shall be sceumulated and paid 1o a lonyp sum on ihe Grst day of
the seventh month, For purpeses hereof, Exceurdve 15 a kov cmplovee of the Employer if. on his
date of separation from service, the Emplover is publicly wraded and he met the definition of key
cruployes found in Code Seetion 16000 100A)(T), (i) or (0L} {disregarding Section 416{(3) as
of the last day of the calendar vear preceding the date of aspasation.

G012 Taxes and Wilhholbmes. Al amounl pend fo Exeeolive under this Ayreemenl
during lor following the Emplosmmem Period shall be subjeet o withholding and other
cmploymond laxes imposod by applicable law, Excoutive shall be solely responsible for the
pavment of sl taxcs relating f the payment or provision of ay amovunts of benefits paid o
Exceutive hercander or othorwise.

.13 Men-Disparapement. Lipon termination of employment hereander, Pxecuiive
shall not maling, criticize or otherwise disparape Ocestonws, the Bank or any of thedr alfilites o
any of their lespective officens, emplovess or direclors.

614 Release. Mobwithstanding any other provision af This Auresmen), sy severmcs
or lerminalion paymenls or henelit deseribed (ofther than in connection with Scetion 4.448)) am
condiloned vn Txecetive’s execelien amd delvery to the Employer ol an elfeclive general
relense and non-disparuyemen upreemenl (the “Release™) in g lovm preseribed by the Empioyver
i substantial conformily with such agrecment attached beteto a3 Annex A and in 8 manmr
consizbent with the requirementz of the Older Workers Beaefit Proteciion Act and any spplicable
afate law,

6,15 Mrotected Disclosures and tther Protected Action. Nething in this Agreement
shall be interpreted or applisd o probibit the Fxecotive fecon making any pood faith repott fo any
governimental asency of other govemmental entity (o “Cavermment Agency™] concaming any
uct or aission thl the Vxecolive seasonably believes constilutes o pessible violution of e
e staale v or making other disclisores that are prodecied under the anli-relaliolzon o
whigtleblower provisions of applicabie Tedern] or stae low or regulation, Te addilion, nehing
vonlained in this Agreemenl lmies the Exeeutive's ability e commumicals with any Govenoeent
Apeney or otherwise pariicipale in any ivestigalion or procoecding thar may be condueted by any
Government Agcney, inciuding the Excoutive®s ability 1o provide documeints or ather
information, withoot notice to the Company. 1o addition, for the avoidance of doubt, pursuant to
the foderal Trefend Trade Scorets Act of 2016, the Exceutive shall not be heid criminally o
civilly liable under any federal or state trade secret faw or under thiz Apreement or the
Restrictive Comvenants Apreements for the disclosore of o trade secret that {ah ia mads (2] in
contidence Lo oa Jederal, suate, e local goverrenent official, either divectiy or indirectly, orlo an
atoroey; and (17 solely for the purpess ol repordiog or iovestigating o suspected violation of Low;
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ot (b is made in » complaint or other docwmers filed in a lewsuil or other procesding, il such
filing is mele emder scal.

6,16 Other Righis. Nothing in this Agreement is intended o 1imit Excentives rht 1
(4] payment or reiimbursement for weltare benefit clsims incureed prior Lo the cessation ul histher
employnent wnder any prowp inswaoce plan, palicy or arrangernent ¢f the Emplaver in
accordance with the forms of such plan, policy or acranpement (h) cleot COBRA benelity in
accordance with the applicable lawe, or (¢) reecive a distribulion of vested acernied henefils from
any employee pension benefit plan in accordance with the 1erms of that plan,

G.17  Burvival. Metwillsianding anything o the contrary in this Agrecment, the parties
agree {hat the bmployee’s obligations under Arlicle 5 of this Agreement shall continue despite
Ihe capiration of the tenm of this Agreement or itz leemination.

[Signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the partics have execured this Apreement as of the date first
above written,

Mame; Christopher Holt ¢ Bxecutive™)

Signature

ORREETOWN FINANCIAL CORPORATION (“Orrstown™)

[hw: \*%W#L— {;-p.- L
WName: Thomas R, Chuinm, Jr.
Tille;  President and Chicf Exceutive Offics

ORRSTOWN BANK (the “Bank™) ﬁ’

By: - 2 Z"—': ,

Mame: #homas 1. Cuinn, Jr. I
Title: President and Chief Executive (1Ticer
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DEFERRED COMPENSATION AGREEMENT

.7 THI3 DE‘EFIR]}EIED LUMPENSATION ACRERMENT [this “Agreement”], adupted this
27 day of | DesfimfaA 2020, by and between Orestown Banl, locaied in
Shippensburg, Pﬂ'ﬂns}"lv&nig fthe “Employer”), and Christenker D Holt {the "Bxeoutive”),
formalizes the agreemenls aml understanding Detween the Employer and the Executive,

WITNESSETH:
WITERTAS, the Bxecutive is employed by the Emaloyer;

WHEHEAS, the Tmployer vecognizss he vaiuable services the Executiee has
performed for the Fmployer and wishes Lo encovrage the Exeoutive’s continued employment
andh to provice the Execeiive with additional incentive o achieve corperate objeclives;

WHEREAS, the Trployer wishes Lo provide the terms and conditiens upon which the
Eraptoyer shall pay acditional retirement benefits to the Executive;

WIHEREAS, the Ernployer ang the Execative ntend this Agreement shall at all Hmes
be administered and interpreted in coonpliance with Coale Seetion L08A; and

NHEREAS, the Employer intends this Agreement shall al all times be administered
and interpreied In such a manoer 28 to constitute an unfunded pengualified ceferrad
compensation arrdigement, maintainad primarily to provide supplemental relioment
enefits far the Execusive, s member of select group of managemanl or highly compensaled
ciiployee ¢f ihe Bmployer;

MOW TEEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the mutuz] promises
herein conkained, the Employer and the Execulive agree as follows:

ARTICLE]
DEFINITIONS

For the purpose of this Agresmenl, the fellowing pheases or terms shufl have the
Indlicated meanings:

1.1 “dccumulation Period Crediting Rate means the Helding Company's Relurn on
Auerape Tangible Bquity for the inmediately preceding calendar year [measured as of
December 31, provided thar such amount shall not be less than zers pereent [0%] or mare
than Afteen pervent [1596).

12 “Administrator” toeans the Board ov its desigoen.

13 “Afifiete” means any business eotity with whom ihe Cmiployer wouil be
considered o singte employer under Sectlon 414(b} and 414[c) of the Code. Such term shall
be interpreted in @ manner consistent with the definizien of "service recipient” contaned in
Code Section £0%A,

Exhibit 10.30



1.4 “degrmge Tangible Common  Eguie” means the flolding Company's
shareholders' equity (as determined in aceordance with US. GAAL]  less goodwill and ather
intangible assels, not of related tax effect, computed on ap annwal hasiz censistent wich the
odding Company's public disclosure ol averape eouity.

15 “Beneficiury’ means the person or persons designaled in writing by the
Executive o receive benefiss hereunder in the event of the Executive's death,

1.6 “Bogeed” means the Roard of Directors of the Emplover.

1.7 “Couse” means any of the following acls or coreninstances: gross negligence or
pross negloct of duties to the Employer; corviction of a felony or of 8 gross misdemesnor
involviog moraf furpitude in copneclion with the Bxecative's employmenl with the
Einployer; or frawd, disloyzity, dishonesty or willful violation af any law or sigrificant
Emplover policy committed in conectinn with the Executive's employ ment and resulting in
a rnaterial adverse effect on the Rmplayer.

18 “Change in Control” means 2 change in the ownership or effective concal of
the Empbayer or the Holding Company, or in the swnership of a substantial partion of the
assets of the Emplayer or the Holding Company, as such change s defined in Code Sectivn
4094 and regulations Lhereunder.

1.9 “Claiment” means & person who believes thal he or she is being denfed a
bemedis ta which he or she Is entitled herrinder.

110 “Contribation” means the amount the Employer coneributes (o e Deferral
Account, caiculaled aceording ta the provisions of Article 2,

111  “Code”means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, a5 amended.

112 “Deferral Aceount” means the Employer's acceanting of the accumalztad
Contributivns plus accrued inkerest,

113 “Désghilily” meats a condicion of the Fxecutive whereby the Executive either:
(i} iz unable Lo engage in anmy substantial gainful aclivity by reasan of any moedically
dalerminable physical or mental impairment that cans be expected to result in death ar can
le expected ta last for a continuous periad of not [ess than 12 wenths, or (i) is, by reason of
any medically determinable physical or mentat impairment that can he expeceed to rescll in
death or can he expected to last Jor & continueus period of nat tess than 12 manths, receiving
income replacement benefits for a period of nat less than three months under an accident
and health plan covering employees of the Emplager. The Administrator wilt determine
welwerther the Expculive has incurced = Disability basedt on its own good faith determization
and may require the Execulive to suamit to reasenable physics] and mental examinations for
this purpose. The Execulive will alse be deemed tn have incurred 2 Disability if determined
1o be totally disabled by the Social Security Administration or inaciordance with & disability
insurance program, pravided that the delnition of disabiiity applied under such disahility
insurance program complies with the mitial sentence of this Section.



114 “hiseribution Period Crediting Rare” means four percent (49%).

145 “Early Termiration”means Separation [rom Service before Normal Retirement
Age except when such Separation frorm Service follows a Change in Conwral or duse {a
Lermination for Canse,

116 "Bffeclive Dote” means Seprember 1, 2020,

1.17  “ERfsA” means the Emplovee Retirement lncome Security Act of 1974, as
arnenele.

1.18 “Holding Compary” means Ovrstown Finaneial Services, lnc, e parent
corparation af the Emaloyer.

114 “Normod Retiverrent Age” moans the Bxeculkive attaining age sixty-five [R5

120 "Plan Feor® means each tweelve (12} menth period commeneing ob Jenuary 1
znd ending on Pecember 21 6f cach year, The initial Plan Year shall commence on the
Effective Date and end an the following December 31,

121 “Projected Bolonce” means Lhe Deferral Account balance as of Lhe date af
Separation from Service, increased hy an amount equal to the muenthly Centributions
anlicipatod to be made Lo the Deferval Acenunt between the date of the Separation from
Service and Mormal Retirement Age (sach such Coneribation (o ke equal te the sverage
mmanthly Contributinn made by Emplayer between the Effective Date and Separation [rum
Service], with interest ¢credited en the Deferral Account halance at an annual rate equal to
the average of Accumufaiion Period Credifing Rate betwees the Edffective Thbe and
Separation from Service, compoundead monthly.

122  “Return on dwerage Tangible Gguity” means the Holding Company's actincome
[as determined in accardence with U5 GAAP] cxcluding merger related axpenses
determined on a basts congistent with the Holding Company's public disciosure of merger
rolated expenses, net of related tax effect, divided by the Holding Company's Average
‘I'angible Common Eguily,

123 “Separation from Service ' means & lermination ol Lhe Erocutive's emplayment
with the Emplover and its Affiliates for reasans other than death or Disability. A Separaiion
from Service may werar as of a specified date [or purposes of the Agreement even 1f the
Fxecitive continues to nrovide some services for the Employer or its Alfiliates after that dale,
provided that the facts and circumsiances indicate that the Eirylayer and the Executive
reasonabiy anticipated 21 that date that cither no further services would he perlormel alter
[hat datae, o thal the bevel of buna fide serdices the Execubi seanld pecfarm after such date
[whether as an employee or as an independent cantractor] would permanently decease o
ne mere than owenty percent (20%) of the average level of hona fide services performed
svprthe immeciately preceding thirty-six [36) wenth paricd (or the Mull perd od duringwhich
the Executive perfurmed services for the Employer, if thal is less than thirty-six (36}
manths], & Separation frem Service will not be deetned to have pecarred while the Bxecutive



is om military leave, sick leave, or ather buna [de leave al abscuce if the poriod of such leave
does not excesd six (8] menths or, it longer, the period fur which & slatute or contract
provides the Executive with the righl (o resmployviment with the Employer. If the Executive’s
beove exceeds six (6] months but the Fxocutive is not entitled (o regmployment wnder a
simbule or contract, the Executive incurs 2 Separation from Service on the next day fullewing
the expirativn of such six (6] menth period. In determining whether a Separation from
Service pecurs the Adminiatrator shall tale: inte acenunt, among other (hings, the deffsition
of "service recipicnl” and "employer” set forth in Treasury regulation $1.4090-10003). The
Administrator shall have ([l and linal suthority, to determine cunchusively whether a
Separalion feon Service ooouTs, and the dace of guch Separation from Service,

124 "SpeciTed Dmplopea means an individual thal saiisfies the definition ofa “kay
emploves” af the Rmplayer a5 such term is defined in Code §216(1) {(withoul regasd ke Code
841 A[H1(5)), provided that the staclk of the Employer is pulblicly traded on an established
securiiies markel oy otherwise, zs defined in Code §LEY7-1[m). 17 the Bxecutive is a Ley
crploves st any Hme during the twebve {12) monihs ending on December 33, shie Bxecutive
ix 3 Specified Rmployee for the lwebve {12] month period commencing on the first day ol the
followring April.

1,25  “Unfaresseable Emergend” means & severe inancizl hardship to the Bxeoutlve
resulting from an illness ar accident of the Execntive, the Execusive’s spoase, the Heneficiary,
or the Fxecutive's dependent (as defined in Seclion 152{a} of the Code], luss of the
Executive's property due to casually, or other simiar eximsordinary and unforeseesble
clrcumstances arising as = vesult of events beyond the cantrel of the Bxecutlee, and that
cannoi he alleviated By compensation or reimburse menl received from insurence companics
or otherwise,

ARTICLEZ
CONTRIBUTTONS

Provided thal Return on Average Tangible Bquity is al least ROD% for 2020, the
Empioyer wiil maks 2 Contribution o che Deferral Avcaunt in the amuunl of Mincty-One
Thousand Twe Hundred Fifty Doltars [$91,250) on December 31, 2020, Buch yeur
thereafles, provided that Return sn Average Tangible Fquity is atleast 8.00% for such year,
thie Bmplover will make a Ceatribution to the Deferral Account i the amaunt of Twa
Hundred Nincteen Thousand Doliars {$219.000) each December 31, wntil the eorliest of
Separation from Sepvice, Disability, Noermal Retirement Ags or the Rxecutive’'s dealh.

The Empleyer shall make a fina] Centribution to the Deferral Avcount in the amount
ol One Hundred Eigily-Twa Thousand Five Hundred Dollars [$182.580) on the sartic: of (il
separztion from Service wn or after Normal Retfrement Age nr 1] Becember 31, 2024,
provided that Relurn an Average Tanpinle Egquity is at feast BOG9G as of the earlier of
Separalion frot Service vr Becember 31, 2024,

ARTICLE 3



DEFERRAL ACCOUNT

1.7 Fetablishing and Crediting. The Employer shall eslabllsh a Deforral Accountun
its hooks for the Brecueive and shall credit bo the De(arral Account the following amoennts:

(2] Aoy Concributions hereunder; and
[B]  Interest as fallows:

il o the kzst day of each month priar to the carliest of Separativn
[ram Bervice, Disability, the Executive reaching Mormal Retirement Age, and
the Execuiive's tearh, interest shall be cradilad gn the Deferral Accounl atan
annuai rate equal to the Avcumulation Period Crediting Rale, compounded
maonthiy: and

(i} exrepl as provide in Section 4.4, oo the last day of each manth
foflowing Lhe eavliest of Separalion Irom Service, Disabilily, Lhe Txecutive
reaching Kormal Relirement Age, and the Bxeculive's death, interest shall ne
credited o the Deferral Aconunt at an ananzl rate egual to the Diseribution
Period Crediling Rate, conpounded munthly.

3.2 fecordlkesping Device Only. The Detorral Account s solely a device for
measuriag amonnts o he paid under this Agreement and i net a trust fund ol any leinnd.

ARTICLE 4
PAYMENT OF BENEFITS

41  Norreal fletivemeni Bevefit. Upon Separation from Service afler Normal
Relirermens Age, the Employer shall pay (he Fxecutive the Deferral Account balance
caleulated al Separation from Service, in liew of any vther benefic hereunder. This benefit
shall he paid in one hundred eighty {180) consecutive equal mntithly installmenis and shalk
commesee the manth fllowing Separation fram Service, with nterest credited on the
ungpaid balance st 1he Distribution Perfod Creditiog Rale.

42 Earlp Terminotion Benajfit. 1f Early Termination accurs, the Employer shall pay
tha Frecutive the Defereal Account balance calculated at Seprration from Service, fnliew of
any other benefit hereunder. This benefic shall e paid in coe hundred eighty [180%
ronsecusive equal menthly mstallments commencing the maonth felloewing Harmal
Betiremenl Are, with inlerest credited on the unpaid balance at the Distribubion Perind
Crediting Bate, baginning at Separation from Service.

4.3 Disability Benefit, 1F the Executive experiznces a Disability prior lo Hormal
Rulivemcat Age, Lhe Employer shalt pay the Executive the Deferral Account balanue
ralculaled a5 of the date of Disshility, in Heu of any other benefit hersuader, Fhis henefit
shall be paid in one hundeed eighty {1BU) consscutive monlbly installmenty aml shall
commence the menth following sability, with interest eredited on Lhe umpald baknce al
the Discribtion Period Crediting Rate,

a4 Chooge in Contred Benefit. 12 Change 1o Control pecurs folbowed by Separation
from Serviee hefore Nermal Hetirement Age, the Employer shall pay the Execulive Lhe



Delerrsl Account helance caloulated at Separation from Service, in liew of any othor henefit
hereunder, This benelil shall be paid in ane bundred oighty (180) cansecative aqual monthly
ingtallmenis commencing the menth following Mermal Retirement Ape, wilh interest
credited en the unpaid balance &t the Distribution Perind Crediting Rate, beginning at
Separalion from Service

45 Death Prior ta Commencemend of DerngfTt Papments. In the event the Executive
dies prior lo Separation from Service and Disability, the Empioyer shall pay the Beneficiary
the grezter of (i) the Delerral Avegunl balanee or (i) Twa Mitlion Five Hundred Forty-TFour
Thousand Thivty-One Dollars (52,544,031), i Few ol any other benefit herennder,  This
benefic shall be paid in one hundred eighty (280} conserutive egual monthly nstalments
commenaing e month fullowing the Fxecutive's death, with interest credited no theunpaid
natance al Lhe THsribution Period Crediting Rale,

4. Death Subsequent to Commencement of Hengfit Payments, [n the event the
xecutive diss while recodving payments, bus orior tu receiving all payments due and vwing
aereunder, the Employer shall pay Lhe Teneficiary the same amounls at the same tines as
the Employer would have paid the Executive, had Lhe Execulive survived,

47 Mardship isribution, [0 an Dnforeseeable Emergency accirs, the Executive
may petition the Beard to receive a distribulion from the Agreemeni [a “Mardship
Distribution™. The Board in (1§ sale discretion may grant such petiden. If granizd, the
Executive shaill recetve, within shety (607 days, & disuibudsn from Lhe Agreement only to the
cxtent deemed neeessary By the Board to remedly the Untoresesable Emerpenay, plus an
amount necessary to pay laxes reasanably auticipated ss 3 result of the distribuiicn. Tnany
event, the maximum amountwhich may be paid out as a Hardship THskriustion is the Deferral
Account halance as of the day the Executive petittoned the Board te recelve a Hardship
Distrigubica. A Hardship Distributicn shall reduce the Delfurral Aceount balance,

48 Termination for Cruse, 17 ihe Zmplover terminales the Execvtive's
amployment for Cause, then the Fxecarive shall forfeil all benetits hereunder.

44 Resiriction on Commencement of Discritutions. Notwilhstanding any provision
of this Agreement to the contrary, il the Executive is conshlered a Specified Emploves al Lhe
lime of Separatioa from Service, the provisions of this Section shall gevern all distributions
lersunder, DHsiriirutions which would otherwise be macde to the Execative due to Separation
frorm Service shall noc e made during the first six (8) months [ollowing Separation from
Service. Rather, any distribulion which would etherwise be paid to the Executive during
such peried shall be arcumulated and paid @0 the Executive in 4 lump sum on the Mrsi day of
the seventh month following Separation from Service, or if earlier, upen the Executive’s
death, All subsequent giscributions shall be paid as they wauld have had this Section not
apphied.

4$.10  Aceeleration of Payteents.  Exvepl as specifically pennitted herein, no
weceleration of Lhe Ume or schedule of any payment may be made hercander
Motwithstanding the forsgeing, paymenls may be acceleraled, in accardance with the
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provisions of Treasury Repulation §1.409A-3{7)(4] in the fullowing crcumstances: [i} a5 a
result of certain domestic relstions erders; (5] In compllance with ethics agreemens wizh
the federal government; (iii] in compliance with the ethics laws ar conllicts of internst Laws;
riv] in Hmited cashouts (but not in excess of the lmit under Code §802(z1(33(B]); (v] to pay
ernplayment-related laxes; or (v]] to pay any taxes that may become due atany Lime that the
Agreement fails to meet the requiremenis of Code Section 4054

4,31 Detays iz Papment by Emplover. A paymenl may beglelaved 15 a date after the
dhrsignated nayment date under aoy of the circurnstances described below, and the provision
will not fzil te mest the requirements of establishing a permissile payment event, The delay
in the payment will not constilule a subsequent deterral election, so lnng as the Tmplover
breats sl payinents o similarly situated participsnis on s reasonshly consistent basis,

{a)  Paymentssublect to Code Section 1624[m), 17 vhe Empiayer reasonably
antivipatas that the Employer's deduction with respect ta any distribution ender this
apreement would be linlted or eliminated by applivalion of Code Sectien 162{em)],
then wr the extent deemed necessary by the Emplover tu ensiere that the entire
amaunt of any distribution from this Agreement iz deductible, the Employer may
drfay payment of any amount that would otherwise he distributed ander this
Agreemenl, The delayed amounts shall be distributed to the Execullve [ar tho
Reneliciary in the avent of the Executive's death) al the earliest date the Bmployer
reasonably anticipazes that the deduction of the papment of the amount will not be
limnited or eliminatad by application of Code Section T82(m].

{b]  Dayments thalwould viclate Fed sppritics laws or other zpplicsble
law. A payment may be delayed whare the Emplayer rezsonably anticipates that the
making of the payment will vinlate Faderal securides lows or other applicable law
srovided that the payment iz made at the esrilest date av which the Fmployer
reasonably encicipates that the maling of the payment will nat caase such violativn.
The making of a paymeent that would cause inclusion in gross inceme or the
application of any penalty provigion of the Internal Revenue Code is not treated a5 a
violation of Law,

[c] Solyency. Motwithstanding the abave, a payment may be delayed
where the payment would j=opardize the ability of the Tmployer to continue as A
FONE COncern.

412 Trepiment of Papment as Mode on Designated Pomywent Dote. Solely for
purposes nf determining complance with Code Section 409A, any payment under this
Agreement made alier the required payment date shall be deemed made on the reguired
payment date provided thal such payment is made by the latest ol (1] the end of the calendar
yoar in which the payment is due; (i) the 15% day of the Lhird calendar month followlng the
payment éue date; [5i) i Bmployer conrel caleulate the payment amount oo accoun! af
administracive impracticatity which is beyond the Exeeutive's contrul, the end of the first
calendar year which payment caloulation is practicable; and (iv} if Empluyer decs not have
sulficient funds to make the payment without jeopardizing the Employer's selvency, In the
first calendar year in wlhich the Ermployver's funds are sufficient to make the payaent.



413 Faciliy of Poyment. If a distrioution is Lo be made (o o minor, e lo @ persan
whe is otherwise incempebent, then the Administrator may malke such dismribution: (i) to the
legal guardian, or if neng, to 8 parenl of 3 miner payves with whom the payaeo mainming bis
ar her residense; oy (1i) te the conservator or administrator or, if none, to the persen having
custody of an incamoeteni peves Avy such distritnetion shall llly discharge the Empioyer
and the Administeator frem further liability an account thereod,

414 Changes in Form or Timing of Dengf Payments. The Employer and the
Executive may, subjrt to the teyms heyeof, amend this Agreement to delzy the timing or
change the farm of pavments, Any such amendment:

(@] malst ke offect nat less than twelve (127 moaths alter the armendment
5 made;

(b)  wws, for benefits distributable due solely io the arvival of a specified
date, or on accont of Separadon rom Service or Change in Cenlrol, deley the
commencement of distributions fer & miotimum al Bve (33 years from the datethe first
distribution was oripinally scheduled to be made;

(e} must, for benefics distributable due solely ta the arrival of & specified
date, be made nol less than twelve {12) months belore dsteibution is scheduled o
bieging and

{d)  may not accelerate the {ime vy schedule of any distributian.

ARTICLE 5
EENEFICEARIES

5 Designution of Dencficiaries. The Exsiulive may designate any person i
rereive any henefits payable under tha Agreement ugen the Zpecutive’s death, end the
designration mzy ke changed from time to tme by the Rrecutive by filing a new designation.
Fach designation will revoke all prior designations by the Executive, shall be in the lorm
prescribed by the Administrator and shall be effective only when Hled in writing with the
Adminiztrator during the Txecative’s lifetime, ¥ the Rxecutive names scmeane niiier than
he Exccutive's spouse @5 = Beneliciary, the Administratlor may, In iis sole distretion,
determine thai spousal consent is required Lo be provided i a farm designated by the
Administrator, sxecuzed by the Executive’s spouse and relurned Lo the Administrator, The
Executive's beneficiary designation shall be decimed antomasically revoked if the Beneficiary
vredeceases the Hxeculive or il the Execotive nomes s speuse as Beneficiary and the
marriage is subseguently dissolved,

5.2 Abserce af Beneficlney Designation. 1o the absence of a valid Peneficiary
designation, o if, 4l the time any benefit prymentis due to 2 Beneficlary, there is ne living
Beneficiary validly named by the Executive, the Employer shall nay the benelit pagent to
the Execuzive's spause. 1F the spouse is nat living then the Employer shall pay the kenaflit
pavioent to the Bxeculive's living descemdants per stfrpes, and if there are ni living
descetidants, 1o the Executive’s estate. [n delermining the exisience ov identity of covene
entitled to a beoefit psyment, the Employer may rely ermclusively upoa information suoplied
by the Executive's persemal representalbur, executer, ar administrator.



ARTICLE &
ADMINISTRATION

8.1  Adminstroter Thedies. The Administrator shall be responsible for the
mensgement, operation, and admicistration of the Agreement. When making a
determination or calculatisn, the Administrater shall be enliiled Lo rely on infermation
furnished by the Employer, Exerulive or Reneficiary. Mo provision of this Agreement shall
be construad as irmpasing e the Administrator any fiduriary duty under ERLSA or other [aw,
orany duty similarto any fiduciaey duiy under ERISA or other faw.

&2 Administroter Autherinn The Administrater shall enforee this Agreement in
aesorancr with its terms, shall be charged with the general administration of this
agreement, and shall have all powers necessary o accomilish its parposes,

&3 Binding Effect of Decision, The decision or action of the Administralor with
jespact b oony questien arising ous of or in connection with the adminisization,
snterprewation o applicztion of Lhis Agrecrnent and the rules and repolations promelgaled
Tercunder shall be fing), conclusive and binding upan all persans kaving any interestin this
Apreamend.

6.4 Compengoecion, Bxpenses and fdemnity. The Administrete: shall serve withoul
compensation for services rendered hereunder, The Administrator aulhuorized at the
expense of the Employer to empley such legal counsel and recordkeeper as it may deem
advisable to assisl {0 the performance of f3 duties hereunder. Fxpense aod fees in
conneclion with the administralion of this Apreement shall be paid by the Employor.

.5 Employer Infrination. The Employer shall supply full and timely information
ty the Administrator ean all matiers relating to the Executive's comprnsation, death,
Bisability or Svparatlon from Service, and suck other information as the Adminisiramr
reasanably reguires.

6.5  Terminokion of Participation. 1f the Administrator determines |n grod faith
thal the Erecutive ra longer qualifes ass member of a select group of management orbighty
campensated cmployess, as determined i accordancy with ERISA, the Adminisraee shall
bave Lhe right, i its sole diseretion, te prohibis any additional Cenlrihotions hereunder,

a7 Complionce with Code Section 4034, The Tmplover and the Executive intend
that the Agreement comply with the provisions of Cede Section 394 ta prevent the inclugion
it grass incame of any amounts deferred hersunder in & taxable year prior to the vear in
which amuounts are actually paid to the Executive ar Beneficiarg, This Agreement shatl be
conatrued, administered and peverned in a masner chat affecls sach intent, and the
Adminisrater shall nei take any actian that would be inconsistent therewilh.

ARTICLET
CLAIMS ANTY REVIEW PROCEDURES



71 Chims Procedure, A Claimant whe belicves that he or ske is being dinied a
Lenefic to which he or she is enlicled hereunder shall make a claim for such hensfits as
Tollows.

(o]  lnitigtion - Writtes Claim. The Claimant initixles a ciaim by submitting
w Lhe Administratar a written dlaim for the benefits, f such a ciaim relales Lo the
contents of a notice received by the Claimant, the claim must be made within sixty
{G0] days after such nutice was raceived by the Claimant. ANl ather clzims must be
made wilhin ane hundred eighty (180] days of the date an which the event that
caused the claim o arise ccemred. The caim musl slate wikh particalarity the
determination desived by the Claimant,

{t]  TimingafAdministracor kespunse, The Admindstrator shall resgond to
such Cleirmant within Forty-live [45] days after receiving Lhe claim. [f the
Administrator delernines that specal circumsiznces require additional tme for
protossing the claim, the Ardministrator can extend the response period by an
additional thirty (30) days by netifving the Clrimant nwriting, prior to the end of the
initial farty-five (45) day prriod, that an addstional pericd 15 requived. The extensicn
netice shail specifically explain the standards an which entitlement to 2 disability
benedit is based, the unresnived issues that prevent a decision or the claim and the
additiona) informeaton neede (rom the Claimant to resolve thess issues, and the
Claimant shall be affarded at least foriy-fve {45) days within which to provide the
sperificd informatdon.

{¢]  Hotice af Degision. If the Administrator denies all or 2 part of the clain,
the Administcator shall notify the Claimant in writing of such derdal in 2 cullurzily
and linguistically appropriate manner. The Administrater shall write the natifcatinn
in 5 manner calealatedt e Le undersiood by the Clalmant. The notilication shall set
forth: (i} the specific veasons [ur Lhe denizl; (i) & relerence to the specific provisions
ul this Agreement on which che denial s based; fiif} a notice that the Clainzant has
right to request a review of the claim denial and an explanation of Uhe Aproement's
voviow protedures and the tne [fmits applicable to such procedures; {iv) a selement
of the Climant's right to bring a civil action under ERISA Section 52 (%) Tallowing an
adverse benefit delerminatisn on review, and a desuription of any time limit S
bringing such 2n actiors {v) for any Disability claim, a discussion of the derision,
including an explanation of the basiy for disagreeing with or not foliowing: (&) the
wipws prosented by the Claimant of heallh care professionals freating the Claimant
and vocslional professionals whe evaluated the Claimant: (8 the views af medical or
yocational experts whase advice was obtained en behalf of the Employer in
conneclion with a Claimant's adverse benelit determinzlivn, without regard lo
whother the advice was relied wpon in making Lhe henefit determination; o [£) a
disability deterenination regarding the Claimant presented by the Claimant made by
the Social Securiky Acminisiration (i) for any Disabilige claim, the specific inkernal
rules, guicelines, protocols, standards or other similar eritevia relied upon in makiag
the adverse determination or, alternatively. a statement Lhat such rules, guidelives,
protocols, standards ar ather similar criteria do net exist; and (Vi) for any Disability
clalm, 2 statement that the Cladmant is entitled to rocedve, wpen request and free of
charge, reasonable access to, and capies of all decumenls, records, and other
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information relevant ko the Claimants clabm for benedies. Whether a decument,
recars, or wkher informatian is elevant to a claim for Denefits shall be determined by
Department of Laber Hegulation Section 2560.503-1(m][8].

7.2 Review Procedure. T the Administracor denies abl or a pare of the claim, the
Tlaimanl shzll have the opportunity for a full and fair review by the Administrator of the
denial as follows.

[a] Adidizicmal Evidence. Frioc to the review of the denjed claim, the
Claimeng shafl be given, (res ol charpe, any new or addigonal evidence considered,
relied upor, ar generated by che Administravar, arany new or additional raticnabe, s
soon as possible and sufficiently in advance of the dale on which the notice afadverss
hencfit determinztion vn review 15 required to be provided, to give the Claimant a
reasomabie opoltunity to respond peiar ko thal date

(b}  Initiation - Written Request, l'o initiale the review, the Cizimant,
within sk (60] days after receiving the Administrator’s netice of denizl, must fle
with the Ademinislralor a written reguest foT review.

el Addizicnal Submngissions - nfarmation Access. After such request the
Claimant may submit wrillen comments, documenis, records and ather informatian
relasing to the claint, The Administraler shall also provide the Claimant, upon reguest
and free of charpe, reasmmable access i, and wopics of, all documents, records and
other infermation relevant [as defined in applicable ERISA regulacicns] to the
Claimant's claim far benefits,

() Copsiderations. on Review 1o considering lhe review, the
Administrotor shall consider afl materials and informatien the Claimant submits
redating to the claim, withoul regard to whether such information was submiteed ar
considered in the iritial benefit determination. Additional canslderations shatl be
required in the case of & claim for Disability benelits. The claim shall by reviewed by
an individual ar committes wha did net make the initial delermination that is subject.
of the appeal and whe is pot a subordinate of the individial who made the
determination. Additionally, the veviow shall be mads: withows deference o the inbtial
adverse benelis determination. IF the inilial adverse benelil delermilnation was based
in whale ar in part on 8 medical judgment, Lhe Administrator will consult with a
health care professionat wizh apprigriate trainiag and experience in the field of
medicine mvolving the muedical judgment. The health care professional whe s
comsulted nn appeal will not be the same mdividual who was congalted during the
initial determination and will not be the subordinate of such Individual 1f the
Administratar ohtained the advice of medical or voeational experts in weaking the
initial adwerse benclits determination (regardless of whethoer the advice was relied
upon], the Administrator wili icentify such exports.

f}  Timingaf&lminisiater Responge, The Administrator shab respond in
writing Lo such Claimant wilthin furty-five {[45] tiays afler receiving the regoest far
reviews.  |f the Administeotor determines that special circumstances reguire
agditioral time for processing the caim, the Administrator can exlend the response
pevind by an additional forty-five (45] days by actilying the Claimant in writing prior
tn the end of the initizl forge-five [45) day period, that an addidonal pesiod is




required. The notice of extension must set ferth the special circumstances and the
clate by which Lhe Administrator expocts fo rehder 105 decision.

(f] Motice af Decigion, The Administrator shall notify the Claimant in
writipg of its focisinn on rewicw, The Administrator shall weits the natification ina
culturally and linguisticatly oppropriate manner calculaced o be understond by the
Claimant. The notification shatl set farth: (9] the specific reasnns for the denial; (i) a
reference 1o the specific provisions of this Apreement on which the denial i bagaed;
[iii}) a statement that the Claiment is entitled to receive, upon request and free of
charge, reasunable access to, and copics of, all documents, records and ather
information relevant (as defined in applicable ERISA repulations] to che Claimant’s
ciairm (or hepaofits; (iv] a statementof the Claimant's vight to bring a civil action under
ERIEA Seccion 5040a% [v) for any Dizability claim, a discossion of Lhe decision,
inclucing an explanaten of the basis for disagreeing with or not following: {47 the
views prasented by the Claimanl of kaalth care professionals treating the Clzimant
and vncational professicnals who evaluated the Claimant; (B} the views ol medical or
vocational experls whose sdvice was abtalned an behalf of the Hmplayer in
comnection with @ Claimants adverse benefit determination, withoat regard o
whalher the advice was relicd upan in maling the benefit determinatizo: er {G) &
disabiiity cdetermination reparding the Clahmant presented by the Claimant made by
the Sncial Seeurity Administration; and vi) for any Disabllity clzim, the specific
internal ruies, puidelines, protocals, standards or ether similar criteria relied upan in
malking the adverse determinalion or, allernatively, a statement that such rules,
guidalines, protecels, stavdards or other similar criteria do ool exlen

7.3 Exhoustion of Remedies. The Claimant must follow these ciaimys review
provedures abd cxbauat all edministrative remedies belore laking any further action with
respect to a claim for henelits.

74 Failure to Follw Procedures. In the case of a claim for Disability henelits, il the
Adminislator fails o atrictly adhere to alt the requirements of this claims procedure with
respect to a sability claim, the Claimant is deemed to have exhavusted the adminisrative
remedies avzilable under the Agreement, and shall be enlitled to pursue any avzilable
remedies under ERISA Section S02{a) an the basis that the Administrater has Riled o
provide 2 reasons ble ctaims procedare thal woudld yield 2 decision on the mesits of the claim,
et where the vialation was: (2] de minimis; {b) non-prejudicial; {v) atiribusaile to gand
cause or matters beyond the Administrator’s conlral; (4] In the context of an cngoing goud-
faich exchange of ioformation; and (e) not reflective of a pattern or pracice of
noncompliance. The Claimant nay reguest a written explanation of the violetion fioin the
Administraror. and the Administrator must provide such explanation within ten (18] days,
including a specific description ol its hasis, iFany, for asserting thal: the violation should not
cause the administ rative ronedies to be deemed relausted. 182 court rejects the Claimant's
requnst for inmediare review an the basis that the Administrator nset the standards for the
exception, the claim shall be considersd as re-filed oo appeal upon the Administrater's
receipt of e decisien af the court, Within » reasnnable dme after the receiptalthe declsion,
the Adminiswator shall provide the claimant wilh netice of the resubmission.



ARTICLE &
AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION

B.1 Agreement Amendment Generally. [xcept as pravided in Section 82, this
Agreement may be amended only by a written agreement signed by bath the Emplover and
the Reecutive.

B2 Amendmentto Ensure Proper Chargeterization of Agreement, Notwithslanding
anything ir Lhis Agreement b the cantraey, the Asvecmeant may he amendad by the Bieployer
al any time, if found necessary n the opinion of the Employer, (§] te ansure thal the
Apreemanl is characterfaed as plan o deferied compensation waintained for a select group
of management or highly compensated employees as deseribed ender BRISA, (1] to comform
the dpreeiment to the requirements of any appiicable law or {ifl} to comply with the writlen
mstructions of the Emplover's aucilurs ar banking regulatars.

a.3 Agreement Termingtion Uenerally, Except as provided in Section 8.4, this
Agreement may be rerminated only by a welllen agrecment signed by the Emaloyer and the
Execulive. Such ternination shalt not cause a distribution of benefits under this dgrecment.
Rather, upon such termination bensfil distributions witl e made at the earliest distrioution
evenl permilter under Article 4,

4.4 Effsct of Complete Teriiotian, Notwithstanding anything to Lhe contrry ia
Section §.3, and subiect to the requiremsnls of Code Section 4094 and Treasury Regriatioos
& 1.4094-3(7)£d] [1¥), a1 cortaln tites the Emplover may complelaly terminaie and liquidate
the Agresment. [n the evenl ol a compiete termination under subsection (a] or (3] below,
thi: Frnplayer shall pay the Executive lhe Dedforral Account balance,  Such complele
terminatica «f the Agreement shall occur only under Lhe following circumstances and
canditions.

Y] Corporate Dissclution or Hankropley, The Bmployor may terminate
and liguidate this Azreemant within twelve [12] months of & corporsle dissoirtion
Laxrsl imder Cede Section 321, or wilh the approval of a bankruptey court, provided
thar ail benelils paid wnder the Agresment zre included in the Bxecutive's gross
fncoine in the latest of (i) the calembar year which the termination occurs; (i} e
calendar vezr in which the amount i no lonper subject to a substantial risk of
forfeiture; or (iif] the first calendar year in which the payment is administratively
praciivable,

(h]  Discretipgary Terminatien. Prior to Change in Conlrod, the Emplayer
may terminake and liquidate this Agreement provided that: (i) the termination doss
not accur proximate to z dowmtaen in the foancial health of the Tinplagyer, {ii) all
arranpements sponsored by the Binplover and Affitiates that would be agmegated
with any terminaled arrangemenss under Treasury Regulations §1.1094-1(c] are
rerminate: §ii) no payments, niher than payments Lhal woald be payable under the
Lesrmis af this Apresment if the Lermination had not occuered, ars made wizhin meehe
{12) manths of the date the Employer 1akes the irrevocable actien to lerminsie Lhis
Agrestnent; {iv) afl payments sre made within Lwenty-four {24) months fellowing the



date the Emplover takes the #trevocable action to terminate and fguidate this
Apresment; and {v) aeither the Employer nor any of its Affiliates adoot & new
arrangement that would be aggregated with any terminated arangement under
Troasury  Repdiztions §14094-10c] il the Execulive narticipaied in both
arrangements, at any thae within three (3} years following the date the Employer
takees the irrevocable action Lo terminale this Agresment,

ARTICLE 9
MISCELLANECOLUS

o1 Mo Bffect on (ther fights. This Agreement constitutes the entive agreetnent
between the Emplover and the Freculive as Lo the subjeci maller horgal Booeights aee
granted to the Uxecutive by virtue of this Agreement other than those specifically sei forth
herein, Mothing conlained hergin will confer upon the Ezecutive the right 1o be reizined in
the servier of the Emplayer nor limit the right of the Employver to discharge or otherwise
eleal with the Execulive wilhoul repard Lo e existencs hereof,

3.2 Seate Low. This Agreementand all rights bereonder shall be governed by ard
constried according te the laws of the Commanwealth of Pennsylvania cxaept te the extent
pecempted by the lows of the United States of Americn,

9.3 Foladity. Inocase any praviston of this Agreement shall e ilisgat or invalid for
any reasan, said legality ar invalidity shall not affect the remaining pares hereat, but this
Apreement 3hall be construed and enforced as f such iltegal v invalic provision kac never
heen inserted harein,

04 Nonossignahilizy. Benefits under this Apresment tannol be solg, transiorred,
assigned, pladged, altached ar enrumbered in any manner,

vsa Unsectired General Creditor Stefes. Payment to the Executive or any
Beneliciary herender shall be made tram assets which shall continue, for all purpesss, Lo oe
pantatthe peneral, unrestricted assets of the Employer gnd no poraen shall have any interest
in any such assel by virlug of any provision of this Agreement. The Emplayer’s obligation
hereender shail be an unfunded and unsecured promise to pay maney io the future, n the
evenk that the Emglayer purchases an insurance policy insuring the life ol the Taxective to
recover the cost of providing benefils horeunder, neithor the Executive nor the Beneficiary
shall have any rights whatsaever in sajd policy or the proceeds tierefram.

9.6 Lifz nsurgnce, [T the Emplayer chaoses to ohtain insurance on the 1lfe of the
Execulive o cannectian with its ebligations under this Agreement, the Executive hereby
aorees to take such physical examinations and to truthfully and cempletely sapply soch
infarmation ag may he required by the Employer ar the insurance company designaced hy
the Employer.

9.7  ilaclaimead Senefits,. The Bxecutive shall keep the Smployer infarmed of the
Executive's currant address and the current sddress of the Beneficiary, [Fthe Tocation of the
Rrncutive i3 not made known o the Employer within three years after the dare npor which



any payment af any benefits may first be made, the Employer skall delay paymenl of the
Executive’s benefit pzymenils] until the lovatien of the Fxecutive is made knowa to the
Emnlaver; however, the Employer shall enly be oblipated to hold such benefit paymant]s)
far the Execulive until the sepiratian of three (33 years. Dpon expivation of the three (3] vear
period, the Employer may discharge its obligation by payment L the Beneliciary. 19 the
logation of the Beneficlary is not made kooswm to the Employer by the end of an additional
two [2) month period following expiration af the threee (3] year poried, the Emplerer may
diseliarpe its shligation by payment to the Executive’s estate, 1fthere is no estate in exsience
at such time or il such fadl cannal be determined by the Emplover, the Execotive and
Reneficiary shall therewpon forfeit all rights to any benefits provided under this Agreement.

9.8 Swicids or Misstatement. Mo bensfit chall he disoibuted hereunder i the
Execulive commils suicide within tws (2] wears atter the Effective Dale, or if an Insurance
company which issued a lile insurance poliey covering the Executive and owned by the
Employer denies coverage (i} for material misstabements of Fael made by the Bxecutive on
an applicatico for §ife insurance, or (ii) for any other reason.

9.0 Removal, Motwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the
Employer shall not distribule any benefit under this Agresmaent if the Executive {s sublect In
a linal ramowvat or prohibition erder jssued pursuznt Lo Section B{e] of the Federal Deposil
Insurance Act. Furthermors, any payments made to the Executive pursuant to this
Agreement shall, if reguired, comply with 12 L5.0C. 1828, FOLC Regubation 12 CFR Parl. 359
and any cther reguiations or guidance promudgated therewndur,

914 Farfeiture Provision. The Executive shall forfeil any non-dlsiributed benetits
under this Agreement if the Executive, directly or indirectly, either as an individualor as a
proprietur, siockhelder, partner, officer, director, cmployee, agent, consulant or
independent conkractor of any individuzl, parmership, corpuoralion or othor entity
fexcluding an ownership interest of three percent [3%)) or less in the stock of 3 publicly-
rraded company];

(i} hecones employed by, participates in, or Deconies connected in any
manner with the vwpership, management, operation ac control of any bank, savings
and lean ar ather similer financial instiution if the Fxecotive’s responsibililies wilt
include providing banking oy otler financial services within 2 seventy-five [73) mile
radius of the Emgaloyer's regional office =1 501 Fairmont Avenue, Towson, Marytard;

(i)  parlicipates inany way inhiriog or ntherwise cogaging, orassising any
ulher persan or eatity o kiring ar stherwise engaging, on a temporary, part-tme o
permanenl bass, any individual who was eniployed by the Employer as ol the date of
wermination of the Executive's employment;

(il  assists, advises, or servas In any capacity, represeniative or othorwise,
any third pariy in any action against the Empleyor or transaction invilving the
Emplayer;

{iv]  sclls, offers to sell, arovides banking or alher fikancial services, assists
any ather person in sefilag ov providing banking ar other finandial veevices, or sabicits
ar otherwise competes for, either directly or indivectly, any orders, conlract, ar



aueaunls for sorvices of a ing or namre like ar substantially similar to the financial
services performed ar financia) producis sold by the Emplover {the peceding
harainafter veferred toas "Sarees”], to or feoimn any persan or enticy from whom the
Exeroutive or the Employer, to the knowladge of the Executive provided banking or
albier linancial services, sofd, offored to seil or solicited orders, concracts or accownts
for Services during the three (3] vear period bomediately prior Lo the lermination of
the Executive's simployment

3] divulges, disclnges, or comananicaies to others in @any manner
whatsoever, any confidendal information of the Employer, to the knowledge ol the
Executive, inchuling, ful net limited to, the names and addresses of customers or
prospective customers, of the Employer, 4x they may hiave existed from time o time,
of wark perfermed or services rendeved for any customer, any methorl andfor
arocedures relating 1o projects ar other worlk developed for the Emaloyer, sarnings
or ather information concerning the Employer. The restrictions confained in this
subparagraph [¥) apply fe al infermation regarding the Emplover, regandiess of the
souree whe provided or compiled such informalion, Notwithslanding anyehing to the
cantrary, all infermation referved to herein shall net ke disclosed unless and nntil it
berames known to the gerera] public from spurces ather than the Executive,

potwithswanding the foregoing, Section ©.10{7] shall nat apply lollowing a Change in
Comtral.

0,11 Mefce Any notice, consent or demand required ar permitted ta he given o
the Emplover or Administralur under this Agreement shall be sufficient il in writlng and
hanel-cleliverad or sent |J}‘ re,_i,ristered or certified mail W che E:nplnyer’s pn'nfl']:lﬂl ousiness
cffice. Any notice or Aling reguired or permitted o be given to the Erecutive ar Benaficiary
wncler this Agreement shafl be sulficienl if in writing and hand-deiivered ve sent by mall to
the lasl known zddress af the Executive or Bensliciary, as appropriate. Any notice shail be
deemed given as of the dale of delivery or, if dalivery is made by mail, as nf the date shown
wr Lhe pastinarl or on the receipl for registralion ar certification.

412 Meadings end Interpretetion. Headings and sub-headings in his Agrecnocnd
are inserled for reference ang convenience anly and shail not be deemed parl of this
Apgreement. Wherever Lhe [alfilment of the intent and poerpose of this Agreement requires
and the contest will permit, the use of U masculine gender inchudes the Rrinine and use
of the singolar includes the piural

9,13 AMernative Action. fnthe event it beemnes impossible for the Bmployer or the
Admiristrator to perform any acl required by this Agresment due to regulatory or ather
constrainis, the Tmplaver or Administrator may perform such aliernalive actas mostnearly
carries nut the intenl and purpase of this Agresment and is in the best inferests of Lhe
Employes, provided that such zllernative act does nol violate Code Section +0924,

914 Cooardingtion with Other Rerefits. The benefits provided [or the Exeutive or
the Bencficiary under this Agrerment are in addition to any other benefils availablz io the
wecubive under any ocher plan or program for employess of the Emplayer. This Agreement



shall supplement and shall net supersede, modify, or amend any other such plan or program
excepl a5 may olherwise be expressly provided berein,

15 Irurement. This Apreement shall be binding upen and shall inure to the benefit
of the Employer, its successor and assigns, and the Executive, the Bxecutive's successors,
heirs, executors, administraltors, and Lhe Beneficiary,

916  Tax Wirhoiding. The Emplover may make such provisions and Lzke such
solion as il deems necessary or approprizle for the withheolding of any t@xes which the
Employver is required by any law er regulation to withhold in connection with any benefits
under the Agreement, The Executive shall be responsible Tor the payment of all individual
tax liabilities relating to any benefits paid hereunder.

917 Agoregalion of Agreement, [Tthe Emplover oflers ather non-qualified delferrad
campensation plans in addition to this Agreement, this Agreement and those plans shall be
treated as & single plan to the extent required under Code Section 4094,

I WITHESS WHEREDF, the Executive and a representative of the Employer have
execited this Apreement docuinent as indicated helow:
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Executive: g A Employer: Cj’?&?ﬂﬂmw-
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Exhibit 21
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

1. Orrstown Bank, Shippensburg, Pennsylvania; a state-chartered bank organized under the Pennsylvania Banking Code of 1965.



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-225169, 333-196239, 333-33714 and 333-33712 on Form S-8 and Registration
Statement Nos. 333-234321, 333-208614 and 333-53405 on Form S-3 of Orrstown Financial Services, Inc. of our report dated March 15, 2021 relating to the
consolidated financial statements and effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

/s/ Crowe LLP

Washington, D.C.
March 15, 2021



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Thomas R. Quinn, Jr., certify that:

1. Thaverev

iewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Orrstown Financial Services, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this

report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))

for the registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’

a.

b.

Date: March 15, 2021

s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
By: /s/ Thomas R. Quinn, Jr.
Thomas R. Quinn, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Thomas R. Brugger, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Orrstown Financial Services, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this

report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a.

Date: March 15, 2021

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

By: /s/ Thomas R. Brugger

Thomas R. Brugger
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Orrstown Financial Services, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2020 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date therein specified (the “Report”), I, Thomas R. Quinn, Jr., President and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of
and for the period covered by the Report.

Date: March 15, 2021 By: /s/ Thomas R. Quinn, Jr.
Thomas R. Quinn, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Orrstown Financial Services, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2020 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date therein specified (the “Report”), I, Thomas R. Brugger, Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of
and for the period covered by the Report.

Date: March 15, 2021 By: /s/ Thomas R. Brugger
Thomas R. Brugger
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




